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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Company Overview

We were formed in August 2001 under the laws ofhdeta to acquire and manage insurance and reingiranc
companies in run-off and portfolios of insurancd aginsurance business in run-off, and to provid@agement,
consulting and other services to the insurancer@indurance industry. Since our formation, we, digfoour
subsidiaries, have completed 24 acquisitions afrersce and reinsurance companies in run-off anersev
acquisitions of portfolios of insurance and reirsoe business in run-off and are now administetinge
businesses in run-off. Insurance and reinsurancgaanies and portfolios of insurance and reinsurénsmess we
acquire that are in run-off no longer underwritevrpolicies. In addition, we provide management emiglsultancy
services, claims inspection services and reinseranliection services to our affiliates and thiatty clients for
both fixed and success-based fees.

Our primary corporate objective is to grow our tatgnet book value. We believe growth in our tétginet
book value is driven primarily by growth in our regtrnings, which is in turn partially driven by sassfully
completing new acquisitions.

We evaluate each acquisition opportunity presebyecarefully reviewing the portfolio’s risk exposs; claim
practices, reserve requirements and outstandimgsland may seek an appropriate discount andller se
indemnification to reflect the uncertainty contairie the portfolio’s reserves. Based on this ihiéiaalysis, we can
determine if a company or portfolio of business ldaadd value to our current portfolio of run-offdimess. If we
determine to pursue the purchase of a companynioffy we then proceed to price the acquisitioa imanner we
believe will result in positive operating resulsskd on certain assumptions including, withouttiition, our ability
to favorably resolve claims, negotiate with diriesureds and reinsurers, and otherwise manageatheerof the
risks posed by the business.

Initially, at the time we acquire a company in roffi-we estimate the fair value of liabilities adea based on
external actuarial advice, as well as our own viefiwhie exposures assumed. While we earn a lahgee ©f our
total return on an acquisition from commuting tiabilities that we have assumed, we also try toimeze
reinsurance recoveries on the assumed portfolio.

In the primary (or direct) insurance business,itiserrer assumes risk of loss from persons or orgéions that
are directly subject to the given risks. Such risksy relate to property, casualty, life, accidéeglth, financial or
other perils that may arise from an insurable everthe reinsurance business, the reinsurer agoaademnify an
insurance or reinsurance company, referred toeasdtiing company, against all or a portion of tiseiiance risks
arising under the policies the ceding company hédisen or reinsured. When an insurer or reinsuteps writing
new insurance business, either entirely or witlpeesto a particular line of business, the insusdnsurer, or the
line of discontinued business is in run-off.

In recent years, the insurance industry has expegi significant consolidation. As a result of thimsolidatiol
and other factors, the remaining participants @itidustry often have portfolios of business thateither
inconsistent with their core competency or progaeessive exposure to a particular risk or segmofetite market
(i.e., property/casualty, asbestos, environmedisdctor and officer liability, etc.). These nonreo
and/or discontinued portfolios are often associatith potentially large exposures and lengthy tipeeiods before
resolution of the last remaining insured claimsultasg in significant uncertainty to the insurerreinsurer covering
those risks. These factors can distract managemigwe, up the cost of capital and surplus for tigurer or
reinsurer, and negatively impact the insurer’'saimsurer’s credit rating, which makes the dispo$ahe unwanted
company or portfolio an attractive option. Alterinaty, the insurer may wish to maintain the busies its balance
sheet, yet not divert significant management atiartb the run-off of the portfolio. The insurerminsurer, in
either case, is likely to engage a third partyhsag us, that specializes in run-off managemeptitohase the
company or portfolio, or to manage the companyastfplio in run-off.

In the sale of a runff company, a purchaser, such as us, often padjscaunt to the book value of the comp
based on the risks assumed and the relative valtine tseller of no longer having to manage the @mpn run-off.
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Such a transaction can be beneficial to the skeause it receives an up-front payment for thepzom, eliminates
the need for its management to devote any attemitime disposed company and removes the riskhkat
established reserves related to the run-off busimesy prove to be inadequate. The seller is alkotalvedeploy its
management and financial resources to its corebsses.

We have entered into seven Reinsurance to Clo$elIdC” transactions, with Lloyds of London insurance a
reinsurance syndicates in run-off, whereby thefphotof run-off liabilities is transferred from enLloyd’s
syndicate to another.

Alternatively, if the insurer or reinsurer hireshird party, such as us, to manage its run-offiiess, the insurer
or reinsurer will, unlike in a sale of the businasseive little or no cash up front. Instead, tnagement
arrangement may provide that the insurer or rearsuill retain the profits, if any, derived fromehun-off with
certain incentive payments allocated to the rumudhager. By hiring a ruaff manager, the insurer or reinsurer
outsource the management of the run-off businesgperienced and capable individuals, while allapits own
management team to focus on the insurer’s or regnsucore businesses. Our desired approach togmaneun-off
business is to align our interests with the intisre$ the owners through both fixed managementdeescertain
incentive payments. Under certain management agraagts to which we are a party, however, we reaaiga
fixed management fee and do not receive any incep@yments.

Following the purchase of a run-off company, orwasitjon of a portfolio of business in run-off, thre
engagement to manage a run-off company or portédllousiness, it is incumbent on the new owner anager to
conduct the run-off in a disciplined and profesalamanner in order to efficiently discharge théiliies associated
with the business while preserving and maximizisgssets. Our approach to managing our acquiragaaies in
run-off, as well as run-off companies or portfolafsbusinesses on behalf of third-party clients|udes negotiating
with third-party insureds and reinsureds to comntluégr insurance or reinsurance agreement (somstiaied
policy buy-backs) for an agreed upon up-front payhiog us, or the third-party client, and to morécéntly
manage payment of insurance and reinsurance clilifesittempt to commute policies with direct inssred
reinsureds in order to eliminate uncertainty oteramount of future claims. Commutations and pdbigy-backs
provide an opportunity for the company to exit esyp@s to certain policies and insureds generallydiscount to
the ultimate liability and provide the ability ttirainate exposure to further losses. Such a styadsp contributes
the reduction in the length of time and future afshe run-off.

Following the acquisition of a company in run-aff,acquisition of a portfolio of business in rurf;@fr new
consulting engagement, we will spend time analy#igacquired exposures and reinsurance receivablas
policyholder-by-policyholdebasis. This analysis enables us to identify thadieyholders and reinsurers we wist
approach to discuss commutation or policy buy-b&ckthermore, following the acquisition of a compam run-
off, or new consulting engagement, we will oftenapproached by policyholders or reinsurers requgsti
commutation or policy buy-back. In these instangeswill also carry out a full analysis of the unigarg exposures
in order to determine the viability of a proposednenutation or policy buy-back. From the initial &rsés of the
underlying exposures it may take several monthsyen years, before a commutation or policy buykhbsc
completed. In a number of cases, if we and thecpladilder or reinsurer are unable to reach a comiaigrc
acceptable settlement, the commutation or poligytimck may not be achievable, in which case weauititinue to
settle valid claims from the policyholder, or calleeinsurance receivables from the reinsurerheg become due.

Insureds and reinsureds are often willing to conamwith us, subject to receiving an acceptableesattht, as
this provides certainty of recovery of what othesavimay be claims that are disputed in the future odten provide
a meaningful up-front cash receipt that, with theaziated investment income, can provide fundsdetrfuture
claim payments or even commutation of their undegyexposure. Therefore, subject to negotiating@reptable
settlement, all of our insurance and reinsuraraglities and reinsurance receivables are able teither commuted
or settled by way of policy bulgack over time. Many sellers of companies that eguae have secure claims pay
ratings and ongoing underwriting relationships viftbureds and reinsureds, which often hinders tiglity to
commute the underlying insurance or reinsurancieipsl Our lack of claims paying rating and oukla¢ potential
conflicts with insureds and reinsureds of companiesicquire provides a greater ability to commbeertewly
acquired policies than that of the sellers.
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We also attempt, where appropriate, to negotiaterédble commutations with reinsurers by securirggréteipt
of a lump-sum settlement from the reinsurer in cletepsatisfaction of the reinsurer’s liability iespect of any
future claims. We, or the thirgarty client, are then fully responsible for angieis in the future. We typically inve
proceeds from reinsurance commutations with theetgpion that such investments will produce incowltgch,
together with the principal, will be sufficient satisfy future obligations with respect to the daceghcompany or
portfolio.

Strategy
We aim to maximize our growth in tangible net beakue by using the following strategies:

« Solidify Our Leadership Position in the Run-Off Metrby Leveraging Management’s Experience and
Relationships We continue to utilize the extensive experienug significant relationships of our senior
management team to solidify our position as a leadthe run-off segment of the insurance and reimsce
market. The experience and reputation of our managéteam is expected to generate opportunitiessac
acquire or manage companies and portfolios inaffinand to price effectively the acquisition or magemer
of such businesses. Most importantly, we belieeeetkperience of our management team will contioue t
allow us to manage the r-off of such businesses efficiently and profitat

« Professionally Manage Claim We are professional and disciplined in managlagts against companies
and portfolios we own or manage. Our managemengnstahds the need to dispose of certain risks
expeditiously and cost-effectively by constantialgming changes in the market and efficiently gt
claims with the assistance of our experienced daidjusters and in-house and external legal couvidetn
we acquire or begin managing a company or portfel® initially determine which claims are valid dligh
the use of experienced in-house adjusters and €lexperts. We pay valid claims on a timely basts|ev
relying on well-documented policy terms and exauasiwhere applicable and litigation when necessary
defend against paying invalid claims under exispolicies and reinsurance agreeme

« Commute Assumed Liabilities and Ceded Reinsuraeset# Using detailed analysis and actuarial
projections, we negotiate with the policyholdershaf insurance and reinsurance companies or pogfale
own or manage with a goal of commuting insuranaeramsurance liabilities for one or more agreedrup
payments at a discount to the ultimate liabilityc® commutations can take the form of policy tagks anc
structured settlements over fixed periods of tiByacquiring companies that are direct insureligsteers
or both, we are able to negotiate favorable entitje commutations with reinsurers that would not be
possible if our subsidiaries had remained indepeheletities. We also negotiate with reinsurersaimmute
their reinsurance agreements providing coverageit@ubsidiaries on terms that we believe to berfave
based on then-current market knowledge. We inhesptoceeds from reinsurance commutations with the
expectation that such investments will produce mnepwhich, together with the principal, will be Bcient tc
satisfy future obligations with respect to the doegicompany or portfolic

« Continue to Commit to Highly Disciplined AcquisitidManagement and Reinsurance Practic&¥e utilize
a disciplined approach to minimize risk and incesthee probability of positive operating resultsnfro
companies and portfolios we acquire or manage. &vefully review acquisition candidates and managgme
engagements for consistency with accomplishingang-term objective of producing positive operating
results. We focus our investigation on risk expesuclaims practices and reserve requirementsarticplar,
we carefully review all outstanding claims and ceeserves, and follow a highly disciplined approsxh
managing allocated loss adjustment expenses, suitle @ost of defense counsel, expert witnesses and
related fees and expens

« Prudent Management of Investments and Cap We strive to structure our investments in a marimat
recognizes our liquidity needs for future liabdési In that regard, we attempt to correlate thauritgtand
duration of our investment portfolio to our gendialbility profile. If our liquidity needs or genarliability
profile unexpectedly change, we may not continustiecture our investment portfolio in its curremanner
and would adjust as necessary to meet new busieess. We pursue prudent capital management reekativ
our risk exposure and liquidity requirements to imaze profitability and long-term growth in sharddher
value. Our capital management strategy is to degpdmytal efficiently to acquisitions and to establiand re-
establish when necessary, adequate loss reserpestéat against future adverse developme
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Recent Transactions

British Engine

On March 2, 2010, we, through our indirect subsidi&napton Holdings Limited, completed the acdiasi of
British Engine Insurance Limited, or British Engjfiem RSA Insurance Group plc for a total purchpaisee of
£28.0 million (approximately $42.4 million). BritisEngine is a U.K. domiciled reinsurer that isum+off. The
acquisition was funded from available cash on hasdhe initial accounting for the business comborahas not
been completed at the time of issuance of thesadial statements, the disclosure required formrass
combinations will be made in a subsequent filing.

Providence Washington

On January 29, 2010, we, through our wholly-ownduk&liary, PWAC Holdings, Inc, entered into a ditifie
agreement for the purchase of PW Acquisition CoripanPWAC, for a purchase price of $25.0 milli@WAC
owns the entire share capital of Providence Wasbmipsurance Company. Providence Washington Insera
Company and its two subsidiaries are Rhode Islamiliclled insurers that are in run-off. The purchpdee is
expected to be funded from available cash on h@othpletion of the transaction is conditioned onpagiother
things, regulatory approval and satisfaction ofauas customary closing conditions. The transadaxpected to
close in the second quarter of 2010.

Assuransinvest

On November 2, 2009, we, through our wholly-owneldsidiary, Nordic Run-Off Limited, entered into a
definitive agreement for the purchase of Forsalsahgjebolaget Assuransinvest MF, or Assuransindest
purchase price of SEK 78.8 million (approximatehd$l million). Assuransinvest is a Swedish dometileinsurer
that is in run-off. The purchase price is exped¢tede funded from available cash on hand. Compiatiche
transaction is conditioned on, among other thinggulatory approval and satisfaction of various@uonry closing
conditions. The transaction is expected to clogbérfirst quarter of 2010.

Copenhagen Re

On October 15, 2009, we, through our wholly-ownelsgdiary, Marlon Insurance Company Limited,
completed the acquisition of Copenhagen Reinsur@ocepany Ltd., or Copenhagen Re, from Alm. Brand
Forsikring A/S for a total purchase price, incluglecquisition costs, of DKK149.2 million (approxitaly
$29.9 million). Copenhagen Re is a Norwegian ddetcieinsurer that is in run-off. The acquisitioassfunded
from available cash on hand.

Constellation

On January 31, 2009, we, through our indirect sliéasi, Sun Gulf Holdings Inc., completed the aciigis of
all of the outstanding capital stock of ConstetiatReinsurance Company Limited, or Constellationaftotal
purchase price of approximately $2.5 million. Cetiation is a New York domiciled reinsurer thatrigun-off. The
acquisition was funded from available cash on hand.

Shelbourne RITC Transactions

In December 2007, we, in conjunction with JCF FRKR., or JCF FPK, and a newly-hired executive
management team, formed Shelbourne Group Limite8helbourne, to invest in Reinsurance to Clos&RérC”
transactions (the transferring of liabilities frame Lloyd’s Syndicate to another) with Lloyd’s abiidon insurance
and reinsurance syndicates in run-off. JCF FPKjdsra investment program between J.C. Flowers.R.Lor the
Flowers Fund, and Fox-Pitt Kelton Cochran Caronilgy (USA) LLC, or FPK. Shelbourne is a holdingrgquany
of a Lloyd’s Managing Agency, Shelbourne Syndicagevices Limited. We own approximately 56.8% of
Shelbourne, which in turn owns 100% of Shelbouryred®ate Services Limited, the Managing Agencylfimyd’s
Syndicate 2008, a syndicate approved by Lloyd’safdon on December 16, 2007 to undertake RITC #etiens
with Lloyd’s syndicates in run-off. In February Z)Q loyd’'s Syndicate 2008 entered into RITC agreetneavith
four Lloyd’s Syndicates with total gross insurameserves of approximately $471.2 million. In
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February 2009, Lloyd’s Syndicate 2008 entered snRITC agreement with a Lloyd’s syndicate with kgpass
insurance reserves of approximately $67.0 millis of February 26, 2010, the capital commitmeritityd’s
Syndicate 2008 with respect to these five RITC agrents amounted to £41.6 million (approximately

$62.4 million), which was financed byl2.0 million (approximately $18.0 million) from atter of credit issued by
London-based bank that has been secured by a pbgeiarantee from Enstar; approximately £6.3 millio
(approximately $9.5 million) from the Flowers Fufatting in its own capacity and not through JCF fFBKway of
a non-voting equity participation; and approximat#©l2.7 million (approximately $19.0 million) froavailable
cash on hand. JCF FPK’s capital commitment to Llsy#®lyndicate 2008 with respect to these five RIT@agents
is approximately £10.6 million (approximately $15m@lion). JCF FPK owns 25% of Shelbourne.

In February 2010, Lloyd’s Syndicate 2008 enterg¢d RITC agreements with two Lloyd’s syndicates wital
gross insurance reserves of approximately $167l®miThe capital commitment to Lloyd’s Syndic&@08 with
respect to these two RITC agreements amounteds® £2illion (approximately $37.5 million), which wdully
funded from available cash on hand.

The Flowers Fund is a private investment fund aetvisy J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC. J. Christopher Flosyex
member of our board of directors and one of owgdar shareholders, is the founder and Managing MewibJ.C.
Flowers & Co. LLC. John J. Oros, our Executive @imain and a member of our board of directors, isaadging
Director of J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC. In July 2008k acted as lead managing underwriter in our pudblare
offering. An affiliate of the Flowers Fund contmd approximately 41% of FPK until its sale of FPKDOecember
20009.

Unionamerica

On December 30, 2008, our indirect subsidiary Roy&unOff Limited, or Royston, completed the acquisi
of Unionamerica Holdings Limited, or Unionamerié@m St. Paul Fire and Marine Insurance Companyféiliate
of The Travelers Companies, Inc., or Travelers.odamerica is comprised of the discontinued operataf
Travelers’ U.K.-based London Market business, wiee placed into run-off between 1992 and 2002 fbiel
purchase price, including acquisition costs, of3%84million was financed by $184.6 million of bafikancing
provided to Royston through a term facilities agneat; approximately $49.8 million from the Flow&nsnd by way
of its non-voting equity interest in Royston Holg#lLtd., the direct parent company of Royston; tiedremainder
from available cash on hand.

Hillcot Re

On October 27, 2008, our wholly-owned subsidiaryittare Holdings Ltd., purchased the entire issuadesh
capital of Hillcot Re Ltd., or Hillcot Re, the whHplowned subsidiary of Hillcot Holdings Limited, #tillcot, for a
total purchase price, including acquisition costs$54.7 million. Prior to the completion of thamsaction, we
owned 50.1% of the outstanding share capital dtétiland Shinsei Bank, Ltd., or Shinsei, ownedrdraaining
49.9%. Upon completion of the transaction, Hillpaid a distribution to Shinsei of approximately #2million
representing its 49.9% share of the considerafio@hristopher Flowers, a member of our board i&atiors and or
of our largest shareholders, is a director andatgest shareholder of Shinsei. The total purcipaise of
$54.7 million was funded from approximately 50% itatde cash on hand. Hillcot Re is a U.K.-basedgerer that
is in run-off.

Capital Assurance

On August 18, 2008, we completed the acquisitioallodf the outstanding capital stock of CapitakAsance
Company Inc. and Capital Assurance Services, tiraa total purchase price, including acquisitiostspof
approximately $5.6 million. Capital Assurance Compénc. is a Florida-domiciled insurer that isrim-off. The
acquisition was funded from available cash on hand.

EPIC

On August 14, 2008, we completed the acquisitioallodf the outstanding capital stock of ElectsdRroducer
Insurance Company (Bermuda) Limited, or EPIC, fitsyparent British Nuclear Fuels plc. The totalghase price,
including acquisition costs, of £36.8 million (appimately $69.0 million) was financed by approxielgt
$32.8 million from a credit facility provided bylaondon-based bank; approximately $10.2 million
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from the Flowers Fund by way of non-voting equigrtiipation, and the remainder from available caisthand. In
October 2008, we fully repaid the outstanding ggatand accrued interest on the credit facility.

Goshawk

On June 20, 2008 we, through our wholly-owned gsliisy Enstar Acquisitions Limited, or EAL, annoudc
cash offer to all of the shareholders of Goshavgkitance Holdings Plc, or Goshawk, at 5.2 penceréxppately
$0.103) for each share, or the Offer, conditiormdpng other things, on receiving acceptance froamestolders
owning 90% of the shares of Goshawk. Goshawk owsseRont Reinsurance Limited, a Bermuda-based m&nsu
that wrote primarily property and marine businegsich was placed into run-off in October 2005. Tféer valued
Goshawk at approximately £45.7 million in the aggte.

On July 17, 2008, after acquiring more than 30%hefshares of Goshawk through market purchases, iz
obligated to remove all of the conditions of thdeDExcept for the receipt of acceptances fromedi@ders owning
50% of the shares of Goshawk. On July 25, 2008atiteptance condition was met and the Offer became
unconditional. On August 19, 2008, the Offer clogstth shareholders representing approximately 8%.44
Goshawk accepting the Offer for total consideratbf40.9 million (approximately $80.9 million).

The total purchase price, including acquisitiontspsf approximately $82.0 million was financeday
drawdown of $36.1 million from a credit facility@rided by a London-based bank, a contribution df. $million
of the acquisition price from the Flowers Fundwmgy of non-voting equity participation, and the egnder from
available cash on hand.

In connection with the acquisition, Goshawk’s erigtbank loan of $16.3 million was refinanced bg th
drawdown of $12.2 million (net of fees) from a dtddcility provided by a London-based bank andi$illion
from the Flowers Fund. In December 2009, we fudlyaid the outstanding principal and interest orctiedit
facility.

On November 26, 2009, we acquired an additiond1%. of the outstanding shares that we did not presly
own for a purchase price of approximately $4.7iomll Upon completion of the purchase, we now owa9% of
the outstanding shares of Goshawk.

Seaton and Stonewall

On June 13, 2008, our indirect subsidiary VirgiHiasldings Ltd., or Virginia, completed the acquisitiof
44.4% of the outstanding capital stock of Stonewatjuisition Corporation from Dukes Place Holdings., a
portfolio company of GSC European Mezzanine Funtl.P. Stonewall Acquisition Corporation is the grarof twc
Rhode Island-domiciled insurers, Stonewall InsueaBompany and Seaton Insurance Company, both chvetne
in run-off. The total purchase price, including aisifion costs, was $21.4 million and was fundenhfravailable
cash on hand. On December 3, 2009, Stonewall AtiguisCorporation entered into a definitive agreetrfer the
sale of its shares in Stonewall Insurance Compai@olumbia Insurance Company, an affiliate of Nadio
Indemnity Company (an indirect subsidiary of BeiksliHathaway) for a purchase price of $56.0 million
Completion of the sale transaction is conditionedamnong other things, regulatory approval ands#iesfaction of
various customary closing conditions. We expectthesaction to close in the first quarter of 208@newall
Acquisition Corporation will continue as the parefSeaton Insurance Company.

Gordian

On March 5, 2008, we completed the acquisition BRALimited’s, or AMP’s, Australian-based closed
reinsurance and insurance operations, or Gordila@ plirchase price, including acquisition expenses,
AU$436.9 million (approximately $405.4 million) wéisanced by approximately AU$301.0 million (appiroately
$276.5 million), including an arrangement fee of $4.6 million (approximately $4.2 million), from blifinancing
provided jointly by a London-based bank and a Gerbrenk (the Flowers Fund is a significant share¢rodd the
German bank); approximately AU$41.6 million (approately $39.5 million) from the Flowers Fund, by ywaf
non-voting equity participation; and approximataly$98.7 million (approximately $93.6 million) frorwvailable
cash on hand. In August 2009, the remaining balahtige outstanding facility A portion of the loaras repaid in
full.




Table of Contents

Guildhall

On February 29, 2008, we completed the acquisdfd@uildhall Insurance Company Limited, or Guildhal
U.K.-based reinsurance company that has been ioffusince 1986. The purchase price, including #itian
expenses, of approximately £33.4 million (approxeha$65.9 million) was financed by the drawdown of
approximately £16.5 million (approximately $32.9lian) from a U.S. dollar facility loan agreemenitiwa
London-based bank; approximately £5.0 million (apgpmately $10.0 million) from the Flowers Fund, Wway of
non-voting equity participation; and approximatglL.9 million (approximately $23.5 million) from aNable cash
on hand. In September 2008, the facility loan vegoaid in full.

Marlon

On August 28, 2007, we completed the acquisitioklaflon Insurance Company Limited, a reinsurance
company in rureff, and Marlon Management Services Limited footak purchase price, including acquisition cc
of approximately $31.2 million, which was funded$#5.3 million borrowed under a facility loan agresnt with a
London-based bank and available cash on hand. Markurance Company Limited and Marlon Management
Services Limited are both U.K.-based companie&diruary 2008, the facility loan was repaid in.full

Tate & Lyle

On June 12, 2007, we completed the acquisitionadé ® Lyle Reinsurance Ltd., or Tate & Lyle, fotadal
purchase price, including acquisition costs, ofraginately $5.9 million funded from available casthand.
Tate & Lyle is a Bermuda-based reinsurance companyn-off.

Inter-Ocean

On February 23, 2007, we, through our wholly-ownseltsidiary Oceania Holdings Ltd, or Oceania, coteple
the acquisition of Inter-Ocean Holdings Ltd., otelrOcean. The total purchase price, including &itipn costs,
was approximately $57.5 million, which was funded®26.8 million borrowed under a facility loan agneent with
a London-based bank and available cash on haret-@Qtean owns two reinsurers, one based in Berrmandane
based in Ireland. Both of these companies wrotgrattional reinsurance and had in place retroceakplicies
providing for the full reinsurance of all of theks they assumed. In October 2007, Oceania refsaidink debt in
full.

The Enstar Group, Inc.

On January 31, 2007, we completed the merger eokigtrger, of CWMS Subsidiary Corp. with and inteeTh
Enstar Group, Inc., or EGI, and, as a result, E&lamed Enstar USA, Inc., is now our wholly-ownebsidiary.
Prior to the Merger, EGI owned approximately 32%rexmic and 50% voting interests in us. As a resfulhe
completion of the Merger, B.H. Acquisition Ltd.riew our wholly-owned subsidiary.

Unione

In November 2006, we, through our indirect subsidiirginia, purchased Unione Italiana (U.K.) Rairagnce
Company Limited, or Unione, a U.K. company, for apgimately $17.4 million. Unione underwrote busisésom
the 1940’s though to 1995. Prior to acquisitionjdte closed the majority of its portfolio by way asolvent
scheme of arrangement in the U.K. Unione’s remgitinsiness is a portfolio of international insuiaad
reinsurance which has been in run-off since 1971.

Cavell

In October 2006, we, through our subsidiary Virgirpurchased Cavell Holdings Limited (U.K.), or €kvfor
approximately £31.8 million (approximately $60.9lan). Cavell owns a U.K. reinsurance company and
Norwegian reinsurer, both of which wrote portfolmfsinternational reinsurance business and wentrimt-off in
1993 and 1992, respectively. The purchase pricefuvated by $24.5 million borrowed under a faciliban
agreement with a London-based bank and availakle @a hand. In February 2008, Virginia repaid @skodebt in
full.




Table of Contents

Aioi Europe

In March 2006, we and Shinsei, through Hillcot, gdeted the acquisition of Aioi Insurance Company of
Europe Limited, or Aioi Europe, a London-based glibsy of Aioi Insurance Company, Limited. Aioi Eape
underwrote general insurance and reinsurance kassindeurope for its own account from 1982 untid2@vhen it
generally ceased underwriting and placed its gémesarance and reinsurance business into runtbié. aggregate
purchase price paid for Aioi Europe was £62.0 wrill{(approximately $108.9 million), with £50.0 milii in cash
paid upon the closing of the transaction and £&#ll@on in the form of a promissory note, payabletve months
from the date of the closing. Upon completion @& thtansaction, Aioi Europe changed its name to Btam
Insurance Company Limited. In April 2006, Hillcattowed approximately $44.0 million from a Londoasked
bank to partially assist with the financing of thiei Europe acquisition. Following a repurchasefigi Europe of
its shares valued a#8.0 million in May 2006, Hillcot repaid the prome@y note and reduced the bank borrowir
$19.2 million, which was repaid in May 2008.

Fieldmill

In May 2005, we, through one of our subsidiariescpased Fieldmill Insurance Company Limited (forine
known as Harleysville Insurance Company (UK) Lirdjtéor approximately $1.4 million.

Share Offering

In July 2008, we completed the sale to the pullit,872,028 newly-issued ordinary shares, inclusivithe
underwriters’ over-allotment, or the Offering. Téteares were priced at $87.50 per share and weveekpéet
proceeds of approximately $116.8 million, after emdriting fees and other expenses of approxim&ialg million.
FPK served as lead managing underwriter in therdffe The Flowers Fund and certain of its affildhiavestment
partnerships purchased 285,714 ordinary sharesanitiiue of approximately $25.0 million in the Qffey at the
public offering price. An affiliate of the FloweFsind controlled approximately 41% of FPK untilstde of FPK in
December 2009.

Management of Run-Off Portfolios

We are a party to several management engagemenstspitito which we have agreed to manage the rfun-of
portfolios of third parties. Such arrangementsagheantageous for third-party insurers becausedhey a third-
party insurer to focus their management effortshair core competency while allowing them to maimthe
portfolio of business on their balance sheet. litawh, our expertise in managing portfolios in +offi allows the
third-party insurer the opportunity to potentialgalize positive operating results if we achieve ahjectives in
management of the run-off portfolio. We specializ¢he collection of reinsurance receivables thiroagr
subsidiary Kinsale Brokers Limited. Through our sidiaries, Enstar (US) Inc. and Cranmore Adjustémrsted, we
also specialize in providing claims inspection g@¥s whereby we are engaged by third-party inseramcl
reinsurance providers to review certain of theistixg insurance and reinsurance exposures, rakdtips, policies
and/or claims history.

Our primary objective in structuring our managenmamangements is to align the third-party insurerterests
with our interests. Consequently, management ageatntypically are structured so that we receixedifees in
connection with the management of the run-off mhidfand also typically receive certain incentivayments based
on a portfolio’s positive operating results.

Management Agreements

We have several management agreements with thitg-gants to manage certain roff portfolios with gros
loss reserves, as of December 31, 2009, of appedglyn$1.4 billion. The fees generated by thesegements
include both fixed and incentive-based remunerati@ased on our success in achieving certain obgxtivhese
agreements do not include the recurring engagemasmtaged by our claims inspection and reinsuraaltection
subsidiaries, Cranmore Adjusters Limited, EnsteB)Unc. and Kinsale Brokers Limited, respectively.

10




Table of Contents

Claims Management and Administration

An integral factor to our success is our abilityattalyze, administer, manage and settle claimselated
expenses, such as loss adjustment expenses. Ous téams are located in different offices withim organization
and provide global claims support. We have impleegeffective claims handling guidelines along vathims
reporting and control procedures in all of our migiunits. To ensure that claims are appropriatehdted and
reported in accordance with these guidelines laiires matters are reviewed regularly, with all miadeclaims
matters being circulated to and authorized by memegt prior to any action being taken.

When we receive notice of a claim, regardlessz# and regardless of whether it is a paid clainnestjor a
reserve advice, it is reviewed and recorded withénclaims system, reserving our rights where gppate. Claims
reserve movements and payments are reviewed dailyany material movements being reported to maneamnt
for review. This enables “flash reporting” of sifjoant events and potential insurance or reinswgdosses to be
communicated to senior management worldwide omalyi basis irrespective from which geographicahtamn or
business unit location the exposure arises.

We are also able to efficiently manage claims astdin savings through our extensive relationshijk w
defense counsel (both in-house and external),-frartly claims administrators and other professiaiisors and
experts. We have developed relationships and potstec reduce the number of outside counsel byal@izing
claims of similar types and complexity with expeded law firms specializing in the particular tygfeclaim. This
approach has enabled us to more efficiently maoatgde counsel and other third parties, therebyamg
expenses, and to establish closer relationshigsceiding companies.

When appropriate, we negotiate with direct insutedsuy back policies either on favorable termsoomitigate
against existing and/or potential future indemeityposures and legal costs in an uncertain andamathsevolving
legal environment. We also pursue commutationsagarfible terms with ceding companies of reinsurdnusiness
in order to realize savings or to mitigate agapwential future indemnity exposures and legalsdstich buybacks
and commutations typically eliminate all past, presand future liability to direct insureds anchseireds in return
for a lump sum payment.

With regard to reinsurance receivables, we managk ftow by working with reinsurers, brokers and
professional advisors to achieve fair and promghpnt of reinsured claims, taking appropriate legdion to
secure receivables where necessary. We also attelnepé appropriate to negotiate favorable commuanativith
our reinsurers by securing a lump sum settlememnt fireinsurers in complete satisfaction of the ngi@ss past,
present and future liability in respect of suchirala Properly priced commutations reduce the expensdjusting
direct claims and pursuing collection of reinsueneceivables (both of which may often involve egtee legal
expense), realize savings, remove the potentiafdutolatility of claims and reduce required regoig capital.

Reserves for Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expse

Applicable insurance laws and generally acceptedwatting practices require us to maintain resetvesver
our estimated losses under insurance policiestbdtave assumed and for loss adjustment expens&Er
relating to the investigation, administration aettlement of policy claims. Our LAE reserves conefsoth
reserves for allocated loss adjustment expenses,AE, and for unallocated loss adjustment expensebs/LAE.
ALAE are linked to the settlement of an individa#dim or loss, whereas ULAE reserve is based orestimates of
future costs to administer the claims.

We and our subsidiaries establish losses and LA&rves for individual claims by evaluating reportéaims
on the basis of:

» our knowledge of the circumstances surroundingthien;
* the severity of the injury or damag
« the jurisdiction of the occurrenc

« the potential for ultimate exposul

the type of loss; an
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 our experience with the line of business and pghieyisions relating to the particular type of oia

Because a significant amount of time can lapse d&tvthe assumption of risk, the occurrence of adesent,
the reporting of the event to an insurance or tgarsce company and the ultimate payment of thenctai the loss
event, the liability for unpaid losses and LAE &sbd largely upon estimates. Our management meist us
considerable judgment in the process of develotlinge estimates. The liability for unpaid losses laAE for
property and casualty business includes amoungsrdited from loss reports on individual cases andumts for
losses incurred but not reported, or IBNR. Suckmess, including IBNR reserves, are estimated byagament
based upon loss reports received from ceding cormpasupplemented by our own estimates of losgestiich no
ceding company loss reports have yet been received.

In establishing reserves, management also consadararial estimates of ultimate losses. Our inddpat
actuaries employ generally accepted actuarial ndetlogies and procedures to estimate ultimate lcssddoss
adjustment expenses. Our loss reserves are lagjated to casualty exposures including latent supEs primarily
relating to asbestos and environmental, or A&Hjiasussed below. In establishing the reservesripaid claims,
management considers facts currently known anduhent state of the law and coverage litigatioabilities are
recognized for known claims (including the costedted litigation) when sufficient information hiasen develope
to indicate the involvement of a specific insurapoéicy, and management can reasonably estimaliabifity. In
addition, reserves are established to cover logsldement related to both known and unassertethslai

The estimation of unpaid claim liabilities is sutijgo a high degree of uncertainty for a numbereakons.
Unpaid claim liabilities for property and casuadtyposures in general are impacted by changes iedlaé
environment, jury awards, medical cost trends amteeal inflation. Moreover, for latent exposurepanticular,
developed case law and adequate claims historptiexist. There is significant coverage litigatiamolved with
these exposures which creates further uncertairttyei estimation of the liabilities. Therefore, fbese types of
exposures, it is especially unclear whether pasincexperience will be representative of futureénalaxperience.
Ultimate values for such claims cannot be estimatgdg reserving techniques that extrapolate lossan ultimate
basis using loss development factors, and the taioges surrounding the estimation of unpaid claahilities are
not likely to be resolved in the near future. Theme be no assurance that the reserves estabbighediwill be
adequate or will not be adversely affected by teetbpment of other latent exposures. The actuaréhods used
to estimate ultimate loss and ALAE for our latexp@sures are discussed below.

For the non-latent loss exposures, a range oftivadi loss development extrapolation techniquespjslied.
Incremental paid and incurred loss development atietlogies are the most commonly used methods. fioadl
cumulative paid and incurred loss development nusttave used where inception-to-date, cumulative pad
reported incurred loss development history is abéd. These methods assume that groups of logsassfmilar
exposures will increase over time in a predictabémner. Historical paid and incurred loss develapre&perience
is examined for earlier underwriting years to madierences about how later underwriting years’ ésswill
develop. Where company-specific loss informationdsavailable or not reliable, industry loss depahent
information published by reliable industry soursesh as the Reinsurance Association of Americarnsidered.

The reserving process is intended to reflect th@airhof inflation and other factors affecting lgssyments by
taking into account changes in historical paymexttgons and perceived trends. However, there gecise metho
for the subsequent evaluation of the adequacyeo€timsideration given to inflation, or to any othpecific factor,
or to the way one factor may affect another.

The loss development tables below show changesrigross and net loss reserves in subsequent fyearshe
prior loss estimates based on experience as @rti®f each succeeding year. The estimate is isedear decreas
as more information becomes known about the frequand severity of losses for individual years. eflundancy
means the original estimate was higher than theeotiestimate; a deficiency means that the current
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estimate is higher than the original estimate. "Reserve redundancy/(deficiency)” line represeassof the date
indicated, the difference between the latest reraded liability and the reserves as originallyirasted.

Gross Loss and Loss

Adjustment Expense Year Ended December 31,

Reserve: 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
(in thousands of U.S. dollars’

Reserves assumi $419,71° $284,40¢ $381,53. $1,047,31: $806,55¢ $1,214,41! $1,591,44! $2,798,28 $2,479,13I

1 year latel 348,27¢ 302,98t 365,91: 900,27: 909,98: 1,227,42" 1,436,05. 2,661,01

2 years late 360,55¢ 299,28: 284,58! 1,002,77. 916,48( 1,084,85. 1,358,90I

3 years late 359,77: 278,02( 272,53 1,012,48. 853,13¢ 1,020,75!

4 years late 332,90: 264,04( 243,69: 953,83: 778,21t

5 years late 316,25 242,27t 216,87! 879,50«

6 years late 294,94! 238,31 204,87!

7 years late 290,92¢ 229,78«

8 years late 282,06¢

Reserve redundanc $137,65. $ 54,62f $176,65¢ $ 167,80¢ $ 28,34t $ 193,66: $ 232,54¢ $ 137,27¢

Year Ended December 31,

Gross Paid Losse 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 200¢
(in thousands of U.S. dollars’

1 year latel $ 97,03¢ $ 43,721 $ 19,26( $110,19¢ $117,66¢ $ 90,18:  $407,69:  $364,44(

2 years late 123,84: 64,90( 43,08: 226,22! 198,400 197,75: 575,52

3 years late 142,28. 84,89t 61,71f 305,91 268,54: 353,03:

4 years late 160,19¢ 101,41: 75,60¢ 375,76: 402,13:

5 years late 174,47¢ 110,15¢ 87,27¢ 509,31¢

6 years late 181,80( 121,00 101,95¢

7 years late 189,02 135,42¢

8 years late 200,45

Net Loss and Loss

Adjustment Expense Year Ended December 31

Reserve: 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)

Reserves assumi $224,50° $184,51¢ $230,15! $736,66( $593,16( $872,25¢ $1,163,48! $2,403,71: $2,131,40:

1 year latel 190,76¢ 176,44. 220,71: 653,03¢ 590,15. 875,63t 1,034,58! 2,216,92:

2 years late 176,11¢ 178,08 164,31¢ 652,19 586,05¢ 753,55. 950,73¢

3 years late 180,63! 138,25. 149,98( 649,35! 532,80: 684,99¢

4 years late 135,21¢ 129,927 136,61: 600,93¢ 454,93:

5 years late 124,22: 119,52. 108,66t 531,66¢

6 years late 114,37¢ 112,10( 104,12

7 years late 106,92( 108,44

8 years late 103,31:

Reserve redundant $121,19¢ $ 76,07. $126,02¢ $204,99: $138,22" $187,26( $ 212,74t $ 186,78«

Year Ended December 31,

Net Paid Losse 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
(in thousands of U.S. dollars’

1 year latel $38,63: $10,557 $11,35¢ $ 78,48t $ 79,39¢ $ 43,89¢ $112,32: $247,82:

2 years late 32,297 24,97¢ 6,31 161,17¢ 125,27:  (70,43() 243,14¢

3 years late 44,15 17,30¢ 9,161  206,35: (14,150  58,22¢

4 years late 34,48: 24,287 (1,809 67,19 102,77¢

5 years late 39,23. 9,68¢ 2,51f  184,15(

6 years late 23,30¢ 14,147 11,34¢

7 years late 24,17¢ 22,96¢

8 years late 30,55!
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The following table provides a reconciliation oéthlability for losses and LAE, net of reinsuraresled:

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)

Net reserves for loss and loss adjustment expe

beginning of periot $2,403,71. $1,163,48! $ 872,25¢ $593,16( $736,66(
Net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjustnesmpiense

liabilities (259,62 (242,109 (24,487 (31,927 (96,007
Net losses pai (257,41 (174,01) (20,427 (75,297 (69,007
Effect of exchange rate movemt 73,51: (124,989 18,62 24,85¢ 3,652
Retroactive reinsurance contracts assu 56,63( 373,28 — — —
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiari 114,59! 1,408,041 317,50! 361,46. 17,86:
Net reserves for loss and loss adjustment expeesdf

period $2,131,40¢  $2,403,71. $1,163,48" $872,25¢ $593,16(

In the table above, net reduction in ultimate lasd loss adjustment expense liabilities relatgotimr years
represents changes in estimates of prior periotbestand loss adjustment expense liabilities céimy net
incurred loss movements during a period and chaimgestimates of net IBNR liabilities. Net incurrkeds
movements during a period comprise increases aictiEhs in specific case reserves advised duriagériod to us
by our policyholders and attorneys, or by us toreimsurers, less claims settlements made durmgdhiod by us t
our policyholders, plus claim receipts made toyslr reinsurers. Prior period estimates of net iBlkbilities may
change as our management considers the combineatirmpcommutations, policy buy-backs, settlemdnbsses
on carried reserves and the trend of incurreddeselopment compared to prior forecasts. The todridcurred los:
development in any period comprises the movemengirtase reserves less net claims settled durengeriod. Se
“— Management’s Discussion and Analysis of FinahCiandition and Results of Operations Extical Accounting
Policies — Loss and Loss Adjustment Expenses” e @ for an explanation of how the loss reserving
methodologies are applied to the movement, or dgveént, of net incurred losses during a periodstorate IBNR
liabilities.

Commutations provide an opportunity for us to exiposures to entire policies with insureds andsteieds at
discount to the previously estimated ultimate liahiOur internal and external actuaries eliminalleprior historica
loss development that relates to commuted exposun@spply their actuarial methodologies to theaiamg
aggregate exposures and revised historical losslal@went information to reassess estimates of atériabilities.

Policy buy-backs provide an opportunity for us éttle individual policies and losses usually atscount to
carried advised loss reserves. As part of our neutlaims settlement operations, claims will seitleither below or
above the carried advised loss reserve. The ingdgmilicy buy-backs and the routine settlementlafnes updates
historical loss development information to whichuacial methodologies are applied often resultmgevised
estimates of ultimate liabilities. Our actuarialthwdologies include industry benchmarking whichgjemcertain
methodologies (discussed further under “— Manag#im&iscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditemd
Results of Operations — Critical Accounting Pol&ien page 69), compares the trend of our lossldpueent to
that of the industry. To the extent that the trehdur loss development compared to the industangks in any
period, it is likely to have an impact on the estienof ultimate liabilities.

Year Ended December 31, 2009

Net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjustnesipiense liabilities for the year ended Decembef8@9 was
$259.6 million, excluding the impact of adversesign exchange rate movements of $73.5 million actliding
both net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjesit expense liabilities of $4.8 million relatirydompanies
acquired during the year and premium and commisaitpimstments triggered by incurred losses of $51kom
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The net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjestnexpense liabilities for the year ended DecerBtheP009
of $259.6 million was attributable to a reductiorestimates of net ultimate losses of $274.8 mmijlepreduction in
aggregate provisions for bad debts of $11.7 mildad a reduction in estimates of loss adjustmepeese liabilities
of $50.4 million, relating to 2009 run-off activjtpartially offset by the amortization, over théimsted payout
period, of fair value adjustments relating to comipa acquired amounting to $77.3 million.

The reduction in estimates of net ultimate los$ek2@4.8 million comprised net incurred loss depehent of
$43.3 million and reductions in IBNR reserves 0182 million. The decrease in the estimate of IBNSS reserves
of $318.2 million was comprised of $158.4 milliaglating to asbestos liabilities, $17.0 million teig to
environmental liabilities and $142.8 million relagito all other remaining liabilities. The reductim IBNR is a
result of the application, on a basis consistettt thie assumptions applied in the prior periodywfactuarial
methodologies to loss data to estimate loss reseegpiired to cover liabilities for unpaid losses #oss adjustment
expenses. The loss data pertained to the redustatibal loss development of our exposures not catachin 2009
The prior period estimate of net IBNR liabilitiessvreduced as a result of the combined impactssfdevelopment
activity during 2009, including commutations and favorable trend of loss development related to-cammmuted
policies compared to prior forecasts. The net ireditoss development of $43.3 million resultingnfreettlement of
net advised case and LAE reserves of $214.1 mifbomet paid losses of $257.4 million, relatedhe settlement «
non-commuted losses in the year and approximag&lommutations of assumed and ceded exposures.
Commutations provide an opportunity for the entiityexit exposures to entire policies with insuradd reinsureds
at a discount to the previous estimated ultimaiteility. As a result of exiting all exposures tahkpolicies, all
advised case reserves and IBNR liabilities relatintipat insured or reinsured are eliminated. ‘Bffien results in a
net gain irrespective of whether the settlemeneesls the advised case reserves. We adopt a digd@pproach to
the review and settlement of non-commuted claimsuiph claims adjusting and the inspection of unyieg|
policyholder records such that settlements of assuaxposures may often be achieved below the tftae
originally advised loss, and settlements of cedegivables may often be achieved at levels abavieeddalances.
Of the 79 commutations completed during 2009, telated to our top ten insured and/or reinsured sx@s. The
remaining 77 were of a smaller size, consistert witr approach of targeting significant numbersexfant and
reinsurer relationships as well as targeting sigaift individual cedant and individual relationship\pproximately
76% of commutations completed in 2009 related toroatations completed during the three months ended
December 31, 2009. Subsequent to the year endhfane insurance entities completed a commutatifcemother o
one of our top ten reinsured exposures. The cortibmaf the claims settlement activity in 2009, lirding
commutations, and the actuarial estimation of IBfd&erves required for the remaining non-commutgadsxres
(which took into account the favorable trend ofldgevelopment in 2009 related to such exposurepaned to pric
forecasts as well as the impact of the commutdtiahwas completed subsequent to the year endjiedsn our
management concluding that the loss developmeivitgdhat occurred subsequent to the prior reporperiod
provided sufficient new information to warrant a@uetion in IBNR reserves of $318.2 million in 2009.

The reduction in aggregate provisions for bad @é#L1.7 million was a result of the collectionirparily
during the three months ended March 31, 2009, méicereinsurance receivables against which bad pi@lvisions
had been provided in earlier periods.

Year Ended December 31, 2008

The net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjestnexpense liabilities for the year ended DecerBthe2008
was $242.1 million, excluding the impacts of fasmeaforeign exchange rate movements of $36.1 milfrelating
to companies acquired in 2007 and earlier) andidiog both net reduction in ultimate loss and ladgistment
expense liabilities of $149.4 million relating tompanies acquired during the year and premium amrdssion
adjustments triggered by incurred losses of $0lliomi

The net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjestnexpense liabilities for 2008 of $242.1 milliwas
attributable to a reduction in estimates of nemate losses of $161.4 million, a reduction in &ggite provisions
for bad debt of $36.1 million (excluding $3.1 nolfi relating to one of our entities that benefitehf substantial
stop loss reinsurance protection discussed belodgaeduction in estimates of loss adjustment esgdabilities
of $69.1 million, relating to 2008 run-off activitpartially offset by the amortization, over théimsited payout
period, of fair value adjustments relating to conmipa acquired amounting to $24.5 million.
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The reduction in estimates of net ultimate los$e&l61.4 million comprised the following:

() A reduction in estimates of net ultimate lose€$21.7 million in one of our insurance entitthat benefited
from substantial stop loss reinsurance protectitat.incurred loss development relating to thistgraf
$21.6 million was offset by reductions in IBNR reses of $94.8 million and reductions in provisidasbad debt ¢
$3.1 million, resulting in a net reduction in esdites of ultimate losses of $76.3 million. The gnititquestion
benefited, until December 18, 2008, from substést@p loss reinsurance protection whereby $54|6amiof the
net reduction in ultimate losses of $76.3 millioasiceded to a single AA- rated reinsurer suchvtleatetained a
reduction in estimates of net ultimate losses irgab this entity of $21.7 million. On December, 2808, we
commuted the stop loss reinsurance protection thitreinsurer for the receipt of $190.0 million phle by the
reinsurer to us over four years together with egecompounded at 3.5% per annum. The commutasuited in
no significant financial impact to us. The decreiasine estimate of IBNR loss reserves of $94.8ionilwas
comprised of $77.7 million relating to asbestobiliies, $9.0 million relating to environmentahbilities and
$8.1 million relating to all other remaining liaitis. The reduction in IBNR is a result of the bggtion, on a basis
consistent with the assumptions applied in thergrésiod, of our actuarial methodologies to lossda estimate
loss reserves required to cover liabilities for aiddosses and loss adjustment expenses. Thedtspdrtained to
the reduced historical loss development of our eMpss not commuted in 2008. The prior period esérofinet
IBNR liabilities was reduced as a result of the bamad impact of loss development activity durin@@0which wa:
comprised of the settlement of certain advised oaserves below their prior period carried amourdsymutations
completed and the trend of loss development rgJatmon-commuted policies compared to prior fosexarhe net
incurred loss development relating to this entit$®1.6 million, whereby advised net case reseofek25.0 million
were settled for net paid losses of $46.6 milljmmarily related to six commutations of assumed esded
liabilities completed during 2008. As a result giting all exposures to such policies, all advisede reserves and
IBNR liabilities relating to that insured or reined are eliminated. This often results in a neh gaespective of
whether the settlement exceeds the advised camess Of the six commutations completed for thigty, of
which the three largest were completed during liheet months ended December 31, 2008, one was aitsdog
ten assumed exposures. The remaining five commutatiere of a smaller size, consistent with ouraggh of
targeting significant numbers of cedant and reiastelationships as well as targeting significadividual cedant
and reinsurer relationships. The combination ofdlaéms settlement activity in 2008, including contations,
combined with the actuarial estimation of IBNR megs required for the remaining non-commuted expssu
(which took into account the favorable trend ofldgvelopment in 2008 related to such exposurepad to pric
forecasts), resulted in our management concludiagthe loss development activity that occurredssghent to the
prior reporting period provided sufficient new infeation to warrant a reduction in IBNR reserve$®4.8 million
in 2008.

(i) A reduction in estimates of net ultimate lossé $139.7 million in our other insurance and seirance
entities comprised net favorable incurred loss tipment of $24.1 million and reductions in IBNR eeges of
$115.6 million. The decrease in the estimate of fBiNss reserves of $115.6 million was comprisefia#.8 million
relating to asbestos liabilities, $1.8 million it#lg to environmental liabilities and $90.0 millioelating to all other
remaining liabilities. The reduction in IBNR is @sult of the application, on a basis consistentt thie assumptions
applied in the prior period, of our actuarial metblogies to loss data to estimate loss reservasreztjto cover
liabilities for unpaid losses and loss adjustmespemses. The loss data pertained to the reductatib# loss
development of our exposures not commuted in 2068.prior period estimate of net IBNR liabilitiesagreduced
as a result of the combined impact of favorabls bsvelopment activity during 2008, which was casett of the
settlement of advised case reserves below their period carried amounts, commutations completetithe
favorable trend of loss development related to cmmimuted policies compared to prior forecasts. Adtdfavorable
incurred loss development in our remaining insueaaied reinsurance entities of $24.1 million, whgnebt advised
case and LAE reserves of $123.5 million were si:fibe net paid losses of $99.4 million, primariglated to the
settlement of non-commuted losses in the year belwed reserves and approximately 59 commutatibns
assumed and ceded exposures at less than caséBnéderves. Of the 59 commutations completed du2B08
for our other reinsurance and insurance compatvies(both of which were completed during the thmeanths
ended December 31, 2008) were among our top temddsind/or reinsured exposures. The remainingesé of a
smaller size, consistent with our approach of timgesignificant numbers of cedant and reinsur&ati@nships, as
well as targeting significant individual cedant aethsurer relationships.
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Approximately 82% of commutations completed in 208i&ted to commutations completed during the thmeaths
ended December 31, 2008. The combination of thimslaettlement activity in 2008, including commidas, with
the actuarial estimation of IBNR reserves requfedhe remaining noncommuted exposures (which totik
account the favorable trend of loss developme@0®8B related to such exposures compared to priecésts),
resulted in our management concluding that thedesglopment activity that occurred subsequertiéqotior
reporting period provided sufficient new informatito warrant a reduction in IBNR reserves of $118ilion in
2008.

One of our reinsurance companies has retrocessaor@adgements providing for full reinsurance ofreks
assumed. During the year, this entity commutethitgest assumed liability and related retrocessipraection
whereby the subsidiary paid net losses of $222lllomiand reduced net IBNR by the same amount ltiegun no
gain or loss to us.

The reduction in aggregate provisions for bad @é$36.1 million (excluding $3.1 million relating bne of
our entities that benefited from substantial stigsIreinsurance protection discussed above) wapreed of:
(1) $13.7 million as a result of the collectioninparily during the three months ended Decembe2B808, of certain
reinsurance receivables against which bad debigoms had been provided in earlier periods, (25 $8illion as a
result of the revision of estimates of bad debvjsions following the receipt of new informationrihg the three
months ended December 31, 2008 and (3) $13.9 m#ifoa result of reduced exposures to reinsurenshad debt
provisions following the commutation of assumedbilities.

Year Ended December 31, 2007

The net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjestnexpense liabilities for the year ended DecertheP007
was $24.5 million, excluding the impacts of advemseign exchange rate movements of $18.6 milliod imcluding
both net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjesit expense liabilities of $9.0 million relatirydompanies
acquired during the year and premium and commisaitpimstments triggered by incurred losses of $0lBom

The net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjestnexpense liabilities for 2007 of $24.5 millioasv
attributable to a reduction in estimates of némate losses of $30.7 million and a reduction itnestes of loss
adjustment expense liabilities of $22.0 millionatang to 2007 run-off activity, partially offseytan increase in
aggregate provisions for bad debt of $1.7 milljrimarily relating to companies acquired in 2006d ¢he
amortization, over the estimated payout periodainfvalue adjustments relating to companies aeguamounting
to $26.5 million.

The reduction in estimates of net ultimate los$ek30.7 million comprised the following:

(i) An increase in estimates of net ultimate los=e$2.1 million in one of our insurance entitibat
benefited from substantial stop loss reinsuranogeption. This entity increased ultimate net lodses
$23.5 million which was largely offset by a reccadele from a single AA- rated reinsurer such thaea
ultimate loss of $2.1 million was retained by ukeTincrease in ultimate net losses of $23.5 millmefore the
recoverable from the stop loss reinsurer, compniggdncurred loss development of $36.6 milliorrtiply
offset by a decrease in the estimate of IBNR lesgnves of $13.1 million. The decrease in the edérof
IBNR loss reserves of $13.1 million was compris€829 million relating to asbestos liabilities,.$6nillion
relating to environmental liabilities and $4.0 naill relating to all other remaining liabilities. &heduction in
IBNR is a result of the application, on a basissistent with the assumptions applied in the pramiqa, of our
actuarial methodologies to loss data to estimagg leserves required to cover liabilities for uddasses and
loss adjustment expenses. The loss data pertairtbé reduced historical loss development of oposures
not commuted in 2007. The prior period estimataaifIBNR liabilities was reduced as a result of cbenbinec
impact of favorable loss development activity dgr007, which was comprised of the settlement dhae
advised case reserves below their prior periodezhermounts, commutations completed and the faletednc
of loss development relating to non-commuted pedic@iompared to prior forecasts. The net incurrssl lo
development relating to this entity of $36.6 milljavhereby advised net case reserves of $16.2milliere
settled for net paid losses of $53.5 million, réstifrom the settlement of case and LAE reservesebarried
levels and from new loss advices, partially offsgtpproximately 12 commutations of
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assumed and ceded exposures below carried ressrle.|As a result of exiting all exposures to spalicies,
all advised case reserves and IBNR liabilitiestirdato that insured or reinsured were eliminafdus often
results in a net gain irrespective of whether #tement exceeds advised case reserves. Of the 12
commutations completed for this entity, three wamr®ng our top ten cedant exposures. The remairiigg n
were of a smaller size, consistent with our appnaEdargeting significant numbers of cedant andsarer
relationships as well as targeting significant widlial cedant and reinsurer relationships. The doatlon of
the claims settlement activity in 2007, includiragromutations, with the actuarial estimation of IBK#erves
required for the remaining non-commuted exposusgsch took into account the favorable trend of loss
development in 2007 related to such exposures cardpa prior forecasts), resulted in our management
concluding that the favorable loss developmenwagtihat occurred subsequent to the prior repgrgieriod
provided sufficient new information to warrant auetion in IBNR reserves of $13.1 million in 2007.

(i) Net favorable incurred loss development of $2illion, comprising net paid loss recoveriesatiag
to another one of our reinsurance companies, difg@icreases in net IBNR loss reserves of $2910om;
resulting in no ultimate gain or loss. This reirswe company has retrocessional arrangements prgvat
full reinsurance of all risks assumed.

(iii) A reduction in estimates of net ultimate lessof $32.8 million in our remaining insurance and
reinsurance entities, which was comprised of natrf@ble incurred loss development of $6.5 milliow a
reductions in IBNR reserves of $26.3 million. Thecrkase in the estimate of IBNR loss reserves of
$26.3 million was comprised of $20.1 million retagito asbestos liabilities and $7.7 million relgtio all other
remaining liabilities, partially offset by an inage of $1.5 million relating to environmental liiti#s. The
reduction in IBNR is a result of the applicatiom, @ basis consistent with the assumptions appii¢lle prior
period, of our actuarial methodologies to loss datastimate loss reserves required to cover lisdslfor
unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses. Thdats pertained to the reduced historical losgldpment
of our exposures not commuted in 2007. The prioiodesstimate of net IBNR liabilities was reducedaaresu
of the combined impact of favorable loss developnaetivity during 2007, which was comprised of the
settlement of certain advised case reserves bélenvrior period carried amounts, commutations pleted
and the trend of loss development related to nanrcoted policies compared to prior forecasts. The ne
favorable incurred loss development in our rema@nisurance and reinsurance entities of $6.5 millio
whereby net advised case and LAE reserves of $libmwere settled for net paid loss recoveries of
$4.0 million, primarily related to the settlemeffth@n-commuted losses in the year below carriedries and
approximately 57 commutations of assumed and cerpdsures at less than case and LAE reservese®frth
commutations completed during 2007 for our rema@nmginsurance and insurance companies, five weomngm
our top ten cedant and/or reinsured exposuresrdrhaining 52 were of a smaller size, consistert witr
approach of targeting significant numbers of cedauut reinsurer relationships, as well as targetiggificant
individual cedant and reinsurer relationships. Tambination of the claims settlement activity ir0Z0
including commutations, with the actuarial estiroatof IBNR reserves required for the remaining non-
commuted exposures (which took into account therfable trend of loss development in 2007 relatesbith
exposures compared to prior forecasts), resultediinmanagement concluding that the loss developmen
activity that occurred subsequent to the prior répg period provided sufficient new informationwarrant a
reduction in IBNR reserves of $26.3 million in 2007

Year Ended December 31, 2006

The net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjestnexpense liabilities for the year ended DecerBtheP006
was $31.9 million, excluding the impacts of advdmeign exchange rate movements of $24.9 milliod mcluding
both net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjesit expense liabilities of $2.7 million relatirydompanies
acquired during the year and premium and commisaitpimstments triggered by incurred losses of $ilBom

The net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjestnexpense liabilities for 2006 of $31.9 millioasv
attributable to a reduction in estimates of neémadte losses of $21.4 million, a reduction in esti@s of loss
adjustment expense liabilities of $15.1 millioratéig to 2006 run-off activity, a reduction in aggate provisions
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for bad debt of $6.3 million, resulting from theleation of certain reinsurance receivables agaiisth bad debt
provisions had been provided in earlier periodstigily offset by the amortization, over the esttedhpayout perior
of fair value adjustments relating to companiesuaeg amounting to $10.9 million.

The reduction in estimates of net ultimate losgek2a.4 million comprised net incurred loss develemt of
$37.9 million offset by reductions in estimatedBNR reserves of $59.3 million. An increase in esttes of
ultimate losses of $3.4 million relating to oneoofr insurance entities was offset by reductionsstimates of net
ultimate losses of $24.8 million in our remainimgurance and reinsurance entities.

The incurred loss development of $37.9 million, ey advised case and LAE reserves of $37.4 miliere
settled for net paid losses of $75.3 million, coisgnd incurred loss development of $59.2 millioratielg to one of
our insurance companies partially offset by favt@ahcurred loss development of $21.3 million rielgtto our
remaining insurance and reinsurance companies.

The incurred loss development of $59.2 million tie;to one of our insurance companies was comgoéee
paid loss settlements of $81.3 million less redungiin case and LAE reserves of $22.1 million asited from th
settlement of case and LAE reserves above caeigdd and from new loss advices, partially offset b
approximately ten commutations of assumed and cegigosures below carried reserves levels. Actuanalysis ¢
the remaining unsettled loss liabilities resultecmn increase in the estimate of IBNR loss reses?€85.0 million
after consideration of the $59.2 million adversauimed loss development during the year, and tpécgtion of the
actuarial methodologies to loss data pertainintpéoremaining nomommuted exposures. Factors contributing ti
increase include the establishment of a resergever potential exposure to lead paint claimsgaificant increase
in asbestos reserves related to the entity’s siagest cedant (following a detailed review of thnelerlying
exposures), and a change in the assumed A&E lpsstieg time-lag as discussed further below. Oftdre
commutations completed for this entity, two wereoamour top ten cedant and/or reinsurance expastines
remaining eight were of a smaller size, consisiétit our approach of targeting significant numbefrsedant and
reinsurer relationships as well as targeting sigaift individual cedant and reinsurer relationshifiss entity also
benefits from substantial stop loss reinsurancéeptimn whereby the loss development of $59.2 amillivas largely
offset by a recoverable from a single AA- ratedhseirer. The increase in estimated net ultimatekbe$
$3.4 million was retained by us.

The net favorable incurred loss development of $2dillion, relating to our remaining insurance and
reinsurance companies, whereby net advised casevessof $15.3 million were settled for net paigsloecoveries
of $6.0 million, arose from approximately 35 comatigns of assumed and ceded exposures at lessdakarand
LAE reserves, where receipts from ceded commutsitixceeded settlements of assumed exposures,and th
settlement of non-commuted losses in the year belowied reserves.

The net reduction in the estimate of IBNR loss sd adjustment expense liabilities relating to r@maining
insurance and reinsurance companies (i.e., exgutienet $55.8 million reduction in IBNR reservekting to the
entity referred to above) amounted to $3.5 millidhis net reduction was comprised of an increaskl6f8 million
resulting from (i) a change in assumptions as ¢oafppropriate loss reporting time lag for asbestlzged exposures
from two to three years and for environmental exipes from two to two and one-half years, which lteskin an
increase in net IBNR reserves of $6.4 million, &ida reduction in ceded IBNR recoverables of #1i3illion
resulting from the commutation of ceded reinsurgsrogections. The increase in IBNR of $19.8 millisroffset by
a reduction of $23.3 million resulting from the &pation of our reserving methodologies to (i) teeluced
historical incurred loss development informatiolatieg to remaining exposures after the 35 comnuriaf and
(i) reduced case and LAE reserves in the aggre@dtthe 35 commutations completed during 2006tier
remaining of our reinsurance and insurance compatea were among our top ten cedant and/or reinser
exposures. The remaining 25 were of a smaller sasistent with our approach of targeting sigafficnumbers of
cedant and reinsurer relationships as well as tiagysignificant individual cedant and reinsurdationships.

Year Ended December 31, 2005

The net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjestnexpense liabilities for the year ended DecerBtheP005
was $96.0 million, excluding the impacts of advdmeign exchange rate movements of $3.7 milliod imcluding

19




Table of Contents

both net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjesit expense liabilities of $7.4 million relatirydompanies
acquired during the year and premium and commissitustments triggered by incurred losses of $1illBom

The net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjestnexpense liabilities for 2005 of $96.0 millioasv
attributable to a reduction in estimates of neamate losses of $73.2 million, a reduction in esti@s of loss
adjustment expense liabilities of $10.5 millionatig to 2005 run-off activity, and a reductionaggregate
provisions for bad debt of $20.2 million, resultingm the collection of certain reinsurance recbiga against
which bad debt provisions had been provided inexgoeriods, partially offset by the amortizatiower the
estimated payout period, of fair value adjustmealating to companies acquired amounting to $7Ifiani

The reduction in estimates of net ultimate los$e®78.2 million was comprised of favorable incurteds
development during the year of $5.9 million anduatns in estimates of IBNR reserves of $67.3iomill The
favorable incurred loss development, whereby advisse and LAE reserves of $74.9 million were egttbr net
paid losses of $69.0 million, arose from approxeha68 commutations of assumed and ceded expoatitess tha
case and LAE reserves and the settlement of noncechiosses in the year below carried reserves.

The $67.3 million reduction in the estimate of IBINRRs and loss adjustment expense liabilities teddtom
the application of our reserving methodologies)ohe reduced historical incurred loss developniefatrmation
relating to remaining exposures after the 68 comatiarts, and (ii) reduced case and LAE reservesdraggregate.
The application of our reserving methodologiesh®rieduced historical incurred loss developmemrination
relating to our remaining exposures after elimipraf the historical loss development relatingte 68 commuted
exposures had the following effects (with the mdtiogies that weighed most heavily in the analfmighis period
listed first):

< Under the Ultimate-to-Incurred Method, the applmatof the ratio of estimated industry ultimatedes to
industry incurred-to-date losses to our reducedrimcl-to-date losses resulted in reduced estinodiess
reserves

« Application of the Paid Survival Ratio Method t@treduced historical loss development informatesuttec
in lower expected average annual payment amounmpaced to the previous year, which, when multiplied
by the expected industry benchmark for future nunoli@ayment years, led to reductions in our edttha
loss reserves

< Under the Paid Market Share Method, our reducedriial calendar year payments resulted in a réoicif
our indicated market share of industry paid lossebsthus our market share of estimated industsy los
reserves

« Under the Reserve-to-Paid Method, the applicatidheratio of industry reserves to industry
paic-to-datelosses to our reducepaic-to-datelosses resulted in reduced estimates of loss res:

» Under the IBNR:Case Ratio Method, the applicatibratios of industry IBNR reserves to industry case
reserves to our case reserves resulted in redstiatbées of IBNR loss reserves as a result of tjueemate
reduction, combining the impact of commutations asetilement of non-commuted losses, in our case and
LAE reserves of $74.9 million during the year. Agls case and LAE reserves were settled for less tha
$74.9 million, the IBNR reserves determined untierlBNR:Case Ratio Method associated with such case
reserves were eliminated. See “— ManagenseDitscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiod &esults
of Operations — Critical Accounting Policies — Laasd Loss Adjustment Expenses” on page 70 for a
further explanation of how the loss reserving mddiogies are applied to the movement, or developnoén
net incurred losses during a period to estimateRBidbilities. Of the 68 commutations completedidgr
2005, ten were among the top ten cedant and/osugnce exposures of our individual reinsurance
subsidiaries involved. The remaining 58 were ofll@naize, consistent with our approach of targgtin
significant numbers of cedant and reinsurer retatiips as well as targeting significant individoatiant and
reinsurer relationship:
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Asbestos and Environmental (A&E) Exposure
General A&E Exposures

A number of our subsidiaries wrote general liapifiblicies and reinsurance prior to our acquisitdthem
under which policyholders continue to present asiseelated injury claims and claims alleging igjulamage or
clean-up costs arising from environmental pollutibhese policies, and the associated claims, feeee to as
A&E exposures. The vast majority of these claimes@esented under policies written many years ago.

There is a great deal of uncertainty surrounding=Adaims. This uncertainty impacts the ability m$urers an
reinsurers to estimate the ultimate amount of uhpkiims and related LAE. The majority of theserakadiffer
from any other type of claim because there is igadte loss development and there is significanedaimty
regarding what, if any, coverage exists, to whithny, policy years claims are attributable andolhif any,
insurers/reinsurers may be liable. These unceitsiare exacerbated by lack of clear judicial pileo¢ and
legislative interpretations of coverage that mayrigensistent with the intent of the parties to itiurance contrac
and expand theories of liability. The insurance sdsurance industry as a whole is engaged imsite litigation
over these coverage and liability issues and iss,tbonfronted with continuing uncertainty in iffoets to quantify
A&E exposures.

Our A&E exposure is administered out of our offiaceshe United Kingdom and Rhode Island and celytral
administered from the United Kingdom. In light b&tintensive claim settlement process for theseslavhich
involves comprehensive fact gathering and subjedtenexpertise, our management believes thapitident to
have a centrally administered claim facility to EnA&E claims on behalf of all of our subsidiari€ur A&E
claims staff, working in conjunction with two U.§ualified attorneys experienced in A&E liabilitiggoactively
administers, on a cost-effective basis, the A&HEnttasubmitted to our insurance and reinsuranceidiabies.

We use industry benchmarking methodologies to es@rappropriate IBNR reserves for our A&E exposures
These methods are based on comparisons of oueXpssience on A&E exposures relative to industsglo
experience on A&E exposures. Estimates of IBNRdaréved separately for each relevant subsidiaigues and, fc
some subsidiaries, separately for distinct poxbf exposure. The discussion that follows desstiin greater
detail, the primary actuarial methodologies usediyindependent actuaries to estimate IBNR for A&fposures.

In addition to the specific considerations for eawtthod described below, many general factors @msidered
in the application of the methods and the integifen of results for each portfolio of exposurele3e factors
include the mix of product types (e.g. primary irswe versus reinsurance of primary versus reinseraf
reinsurance), the average attachment point of egesr (e.g. first-dollar primary versus umbrellarguémary
versus highexcess), payment and reporting lags related tonthenational domicile of our subsidiaries, paymamd
reporting pattern acceleration due to large “whalkssettlements (e.g. policy buy-backs and comtrana)
pursued by us, lists of individual risks remainargd general trends within the legal and tort emritents.

1. Paid Survival Ratio Method.In this method, our expected annual average palaraount is multiplied by
an expected future number of payment years torgatdicated reserve. Our historical calendar yeginents are
examined to determine an expected future annuahgegayment amount. This amount is multiplied tyxpecte
number of future payment years to estimate a res@mends in calendar year payment activity aresiciemed when
selecting an expected future annual average payameotint. Accepted industry benchmarks are usedtirighining
an expected number of future payment years. Eaah ganual payments data is updated, trends in @atgnare re-
evaluated and changes to benchmark future payneans yare reviewed. This method has advantagesefoda
application and simplicity of assumptions. A poiainisadvantage of the method is that resultsatbel misleading
for portfolios of high excess exposures where Sicanit payment activity has not yet begun.

2. Paid Market Share MethodIn this method, our estimated market share isiegpo the industry estimated
unpaid losses. The ratio of our historical calendsar payments to industry historical calendar yegiments is
examined to estimate our market share. This ratibén applied to the estimate of industry unpasdés. Each ye:
calendar year payment data is updated (for boimdsndustry), estimates of industry unpaid
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losses are reviewed and the selection of our ettohmaarket share is revisited. This method hasitivantage that
trends in calendar-year market share can be incatgubinto the selection of company share of remgimarket
payments. A potential disadvantage of this metsd#iat it is particularly sensitive to assumptioegarding the
time-lag between industry payments and our payments

3. Reserve-to-Paid Methodln this method, the ratio of estimated indusagarves to industry
paid-to-date losses is multiplied by our paid-tbedasses to estimate our reserves. Specific ceratidns in the
application of this method include the completeradssur paid-to-datéoss information, the potential acceleratiot
deceleration in our payments (relative to the ingdiglue to our claims handling practices, andithgact of large
individual settlements. Each year, paid-to-dats lnformation is updated (for both us and the ingdsnd updates
to industry estimated reserves are reviewed. Tleithatd has the advantage of relying purely on ped Hata and ¢
is not influenced by subjectivity of case resengslestimates. A potential disadvantage is thaapipdication to our
portfolios which do not have complete inceptiondtate paid loss history could produce misleadingltesTo
address this potential disadvantage, a variatidhemethod is also considered, which multipliesritio of
estimated industry reserves to industry losses gaithg a recent period of time (e.g. 5 years) siroer paid losses
during that period.

4. IBNR:Case Ratio MethodlIn this method, the ratio of estimated indusBNR reserves to industry case
reserves is multiplied by our case reserves ton@sti our IBNR reserves. Specific consideratiorthénapplication
of this method include the presence of policiesmesd at policy limits, changes in overall industase reserve
adequacy and recent loss reporting history foEash year, our case reserves are updated, indestges are
updated and the applicability of the industry IBN&se ratio is reviewed. This method has the adgartteat it
incorporates the most recent estimates of amowsdad to settle open cases included in currentreaseves. A
potential disadvantage is that results could béeming where our case reserve adequacy diffendfis@ntly from
overall industry case reserve adequacy.

5. Ultimate-to-Incurred Method.In this method, the ratio of estimated industtimate losses to industry
incurred-to-date losses is applied to our incutredate losses to estimate our IBNR reserves. Speci
considerations in the application of this methazude the completeness of our incurred-to-dateiftfesmation,
the potential acceleration or deceleration in aguired losses (relative to the industry) due toobaims handling
practices and the impact of large individual setdats. Each year incurred-to-date loss informasarpdated (for
both us and the industry) and updates to industiiynated ultimate losses are reviewed. This mettasdthe
advantage that it incorporates both paid and essrve information in projecting ultimate lossepdiential
disadvantage is that results could be misleadingresbumulative paid loss data is incomplete or wloer case
reserve adequacy differs significantly from ovenadlustry case reserve adequacy.

Under the Paid Survival Ratio Method, the Paid Ma&hare Method and the Reserve-to-Paid Methodirste
determine the estimated total reserve and thenati¢itlel reported outstanding case reserves to atiga estimated
IBNR reserve. The IBNR:Case Ratio Method first deiees an estimated IBNR reserve which is then @da¢he
advised outstanding case reserves to arrive astanated total loss reserve. The Ultimate-to-InedriMethod first
determines an estimate of the ultimate losses faimband then deducts paid-to-date losses toeaatian estimated
total loss reserve and then deducts outstandirggreaerves to arrive at the estimated IBNR reserve.

Within the annual loss reserve studies producedunyexternal actuaries, exposures for each sulpgidie
separated into homogeneous reserving categorigésdqrurpose of estimating IBNR. Each reservinggaity
contains either direct insurance or assumed reamsgrreserves and groups relatively similar typesks and
exposures (e.g. asbestos, environmental, casualtp@perty) and lines of business written (e.grinea aviation
and non-marine). Based on the exposure charaatsréstd the nature of available data for each idda reserving
category, a number of methodologies are appliedoRled reserves for each category are selectedtfrem
indications produced by the various methodologftey @onsideration of exposure characteristicsa dlatitations
and strengths and weaknesses of each method apftisdapproach to estimating IBNR has been caarsigt
adopted in the annual loss reserve studies for pagbd presented.

As of December 31, 2009, we had 26 separate inseramd/or reinsurance subsidiaries whose reserges a
categorized into approximately 202 reserve categan total, including 28 distinct asbestos resgywategories ar
21 distinct environmental reserving categories.
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The five methodologies described above are apfitiedach of the 28 asbestos reserving categorig¢geach of
the 21 environmental reserving categories. As mroon in actuarial practice, no one methodologwidusively or
consistently relied upon when selecting a recordsdrve. Consistent reliance on a single methogldlmgelect a
recorded reserve would be inappropriate in lighthefdynamic nature of both the A&E liabilitiesgeneral, and ot
actual exposure portfolios in particular.

In selecting a recorded reserve, our managemesidans the range of results produced by the mettaodkthe
strengths and weaknesses of the methods in relatite data available and the specific charadiesisf the
portfolio under consideration. Trends in both oatadand industry data are also considered in gerve selection
process. Recent trends or changes in the relesdrartd legal environments are also considered vaseassing
methodology results and selecting an appropriaterded reserve amount for each portfolio.

The liability for unpaid losses and LAE, inclusivBA&E reserves, reflects our best estimate foufetamount
needed to pay losses and related LAE as of eattfedfalance sheet dates reflected in the finastaééments here
in accordance with GAAP. As of December 31, 2008 had net loss reserves of $588.4 million for aslseelated
claims and $79.2 million for environmental polluticelated claims. The following table provides aalgsis of our
gross and net loss and ALAE reserves from A&E eypesat year-end 2009, 2008 and 2007 and the matéme
gross and net reserves for those years:

2009 2008 2007
Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)

Provisions for A&E claims an

ALAE at January : $ 943,97( $ 846,42: $677,61( $419,97 $666,07! $389,08
A&E losses and ALAE

incurred during the ye: (51,617 (78,75¢) (54,337 (14,449 22,72¢ 23,29¢
A&E losses and ALAE paid

during the yea (158,39) (115,479 (58,91¢) 108,58: (57,18 (25,45

Provision for A&E claims and
ALAE acquired during the

year 17,00¢ 15,44¢ 379,61: 332,30¢ 45,99 33,05¢
Provision for A&E claims and
ALAE at December 3. $ 750,97: $ 667,63: $943,97( $846,42: $677,61( $419,97°

During 2009, excluding the impact of loss reseaeguired during the year, our reserves for A&Eiliaks
decreased by $210.0 million on a gross basis argllb¢.2 million on a net basis. The reduction iosgrreserves
arose from paid claims, successful commutationkgypbuy-backs, generally favorable claim settletsesturing the
year and a reduction in IBNR resulting from actabainalysis of remaining liabilitie

During 2008, excluding the impact of loss resemasguired during the year, our reserves for A&Eiliaks
decreased by $113.3 million on a gross basis ardased by $94.1 million on a net basis. The réoludh gross
reserves arose from paid claims, successful contionga policy buy-backs, generally favorable claettiements
during the year and a reduction in IBNR resultirgnf actuarial analysis of remaining liabilities.€Timcrease in net
reserves arose as a result of (i) the commutafiensabstantial stop loss protection in one ofreimsurance entitie
which had the effect of reducing ceded A&E IBNRaeerable by $163.4 million; partially offset by)(@ reduction
in net reserves of $69.3 million which arose framcessful commutations, policy buy-backs, genefalprable
claims settlements and a reduction in IBNR resglfiom actuarial analysis of remaining net lia@t This
commutation, which settled for a total amount reabie of $190.0 million (including $163.4 millioelated to A&E
IBNR recoverable), resulted in net A&E losses adM\E recovered during the year of $108.6 million.

During 2007, excluding the impact of loss reseasguired during the year, our reserves for A&Eiliks
decreased by $34.5 million on a gross basis arR®/million on a net basis. The reduction arosenfpaid claims,
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successful commutations, policy buy-backs, genefallorable claim settlements and a reduction iINRBresulting
from actuarial analysis of remaining liabilitiesrohg the year.

Asbestos continues to be the most significant affidut mass tort for the insurance industry imrtes of claims
volume and expense. We believe that the insurarthestry has been adversely affected by judiciairpretations
that have had the effect of maximizing insuran@®veries for asbestos claims, from both a coveaagdiability
perspective. Generally, only policies underwritpeior to 1986 have potential asbestos exposureesiost policie
underwritten after this date contain an absolubest®s exclusion.

In recent years, especially from 2001 through 2@08,ndustry has experienced increasing numbeasiodsto
claims, including claims from individuals who dotrappear to be impaired by asbestos exposure. 30@®,
however, new claim filings have been fairly staltiés possible that the increases observed ire#ly part of the
decade were triggered by various state tort refqdissussed immediately below). At this point, vesieot predict
whether claim filings will return to pre-2004 legefemain stable, or begin to decrease.

Since 2001, several U.S. states have proposednandny cases enacted, tort reform statutes thaaddin
asbestos litigation by, for example, making it mdiféicult for a diverse group of plaintiffs to jeily file a single
case, reducing “forum-shopping” by requiring thatcdgential plaintiff must have been exposed to sisisein the
state in which he/she files a lawsuit, or permiftaonsolidation of discovery. These statutes tylyi@pply to suits
filed after a stated date. When a statute is preghas enacted, asbestos defendants often expedemeeked
increase in new lawsuits, as plaintiffs’ attornegek to file suit before the effective date oflldgislation. Some of
this increased claim volume likely represents areksration of valid claims that would have beenuigttt in the
future, while some claims will likely prove to halittle or no merit. As many of these claims aiié pending, we
cannot predict what portion of the increased nunabetaims represent valid claims. Also, the acalen of claim:
increases the uncertainty surrounding projectidrigtare claims in the affected jurisdictions.

During the same timeframe as tort reform, the fe8eral and various U.S. state governments sought
comprehensive asbestos reform to manage the grawing docket and costs surrounding asbestostiiigan
addition to the increasing number of corporate bapicies resulting from overwhelming asbestos lits.
Whereas the federal government has failed to éskablnational asbestos trust fund to addresssihestos problen
several states, including Texas and Florida, hangeémented a medical criteria reform approach anét permits
litigation to proceed when a plaintiff can establémd demonstrate actual physical impairment.

Much like tort reform, asbestos litigation reformshalso spurred a significant increase in the numblawsuits
filed in advance of the law’s enactment. We cammetict whether the drop off in the number of filddims is due
to the accelerated number of filings or an actteald decline in alleged asbestos injuries.

Environmental Pollution Exposures

Environmental pollution claims represent anothgniicant exposure for us. However, environmentalytion
claims have been developing as expected over stefgna years as a result of stable claim trendsin® against
Fortune 500 companies are generally declining,velmte insureds with singlsite exposures are still active, in m,
cases claims are being settled for less than ligiaticipated due to improved site remediatiochteology and
effective policy buy-backs.

Despite the stability of recent trends, there remaignificant uncertainty involved in estimatimaplilities
related to these exposures. Unlike asbestos clatith are generated primarily from allegedly inghprivate
individuals, environmental claims generally regtdim governmentally initiated activities. Firstethumber of was
sites subject to cleanup is unknown. ApproximalgR70 sites are included on the National Prioritiess (NPL) of
the United States Environmental Protection AgeEtste authorities have separately identified matdjtenal site:
and, at times, aggressively implement site cleanBpsond, the liabilities of the insureds themsekle difficult to
estimate. At any given site, the allocation of rdimgon cost among the potentially responsibleipantaries greatl
depending upon a variety of factors. Third, as wahestos liability and coverage issues, judigiet@dent
regarding liability and coverage issues regardiofufion claims does not provide clear guidancesrBhs also
uncertainty as to the U.S. federal “Superfund” Itself and, at this time, we cannot predict
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what, if any, reforms to this law might be enadigdhe U.S. federal government, or the effect gf such changes
on the insurance industry.

Other Latent Exposures

While we do not view health hazard exposures ssdil@a and tobacco as becoming a material concecen
developments in lead litigation have caused usdtthvthese matters closely. Recently, municipalsiaté
governments have had success, using a public rn@thaory, pursuing the former makers of lead pigrfa the
abatement of lead paint in certain home dwellidgslead paint was used almost exclusively intogthdy 1970’s,
large numbers of old housing stock contain leadtghiat can prove hazardous to people and, paatigukchildren.
Although governmental success has been limitedféiusve continue to monitor developments carefdlhe to the
size of the potential awards sought by plaintifee “Managemerg’Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condit
and Results of Operations — Critical Accountingi€les — Latent Claims” on page 71 for a furthercdission of
recent lead paint developments.

Investments
Investment Strategy and Guidelines

We derive a significant portion of our income fronr invested assets. As a result, our operatingteedepend
in part on the performance of our investment ptidf@ecause of the unpredictable nature of lofisasmay arise
under our insurance and reinsurance subsidiarissrance or reinsurance policies and as a resalirof
opportunistic commutation strategy, our liquidigeds can be substantial and may arise at any Exoept for that
portion of our portfolio that is invested in nonsgstment grade securities, we generally follow rseovative
investment strategy designed to emphasize themedsm of our invested assets and provide sufficiiguidity for
the prompt payment of claims and settlement of catation payments.

As of December 31, 2009, we had cash and cashagots of $3.3 billion. Our cash and cash equivalen
portfolio is comprised mainly of high-grade fixedmbsits, commercial paper with maturities of lésmntthree
months and money market funds.

Our investment portfolio consists primarily of irsgment grade-rated, liquid, fixed-maturity secestof
short-to-medium term duration, and mutual funds 2-4% of our total investment portfolio as of Dec&mnB1,
2009 consisted of investment grade securitiespagpared to 95.1% as of December 31, 2008. In additiur non-
investment grade securities, which comprise 7.686488% of our total investment portfolio, as at Baber 31,
2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively, considte’posures to equities, private equities anddimaturity
securities. Assuming the commitments to the otlmeestments were fully funded as of December 319200 of
cash balances on hand at that time, the percenfageestments held in other than investment gisririties
would increase to 13.0%. As of December 31, 20@8jricrease would have been to 12.2%.

We strive to structure our investments in a matim&trrecognizes our liquidity needs for future lities. In
that regard, we attempt to correlate the matunty duration of our investment portfolio to our geaidiability
profile. If our liquidity needs or general liabjliprofile unexpectedly change, we may not contitqustructure our
investment portfolio in its current manner and vebatljust as necessary to meet new business needs.

Our investment performance is subject to a vaieétysks, including risks related to general ecoimom
conditions, market volatility, interest rate fluations, foreign exchange risk, liquidity risk arrédit and default
risk. Interest rates are highly sensitive to maastdrs, including governmental monetary policiesndstic and
international economic and political conditions antlder factors beyond our control. A significantriease in intere
rates could result in significant losses, realiaednrealized, in the value of our investment mdidf A significant
portion of our non-investment grade securities ia®f alternative investments that subject ugtrictions on
redemption, which may limit our ability to withdrawnds for some period of time after the initiatéstment. The
values of, and returns on, such investments maykssnore volatile.

Investment Committee and Investment Manager

The investment committee of our board of direciugervises our investment activity. The investment
committee regularly monitors our overall investmegsults, which it ultimately reports to the boafdlirectors.

25




Table of Contents

Our investment committee was comprised, as of Deeer®1, 2008, of John J. Oros, our Executive Chairand a
member of our board of directors, and Richard Jrisleour Chief Financial Officer. In February 20@rr board of
directors appointed Robert J. Campbell, a membeubboard of directors, to serve as Chairman efitivestment
Committee, and re-appointed Messrs. Oros and Hagrieembers of the committee. The investment coreenihet
four times during the year ended December 31, 20@8njunction with our regularly scheduled boafdiioectors
meetings. The committee made the following majaigiens during the year: (i) approved increaseakcalions to
equities and structured credit securities; (ii)rappd increased allocation from cash into shoration securities,
predominantly corporate and non-U.S. governmenirgtées; and (iii) ensured that the investment fodid of each
entity we acquired during the year met our investineeiteria in regards to duration and ratingsk-ébruary 2010,
our board of directors re-appointed all of the merstof the investment committee.

As stated in “— Investment Strategy and GuidelirEsdve, we generally follow a conservative investine
strategy designed to emphasize the preservationrdhvested assets and provide sufficient ligyiétr the prompt
payment of claims and settlement of commutatiompats. Our investment portfolio consists primaaty
investment grade-rated, liquid, fixed-maturity sdétoes of short-to-medium duration and mutual funéls of
December 31, 2009, only 5.3% of our total investhpemtfolio was classified as Level 3 for purposéshe Fair
Value Measurements and Disclosure topic of theri@g Accounting Standards Board Accounting Stadslar
Codification, or FASB ASC. Given our investmentedijves, the composition of our current investmantfolio,
and our business strategy to acquire insuranceenslirance companies in run-off, our investmemroittee’s
efforts tend to be focused on the structural issueunding acquired portfolios. While the investrthcommittee
does review the ongoing performance of our investrpertfolio, we have not experienced significami&spread
liquidity or pricing issues with our portfolio thatould require meaningful review by the committee.

We utilize Goldman Sachs & Co., UBS, MEAG New Y@&@H&rporation, and National Australia Bank to pro\
investment advisory and/or management servicesh&Ve agreed to pay investment management fees to th
managers. These fees, which vary depending omtloeirat of assets under management, are includeetin n
investment income. The total fees we paid to ouestment managers for the year ended Decembe0B%,\&ere
$1.8 million, including approximately $0.6 millidn our largest single investment manager. We hawvestment
management agreements with all of our managerseWewnone of them are material to our Company.

Investment Portfolio

Accounting Treatment

Our investments primarily consist of fixed inconeegrities. Our fixed income investments are conagrisf
available-for-sale, held-to-maturity and tradingéatments as defined in the Investment — Debt andty¥
Securities topic of FASB ASC. Held-to-maturity istments are carried at their amortized cost anil thet
available-for-sale and trading investments arei@duat their fair value on the balance sheet dateealized
holdings gains and losses on trading investmerti&hwrepresent the difference between the amortizstiand the
fair market value of securities, are recognizerkalized gains and losses. Unrealized gains arsg$osn
available-for-sale securities are recognized asgfarther comprehensive income.

Composition as of December 31, 2009

As of December 31, 2009, our aggregate investeztaagstaled approximately $3.3 billion. Aggregateested
assets include cash and cash equivalents, redtdath and cash equivalents, fixed-maturity seéeariequities,
short-term investments and other investments.
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The following table shows the types of securitiesur portfolio, including cash equivalents, anélithair
market values and amortized costs as of Decemh&(BD:

December 31, 2009

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized Holding Holding Fair
Cost Gain Losses Value
(in thousands of U.S. dollars

Cash and cash equivalents $1,700,100 $ — —  $1,700,10!
U.S. government and agen 239,14 3,581 (327) 242,39!
Non-U.S.governmen 313,67: 3,10z (144 316,63(
Corporate 866,08t 17,75¢ (2,1572) 881,69:
Municipal 9,64¢ 6 @ 9,654
Residential mortga-backec 18,05: 20C (608) 17,64«
Commercial mortga¢-backec 31,65¢ 1,13( (2,380 30,40¢
Asset backei 34,07¢ A77 (564) 33,99:
Fixed income 1,512,33 26,254 (6,17¢)  1,532,41!
Other investment 165,87 — (84,077) 81,80:
Equities 21,257 3,85¢ (609) 24,501
Total investment 1,699,46! 30,10¢ (90,85¢)  1,638,71
Total cash & investmen $3,399,57.  $ 30,10¢ $(90,85¢) $3,338,82.

(1) Includes restricted cash and cash equivalents 38.84million

U.S. Government and Agencies

U.S. government and agency securities are comppisedrily of bonds issued by the U.S. Treasurg, th
Federal Home Loan Bank, the Federal Home Loan MgedCorporation and the Federal National Mortgage
Association.

Non-U.S. Government Securities

Non-U.S. government securities represent the fisedme obligations of non-U.S. governmergatities. Thes
are comprised primarily of bonds issued by the Aalisin, United Kingdom, French, Canadian and German
governments.

Corporate Securities

Corporate securities are comprised of bonds isbyembrporations that are diversified across a wathge of
issuers and industries. The largest single issueorporate securities in our portfolio was Goldn®&acths Group,
which represented 5.9% of the aggregate amourdrpbcate securities on an amortized cost basisadd credit
rating of A+ by Standard & Poor’s, as of Decembgr2009.

Other Investments

In December 2005, we invested in New NIB, a ProziatAlberta limited partnership, in exchange for a
approximately 1.6% limited partnership interestwN¢IB was formed for the purpose of purchasinggetbgr with
certain affiliated entities, 100% of the outstamg#hare capital of NIBC. J. Christopher Flowersyamber of our
board of directors and one of our largest sharefis|ds a director of New NIB. Certain affiliatefsJoC. Flowers |
L.P., which is a private investment fund formed amehaged by J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC, of which Mrowkrs ant
John J. Oros, our Executive Chairman, are manatjiegtors, also participated in the acquisitiomMdBC. Certain
of our officers and directors made personal invesiisiin New NIB.
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We own a non-voting 7.0% membership interest inrkfative Investment LLC, or Affirmative. J.C. Floveel
L.P. owns the remaining 93.0% interest in Affirmrati Affirmative and its affiliates own approximatéd1.0% of th
outstanding stock of Affirmative Insurance Holdinggpublicly traded company.

We have a capital commitment of up to $10.0 millionhe GSC European Mezzanine Fund Il, LP, or GSC.
GSC invests in mezzanine securities of middle angkl market companies throughout Western Europef As
December 31, 2009, the capital contributed to G&€ $7.0 million, with the remaining commitment lgein
$3.0 million.

In 2006, we committed to invest up to $100.0 millia the Flowers Fund. As of December 31, 2009 ctpstal
contributed to the Flowers Fund was $96.9 milliith the remaining commitment being approximately
$3.1 million. During 2009, we received $0.7 millionadvisory service fees from the Flowers Fundt&e of our
officers and directors made personal investmentisarFlowers Fund.

During 2008, we committed to invest up to $100.0iom in the J.C. Flowers Il L.P., or Fund Ill. Axf
December 31, 2009, the capital contributed to RUnglas $5.0 million, with the remaining commitmeueing
$95.0 million. Fund Il is a private investment tladvised by J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC, of which Mesdflowers
and Oros are managing directors.

On January 28, 2009, we invested approximately §8lion in JCF Il Co-invest | L.P., an entity dfated
with J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC and Messrs. Flowers @vds, in connection with its investment in certafrihe
operations, assets and liabilities of OneWest B&®R (formerly known as IndyMac Bank, F.S.B).

Equities

During 2007, we funded two equity portfolios thatest in both small and large market capitalizapablicly
traded U.S. companies. In 2009, we increased fgntithose portfolios and added a third equityfpbict. The
equity portfolios are actively managed by two thpatty managers.

Ratings as of December 31, 2009

The investment ratings (provided by major ratingrages) for our fixed maturity securities held &s o
December 31, 2009 and the percentage of investritemtgepresented on that date were as follows:

December 31, 200!
Percentage of

Amortized Fair Market Total Fair
Cost Value Market Value
(in thousands of U.S. dollars’
AAA or equivalent $ 713,93 $ 719,62: 47.(%
AA 278,46 283,41t 18.5%
A or equivalen 416,39! 424,84 27.1%
BBB and BB 84,83: 85,69¢ 5.6%
Not Ratec 18,70¢ 18,83¢ 1.2%
Total $1,512,33°  $1,532,41 100.(%
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Maturity Distribution as of December 31, 20(
The maturity distribution for our fixed maturityaeities held as of December 31, 2009 was as faliow

December 31, 200!

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized Holding Holding Fair
Cost Gain Losses Value

(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
Due in one year or le: $ 635,01 $ 4,76¢ $ (583 $ 639,19:
Due after one year through five ye 665,78¢ 15,72: (880 680,63(
Due after five years through ten ye 98,33 3,91¢ (383) 101,86¢
Due after ten yeal 29,41: 48 (77%) 28,68
1,428,54 24,44, (2,629 1,450,37.
Residential mortga-backec 18,05: 20C (60¢) 17,64«
Commercial mortga¢-backec 31,65¢ 1,13( (2,380 30,40¢
Asset backei 34,07¢ 477 (569 33,99
Total $1,512,33°  $26,25¢ $(6,17¢)  $1,532,41!

Investment Returns for the Years ended DecemberZD9 and 2008

Our investment returns for the years ended Deceibe2009 and 2008 were as follows:

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 200! December 31, 200:
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
Net investment incom $81,37: $26,60:
Net realized gains (losse 4,23 1,65¢
Net investment income and net realized gains (&): $85,60¢ $24,94¢
Effective annualized yield (’ 2.1%% 4.62%

(1) Effective annualized yield is calculated by diviglinet investment income, excluding writedowns arubine or
other investments, by the average balance of agtgegsh and cash equivalents, equities and fincairie
securities on a carrying value basis. Trading sgesiwhere the investment return is for the beraffinsureds
and reinsurers are excluded from the calcula

Regulation
General

The business of insurance and reinsurance is tteglila most countries, although the degree anddype
regulation varies significantly from one jurisdantito another. We have a significant presence irmBda, the
United Kingdom, Australia and, to a lesser extth,United States and are subject to extensivdatguo under the
applicable statutes in these countries. A summétlyeoregulations governing us in these countseset forth
below.

Bermuda

As a holding company, we are not subject to Berninslarance regulations. However, the InsurancelA8
of Bermuda and related regulations, as amendethgether, the Insurance Act, regulate the inswdnusiness of
our operating subsidiaries in Bermuda and providé ho person may carry on any insurance businessfrom
within Bermuda unless registered as an insureheyBermuda Monetary Authority, or BMA, under theunance
Act. Insurance as well as reinsurance is regulatetr the Insurance Act.

29




Table of Contents

The Insurance Act also imposes on Bermuda insuraoimganies certain solvency and liquidity standartts
auditing and reporting requirements and grant8tié powers to supervise, investigate, require infation and
the production of documents and intervene in tifrafof insurance companies. Certain significapests of the
Bermuda insurance regulatory framework are set foetow.

Classification of Insurers.The Insurance Act distinguishes between inswranying on long-term business
and insurers carrying on general business. Thersiarlassifications of insurers carrying on gahbusiness, with
Class 4 insurers subject to the strictest reguilatiur regulated Bermuda subsidiaries, which acerjporated to
carry on general insurance and reinsurance busiaessegistered as Class 2 or 3A insurers in Bdenand are
regulated as such under the Insurance Act. Thesdated Bermuda subsidiaries are not licensedny ca long-
term business. Long-term business broadly incllilegrsurance and disability insurance with terimgxcess of
five years. General business broadly includesypk¢ of insurance that are not long-term business.

Principal Representative.An insurer is required to maintain a principdiad in Bermuda and to appoint and
maintain a principal representative in Bermuda.tRerpurpose of the Insurance Act, each of ourletgd Bermuda
subsidiaries’ principal offices is at Windsor Pla8ed Floor, 18 Queen Street, in Hamilton, Bermwda) each of
their principal representatives is Enstar Limitddthout a reason acceptable to the BMA, an insoray not
terminate the appointment of its principal repréatwe, and the principal representative may nasedo act in that
capacity, unless 30 days’ notice in writing is gite the BMA. It is the duty of the principal repemtative,
forthwith on reaching the view that there is alitkeod that the insurer will become insolvent aatth reportable
“event” has, to the principal representatsr&howledge, occurred or is believed to have oeclytio notify the BMA
and, within 14 days of such notification, to makeport in writing to the BMA setting forth all thearticulars of th:
case that are available to the principal represigatad=or example, any failure by the insurer tonpdy substantially
with a condition imposed upon the insurer by the/BMlating to a solvency margin or a liquidity dher ratio
would be a reportable “event.”

Independent Approved AuditorEvery registered insurer must appoint an independuditor who will audit
and report annually on the statutory financialestants and the statutory financial return of ttsaiiar, both of
which, in the case of our regulated Bermuda suasas, are required to be filed annually with thd/& The
independent auditor must be approved by the BMAraag be the same person or firm that audits ousa@atated
financial statements and reports for presentabasut shareholders. Our regulated Bermuda subidiar
independent auditor is Deloitte & Touche, who asdits our consolidated financial statements.

Loss Reserve SpecialisAs a registered Class 2 or 3A, insurer, eacluofegulated Bermuda insurance and
reinsurance subsidiaries is required, every yeaubmit an opinion of its approved loss resenezigtist with its
statutory financial return in respect of its losagd loss expenses provisions. The loss resereéatipe who will
normally be a qualified casualty actuary, must jpgraved by the BMA.

Statutory Financial Statements=ach of our regulated Bermuda subsidiaries muegigre annual statutory
financial statements. The Insurance Act prescribkes for the preparation and substance of thetstgtfinancial
statements, which include, in statutory form, abaé sheet, an income statement, a statementitdlcap surplus
and notes thereto. Each of our regulated Bermubsidiaries is required to give detailed informatéond analyses
regarding premiums, claims, reinsurance and inveistsn The statutory financial statements are regigmed in
accordance with U.S. GAAP and are distinct fromfthancial statements prepared for presentatiantmsurer’'s
shareholders under the Companies Act. As a gehasahess insurer, each of our regulated Bermudsidiabes is
required to submit to the BMA the annual statutiimgncial statements as part of the annual statdieancial
return. The statutory financial statements andstatutory financial return do not form part of thgblic records
maintained by the BMA.

Annual Statutory Financial ReturnEach of our regulated insurance and reinsuramosiciaries is required to
file with the BMA a statutory financial return natér than six months, in the case of a Class fyuwrmonths in the
case of a Class 3A, after its fiscal year end wndpecifically extended upon application to the BMAe statutory
financial return for an insurer includes, amongeotimatters, a report of the approved independeatitaion the
statutory financial statements of the insurer, @oby certificates, the statutory financial statetheand the opinion
of the loss reserve specialist. The solvency ¢eatiés must be signed by the principal represemtatind at least two
directors of the insurer certifying that the minimsolvency margin has been met and whether theensu
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has complied with the conditions attached to itsifieate of registration. The independent approgeditor is
required to state whether, in its opinion, it weasonable for the directors to make these cetiifics. If an insures
accounts have been audited for any purpose othardbmpliance with the Insurance Act, a statenettidt effect
must be filed with the statutory financial return.

Minimum Liquidity Ratio. The Insurance Act provides a minimum liquidityiodor general business insurers,
like our regulated Bermuda insurance and reinseranbsidiaries. An insurer engaged in general bssiis
required to maintain the value of its relevant tssaénot less than 75% of the amount of its releliabilities.
Relevant assets include, but are not limited teh@nd time deposits, quoted investments, unqummeds and
debentures, first liens on real estate, investimaaime due and accrued, accounts and premiums/adsteiand
reinsurance balances receivable. There are sorgaras of assets that unless specifically perchltiethe BMA,
do not automatically qualify as relevant assetsh@s unquoted equity securities, investments dna@vances to
affiliates and real estate and collateral loanseWant liabilities are total general business iasge reserves and
total other liabilities less deferred income tad anndry liabilities (i.e., liabilities that are tmtherwise specifically
defined).

Minimum Solvency Margin and Restrictions on Dividieand Distributions. Under the Insurance Act, the
value of the general business assets of a Clas8& msurer, such as our regulated Bermuda sudosédi, must
exceed the amount of its general business liaslity an amount greater than the prescribed minisainency
margin. Each of our regulated Bermuda subsidiasiesquired, with respect to its general busingsmaintain a
minimum solvency margin equal to the greatest of:

For Class 2 insurers:

» $250,000;

« 20% of net premiums written (being gross premiumigtewn less any premiums ceded by the insurergtf n
premiums do not exceed $6,000,000 or $1,200,00010& of net premiums written in excess of
$6,000,000; an

* 10% of net losses and loss expense rese
For Class 3A insurers:

+ $1,000,000

« 20% of net premiums written (being gross premiumigtewn less any premiums ceded by the insurergtf n
premiums do not exceed $6,000,000 or $1,200,00918&% of net premiums written in excess of
$6,000,000; an

» 15% of net losses and loss expense rese

Each of our regulated Bermuda insurance and ransersubsidiaries is prohibited from declaringayipg
any dividends during any fiscal year if it is irelch of its minimum solvency margin or minimum lijty ratio or
if the declaration or payment of such dividends ldaause it to fail to meet such margin or ratioatidition, if it
has failed to meet its minimum solvency margin @mimum liquidity ratio on the last day of any fisgeear, each ¢
our regulated Bermuda subsidiaries will be prokithitwithout the approval of the BMA, from declarimgpaying
any dividends during the next fiscal year.

Each of our regulated Bermuda insurance and reansersubsidiaries is prohibited, without the appla¥ the
BMA, from reducing by 15% or more its total statytcapital as set out in its previous year’s finahstatements.

Additionally, under the Companies Act, we and eafcbur regulated Bermuda subsidiaries may declapap
a dividend, or make a distribution from contribusedplus, only if we have no reasonable groundsdétieving that
the subsidiary is, or will be after the paymentabie to pay its liabilities as they become duehat the realizable
value of its assets will thereby be less than gwegate of its liabilities and its issued shargitehand share
premium accounts.

Supervision, Investigation and Interventiomhe BMA may appoint an inspector with extensioavprs to
investigate the affairs of our regulated Bermudauiance and reinsurance subsidiaries if the BMAebes that
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such an investigation is in the best interest$sopolicyholders or persons who may become politdgrs. In order
to verify or supplement information otherwise pard to the BMA, the BMA may direct our regulatedBada
insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries to prodocendents or information relating to matters cone@atith its
business. In addition, the BMA has the power tainegthe production of documents from any person appears
to be in possession of those documents. FurtheBRhA has the power, in respect of a person regidtander the
Insurance Act, to appoint a professional persgorépare a report on any aspect of any matter akloich the BMA
has required or could require information. If ipaprs to the BMA to be desirable in the interefth® clients of a
person registered under the Insurance Act, the BiW also exercise the foregoing powers in relatoany
company that is, or has at any relevant time b@gra parent company, subsidiary company or reletedpany of
that registered person, (2) a subsidiary comparsyperent company of that registered person, f@krant company
of a subsidiary company of that registered persgd)oacontrolling shareholder of that registered persdrnich is ¢
person who either alone or with any associate sv@ates, holds 50% or more of the shares of dtastered persc
or is entitled to exercise, or control the exeragaemore than 50% of the voting power at a generadting of
shareholders of that registered person. If it apptathe BMA that there is a risk of a regulatesiBuda insurance
and reinsurance subsidiary becoming insolventhaira regulated Bermuda insurance and reinsurartsgdsary is
in breach of the Insurance Act or any conditionpased upon its registration, the BMA may, amongpthings,
direct such subsidiary (1) not to take on any nesuiance business, (2) not to vary any insurancta if the
effect would be to increase its liabilities, (3} n@ make certain investments, (4) to liquidatdaiarinvestments,
(5) to maintain in, or transfer to the custody afpecified bank, certain assets, (6) not to dedapay any dividenc
or other distributions or to restrict the makingsath payments and/or (7) to limit such subsidapremium
income.

Disclosure of Information. In addition to powers under the Insurance Adht@stigate the affairs of an insul
the BMA may require insurers and other personsitoish information to the BMA. Further, the BMA hlasen
given powers to assist other regulatory authoritieduding foreign insurance regulatory authostieith their
investigations involving insurance and reinsuracm@panies in Bermuda. Such powers are subjecstoations.
For example, the BMA must be satisfied that théstersce being requested is in connection with tkehdirge of
regulatory responsibilities of the foreign regutstauthority. Further, the BMA must consider whetbeoperation
is in the public interest. The grounds for disclesare limited and the Insurance Act provides sanstfor breach ¢
the statutory duty of confidentiality. Under thermanies Act, the Minister of Finance has been gp@ners to
assist a foreign regulatory authority that has estgd assistance in connection with inquiries bearged out by it
in the performance of its regulatory functions. Naister's powers include requiring a person to furnish airher
with information, to produce documents to him or, lbe attend and answer questions and to givetassis in
connection with inquiries. The Minister must besfad that the assistance requested by the foreigulatory
authority is for the purpose of its regulatory ftioos and that the request is in relation to infation in Bermuda
that a person has in his possession or under hisotoThe Minister must consider, among otherdbkinvhether it i
in the public interest to give the information shtig

Notification by Shareholder Controller of New ocieased Control. Any person who, directly or indirectly,
becomes a holder of at least 10%, 20%, 33% or S508aroordinary shares must notify the BMA in wriginvithin
45 days of becoming such a holder or 30 days ftwrdate the person has knowledge of having suchdink,
whichever is later. The BMA may, by written notiodject to such a person if it appears to the BKat the person
is not fit and proper to be such a holder. The BMay require the holder to reduce their holdingrfirtary shares
and direct, among other things, that voting rigittaching to the ordinary shares shall not be ésate. A person
that does not comply with such a notice or direcfiom the BMA will be guilty of an offense.

Objection to Existing Shareholder Controlleizor so long as we have as a subsidiary an insegéstered
under the Insurance Act, the BMA may at any timewbitten notice, object to a person holding 10%mre of the
ordinary shares if it appears to the BMA that teespn is not, or is no longer fit and proper togh a holder. In
such a case, the BMA may require the shareholdexdiace its holding of ordinary shares and dir@etong other
things, that such shareholder’s voting rights diitag to ordinary shares shall not be exercisablpeson who does
not comply with such a notice or direction from BIA will be guilty of an offense.

Certain Other Bermuda Law Considerationglthough we are incorporated in Bermuda, we &assified as a
non-resident of Bermuda for exchange control pugpdy the BMA. Pursuant to our non-resident statesmay
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engage in transactions in currencies other thamBea dollars and there are no restrictions on bilityato transfer
funds (other than funds denominated in Bermudaadsjliin and out of Bermuda or to pay dividends 18.Uesident
who are holders of our ordinary shares.

Under Bermuda law, exempted companies are comp#oriaed for the purpose of conducting businesside
Bermuda from a principal place of business in BatanlAs “exempted” companies, neither we nor anyuf
regulated Bermuda subsidiaries may, without theesgauthorization of the Bermuda legislature atreura license
or consent granted by the Minister of Finance,igigdte in certain business transactions, includfhythe
acquisition or holding of land in Bermuda (excdpttheld by way of lease or tenancy agreementighratjuired for
our business and held for a term not exceedinge@@sy or that is used to provide accommodatioeareational
facilities for our officers and employees and helth the consent of the Bermuda Minister of Fingrfoe a term nc
exceeding 21 years), (2) the taking of mortgagelsiod in Bermuda to secure an amount in exces5@P$0, or
(3) the carrying on of business of any kind for ethive are not licensed in Bermuda, except in lichite
circumstances such as doing business with anoxieenged undertaking in furtherance of our busimasged on
outside Bermuda. Each of our regulated Bermudaidiaies is a licensed insurer in Bermuda, andsuah, may
carry on activities from Bermuda that are relatednd in support of its insurance business.

Ordinary shares may be offered or sold in Bermudg im compliance with the provisions of the Invesnt
Business Act 2003 of Bermuda, which regulates ébe af securities in Bermuda. In addition, the BM®ist
approve all issues and transfers of securitiesBéraauda exempted company. Where any equity sesifineanin
shares that entitle the holder to vote for or appone or more directors or securities that byrttezims are
convertible into shares that entitle the holdevdte for or appoint one or more directors) of arBeda company are
listed on an appointed stock exchange (which iredudasdaq), the BMA has given general permissiothéissue
and subsequent transfer of any securities of thgpeoy from and/or to a naesident for so long as any such eq
securities of the company remain so listed.

The Bermuda government actively encourages fori@igestment in “exempted” entities like us and our
regulated Bermuda subsidiaries that are basedrimi&#n, but which do not operate in competition dttal
businesses. We and our regulated Bermuda subsl@me not currently subject to taxes computedrofitp or
income or computed on any capital asset, gain pregjation, or any tax in the nature of estate dutyhheritance
tax or to any foreign exchange controls in Bermuda.

Under Bermuda law, non-Bermudians (other than sgooéBermudians, holders of a permanent resident’s
certificate or holders of a working resident’s d@ate) may not engage in any gainful occupatio®éermuda
without an appropriate governmental work permit.riMfoermits may be granted or extended by the Beamud
government upon showing that, after proper puliigestisement in most cases, no Bermudian (or spolae
Bermudian, holder of a permanent resident’s cedié or holder of a working resident’s certificategvailable who
meets the minimum standard requirements for thertided position. In 2004, the Bermuda governmanbanced
a new immigration policy limiting the duration ofowk permits to six years, with specified exemptiéms‘key”
employees. The categories of “kegthployees include senior executives (chief exeeufficers, presidents throu
vice presidents), managers with global responsibiienior financial posts (treasurers, chief friahofficers
through controllers, specialized qualified accontgaquantitative modeling analysts), certain Iggafessionals
(general counsels, specialist attorneys, qualléedl librarians and knowledge managers), senguramce
professionals (senior underwriters, senior clainjasters), experienced/specialized brokers, aasaspecialist
investment traders/analysts and senior informagchnology engineers/managers. All of our executifieers whc
work in our Bermuda office have obtained work pésmi

United Kingdom

General. On December 1, 2001, the U.K. Financial Servitathority, or the FSA, assumed its full powers
and responsibilities as the single statutory regul@sponsible for regulating the financial seegiendustry in
respect of the carrying on of “regulated activitiacluding deposit taking, insurance, investmer@nagement and
most other financial services business by way sfriess in the U.K.), with the purpose of maintagndonfidence il
the U.K. financial system, providing public undersding of the system, securing the proper degreeatéction for
consumers and helping to reduce financial crimis. dtcriminal offense for any person to carry on
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a regulated activity in the U.K. unless that persoauthorized by the FSA and has been grantedigsgion to carry
on that regulated activity or falls under an exdompt

Insurance business (which includes reinsurancanbss) is authorized and supervised by the FSArdnse
business in the United Kingdom is divided betwe®a tain categories: long-term insurance (whichrisiarily
investment-related) and general insurance. It igpnesible for an insurance company to be authaiizéoth long-
term and general insurance business. These twga#e are both divided into “classes” (for examplermanent
health and pension fund management are two clag$esg-term insurance; damage to property and meghbicle
liability are two classes of general insurance)déirthe Financial, Services and Markets Act 2008he FSMA,
effecting or carrying out contracts of insurancéhim a class of general or long-term insurancewly of business
in the United Kingdom, constitutes a regulatedvatgtirequiring individual authorization. An authped insurance
company must have permission for each class ofanse business it intends to write.

Certain of our regulated U.K. subsidiaries, as atitled insurers, would be able to operate througtiou
European Union, subject to certain regulatory neuents of the FSA and in some cases, certain tegalatory
requirements. An insurance company with FSA audaion to write insurance business in the Unitedgdiom can
seek consent from the FSA to allow it to providessrborder services in other member states of dleAS an
alternative, FSA consent may be obtained to establibranch office within another member statehagh in run-
off, our regulated U.K. subsidiaries remain regedigby the FSA, but may not underwrite new business.

As FSA authorized insurers, the insurance and ueamge businesses of our regulated U.K. subsidiarie
subject to close supervision by the FSA. The FS@\ilmplemented specific requirements for senior rganment
arrangements, systems and controls of insurancesémglirance companies under its jurisdiction, Whikace a
strong emphasis on risk identification and managgnmerelation to the prudential regulation of iresnice and
reinsurance business in the United Kingdom.

Supervision. The FSA carries out the prudential supervisiomsfirance companies through a variety of
methods, including the collection of informatioorr statistical returns, review of accountants’ répovisits to
insurance companies and regular formal interviews.

The FSA has adopted a risk-based approach to gendsion of insurance companies. Under this apgraae
FSA performs a formal risk assessment of insuranocgpanies or groups carrying on business in the U.K
periodically. The periods between U.K. assessmantgin length according to the risk profile of tinsurer. The
FSA performs the risk assessment by analyzingimfion which it receives during the normal courbiso
supervision, such as regular prudential returngherfinancial position of the insurance companywhbich it
acquires through a series of meetings with senamagement of the insurance company. After eaclagskssmer
the FSA will inform the insurer of its views on thesurer’s risk profile. This will include detaitd§ any remedial
action that the FSA requires and the likely conseges if this action is not taken.

Solvency RequirementsThe Integrated Prudential Sourcebook requiresitisarance companies maintain a
required solvency margin at all times in respedrof general insurance undertaken by the insuremogany. The
calculation of the required margin in any particdase depends on the type and amount of insulargiress a
company writes. The method of calculation of thguieed solvency margin is set out in the Integr&eadential
Sourcebook, and for these purposes, all inssigssets and liabilities are subject to specificataon rules which ai
set out in the Integrated Prudential Sourcebookluiéato maintain the required solvency marginng of the
grounds on which wide powers of intervention corddrupon the FSA may be exercised. For fiscal yeagding on
or after January 1, 2004, the calculation of thpired solvency margin has been amended as a ofshk
implementation of the EU Solvency | Directivesréspect of liability business accepted, 150% ofatteial
premiums written and claims incurred must be inetlith the calculation, which has had the effeéhofeasing the
required solvency margin of our regulated U.K. sdibsies. We continuously monitor the solvency talgbosition
of the U.K. subsidiaries and maintain capital ieess of the required solvency margin.

Insurers are required to calculate an Enhanced@d&equirement, or ECR, in addition to their reqdi
solvency margin. This represents a more risk-sgagitlculation than the previous required solvemaygin
requirements and is used by the FSA as its ben¢himaissessing its Individual Capital Adequacy 8tads.
Insurers must maintain financial resources whiehaatequate, both as to amount and quality, to erikat there is
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no significant risk that its liabilities cannot beet as they come due. In order to carry out thessssent as to the
necessary financial resources that are requiredréns are required to identify the major sourdessk to its ability
to meet its liabilities as they come due, and toycaut stress and scenario tests to identify gapiate range of
realistic adverse scenarios in which the risk etliges and to estimate the financial resourcesl@@én each of the
circumstances and events identified. In additiba,ESA gives Individual Capital Guidance, or IC&gularly to
insurers and reinsurers following receipt of indival capital assessments, prepared by firms theaselhe FSA's
guidance may be that a company should hold molesserthan its then current level of regulatory tapor that the
companys regulatory capital should remain unaltered. Weutated the ECR for our regulated U.K. subsidigfiar
the period ended December 31, 2008 and submittex tbalculations in March 2009 to the FSA as piatteir
statutory filings. The ECR calculations for its udated U.K. subsidiaries for the year ended Decer8he2009 will
be submitted by no later than March 31, 2010.

In addition, an insurer (other than a pure reingutet is part of a group is required to perfonma ubmit to
the FSA an audited Group Capital Adequacy Retu@AR). The GCAR is a solvency margin calculatioruratin
respect of its ultimate parent undertaking, in adance with the FSA'’s rules. This return is not jpdiran insurer’s
own solvency return and hence will not be publehailable. Although there is no requirement for paeent
undertaking solvency calculation to show a positesult, the FSA may take action where it consideas the
solvency of the insurance company is or may begmbped due to the group solvency position. Furtherinsurer |
required to report in its annual returns to the RlAnaterial related party transactions (e.grakgroup reinsuranc
whose value is more than 5% of the insurer’s gémesarance business amount).

Restrictions on Dividend Payment$J.K. company law prohibits our regulated U.K. siglaries from
declaring a dividend to their shareholders unlbeyg have “profits available for distribution.” Tlkletermination of
whether a company has profits available for distidn is based on its accumulated realized prég#s its
accumulated realized losses. While the United Kamgdnsurance regulatory laws impose no statutastrictions
on a general insurer’s ability to declare a dividiethe FSA strictly controls the maintenance otheiasurance
company’s required solvency margin within its jdicgion. The FSA'’s rules require our regulated Uskbsidiaries
to obtain FSA approval for any proposed or actaghpent of a dividend.

Reporting RequirementsU.K. insurance companies must prepare their irmistatements under the
Companies Act 2006, which requires the filing witbmpanies House of audited financial statementselated
reports. In addition, U.K. insurance companiesraggiired to file with the FSA regulatory returndjioh include a
revenue account, a profit and loss account andaa&@ sheet in prescribed forms. Under the Int&iodential
Sourcebook for Insurers, audited regulatory retumnst be filed with the FSA within two months arsldays (or
three months where the delivery of the return islenalectronically) of the company’s year end. Gugutated U.K.
insurance subsidiaries are also required to sudlonitiged quarterly information to the FSA.

Supervision of ManagemenfThe FSA closely supervises the management ofanse companies through the
approved persons regime, by which any appointmiepéisons to perform certain specified “controffedctions”
within a regulated entity, must be approved byRB&.

Change of Control. FSMA regulates the acquisition of “control” ofyad.K. insurance company authorized
under FSMA. Any company or individual that (togethéth its or his associates) directly or indirgcticquires 10%
or more of the shares in a U.K. authorized insugarmmpany or its parent company, or is entitleeldercise or
control the exercise of 10% or more of the votiogvpr in such authorized insurance company or itsrga
company, would be considered to have acquired forfor the purposes of the relevant legislatias,would a
person who had significant influence over the manant of such authorized insurance company omitsri
company by virtue of his shareholding or voting pow either. A purchaser of 10% or more of ourirady shares
would therefore be considered to have acquiredtfotrof our regulated U.K. subsidiaries.

Under FSMA, any person proposing to acquire “cdhtveer a U.K. authorized insurance company mugegi
prior notification to the FSA of his intention t@ do. The FSA would then have three months to denshat
person’s application to acquire “control.” In cafesiing whether to approve such application, the F&At be
satisfied that both the acquirer is a fit and prqmrson to have such “control” and that the irdey®f consumers
would not be threatened by such acquisition of taari Failure to make the relevant prior applicaticould result
in action being taken against us by the FSA.
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Intervention and EnforcementThe FSA has extensive powers to intervene iraffadrs of an authorized
person, culminating in the ultimate sanction of tbimoval of authorization to carry on a regulatetivity. FSMA
imposes on the FSA statutory obligations to moritimpliance with the requirements imposed by FSki#A] to
enforce the provisions of FSMA-related rules magéhe FSA. The FSA has power, among other thirgyenforce
and take disciplinary measures in respect of bree=oh both the Interim Prudential Sourcebook fauhers and
breaches of the conduct of business rules genexpfilicable to authorized persons.

The FSA also has the power to prosecute crimirfahggés arising under FSMA, and to prosecute insider
dealing under Part V of the Criminal Justice Acti®B3, and breaches of money laundering regulatitims FSA’s
stated policy is to pursue criminal prosecutiomlireppropriate cases.

Passporting. European Union directives allow our regulated Us#bsidiaries to conduct business in European
Union states other than the United Kingdom in coame with the scope of permission granted thesganies by
the FSA without the necessity of additional liceigsor authorization in other European Union judsidns. This
ability to operate in other jurisdictions of therBpean Union on the basis of home state authosizatnd
supervision is sometimes referred to as “passppitinsurers may operate outside their home merstage either
on a “services” basis or on an “establishment” ©a3perating on a “services” basis means thatdhgany
conducts permitted businesses in the host stat®utihaving a physical presence there, while operamn an
“establishment” basis means the company has alv@nghysical presence in the host state. In batles, a
company remains subject to regulation by its hoaggilator, and not by local regulatory authoriteiough the
company nonetheless may have to comply with celtaial rules. In addition to European Union memdtates,
Norway, Iceland and Liechtenstein (members of tloadber European Economic Area) are jurisdictionstirch this
passporting framework applies.

Australia

In Australia, five of our subsidiaries are companigth Insurance Act 1973 authorizations. Fourhefse
companies are insurance companies authorized ttucorun-off business and one is an authorizedoperating
holding company, or NOHC. In addition, we have fAegstralian registered companies not authorizezbtaluct
insurance business, but which provide servicebdauthorized entities.

Regulators. The authorized non-operating holding companythedauthorized insurers are regulated and are
subject to prudential supervision by the Austrafandential Regulation Authority, or APRA. APRAtke primary
regulatory body responsible for regulating comptmwith the Insurance Act 1973, or the 1973 Actadudition, all
companies, including the non-authorized entitiesstnaomply with the Corporations Act 2001 and iisn@ary
regulator the Australian Securities and Investm@uasimission, or ASIC.

APRA was established in 1998 as an independent tmosiypervise banks, credit unions, building sieset
general insurance and reinsurance companiesnpsfeance, friendly societies, and most memberkeof t
superannuation industry. APRA’s supervisory rolerahese institutions includes licensing, condugtin
on-siteoperational reviews, assessing risk, respondinqgésies and collecting data. In addition, APRA ecés an
administers the 1973 Act and promulgates Prude8tatdards to regulate the industries it supervises

ASIC is Australia’s corporate, markets and finahs&vices regulator. In 2001, the Financial SesiReform
Act 2001 amended Chapter 7 of the Corporation2@6tL and the reforms came into force, after a iiianal
period, in March 2004. These reforms, as theyedlainsurance and insurers, are intended to penconfident
and informed decision making by consumers of instegroducts and services while facilitating eéfiaiy,
flexibility and innovation in the provision of thegproducts and services; fairness, honesty anégsioinalism by
those who provide insurance services; and faigrydnd transparent markets for insurance products

APRA and ASIC entered into a Memorandum of Undeditag in June 2004. The objective of the
Memorandum was to set out the framework for codmrdetween the two agencies in areas of commitenest
and to set out the responsibilities of each enfihe Memorandum outlined APRA's responsibilitieslaes
prudential supervisor of the financial serviceduisttly and ASIC’s responsibilities as the body thatld be
monitoring, regulating and enforcing the Corponasid\ct and the Financial Services Reform Act arahaoting
market integrity.
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APRA'’s Powers. The 1973 Act prescribes APRA'’s powers in respéthe authorization and prudential
supervision of general insurers. The 1973 Act dimsrotect the interests of policy holders and peasive policy
holders under insurance policies in ways that ansistent with the continued development of a \abbmpetitive
and innovative insurance industry.

APRA'’s enforcement and disciplinary powers under1873 Act include powers to: (a) revoke the
authorization of a general insurer or authorized-operating holding company; (b) remove a directosenior
manager of a general insurer, authorized operating holding company or corporate agent; ét¢icinine prudenti:
standards; (d) monitor prudential matters; (e)emlinformation from auditors and actuaries; (fhowe auditors ar
actuaries; (g) investigate general insurers andthoaized insurance matters; (h) apply to havereeg® insurer
wound up; (i) determine insolvent insurer’s liali@s in respect of early claims; (j) direct Lloydiaderwriters to not
issue or renew policies; and (k) make directionsdrtain circumstances.

Conducting Insurance Business in Australidhe 1973 Act only permits APRA authorized bodiegporate
and Lloyd’s underwriters to carry on general insgeabusiness in Australia. Those entities authdrimeconduct
insurance business in Australia are classified tinéofollowing categories:

« Category A insures— an insurer incorporated in Australia that doesfalbtwithin any of the other categori
of insurer;

» Category B insure— an insurer incorporated in Australia that is adssubsidiary of a local or foreign
insurance groug

« Category C insurer— “a foreign general insurer,” which is a foreigrsurer operating as a foreign branch in
Australia;

« Category D insurer— an insurer incorporated in Australia that is odibby an industry or a professional
association, or by the members of the industryrofgssional association or a combination of botig anly
underwrites business risk of the members of thedion or those who are eligible to become member
Medical indemnity insurers are not included in ttéginition; or

» Category E insure— an insurer incorporated in Australia that is gpooate captive or a partnership captive.
Category E insurers are often referred t“sole parent captive”

Foreign-owned subsidiaries and foreign generalr@rsumust be authorized by APRA to conduct busiiress
Australia and are subject to similar legislativel anudential requirements as Australian owned andrporated
insurers.

Ownership and Control. The Financial Sector (Shareholdings) Act 1998egos the ownership of insurers in
Australia. The interest of an individual shareholdea group of associated shareholders in anénssigenerally
limited to 15% of the insurer’s voting shares. glér percentage limit may be approved by the Treasd the
Commonwealth of Australia on national interest gds

The Insurance Acquisitions and Takeovers Act 1994ems the control of and compulsory notificatidn o
proposals relating to both the acquisition anddezsAustralian-registered insurance companiesagédjuisition or
lease proposals must be notified to the MinisteiRflevenue, with authority delegated to APRA, whe tiee
discretion to make a “permanent restraining order'go ahead decision” regarding the proposal.

Compliance and GovernanceSection 32 of the 1973 Act authorizes APRA teedwsine, vary and revoke
prudential standards that impose different requénetito be complied with by different classes afegel insurers,
authorized non-operating holding companies and tikepective subsidiaries. Presently APRA has tsguadential
standards that apply to general insurers in relaticcapital adequacy, the holding of assets intralia, risk
management, business continuity management, raeinseémanagement, outsourcing, audit and actuapakting
and valuation, the transfer and amalgamation afrarsce businesses, governance, and the fit an@paggessment
of the insurer’s responsible persons.

Capital Adequacy. APRA’s prudential standards require that all iessi maintain and meet prescribed capital
adequacy requirements to enable its insuranceatldits to be met under a wide range of circumstndes
requires authorized insurers to hold eligible cpit excess of the minimum capital requiremenisEmount
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may be determined using the prescribed method oxtamal model based method. APRA has determinatitivo
tiers of capital may be deemed eligible capital ava be used to determine an insurer’s capital.dédee 1 capital
comprises the highest quality capital componentsTaer 2 capital includes other components thatstabrt of the
quality of Tier 1 capital but still contribute tbe overall strength of the insurer. As part ofdeéermination of the
proper capital adequacy using the prescribed methedrers must determine and consider whetheobthey must
apply prudentially required investment risk chargesurance risk capital charges and concentraisdncapital
charges to their capital amount for the purposetetérmining the applicable minimum capital requiesits.

In addition to the foregoing capital adequacy ragah, APRA has determined that capital adequacst miso
be regulated at the group level, see “Group Superviand Reporting” below.

Group Supervision and ReportingAPRA introduced a new regime for group supervisaod reporting in
2009. The Level 2 insurance group supervision apodnting framework applies to a Level 2 insurancaig and
introduced additional prudential standards, knowhevel 2 prudential standards, that are to be ireadnjunction
with the existing prudential framework, now knowsithe Level 1 prudential standards. The definitba Level 2
insurance group includes a NOHC and its contrdledrers and entities, subject to the exemptioteofain non-
regulated companies from the insurance group.

The foundation of APRA'’s approach to the supervigibLevel 2 insurance groups is that the group atole
should meet essentially the same minimum capitplirements as apply to individual general insur@PRA
deemed this approach essential to ensure thatts®fan individual insurer in a group do not rtte risk profile
of other insurers in the group through financial aperational inter-relationships with other granpmbers or
through decisions taken at the group level.

For the purposes of the new group supervision apdrting prudential standards, our Australian atitied
NOHC is deemed the parent entity of a Level 2 iasae group. The new prudential standards for imagrgrouy
supervision became effective on March 31, 2009rewd reporting standards apply to all Level 2 inaaeagroups
for reporting periods commencing on or after Jube2®09.

Capital Releases.An insurer must obtain APRAwritten consent prior to making any planned ré&dus in its
capital.

A reduction in an insurer’s capital includes, luhot limited to:

 a share buybacl

« the redemption, repurchase or early repaymentyfiaalifying Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital instrumergsued
by the insurer or a special purpose vehi

« trading in the insur’s own shares or capital instruments outside ofaargngement agreed upon with API

» payment of dividends on ordinary shares that exx@adnsurer’s aftetax earnings, after including payme
on more senior capital instruments, in the finanggar to which they relate; at

« dividend or interest payments (whether whole otigliron specific types of Tier 2 and Tier 1 capitaat
exceed an insurer’s after-tax earnings, includimg @ayments made on more senior capital instruments
calculated before any such payments are applidittifinancial year to which they rela

An Australian insurer in run-off must provide APRAvaluation prepared by the appointed actuary that
demonstrates that the tangible assets of the insafter the proposed capital reduction, are sigficto cover its
insurance liabilities to a 99.5% level of sufficognof capital before APRA will consent to a capitlease.

Assets in Australia. The 1973 Act and APRA require that all insureesr@quired to maintain assets in
Australia at least equal to their liabilities in gttalia and foreign insurers are required to mairaasets in Australia
that exceed their liabilities in Australia by an@mt that is greater than their minimum capitauiegments.
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Audit and Actuarial Reporting Requirement&PRA requires insurers to submit data in accocdanith the
reporting standards under the Financial Sectorl¢Ciddn of Data) Act 1988. Insurers must providawerly returns
and annual audited returns to APRA. Insurers inaffimust provide a run-off plan annually. Insurarcontract
transactions are accounted for on a “prospectigewatting basis,” which results in all premium revenacquisition
costs and reinsurance expenses being recordedylirgo profit and loss.

APRA requires all insurers, except for small inssighose insurers with less than $20 million afsy
insurance liabilities and no material long-tailirence liabilities) to appoint an actuary. Theseiiers must obtain
an annual insurance liability valuation reportJlovR, and financial condition report from the apptad actuary.
Although an appointed actuary for an insurer in-offrneed not provide a financial condition repdm, or she must
provide a report setting out his or her reviewha insurer’s required run-off plan.

The ILVR must be peer reviewed by another actuagurance liabilities are to be determined as eéntr
estimates on a discounted basis plus a risk maggassed at a 75% level of sufficiency.

APRA requires all insurers to appoint an auditdre Ruditor must prepare a certificate in relatmthe
insurer’'s annual APRA reporting requirements areppre a report annually about the systems, proesdund
controls within the insurer.

Section 334 of the Corporations Act 2001 provided the Australian Accounting Standards Board mai«em
accounting standards for the purposes of the Catjpois Act. The relevant standards are Accounttagd@ards
AASB 4 (Insurance) and AASB 1023 (General Insuraboatracts).

Outsourcing. APRA requires that all outsourcing arrangemehtaaterial business activities must be
documented in the form of written contracts exdepsome intra-group arrangements. An insurer rnogsult with
APRA prior to entering into outsourcing arrangensemhere the service and the entity providing theise are
located outside of Australia. Insurers are alsaiireg to maintain a policy relating to outsourcthgt ensures there
is sufficient monitoring of the outsourced actiegi

SOARS and PAIRSAPRA maintains two risk assessment, supervisndyrasponse tools to assist APRA with
its risk-based approach to supervision. The Prdibabind Impact Ratings System, or PAIRS, is APRASK
assessment model and is divided into two dimensibesprobability and impact of the failure of aRRA regulate
insurer. The PAIRS risk assessment involves arsassnt of the following categories: board, managenmisk
governance, strategy and planning; liquidity risgerational risk; credit risk; market and investingsk; insurance
risk; capital coverage/surplus risk; earnings; access to additional capital. The assessment sé ttetegories
involves consideration of four key factors: inhdrgsk, management and control, net risk and chpitaport.

APRA does not publish insurer’'s PAIRS ratings, @ogs make them available to the insurer.

The Supervisory Oversight and Response SystemDARS, is used to determine the regulatory response
based on the PAIRS risk assessment. An insurethanag a SOARS supervision stance of normal, ovetrsigh
mandated improvement or restructure. APRA doegpublish insurer's SOARS ratings, but does make them
available to the insurer.

Australian Prudential Framework and Australian Aooting Standards Board APRA maintains a prudential
framework that requires the maintenance and cadlecf certain financial information. In certaimr@imstances the
collection of this information is categorized diéatly that the manner prescribed by the Austrafiaoounting
Standards Board, or AASB, in the Accounting StaddaAASB’s standards are based on the matchingegdnc
whereas the APRA prudential framework is basedayspective accounting. While there are differermsseen
the two methods, those differences do not appbutcAustralian subsidiaries for a variety of reag@uch as going
concern issues and the current assets held by émbisies.

United States

As of December 31, 2009, we own or control fourpamby and casualty insurance companies domicileédean
U.S., our U.S. Insurers, all of which are in rufi-of

General. In common with other insurers, our U.S. Insuaes subject to extensive governmental regulation
and supervision in the various states and jurigdistin which they are domiciled and licensed andfiproved to

39




Table of Contents

conduct business. The laws and regulations oftdte sf domicile have the most significant impattoperations.
This regulation and supervision is designed togatopolicyholders rather than investors. Generadlgulatory
authorities have broad regulatory powers over soatters as licenses, standards of solvency, prematas, policy
forms, marketing practices, claims practices, itmests, security deposits, methods of accountorg fand contel
of financial statements, reserves and provisionsifiearned premiums, unpaid losses and loss adjus&rpenses,
reinsurance, minimum capital and surplus requirdmetividends and other distributions to sharelrsldeeriodic
examinations and annual and other report filingsaddition, transactions among affiliates, inclydirinsurance
agreements or arrangements, as well as certadphity transactions, require prior regulatory appf from, or
prior notice to, the applicable regulator undetaiarcircumstances. Regulatory authorities alsaloohperiodic
financial, claims and other types of examinatidfieally, our U.S. Insurers are also subject togaeeral laws of tt
jurisdictions in which they do business. Certaisuirance regulatory requirements are highlightedvia¢

Insurance Holding Company Systems Ac&ate insurance holding company system statuigsedated
regulations provide a regulatory apparatus thdesgned to protect the financial condition of dstiteinsurers
operating within a holding company system. All irewce holding company statutes and regulationsnequ
disclosure and, in some instances, prior appravaba-disapproval of certain transactions involvihg domestic
insurer and an affiliate. These transactions tylyi¢aclude sales, purchases, exchanges, loanextedsions of
credit, reinsurance agreements, service agreenrragntees, investments and other material triasadetween
an insurance company and its affiliates, invohimghe aggregate specified percentages of an insareompany’s
admitted assets or policyholders surplus, or divitdethat exceed specified percentages of an insei@mpany’s
surplus or income.

The state insurance holding company system statmigtsegulations may discourage potential acqaisiti
proposals and may delay, deter or prevent a chaihgentrol of us, any of the other direct or indirearents of any
of our U.S. Insurers, or any of our U.S. Insurersluding through transactions, and in particulasalicited
transactions, that we or our shareholders mighsiden to be desirable.

Before a person can acquire control of a domessierer or reinsurer or any person controlling sashirer or
reinsurer, prior written approval must be obtaifreth the insurance commissioner of the state irctvithe
domestic insurer is domiciled and, under certaioutnstances, from insurance commissioners in ¢tnsdictions.
Prior to granting approval of an application to @icg control of a domestic insurer or person cdlitig the
domestic insurer, the state insurance commissiofiie jurisdiction in which the insurer is domédl will consider
such factors as the financial strength of the appli the integrity and management of the applisddard of
directors and executive officers, the acquirorang! for the future operations of the domestic ieiseind any anti-
competitive results that may arise from the clogihthe acquisition of control. Generally, statatstes and
regulations provide that “control” over a domestisurer or person controlling a domestic insurgrressumed to
exist if any person, directly or indirectly, owrsntrols, holds with the power to vote, or holdsxies representing,
10% or more of the voting securities or securitiesvertible into voting securities of the domesgtigurer or of a
person who controls a domestic insurer. Floridauta create a presumption of control when anygmerirectly or
indirectly, owns, controls, holds with the powewnte, or holds proxies representing, 5% or moréhefvoting
securities or securities convertible into votinglaéies of the domestic insurer or person coritigla domestic
insurer.

Because a person acquiring 5% or more of our ordistaares would be presumed to acquire controlagiit@l
Assurance, which is domiciled in Florida, and besgaa person acquiring 10% or more of our ordinhayes would
be presumed to acquire control of the other U.8urers, the U.S. insurance change of control laiNdikely apply
to such transactions.

Typically, the holding company statutes and reguoifet will also require each of our U.S. Insurersquiically
to file information with state insurance regulatamthorities, including information concerning dapstructure,
ownership, financial condition and general busirmgserations.

Regulation of Dividends and other Payments fromiiawsce Subsidiaries.The ability of a U.S. insurer to pay
dividends or make other distributions is generallpject to insurance regulatory limitations of ith&urance
company'’s state of domicile. Generally, these lesegiire prior regulatory approval before an insunery pay a
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dividend or make a distribution above a specifeel. In many U.S. jurisdictions, dividends mayyobé paid out
of earned surplus. In addition, the laws of man$.jurisdictions require an insurer to report fdiormational
purposes to the insurance commissioner of its sfademicile all declarations and proposed paymehtividends
and other distributions to security holders. Antyre of capital from a U.S. insurance company waelglire prior
approval of the domestic regulators.

The dividend limitations imposed by state insuralages are based on statutory financial resultgrddhed by
using statutory accounting practices that diffecantain respects from accounting principles usdihancial
statements prepared in conformity with U.S. GAAReBignificant differences include treatment ofedefd
acquisition costs, deferred income taxes, requireglstment reserves, reserve calculation assunmgpéiod surplus
notes. In connection with the acquisition of a UnSurer, insurance regulators in the United States impose, as
a condition to the approval of the acquisition,itiddal restrictions on the ability of the U.S. imer to pay dividenc
or make other distributions for specified periofisiroe.

Accreditation. The National Association of Insurance Commissisner the NAIC, has instituted its Financial
Regulatory Standards and Accreditation ProgrankRBAP, in response to federal initiatives to retguthe
business of insurance. FRSAP provides a set oflatds designed to establish effective state reigulaf the
financial condition of insurance companies. UndRSRAP, a state must adopt certain laws and regokgtiastitute
required regulatory practices and procedures, and hdequate personnel to enforce these laws guothtiens in
order to become an “accredited” state. Accreditatks are not able to accept certain financial éxation reports
of insurers prepared solely by the regulatory agéma@an unaccredited state. The respective statesich our
U.S. Insurers are domiciled, except New York, amredited states. Because the New York Insuranpaieent is
not accredited, no other state should be requoregt¢ept its examinations, although states haverghy agreed to
accept the New York Insurance Department’s exanoinat Still, there can be no assurance they wikan the
future if the New York Insurance Department remainaccredited.

Insurance Regulatory Information System Ratid$ie NAIC Insurance Regulatory Information System,
IRIS, was developed by a committee of state instgaagulators and is intended primarily to asségesnsurance
departments in executing their statutory mandates¢rsee the financial condition of insurance canigs
operating in their respective states. IRIS idesdifl1 industry ratios and specifies “usual valdes&ach ratio.
Departure from the usual values of the ratios ead ko inquiries from individual state insurancenatissioners
regarding different aspects of an insurer’'s businesurers that report four or more unusual vakresggenerally
targeted for regulatory review. For 2009, certdiowr U.S. Insurers generated IRIS ratios that veertside of the
usual ranges. Only Stonewall and Seaton have hégacs to any increased regulatory review, butahigemo
assurance that our other U.S. Insurer will notldgext to increased scrutiny in the future.

Risk-Based Capital Requirementsn order to enhance the regulation of insurevesady, the NAIC adopted in
December 1993 a formula and model law to implemisktbased capital requirements for property arsialy
insurance companies. These risk-based capitalrezgants change from time to time and are designeddess
capital adequacy and to raise the level of pratedtiat statutory surplus provides for policyholdbligations. The
risk-based capital model for property and casuakyrance companies measures three major areesk ddcing
property and casualty insurers:

 underwriting, which encompasses the risk of advirse developments and inadequate pric
 declines in asset values arising from credit résid
 declines in asset values arising from investmeshistr

Insurers having less statutory surplus than reduisethe risk-based capital calculation will be jsabto
varying degrees of regulatory action, dependingherievel of capital inadequacy.

Under the approved formula, an insurer’s statusamplus is compared to its risk-based capital reguént. If
this ratio is above a minimum threshold, no compamnsegulatory action is necessary. Below thisshodd are four
distinct action levels at which a regulator cariwene with increasing degrees of authority oveinaarer as the
ratio of surplus to risk-based capital requirendadreases. The four action levels include:

* insurer is required to submit a plan for correctie¢ion;
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« insurer is subject to examination, analysis andifipeorrective action
« regulators may place insurer under regulatory onand
« regulators are required to place insurer underlaggiy control.

Some of our U.S. Insurers, from time to time, mayérisk-based capital levels that are below reglievels
and be subject to increased regulatory scrutinycamdrol by their domestic insurance regulatorofA®ecember 3:
2009, we owned a noncontrolling interest in one.lihSurance company that was not in compliance ajlicable
risk-based capital levels. We view our investmarthis company as not material to our Company and,
consequently, we do not believe this company’s campliance presents material risk to our operatansur
financial condition. All of our consolidated U.$surers were in compliance with minimum rissed capital leve
as of December 31, 2009.

Guaranty Funds and Assigned Risk Plaridost states require all admitted insurance corngsao participate
in their respective guaranty funds that cover wa@iolaims against insolvent insurers. Solvent iisulicensed in
these states are required to cover the lossepdighalf of insolvent insurers by the guarantyduand are
generally subject to annual assessments in thelsyats guaranty fund to cover these losses. Ssiates also
require admitted insurance companies to participasssigned risk plans, which provide coverageafdomobile
insurance and other lines for insureds that, foioua reasons, cannot otherwise obtain insuranteesiopen marke
This participation may take the form of reinsuragortion of a pool of policies or the direct issc@ of policies to
insureds. The calculation of an insurer’s partitigrain these plans is usually based on the amouptemium for
that type of coverage that was written by the iason a voluntary basis in a prior year. Partidggpain assigned ris
pools tends to produce losses which result in ass&sts to insurers writing the same lines on antahy basis. Our
U.S. Insurers may be subject to guaranty fund asseists and may participate in assigned risk plans.

Credit for Reinsurance.Licensed reinsurers in the United States areestibp insurance regulation and
supervision that is similar to the regulation aklised primary insurers. However, the terms anditions of
reinsurance agreements generally are not subjeegtdation by any governmental authority with msspto rates or
policy terms. This contrasts with primary insurapodicies and agreements, the rates and terms ichvgenerally
are regulated by state insurance regulators. Aa@ipal matter, however, the rates charged by gmmnmsurers do
have an effect on the rates that can be chargeeifgurers. A primary insurer ordinarily will enteto a
reinsurance agreement only if it can obtain criedtithe reinsurance ceded on its statutory findret@ements. In
general, credit for reinsurance is allowed in thiéofving circumstances:

« if the reinsurer is licensed in the state in whioh primary insurer is domiciled or, in some ins&s) in
certain states in which the primary insurer isriged,;

« if the reinsurer is an “accredited” or otherwis@igved reinsurer in the state in which the primasgrer is
domiciled or, in some instances, in certain stateghich the primary insurer is license

« in some instances, if the reinsurer (1) is domititea state that is deemed to have substantiatijas credit
for reinsurance standards as the state in whicprihgry insurer is domiciled and (2) meets finahci
requirements; @

« if none of the above apply, to the extent thatriesurance obligations of the reinsurer are secure
appropriately, typically through the posting oeéér of credit for the benefit of the primary insuor the
deposit of assets into a trust fund establisheth®benefit of the primary insure

As a result of the requirements relating to thesjmion of credit for reinsurance, our U.S. Insuransl our
insurers domiciled outside the U.S., when reingurisks from cedents domiciled or licensed in Ju8sdictions in
which our reinsurers are not domiciled or admittedy be indirectly subject to some regulatory regmients
imposed by jurisdictions in which ceding compardes licensed. Because our non-U.S. insurers arkceosed,
accredited or otherwise approved by or domiciledrig state in the U.S., and because our U.S. Irssare not
admitted in all U.S. jurisdictions, primary insusare only willing to cede business to such insuifeve provide
adequate security to allow the primary insureateetcredit on its balance sheet for the reinsurégmuechased.
Such security may be provided by various meansjdiing the posting of a letter of credit or depadiassets into a
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trust fund for the benefit of the primary insur€here can be no assurance that we will be ablerntiraie to post
letters of credit or provide other forms of segudh favorable terms.

Statutory Accounting PrinciplesStatutory accounting principles, or SAP, are sidaf accounting developed
to assist insurance regulators in monitoring agdileging the solvency of insurance companies. prisarily
concerned with measuring an insurer’s surplus tiwylwolders. Accordingly, statutory accounting fees on
valuing assets and liabilities of insurers at ficiahreporting dates in accordance with appropirdarance law and
regulatory provisions applicable in each insurdosiciliary state.

U.S. GAAP is concerned with a compasigolvency, but it is also concerned with otheaficial measuremen
such as income and cash flows. Accordingly, U.SABAjives more consideration to appropriate matcbing
revenue and expenses and accounting for managenstewardship of assets than does SAP. As a rdgtdtent
assets and liabilities and different amounts oétssand liabilities will be reflected in financsthtements prepared
in accordance with U.S. GAAP as opposed to SAP.

Statutory accounting practices established by th&EONand adopted, in part, by state insurance depnts,
will determine, among other things, the amounttafugory surplus and statutory net income of ou8.Unsurers,
which will affect, in part, the amount of funds yhieave available to pay dividends to us.

Federal Regulation. We are subject to numerous federal regulationtdiding the Securities Act of 1933, or
the Securities Act, the Securities Exchange Adt9#4, or the Exchange Act, and other federal seéesilaws. As
we continue with our business, including the ruhedfour insurance companies, we must monitor amuliance
with these laws, including our maintenance of avgilable exemptions from registration as an investitompany
under the Investment Company Act of 1940. Any failto comply with these laws or maintain our exearptould
have a material adverse effect on our operatiodarthe market price of our ordinary shares.

Although state regulation is the dominant form oflregulation for insurance and reinsurance basjrfeom
time to time Congress has shown concern over teguety and efficiency of the state regulations lat possible
to predict the future impact of any potential fedeegulations or other possible laws or regulation our
U.S. subsidiaries’ capital and operations, and $axks or regulations could materially adverseleefttheir
business.

Other

In addition to Bermuda, the United Kingdom, Austaand the United States, we have subsidiariesiiiows
other countries, including Belgium, Denmark andt3rand, and in the future could acquire new glibges in
other countries. Our subsidiaries in these othisdictions are also regulated. Typically, suchutatjon is for the
protection of policyholders and ceding insuranceaganies rather than shareholders. While the dexrdaype of
regulation to which we are subject in each countay differ, regulatory authorities generally havedd
supervisory and administrative powers over suctigress licenses, standards of solvency, invessnesgorting
requirements relating to capital structure, ownigrdimancial condition and general business opanat special
reporting and prior approval requirements with ez$pio certain transactions among affiliates, meshaf
accounting, form and content of the consolidatadritial statements, reserves for unpaid loss arifl kdinsuranct
minimum capital and surplus requirements, dividesas other distributions to shareholders, peried@minations
and annual and other report filings.

Competition

We compete in international markets with domestid imternational reinsurance companies to acquice a
manage reinsurance companies in run-off. The aitigmisnd management of reinsurance companiesnitofilis
highly competitive. Some of these competitors hgnemter financial resources than we do, have bperating for
longer than we have and have established teng-and continuing business relationships througttee reinsuranc
industry, which can be a significant competitiveautage. As a result, we may not be able to congpeteessfully
in the future for suitable acquisition candidatesum-off portfolio management engagements.
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Employees

As of December 31, 2009, we had approximately 28f@leyees, 5 of whom were executive officers. Alhno
Bermudian employees who operate out of our Bernaiize are subject to approval of any required wogkmits.
None of our employees are covered by collectivgdiaing agreements, and our management believesuh
relationship with our employees is excellent.

Operating Segments and Geographic Areas

See Note 20 to our consolidated financial statesfemtthe year ended December 31, 2009 includétin 8
of this annual report for a discussion of segmepbrting and geographic areas.

Available Information

We maintain a website with the address http://wwstargroup.coniThe information contained on our website
is not included as a part of, or incorporated bgnence into, this filing. We make available frdecbarge (other
than an investor’s own Internet access chargesy timrough our website our annual report on ForaK1Quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form &id all amendments to these reports, as soon sanaaly
practicable after the material is electronicallgdiwith or otherwise furnished to the SEC. Ouruaimeports on
Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, curmeports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those repogtalso
available on the U.S. Securities and Exchange Casioni’s website at http://www.sec.gdn.addition, copies of
our corporate governance guidelines, codes of basinonduct and ethics and the governing chadethd audit
and compensation committees of our board of direcice available free of charge on our website.gil#ic may
read and copy any materials we file with the SE@@SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Strelef, N
Washington, DC 20549. The public may obtain infatioraon the operation of the Public Reference Rbgm
calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider these risks alond Wit other information included in this documeémtjuding
the matters addressed under “ltem 7. Managemengsudsion and Analysis of Financial Condition ares&ts of
Operations — Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-LiogkStatements,” as well as risks included elsewheour
documents filed with the SEC, before investingpna our securities. We may amend, supplemenddtathe rist
factors described below from time to time in futtgports filed with the SE(

Risks Relating to Our Business

If we are unable to implement our business strategjiour business and financial condition may be adsely
affected.

Our future results of operations will depend imdfigant part on the extent to which we can impletnaur
business strategies successfully, including ouitglbd realize the anticipated growth opporturstiexpanded
market visibility and increased access to cap@al: business strategies include continuing to dpevar portfolio
of run-off insurance and reinsurance companies and retatethgement engagements, as well as pursuingaad
acquisitions and management engagements in theffsegment of the insurance and reinsurance mafketmay
not be able to implement our strategies fully @iz the anticipated results of our strategies essult of
significant business, economic and competitive ttag#ies, many of which are beyond our control.

The effects of emerging claims and coverage isswmsresult in increased provisions for loss researe
reduced profitability in our insurance and reinsesubsidiaries. Such adverse business issuealstaseduce the
level of incentive-based fees generated by ourwdting operations. Adverse global economic condgiosuch as
rising interest rates and volatile foreign exchareges, may cause widespread failure of our insgramd
reinsurance subsidiaries’ reinsurers to satisfir tigigations, as well as failure of companiesrteet their
obligations under debt instruments held by our slidnses. If the run-off industry becomes moreative to
investors, competition for runoff acquisitions andnagement and consultancy engagements may in@edse
therefore, reduce our ability to continue to makafifable acquisitions or expand our consultancgragions. If we
are unable to successfully implement our busingasegies, we may not be able to achieve futurgstirén our
earnings and our financial condition may suffer,aagla result, holders of our ordinary shares reagive lower
returns.

We may require additional capital in the future thanay not be available or may only be available on
unfavorable terms.

Our future capital requirements depend on manyfagctncluding our ability to manage the run-offoofr
assumed policies and to establish reserves aslsu#ficient to cover losses. We may need to radhtional funds
through financings in the future. Any equity or t&bancing, if available at all, may be on terrhattare not
favorable to us. In the case of equity financirdifsition to our shareholders could result, ancany case, such
securities may have rights, preferences and pgegehat are senior to those of our already oudstgrsecurities. If
we cannot obtain adequate capital, our businesslitseof operations and financial condition couddaulversely
affected by, among other things, our inability itmahce future acquisitions.

Our inability to successfully manage our portfoliof insurance and reinsurance companies in run-offap
adversely impact our ability to grow our businesscamay result in losses.

We were founded to acquire and manage companiepatfdlios of insurance and reinsurance in run-Offir
run-off business differs from the business of tiadal insurance and reinsurance underwriting at thur insurance
and reinsurance companies in run-off no longer omdie new policies and are subject to the risk thair stated
provisions for losses and loss adjustment expendeAE, will not be sufficient to cover future lessand the cost
run-off. Because our companies in run-off no longgtect underwriting premiums, our sources of tafb cover
losses are limited to our stated reserves, reinseraoverage and retained earnings. As of Dece&1h&009, our
gross reserves for losses and loss adjustment sgpetaled $2.48 billion, and our reinsurance redges totaled
$638.3 million.
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In order for us to achieve positive operating resswie must first price acquisitions on favoralgerts relative
to the risks posed by the acquired businessesh@mdsuccessfully manage the acquired businessesnahility to
price acquisitions on favorable terms, efficientignage claims, collect from reinsurers and comtnoloff expense:
could result in us having to cover losses sustaimeter assumed policies with retained earningschviviould
materially and adversely impact our ability to growr business and may result in material losses.

If our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries’ logeserves are inadequate to cover their actual é&ssour
insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries’ net incoraad capital and surplus would be reduced.

Our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries aréregio maintain reserves to cover their estimaté&chate
liability for losses and loss adjustment expense$bth reported and unreported incurred claimgsélreserves are
only estimates of what our subsidiaries think théleament and administration of claims will cosséd on facts and
circumstances known to the subsidiaries. Our coratitut activity and claims settlement and developnrenecent
years has resulted in net reductions in provisfonfss and loss adjustment expenses of $259l®mi
$242.1 million and $24.5 million for the years eddzecember 31, 2009, December 31, 2008 and Decesiber
2007, respectively. Although this recent experieindicates that our loss reserves have been maredtiequate to
meet our liabilities, because of the uncertairitied surround estimating loss reserves and losseagnt expenses,
our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries carmogtiain that ultimate losses will not exceedehestimates of
losses and loss adjustment expenses. If our sahbgislireserves are insufficient to cover theiuattosses and loss
adjustment expenses, our subsidiaries would hasadment their reserves and incur a charge to ¢aenings.
These charges could be material and would reduceeaiincome and capital and surplus.

The difficulty in estimating the subsidiaries’ reses is increased because our subsidialiss reserves incluc
reserves for potential asbhestos and environmema&&E, liabilities. At December 31, 2009, our imance and
reinsurance companies had recorded gross A&E &sssves of $751.0 million, or 30.3% of the totalggrloss
reserves. Net A&E loss reserves at December 319 afitbunted to $667.6 million, or 31.3% of total lvsts
reserves. A&E liabilities are especially hard ttreate for many reasons, including the long waifiegiods
between exposure and manifestation of any bodijlyryror property damage, the difficulty in identifig the source
of the asbestos or environmental contaminatiorg l@porting delays and the difficulty in properlioaating
liability for the asbestos or environmental damdgeveloped case law and adequate claim historyotialways
exist for such claims, especially because significencertainty exists about the outcome of covelitigation and
whether past claim experience will be represergativiuture claim experience. In view of the changpethe legal
and tort environment that affect the developmerguzh claims, the uncertainties inherent in valld&de claims
are not likely to be resolved in the near futurétinbhte values for such claims cannot be estimagsag traditional
reserving techniques and there are significant ti@icdies in estimating the amount of our subsidiipotential
losses for these claims. Our subsidiaries havenaate any changes in reserve estimates that migbtas a result
of any proposed U.S. federal legislation relateddoestos. To further understand this risk, sesif®ss —
Reserves for Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustmentiisgieon page 11.

Our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries’ reinsgns may not satisfy their obligations to our insuree and
reinsurance subsidiaries.

Our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries arectuoj credit risk with respect to their reinsureesause the
transfer of risk to a reinsurer does not relievesubsidiaries of their liability to the insured. addition, reinsurers
may be unwilling to pay our subsidiaries even thotigey are able to do so. As of December 31, 20@balances
receivable from reinsurers amounted to $638.3 oniJlof which $395.4 million was associated withethreinsurers
with Standard & Poor’s credit ratings of AA- or higr. In addition, many reinsurance companies haea b
negatively impacted by the deteriorating finaneiadl economic conditions, including unprecedenteantial
market disruption. A number of these companieduiting some of those with which we conduct businbase
been downgraded and/ave been placed on negative outlook by variousgagencies. The failure of one or m
of our subsidiaries’ reinsurers to honor their gations in a timely fashion may affect our caskvBpreduce our net
income or cause us to incur a significant losspiiss with our reinsurers may also result in urdees expenses
relating to litigation or arbitration proceedings.
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The value of our insurance and reinsurance subsid&s’ investment portfolios and the investment income ttl
our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries receivem these portfolios may decline as a result of et
fluctuations and economic conditions.

We derive a significant portion of our income framr invested assets. The net investment incomeotirat
subsidiaries realize from investments in fixed-imeosecurities will generally increase or decreaifle nterest
rates. The fair market value of our subsidiariegd-income securities generally increases or decréasgsinvers:
relationship with fluctuations in interest rateslaran also decrease as a result of any downtuheibusiness cycle
that causes the credit quality of those securitiedeteriorate. The fair market value of our sulasids’ fixedincome
securities classified as trading or available-falesn our subsidiaries’ investment portfolios amiga to
$203.1 million at December 31, 2009. The chang¢sémarket value of our subsidiaries’ securitiedt tire
classified as trading or available-for-sale aréedéd in our financial statements. Permanent impants in the
value of our subsidiaries’ fixed-income securities also reflected in our financial statementsaAssult, a decline
in the value of the securities in our subsidiariegestment portfolios may reduce our net incomeaarse us to inc
aloss.

In addition to fixed-income securities, we havedsted, and may from time to time continue to inviest
limited partnerships, limited liability companiescaequity funds. These and other similar investsierday be
illiquid and have different risk characteristicathour investments in fixed-income securities. ABecember 31,
2009, we had an aggregate of $81.8 million of snghstments. In 2009, the fair value of our privetgiity
investments increased by $5.2 million primarily daenark-to-market adjustments in the fair valu¢hefir
underlying assets, which are primarily investmémt$nancial institutions, however, in 2008, we wealown the fa
value of our private equity investments by $84.1liam, primarily as a result of the impact of thielgal credit and
liquidity crisis. For more information, see “Busgse— Investment Portfolio” on page 26.

Uncertain conditions in the economy generally matarially adversely affect our business and resudfs
operations, and these conditions may not improvehe near future.

Current market conditions and the instability ie tilobal credit markets present additional riskd an
uncertainties for our business. In particular, cored deterioration in the public debt and equigrkets could lead
to additional investment losses. The recent sedennturn in the public debt and equity marketderting
uncertainties associated with the mortgage cugissening economic conditions, widening of cregitsds,
bankruptcies and government intervention in largarfcial institutions, resulted in significant ualieed losses in
our investment portfolio. While there have been sandicators of stabilization, there continues eosignificant
uncertainty regarding the timeline for global ecmiorecovery. Depending on market conditions gdorgvard, we
could incur substantial realized and additionakatized losses in future periods, which could havadverse
impact on our results of operations and finanaadition. The current market volatility may alsokaat more
difficult to value certain of our securities if tiaag becomes less frequent. As a result, valuatioag include
assumptions or estimates that may have signifisanbdd-to-periocchanges that could have a material adverse
on our results of operations or financial conditibisruptions, uncertainty and volatility in theoghl credit markets
may also impact our ability to obtain financing fature acquisitions. If financing is availableniay only be
available at an unattractive cost of capital, whigluld decrease our profitability. There can beaasurance that
current market conditions will improve in the néature.

We could incur substantial losses and reduced ldjty if one of the financial institutions we use iaur
operations fails.

We maintain cash balances, including restricteth b&$d in premium trust accounts, significantlyeitess of
the U.S. Federal Deposit Insurance Corporationrarste limits at various U.S. depository institusod/e also
maintain cash balances in foreign banks and ittistits and rely upon funding commitments from seMeaaks and
financial institutions that participate in our citefdcilities. If one or more of these financiatitutions were to fail,
our ability to access cash balances and draw dewsuocredit facilities might be temporarily or pgnently
limited, which could have a significant and negatiffect on our results of operations, financialditbon or cash
flows.
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Fluctuations in currency exchange rates may causeto experience losse

We maintain a portion of our investments, insurdratalities and insurance assets denominated ireagies
other than U.S. dollars. Consequently, we and ohsigiaries may experience foreign exchange los8espublish
our consolidated financial statements in U.S. dslli@herefore, fluctuations in exchange rates us@dnvert other
currencies, particularly Australian dollars, EurBstish pounds and other European currencies,ihf& dollars wil
impact our reported consolidated financial conditieesults of operations and cash flows from yeametar. For the
year ended December 31, 2009, we recorded foreigiie@ge losses of $23.8 million due primarily to balding
surplus U.S. dollars in Gordian, whose functionatency is Australian dollars, during the year witem Australian
dollar had strengthened significantly against th®.Uollar. We recorded, for the year, cumulatremslation
adjustment gains of $48.9 million primarily dueGordian and the effect of the increase in the Adlisin to
U.S. dollar foreign exchange rates upon conversfdaordian’s net Australian dollar assets to U &lads. As of
the date of the acquisition, we concluded that @ord functional currency was Australian dollars.

We have made, and expect to continue to make, sgfi@tacquisitions of insurance and reinsurance coanpes
in run-off, and these activities may not be finaradly beneficial to us or our shareholders.

We have pursued and, as part of our strategy, Weaevitinue to pursue growth through acquisitions
and/or strategic investments in insurance and uedmee companies in run-off. We have made 24 aitiquis and
several investments and we expect to continue teeraach acquisitions and investments. We cannoelain that
any of these acquisitions or investments will Imaficially advantageous for us or our shareholders.

The negotiation of potential acquisitions or stgaténvestments, as well as the integration of equaed
business or portfolio, could result in a substdmligersion of management resources. Acquisitianddinvolve
numerous additional risks such as potential loBses unanticipated litigation or levels of claings) inability to
generate sufficient revenue to offset acquisitiosts and financial exposures in the event thaséfiers of the
entities we acquire are unable or unwilling to nteetr indemnification, reinsurance and other ddtiigns to us.

Our ability to manage our growth through acquisii@r strategic investments will depend, in partpar
success in addressing these risks. Any failureshp @ffectively implement our acquisition or ségit investment
strategies could have a material adverse effecuomusiness, financial condition or results ofragiens.

Our past and future acquisitions may expose us pemtional risks such as cash flow shortages, ckaljes to
recruit appropriate levels of personnel, financiakposures to foreign currencies, additional integi@n costs
and management time and effort.

We have made 24 acquisitions of insurance andueinse businesses in run-off and entered into seven
acquisitions of portfolios of insurance and reirse businesses in run-off, and we may in the éutuaike
additional strategic acquisitions. These acquisiimay expose us to operational challenges ansgl iistuding:

« funding cash flow shortages that may occur if ap¢ited revenues are not realized or are delayeethghby
general economic or market conditions or unforesetemnal difficulties;

 funding cash flow shortages that may occur if esgsrare greater than anticipat

« the value of assets being lower than expectednoingihing because of credit defaults or changéstarest
rates, or liabilities assumed being greater thaneeted;

« integrating financial and operational reportingteyss, including assurance of compliance with Sactio4
of the Sarban«-Oxley Act of 2002 and our Exchange Act reportinguieements

« establishing satisfactory budgetary and other fif@rcontrols;
« funding increased capital needs and overhead e®pk
 obtaining management personnel required for exghnderations; an

* the assets and liabilities we may acquire may bgstito foreign currency exchange rate fluctuat
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Our failure to manage successfully these operdticmalenges and risks could have a material adveifect ol
our business, financial condition or results ofragiens.

Fluctuations in the reinsurance industry may causeir operating results to fluctuate.

The reinsurance industry historically has beenexilip significant fluctuations and uncertaintiéactors that
affect the industry in general may also cause perating results to fluctuate. The industry’s paddility may be
affected significantly by:

« fluctuations in interest rates, inflationary pregsuand other changes in the investment environmamth
affect returns on invested capital and may affeetultimate payout of loss amounts and the costs of
administering books of reinsurance busin

« volatile and unpredictable developments, such @settthat have occurred recently in the wavide financia
and credit markets, which may adversely affectréweverability of reinsurance from our reinsurt

» changes in reserves resulting from different tygfedaims that may arise and the development dtjatl
interpretations relating to the scope of inst’ liability; and

« the overall level of economic activity and the catifive environment in the industr

The effects of emerging claim and coverage issuear business are uncertain.

As industry practices and legal, judicial, sociad ather environmental conditions change, unexpeatel
unintended issues related to claims and coverageemarge. These issues may adversely affect thguadeg of ou
provision for losses and loss adjustment expengeither extending coverage beyond the intent sdiiance
policies and reinsurance contracts envisionedeatithe they were written, or by increasing the nantr size of
claims. In some instances, these changes may notrtzeapparent until some time after we have acguire
companies or portfolios of insurance or reinsurawracts that are affected by the changes. &sutr the full
extent of liability under these insurance or remasiee contracts may not be known for many yeaes aftontract
has been issued. To further understand this resk;Business — Reserves for Unpaid Losses and Adgstment
Expense” on page 11.

Insurance laws and regulations restrict our ability operate, and any failure to comply with thesevs and
regulations, or any investigations by governmentthaorities, may have a material adverse effect orr ou
business.

We are subject to extensive regulation under imaigdaws of a number of jurisdictions, and compleawith
legal and regulatory requirements is expensives@&Ha@ws limit the amount of dividends that can il po us by
our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries, pbessdlvency standards that they must meet and amiminpose
restrictions on the amount and type of investm#rasthey can hold to meet solvency requiremendsraquire thet
to maintain reserves. Failure to comply with thieses may subject our subsidiaries to fines and |tiesand
restrict them from conducting business. The apptioeof these laws may affect our liquidity andlapito pay
dividends on our ordinary shares and may resttictability to expand our business operations thincaicrjuisitions.
At December 31, 2009, the required statutory chpitd surplus of our insurance and reinsurance eoiep
amounted to $351.6 million compared to the acttalory capital and surplus of $1.52 billion. AsDecember 31
2009, $71.6 million of our total investments of & billion were not admissible for statutory solegipurposes. To
further understand this risk, see “Business — Ratgal” beginning on page 29.

The insurance industry has experienced substasmtiatility as a result of current investigationsightion and
regulatory activity by various insurance, governtaéand enforcement authorities, including the (&&curities an
Exchange Commission, or the SEC, concerning ceptaictices within the insurance industry. Thesetras
include the sale and purchase of finite reinsuramagher non-traditional or loss mitigation insoca products and
the accounting treatment for those products. Inste@and reinsurance companies that we have acquoirethy
acquire in the future, may have been or may bedaomwdved in these investigations and have lawdiléd against
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them. Our involvement in any investigations anated lawsuits would cause us to incur legal casts i we were
found to have violated any laws, we could be regfuto pay fines and damages, perhaps in materaliats

If we fail to comply with applicable insurance lavand regulations, we may be subject to disciplinaction,
damages, penalties or restrictions that may haveaterial adverse effect on our business.

Our subsidiaries may not have maintained or be tabheaintain all required licenses and approvalthat their
businesses fully comply with the laws and regutaito which they are subject, or the relevant iasce regulatory
authority’s interpretation of those laws and regulationsddition, some regulatory authorities have reldibeoad
discretion to grant, renew or revoke licenses gypi@vals. If our subsidiaries do not have the rsitpilicenses and
approvals or do not comply with applicable regutat@quirements, the insurance regulatory autlesrithay
preclude or suspend our subsidiaries from carrgingome or all of their activities, place one ofrenof them into
rehabilitation or liquidation proceedings, or imparonetary penalties on them. These types of a&ctimay have a
material adverse effect on our business and mayygle us from making future acquisitions or obtagnfuture
engagements to manage companies and portfoliasoff.

Exit and finality opportunities provided by solvesthemes of arrangement may not continue to be ke,
which may result in the diversion of our resources settle policyholder claims for a substantiallgriger run-
off period and increase the associated costs of-nffiof our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries.

With respect to our U.K., Bermudian and Australiasurance and reinsurance subsidiaries, we argable
pursue strategies to achieve complete finality @mtlude the run-off of a company by promoting salvschemes
of arrangement. Solvent schemes of arrangementliearea popular means of achieving financial cetand
finality for insurance and reinsurance companiestiporated or managed in the U.K., Bermuda andrAligt by
making a one-time full and final settlement of agurance and reinsurance company’s liabilitiesol@pholders. A
solvent scheme of arrangement is an arrangememebpta company and its creditors or any classeshthor a
solvent scheme of arrangement to become bindirtgenreditors, a meeting of each class of creditarst be
called, with the permission of the local courtctmsider and, if thought fit, approve the solveftesne of
arrangement. The requisite statutory majority eflaors of not less than 75% in value and 50% iminer of those
creditors actually attending the meeting, eithgoénson or by proxy, must vote in favor of a soh@rheme of
arrangement. Once the solvent scheme of arrangdmsriieen approved by the statutory majority ofgot
creditors of the company, it requires the sanatibtine local court at a hearing at which creditoesy appear. The
court must be satisfied that the scheme is fair.

In July 2005, the case of British Aviation Insurar@ompany, or BAIC, was the first solvent scheme of
arrangement to fail to be sanctioned by the Endigfh Court, following opposition by certain creafis. The
primary reason for the failure of the BAIC arrangarnhwas the failure to adequately provide for défe classes of
creditors to vote separately on the arrangemententer, since BAIC, approximately 35 solvent scheofes
arrangement have been sanctioned, including oa#nglto one of our subsidiaries, such that theailiag view is
that the BAIC judgment was very fagpecific to the case in question, and solvent selsegenerally should contin
to be promoted and sanctioned as a viable meamfdeving finality for our insurance and reinswasubsidiaries
Following the BAIC judgment, insurance and reinswecompanies must take more care in drafting\esol
scheme of arrangement to fit the circumstancesetbmpany including the determination of the appate classe
of creditors. This remains so after the Januan2f:cision of the Inner House of the Scottish Cotifession in
the Scottish Lion case to the effect that solvehemes are to be considered on their individualtenfailowing a
full consideration of the relevant evidence, arat the existence of opposition to a scheme iswitiiput a full
hearing of the evidence, fatal to an applicatianséinction. Should a solvent scheme of arrangeprentoted by
any of our insurance or reinsurance subsidiarigsofaeceive the requisite approval by creditorsanction by the
court, we will have to run off these liabilitiestirexpiry, which may result in the diversion ofroi@sources to settle
policyholder claims for a substantially longer roffi-period and increase the associated costs ebffymesulting
potentially in a material adverse effect on ouafioial condition and results of operations.
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We are dependent on our executive officers, direstand other key personnel and the loss of anylafte
individuals could adversely affect our business.

Our success substantially depends on our abilitttact and retain qualified employees and uperathility of
our senior management and other key employeesgleiment our business strategy. We believe thaether only
limited number of available qualified personnethe business in which we compete. We rely substifyntipon the
services of Dominic F. Silvester, our Chief ExeeatDfficer, Paul J. O’'Shea and Nicholas A. Pac&ar,Executive
Vice Presidents and Joint Chief Operating OfficRishard J. Harris, our Chief Financial Officerhdal. Oros, our
Executive Chairman, and our subsidiaries’ executifieers and directors to identify and consumnihge
acquisition of insurance and reinsurance compamédsportfolios in run-off on favorable terms andrtplement
our run-off strategy. Each of Messrs. SilvesteiSi#a, Packer, Oros and Harris has an employmestagnt with
us. In addition to serving as our Executive Chairir. Oros is a managing director of J.C. Flow&iSo. LLC, ar
investment firm specializing in privately negot@tequity and equity related investments in therfaia services
industry. Mr. Oros splits his time commitment betweis and J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC, with the expéotathat
Mr. Oros will spend approximately 50% of his worfitime with us; however, there is no minimum work
commitment set forth in our employment agreemett Wir. Oros. J. Christopher Flowers, one of ouectiors and
one of our largest shareholders, is a ManagingcBireof J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC. We believe that eelationship:
with Mr. Oros and Mr. Flowers and their affiliateovide us with access to additional acquisitiod envestment
opportunities, as well as sources of co-investrf@macquisition opportunities that we do not have tesources to
consummate on our own. The loss of the servicempff our management or other key personnel,etabs of thi
services of or our relationships with any of ouediors, including in particular Mr. Oros and Miowers, or their
affiliates, could have a material adverse effecbonbusiness.

Under Bermuda law, non-Bermudians (other than sgoa§Bermudians, holders of permanent resident’s
certificates or holders of a working resident’stifieate) may not engage in any gainful occupatioBermuda
without an appropriate governmental work permit.ridfoermits may be granted or extended by the Beamud
government upon showing that, after proper puliiestisement in most cases, no Bermudian (or spouae
Bermudian, holder of a permanent resident’s cedtié or holders of a working resident’s certifi¢aseavailable
who meets the minimum standard requirements foattvertised position. The Bermuda government’scgdimits
the duration of work permits to six years, withta@r exemptions for key employees and job categavigere there
is a worldwide shortage of qualified employees aAgsult, if we were to lose any of our key empés/the work
permit laws and policies may hinder our abilityréplace them.

Conflicts of interest might prevent us from pursugrdesirable investment and business opportunities.

Our directors and executive officers may have osfmigrinterests or other involvement with entitieattcould
compete against us, either in the pursuit of adipristargets or in general business operationso€asion, we
have also participated in transactions in which @nmore of our directors or executive officers laadnterest. In
particular, we have invested, and expect to cortiounvest, in or with entities that are affiligtef or otherwise
related to Mr. Oros and/or Mr. Flowers. The intésed our directors and executive officers in streilmsactions or
such entities may result in a conflict of interiestthose directors and officers. The independesmivers of our
board of directors review any material transactionslving a conflict of interest and may take aggmiate actions
as may be deemed appropriate by them in the plticiicumstances. We may not be able to pursue all
advantageous transactions that we would otherwisgup in the absence of a conflict should our boadirectors
be unable to determine that any such transaction terms as favorable as we could otherwise olitaime absence
of a conflict.

Our inability to successfully manage the compangesd portfolios for which we have been engaged abied-
party manager may adversely impact our financiakrdts and our ability to win future management
engagements.

In addition to acquiring insurance and reinsurazw@panies in run-off, we have entered into several
management agreements with third parties to mathegecompanies or portfolios of business in ruh-dhe terms
of these management engagements typically incluckntive payments to us based on our ability tcessfully
manage the run-off of these companies or portfollde may not be able to accomplish our objectioedHese
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engagements as a result of unforeseen circumstanchsas the length of time for claims to devetbp,extent to
which losses may exceed reserves, changes invththdd may require coverage of additional claimd Esses, our
ability to commute reinsurance policies on favoeatiel'ms and our ability to manage run-off expeni$ege are not
successful in meeting our objectives for these mament engagements, we may not receive incentimqrats
under our management agreements, which could agyénspact our financial results, and we may nat fiture
engagements to provide these management servibed) would slow the growth of our business. Coriisglfees
generated from management agreements amounte® tbi$illion, $25.2 million and $31.9 million for ¢hyears
ended December 31, 2009, December 31, 2008 andribece31, 2007, respectively.

We are a holding company, and we are dependentt@nability of our subsidiaries to distribute funds us.

We are a holding company and conduct substantdlilyf our operations through subsidiaries. Ouronl
significant assets are the capital stock of ousglidries. As a holding company, we are dependemtistributions
of funds from our subsidiaries to pay dividendsid@acquisitions or fulfill financial obligations the normal course
of our business. Our subsidiaries may not genersficient cash from operations to enable us toerdikidend
payments, acquire additional companies or insuranceinsurance portfolios or fulfill other finaatiobligations.
The ability of our insurance and reinsurance suasas to make distributions to us is limited bykgable
insurance laws and regulations, and the abilitgllof our subsidiaries to make distributions tanay be restricted
by, among other things, other applicable laws a&guilations and the terms of our subsidiaries’ Haaks.

Risks Relating to Ownership of Our Ordinary Shares

Our stock price may experience volatility, theretgusing a potential loss of value to our investors.

The market price for our ordinary shares may flat#substantially due to, among other things, olieviing
factors:

« announcements with respect to an acquisition astmaent

« changes in the value of our ass

« our quarterly and annual operating rest

« sales, or the possibility or perception of futuaées, by our existing shareholde
< changes in general conditions in the economy a@dhurance industr

« the financial markets; ar

« adverse press or news announcemt

A few significant shareholders may influence or cwal the direction of our business. If the ownerghbf our
ordinary shares continues to be highly concentratédmay limit your ability and the ability of othe
shareholders to influence significant corporate dsions.

The interests of Messrs. Flowers, Silvester, PagkdrO’Shea, Trident Il, L.P. and its affiliates,Toident, and
Beck Mack & Oliver LLC, or Beck Mack, may not bdlfualigned with your interests, and this may lead
strategy that is not in your best interest. As eE@mber 31, 2009, Messrs. Flowers, Silvester, PaciceO’'Shea,
Trident and Beck Mack beneficially owned approxieiatl 1.16%, 15.82%, 4.41%, 4.66%, 6.41% and 8.16%,
respectively, of our outstanding ordinary shardth@ugh they do not act as a group, Trident, Beeicand each
of Messrs. Flowers, Silvester, Packer and O’Sheacise significant influence over matters requirshgreholder
approval, and their concentrated holdings may detadeter possible changes in control of Enstaiclvinay
reduce the market price of our ordinary sharesflther information on aspects of our bye-lawg thay
discourage changes of control of Enstar, see “—esaspects of our corporate structure may discoutagkparty
takeovers and other transactions or prevent thevehof our board of directors and management”\welo
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Some aspects of our corporate structure may disemér thirc-party takeovers and other transactions or prev
the removal of our board of directors and managenhen

Some provisions of our bye-laws have the effeehaking more difficult or discouraging unsoliciteakeover
bids from third parties or preventing the removabr current board of directors and managemenpahticular, ou
bye-laws make it difficult for any U.S. shareholdeDirect Foreign Shareholder Group (a sharehaddegroup of
commonly controlled shareholders of Enstar thainatdJ.S. persons) to own or control ordinary shahat
constitute 9.5% or more of the voting power ofadlbur ordinary shares. The votes conferred by shelnes will be
reduced by whatever amount is necessary so theatafy such reduction the votes conferred by shahes will
constitute 9.5% of the total voting power of alllimary shares entitled to vote generally. The prinpaurpose of thi
restriction is to reduce the likelihood that welwik deemed a “controlled foreign corporation” witthe meaning
of Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended eoCtue, for U.S. federal tax purposes. Howeves, lifmit may
also have the effect of deterring purchases okléigcks of our ordinary shares or proposals tuiaeais, even if
some or a majority of our shareholders might ddeese purchases or acquisition proposals to beeinltlst
interests. In addition, our bye-laws provide faiassified board, whose members may be removediby o
shareholders only for cause by a majority vote, @mtain restrictions on the ability of sharehosdi&r nominate
persons to serve as directors, submit resolutimasshareholder vote and request special genegtings.

These bydaw provisions make it more difficult to acquirentml! of us by means of a tender offer, open me
purchase, proxy contest or otherwise. These pmvisinay encourage persons seeking to acquire tofitus to
negotiate with our directors, which we believe wbgénerally best serve the interests of our shédet® However
these provisions may have the effect of discouagiprospective acquirer from making a tender affestherwise
attempting to obtain control of us. In additiongdk bye-law provisions may prevent the removalofcorrent
board of directors and management. To the extesetprovisions discourage takeover attempts, tiagydaprive
shareholders of opportunities to realize takeovemiums for their shares or may depress the marieg of the
shares.

The market value of our ordinary shares may declifidgarge numbers of shares are sold, including mwant to
existing registration rights.

We have entered into a registration rights agreémvééh Trident, Mr. Flowers and Mr. Silvester anerain
other of our shareholders. This agreement proviuesTrident, Mr. Flowers and Mr. Silvester mayuest that we
effect a registration statement under the Secsrie of certain of their ordinary shares. In audhf they and the
other shareholders party to the agreement haveypark” registration rights, which may result irith
participation in an offering initiated by us. AsB&cember 31, 2009, an aggregate of approximatalyndlion
ordinary shares held by Trident, Mr. Flowers and $ilvester are subject to the agreement. By esiagitheir
registration rights, these holders could causegelaumber of ordinary shares to be registerecganérally becom
freely tradable without restrictions under the Sii@s Act immediately upon the effectiveness o thgistration.
Our ordinary shares have in the past been, andfmaytime to time continue to be, thinly tradeddasignificant
sales, pursuant to the existing registration rigintstherwise, could adversely affect the marketepfor our ordinar
shares and impair our ability to raise capital tigto offerings of our equity securities.

Because we are incorporated in Bermuda, it may lificult for shareholders to serve process or enfer
judgments against us or our directors and officers.

We are a Bermuda company. In addition, certairuofafficers and directors reside in countries aéghe
United States. All or a substantial portion of assets and the assets of these officers and dset® or may be
located outside the United States. Investors mag Hificulty effecting service of process withimet United States
on our directors and officers who reside outsideUhited States or recovering against us or thesetdrs and
officers on judgments of U.S. courts based on tiadiilities provisions of the U.S. federal seciastlaws even
though we have appointed an agent in the UnitetSta receive service of process.

Further, no claim may be brought in Bermuda agaissir our directors and officers for violation of
U.S. federal securities laws, as such laws do ae¢ lfiorce of law in Bermuda. A Bermuda court maywéver,
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impose civil liability, including the possibilityfanonetary damages, on us or our directors andeiif the facts
alleged in a complaint constitute or give rise waase of action under Bermuda law.

We believe that there is doubt as to whether thets@f Bermuda would enforce judgments of U.Srtou
obtained in actions against us or our directorsdadfiders, as well as our independent auditorsdigeted upon the
civil liability provisions of the U.S. federal satties laws or original actions brought in Bermuwatgainst us or these
persons predicated solely upon U.S. federal seéesitaws. Further, there is no treaty in effectusen the United
States and Bermuda providing for the enforcemeptdgments of U.S. courts, and there are grounds wghich
Bermuda courts may not enforce judgments of U.Brteo

Some remedies available under the laws of U.Sdididions, including some remedies available uticker
U.S. federal securities laws, may not be alloweBeénmuda courts as contrary to that jurisdictiguiblic policy.
Because judgments of U.S. courts are not autoniigtieaforceable in Bermuda, it may be difficult fpou to
recover against us based upon such judgments.

Shareholders who own our ordinary shares may havermdifficulty in protecting their interests than
shareholders of a U.S. corporation.

The Bermuda Companies Act, or the Companies Acigiwéipplies to us, differs in certain material resp
from laws generally applicable to U.S. corporatians their shareholders. As a result of these réiffees,
shareholders who own our shares may have moreutffiprotecting their interests than shareholaére own
shares of a U.S. corporation. For example, classrecand derivative actions are generally notlatée to
shareholders under Bermuda law. Under Bermudadaly,shareholders holding 5% or more of our outditag
ordinary shares or numbering 100 or more are edtith propose a resolution at our general meeting.

We do not intend to pay cash dividends on our oy shares.

We do not intend to pay a cash dividend on oumangi shares. Rather, we intend to use any ret@aadngs
to fund the development and growth of our businEssn time to time, our board of directors will iew our
alternatives with respect to our earnings and seekaximize value for our shareholders. In the rieituve may
decide to commence a dividend program for the Iieakbur shareholders. Any future determinatiopay
dividends will be at the discretion of our boarddafctors and will be limited by our position ab@ding company
that lacks direct operations, the results of op@natof our subsidiaries, our financial conditioash requirements
and prospects and other factors that our boariteétdrs deems relevant. In addition, there argit@nt regulator
and other constraints that could prevent us frogingadividends in any event. As a result, capifgr&ciation, if
any, on our ordinary shares may be your sole safrgain for the foreseeable future.

Our board of directors may decline to register amsfer of our ordinary shares under certain circurtaces.

Our board of directors may decline to registeaadfer of ordinary shares under certain circumssnc
including if it has reason to believe that any miEnminimis adverse tax, regulatory or legal consegas to us, any
of our subsidiaries or any of our shareholders o@yr as a result of such transfer. Further, oedaws provide u:
with the option to repurchase, or to assign tara tharty the right to purchase, the minimum numifeshares
necessary to eliminate any such non-de minimisraév@x, regulatory or legal consequence. In agditbur board
of directors may decline to approve or registaaagfer of shares unless all applicable conseutBpezations,
permissions or approvals of any governmental badygency in Bermuda, the United States or any athplicable
jurisdiction required to be obtained prior to sticnsfer shall have been obtained. The proposedfaeor of any
shares will be deemed to own those shares foreliddvoting and reporting purposes until a transfesuch shares
has been registered on our shareholders register.

It is our understanding that while the precise fafithe restrictions on transfer contained in oyg-taws is
untested, as a matter of general principle, regiris on transfers are enforceable under Bermudafal are not
uncommon. These restrictions on transfer may adse lthe effect of delaying, deferring or preventinchange in
control.
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Risks Relating to Taxation

We might incur unexpected U.S., U.K. or Australiax liabilities if companies in our group that are
incorporated outside those jurisdictions are deteéned to be carrying on a trade or business there.

We and a number of our subsidiaries are compaaressid under the laws of Bermuda or other jurisditdi
that do not impose income taxes; it is our contetimh that these companies will not incur subsgdhiicome tax
liabilities from their operations. Because the apiens of these companies generally involve, @atecto, the
insurance or reinsurance of risks that arise ihdrdax jurisdictions, such as the United Statestdd Kingdom and
Australia, it is possible that the taxing authestin those jurisdictions may assert that the gietsvof one or more of
these companies creates a sufficient nexus irjuhatliction to subject the company to income taere. There are
uncertainties in how the relevant rules apply sunance businesses, and in our eligibility for fabbe treatment
under applicable tax treaties. Accordingly, it @sgible that we could incur substantial unexpetagdiabilities.

U.S. persons who own our ordinary shares might bex@subject to adverse U.S. tax consequences asutref
“related person insurance income,” or RPII, if anygf our non-U.S. insurance company subsidiaries.

If the RPII rules of the Code were to apply toai&).S. person who owns our ordinary shares directly
indirectly through foreign entities on the last daHythe taxable year would be required to includecome for
U.S. federal income tax purposes the shareholger'sata share of our non-U.S. subsidiaries’ R@ltlie entire
taxable year, determined as if that RPII were ithisted proportionately to the U.S. shareholdetbait date
regardless whether any actual distribution is madeaddition, any RPII that is includible in thecome of a
U.S. tax-exempt organization would generally bated as unrelated business taxable income. Althauggand our
subsidiaries intend to generally operate in a maso&s to qualify for certain exceptions to thdlRHes, there can
be no assurance that these exceptions will beadolail Accordingly, there can be no assurance ttfat pbersons who
own our ordinary shares will not be required tcogauze gross income inclusions attributable to RPII

In addition, the RPII rules provide that if a sHalgler who is a U.S. person disposes of sharedaregn
insurance company that has RPII and in which UeBsgns collectively own 25% or more of the shaaey,gain
from the disposition will generally be treated asdend income to the extent of the shareholderars of the
corporation’s undistributed earnings and profit tivere accumulated during the period that theestedder owned
the shares (whether or not those earnings andpeog attributable to RPII). Such a shareholdarldvalso be
required to comply with certain reporting requirerse regardless of the amount of shares ownedégtiareholder.
These rules should not apply to dispositions ofardinary shares because we will not be directlyagged in the
insurance business. The RPII rules, however, hateeen interpreted by the courts or the U.S. aleRevenue
Service, or the IRS, and regulations interpretirggRPII rules exist only in proposed form. Accoghyn there is no
assurance that our views as to the inapplicalofityhese rules to a disposition of our ordinaryrebawill be
accepted by the IRS or a court.

U.S. persons who own our ordinary shares would bibject to adverse tax consequences if we or onenore
of our non-U.S. subsidiaries were considered a “pag foreign investment company,” or PFIC, for U.S.
federal income tax purposes.

We believe that we and our non-U.S. subsidiari¢isnet be PFICs for U.S. federal income purposedtie
current year. Moreover, we do not expect to conductactivities in a manner that will cause usmy af our
non-U.S. subsidiaries to become a PFIC in the éutdowever, there can be no assurance that thevilRSot
challenge this position or that a court will nostin such challenge. Accordingly, it is possilblattwe or one or
more of our non-U.S. subsidiaries might be deemeBI& by the IRS or a court for the current yeaamy future
year. If we or one or more of onon-U.S. subsidiaries were a PFIC, it could haveens adverse tax consequences
for an investor that is subject to U.S. federabime taxation, including subjecting the investoa teubstantial
acceleration and/or increase in tax liability. Tdhare currently no regulations regarding the appba of the PFIC
provisions of the Code to an insurance companshe@pplication of those provisions to insuranceganies
remains unclear in certain respects.
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We may become subject to taxes in Bermuda after 6fa28, 2016

The Bermuda Minister of Finance, under the Exempbedertakings Tax Protection Act 1966, as amendgd,
Bermuda, has given us and each of our Bermudadiakies an assurance that if any legislation is&thin
Bermuda that would impose tax computed on profitcome, or computed on any capital asset, gain or
appreciation, or any tax in the nature of estaty duinheritance tax, then the imposition of aogtstax will not be
applicable to us or our Bermuda subsidiaries orcdrour or their respective operations, sharesedtlves or other
obligations until March 28, 2016. Given the limitédration of the Minister of Finance’s assurance cannot be
certain that we will not be subject to any Bermtadaafter March 28, 2016. In the event that we bezsubject to
any Bermuda tax after such date, it could have miahadverse effect on our financial conditiom aasults of
operations.

U.S. persons who own 10 percent or more of our fseamay be subject to taxation under the “controlled
foreign corporation,” or CFC, rules.

A U.S. person that is a “10% U.S. Shareholder” aba-U.S. corporation (i.e., a U.S. person who oams
treated as owning at least 10% of the total contbireing power of all classes of stock entitled/tde of the
non-U.S. corporation) that is a CFC for an unintpted period of 30 days or more during a taxabse yhat owns
shares in the CFC directly or indirectly througnfid.S. entities on the last day of the CFC'’s tagatadar, must
include in its gross income for U.S. federal incamre purposes its pro rata share of the CFC’s “atttpincome,”
even if the subpart F income is not distributedit¥art F income” of a non-U.S. insurance corporatypically
includes foreign personal holding company incomelfsas interest, dividends and other types of passcome), ¢
well as insurance and reinsurance income (includimderwriting and investment income).

A non-U.S. corporation is considered a CFC if “10%. Shareholders” own (directly, indirectly thréug
non-U.S. entities or by attribution by applicatioithe constructive ownership rules of section 858§ the Code
(i.e., “constructively™)) more than 50% of the totembined voting power of all classes of stockhatt foreign
corporation, or the total value of all stock ofttf@eign corporation. For purposes of taking iata@ount insurance
income, a CFC also includes a non-U.S. insuranogeaay in which more than 25% of the total combineting
power of all classes of stock (or more than 25%eftotal value of the stock) is owned directhdirectly through
non-U.S. entitiesr constructively by 10% U.S. Shareholders on amydlring the taxable year of such corporai
if the gross amount of premiums or other considemdbr the reinsurance or the issuing of insurafotker than
certain insurance or reinsurance related to sametigorisks written by certain insurance compamiesapplicable
here) exceeds 75% of the gross amount of all pr@sior other consideration in respect of all risks.

We believe that because of the dispersion of caresbwnership, and provisions in our organizational
documents that limit voting power, no U.S. Perdanl@ding our subsidiary Enstar USA, Inc., whichreacertain ¢
our non-voting shares) should be treated as ow(dingctly, indirectly through non-U.S. entitiesa@onstructively)
10% or more of the total voting power of all classé our shares. However, the IRS could succegstakillenge th
effectiveness of these provisions in our organireti documents. Accordingly, no assurance can\enghat a
U.S. person who owns our shares will not be charaetd as a 10% U.S. Shareholder.

Changes in U.S. federal income tax law could magdly affect us or our shareholders.

Legislation has been introduced in the U.S. Corggrasd included in the President’s recently relédmeiget
for fiscal 2011, to eliminate some perceived taxaadages of Bermuda and other insurance compdraehave
legal domiciles outside the United States but ler&ain U.S. connections. For example, legislatias been
introduced in Congress to limit the deductibiliyreinsurance premiums paid by U.S. companies to
non-U.S. affiliates. Another legislative proposaktbeen introduced that would treat certain “tarehaCFCs” as
U.S. corporations for federal income tax purpo3ée term “tax haven CFC” would include a Bermudgpooation
that is a CFC, but would exclude such a corpordafigns engaged in the active conduct of a traddusiness in
Bermuda. It is possible that these proposals oilainegislation could be introduced in and enadigdhe current
Congress or future Congresses and enactment of garsien of such legislation, or other changes i8.Wax laws,
regulations or interpretations thereof, could hanexdverse impact on us or our shareholders.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We lease office space in the locations set fortbvbeWe believe that this office space is suffitiéar us to

conduct our operations for the foreseeable future.

Entity

Enstar Limitec

Enstar (EU) Limitec
Enstar (EU) Limitec
Enstar (EU) Limitec

River Thames Insurance Compe

Enstar Australia Limites

Copenhagen Reinsurance Company |

Enstar (US) Inc.
Enstar (US) Inc.
Enstar USA, Inc.

Square
Location Fee!

Hamilton, Bermud: 8,25(
Guildford, Englanc 22,71
London, Englant 6,05(
London, Englant 2,192
London, Englant 6,32¢
Sydney, Australi 8,094
London, Englanc 10,84¢
Tampa, FL 8,85¢
Warwick, RI 3,00(
Montgomery, AL 2,50(

Lease

Expiration
August 7, 201«
June 15, 201
March 24, 201¢
March 24, 201:
March 24, 201!
April 30, 2013
March 24, 201(
October 31, 201
May 31, 2011
December 31, 201

We also own, through various of our subsidiarikes,following properties: 1) two apartments in Gtokdl,
England; 2) a building in Norwich, England and B)apartment in New York, NY. In addition, we alsase two
residential apartments in Bermuda with leases &gpin April 2010 and May 2014.

See Note 19 to our consolidated financial statesnfemtfurther discussion of our lease commitmeatséal

property.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are, from time to time, involved in various legeoceedings in the ordinary course of businesduding
litigation regarding claims. We do not believe ttfa resolution of any currently pending legal pedings, either
individually or taken as a whole, will have a ma&kadverse effect on our business, results ofaijmers or financie
condition. Nevertheless, we cannot assure youdkeuits, arbitrations or other litigation will nbave a material
adverse effect on our business, financial conditioresults of operations. We anticipate that, lsinto the rest of
the insurance and reinsurance industry, we wiltiooe to be subject to litigation and arbitratimogeedings in the
ordinary course of business, including litigatie@ngrally related to the scope of coverage withaeisip asbestos
and environmental claims. There can be no assuthatany such future litigation will not have ateréal adverse
effect on our business, financial condition or fessaf operations.

In April 2008, we, Enstar US, Inc., or Enstar USikBs Place Limited and certain affiliates of Dukdsce, or,
collectively, Dukes Place, were named as defendargdawsuit filed in the United States Distriab(@t for the
Southern District of New York by National Indemn®pmpany, or NICO, an indirect subsidiary of Beikesh
Hathaway. The complaint alleges, among other thithgg Dukes Place, we and Enstar US: (i) intedevih the
rights of NICO as reinsurer under reinsurance ageses entered into between NICO and each of Stdhang
Seaton, two Rhode Island domiciled insurers thairatirect subsidiaries of Dukes Place, and (@dohed certain
duties owed to NICO under management agreementebetEnstar US and each of Stonewall and Seatansdih
was filed shortly after Virginia Holdings Ltd., oundirect subsidiary, or Virginia, completed a hirgrbefore the
Rhode Island Department of Business Regulatioragsop Virginia's application to buy a 44.4% intstén the
insurers from Dukes Place. Virginia completed #egjuisition on June 13, 2008. The suit does ndt aestated
amount of damages. On July 23, 2008, we and EbSdiled a motion to dismiss Count | (relating t@éch of
fiduciary duty), Count Il (relating to breach admtract) and Count V (relating to inducing brea€leantract), in
each case for failure to state a claim upon whatiefrcan be granted. Subsequently, the partieredtnto a
Stipulation and Order filed with the Court on Oaof@, 2008, by which (i) NICO agreed to dismiss Qo of its
Complaint with prejudice, (ii) the defendants agré® withdraw their motion to dismiss Counts | didvithout
prejudice, reserving all of their rights and def=n® challenge these claims on the merits, apdN(iCO agreed to
extend the defendants’ time to file an answer anahterclaim. On November 5, 2008, we, Enstar US2unkks
Place filed an answer to NICO’s complaint and DuRkge asserted certain counterclaims against N@@O.
January 12, 2009, NICO filed a motion to dismisgaie of the counterclaims, along with a motion $ammary
judgment addressed to the counterclaims. We, EhkSaand Dukes Place filed papers in opposition©®’s
motion on February 23, 2009, and NICO filed repiiefs in support of its motion on March 23, 2009 al letter
dated July 1, 2009, the parties requested a stieqgiroceedings, which was granted by the Couftger dated
August 26, 2009. We, Enstar US and Dukes Placeurently in discussions with NICO regarding a it
settlement of all claims and counterclaims. Our aggment believes the suit will not have a matémalact on us ¢
our subsidiaries.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTER:!
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIE!

Our ordinary shares trade on the Nasdaq GlobatBklarket under the ticker symbol ESGR.

2009 2008
High Low High Low
First Quarte! $76.6:  $41.41 $121.9¢  $90.0(
Second Quarte $75.2C $50.11 $123.17 $82.9¢
Third Quartel $64.41 $55.1C $135.0: $87.5(
Fourth Quarte $75.00 $58.0¢ $101.5( $41.2(

On March 3, 2010 the number of holders of recordwfordinary shares was 2,363. This figure doés no
represent the actual number of beneficial ownermuobrdinary shares because shares are frequesitlyin “street
name” by securities dealers and others for thefiieafdbeneficial owners who may vote the shares.

We are a holding company and have no direct omgratiOur ability to pay dividends or distributicshepends
almost exclusively on the ability of our subsidéario pay dividends to us. Under applicable law,solsidiaries
may not declare or pay a dividend if there areorakle grounds for believing that they are, or wiafter the
payment be, unable to pay their liabilities as thegome due, or the realizable value of their asseuld thereby k
less than the aggregate of their liabilities arartissued share capital and share premium accobdtktional
restrictions apply to our insurance and reinsurantssidiaries. We do not intend to pay a dividenaor ordinary
shares. Rather, we intend to reinvest any earriagk into the company. For a further descriptiothefrestrictions
on the ability of our subsidiaries to pay dividepsise “Risk Factors -Risks Relating to Ownership of Our Ordin
Shares — We do not intend to pay cash dividendsuomordinary shares” and “Business — Regulatiorgibeing
on pages 54 and 29, respectively. We did not pgydandends on our ordinary shares in 2009 or 2008.

On January 31, 2007, we completed the merger eoktigtrger, of CWMS Subsidiary Corp., a Georgia
corporation and our wholly-owned subsidiary, wittdanto The Enstar Group Inc., a Georgia corpomatis EGI.
As a result of the Merger, EGI, renamed Enstar U84, is now our wholly-owned subsidiary. Priorthe
completion of the Merger, EGI's common stock tradadhe Nasdaq Global Select Market under the tisikmbol
ESGR. Because our ordinary shares did not comnteadiag until after the Merger, the graph beloweets the
cumulative shareholder return on the common sté&Gi, our predecessor, compared to the cumulative
shareholder return of the NASDAQ Composite Indée (flasdaq index for U.S. companies used in priarsy@as
discontinued in 2006) and the Nasdaq Insurancex|ntieough January 31, 2007. Thereafter, the ghegbbw
reflects the same comparison for Enstar. The grefiécts the investment of $100.00 on DecembefB804
(assuming the reinvestment of dividends) in EGI g@n stock, the NASDAQ Composite Index, and the dgsd
Insurance Index.
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COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Among Enstar Group Limited, the NASDAQ Compositddr
and the NASDAQ Insurance Index

CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURM

5250
R200
H1ED
£100 ‘
50
0 - - - - !
Dec-04 Dec-05 Dec-06 Dec-07 Dec-08 Dec-08
Enstar Group Limited  --osemees NASDAQ Composite
------- HASDADQ Insurance
Source: Research Data Group, Inc.
12/04 12/05 12/06 12/07 12/08 12/09
Enstar Group Limited 100.0C | 106.0C | 153.4« | 201.3: 97.2¢ | 120.0¢
NASDAQ Composite 100.0C | 101.3% | 114.0! | 123.7: 73.11 | 105.6!
NASDAQ Insurance 100.0C | 113.2¢ | 124.8¢ | 122.7% | 100.1(C [ 103.5¢
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected historical financial infortitan for each of the past five fiscal years hasnbéerived
from our audited historical financial statementsisTinformation is only a summary and should bel ri@a
conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and As@yof Financial Condition and Results of Operagicand ou
audited consolidated financial statements and rtbereto included elsewhere in this annual refddré results of
operations for past accounting periods are notssecay indicative of the results to be expectadafoy future
accounting period.

Since our inception, we have made several acquisitivhich impact the comparability between periofdhe
information reflected below. See “Business — Redeahsactions,” beginning on page 6 for informatidnout our
acquisitions.

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
(in thousands of U.S. dollars’

Summary Consolidated Statements of Earnings Dat¢

Consulting fee: $ 16,100 $ 2515 % 31,91¢ $ 33,90¢ $ 22,00¢
Net investment income and net realized (lossesi¥ 85,60¢ 24,94¢ 64,33¢ 48,00: 29,50«
Net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjustnesipiense

liabilities 259,62 242,10« 24,48 31,927 96,00
Total other expense (184,33) (194,83) (67,904 (49,839 (57,299
Share of (loss) income of partly owned compa — (207) — 51¢ 192
Net earnings from continuing operatic 177,00¢ 97,16: 52,83: 64,51¢ 90,41(
Extraordinary gair-

Negative goodwil — 50,28( 15,68: 35,361 —
Net earningt $ 177,00 $ 147,44.$ 6851t $ 99,88 $ 90,41

Less: Net earnings attributable to noncontrollinigiests
(including share of extraordinary gain of $nil, $1%4,
$nil, $4,329 and $nil (41,799 (65,897) (6,730 (17,53 (9,700
Net earnings attributable to Enstar Group Liml $ 13521($ 8155 % 61,78 $ 8234t $ 80,71

Per Share Data(1)(2):
Earnings per share before extraordinary gain atzifile to

Enstar Group Limited ordinary sharehold— basic $ 10.01 $ 3.67 % 3.9 % 521 $ 8.2¢
Extraordinary gain per share attributable to EnGtaup

Limited ordinary shareholde— basic — 2.7¢ 1.34 3.1 —
Net earnings per share attributable to Enstar Gtamited

ordinary shareholde— basic $ 10.01 $ 6.45 $ 5.27 $ 8.3¢ $ 8.2¢

Earnings per share before extraordinary gain atzifile to
Enstar Group Limited ordinary sharehold— diluted $ 9.84 $ 3.5¢ $ 3.84 % 5.1 $ 8.14
Extraordinary gain per share attributable to EnGtaup

Limited ordinary shareholde— diluted — 2.7z 1.31 3.11 —
Net earnings per share attributable to Enstar Gtamited

ordinary shareholde— diluted $ 9.84 $ 6.31 $ 5.1t $ 8.2¢ $ 8.14
Weighted average shares outstan— basic 13,514,20 12,638,33 11,731,90 9,857,91. 9,739,56!
Weighted average shares outstan— diluted 13,744,66 12,921,47 12,009,68 9,966,96! 9,918,822
Cash dividends paid per sh: $ — $ — $ — $ 292 $ —
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Years Ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
(in thousands of U.S. dollars’

Summary Balance Sheet Data:

Total investment $1,620,99; $1,278,05 $ 637,19« $ 747,52¢ $ 539,56¢
Cash and cash equivalel 1,700,110 2,209,87: 1,163,33 513,56. 345,32¢
Reinsurance balances receive 638,26: 672,69t 465,27 408,14. 250,22¢
Total asset 4,170,84. 4,358,15  2,417,14: 1,774,25. 1,199,96:
Loss and loss adjustment expense liabili 2,479,131 2,798,28  1,591,44' 1,214,41 806,55¢
Loans payabli 254,96 391,53- 60,22] 62,14¢ —
Total Enstar Group Limited shareholders’

equity 801,88: 615,20¢ 450,59¢ 318,61( 260,90t
Book Value per Share(3):

Basic $ 590t $ 461« $ 3780 $ 321t $§ 26.7¢

Diluted $ 5806 $ 4518 $ 369 $ 318 $ 26.3(

(1) Earnings per share is a measure based on netgadiinded by weighted average ordinary sharesanding.
Basic earnings per share is defined as net earavajible to ordinary shareholders divided bywleéghted
average number of ordinary shares outstandindhfoperiod, giving no effect to dilutive securiti€luted
earnings per share is defined as net earningsaé@ilo ordinary shareholders divided by the weidlaverage
number of shares and share equivalents outstacdinglated using the treasury stock method fopaintially
dilutive securities. When the effect of dilutivecaeities would be antililutive, these securities are excluded f
the calculation of diluted earnings per shi

(2) The weighted average ordinary shares outstandiogrsfor the years ended December 31, 2007, 2002605
reflect the conversion of Class A, B, C and D shaoeordinary shares on January 31, 2007, as ptreo
recapitalization completed in connection with therlyer, as if the conversion occurred on Janua?pQy, 200¢
and 2005. As a result, both the book value pereshad the earnings per share calculations for 20852006,
previously reported, have been amended to retiésithange

(3) Basic book value per share is defined as totaldi3toup Limited shareholders’ equity availabl@tdinary
shareholders divided by the number of ordinary eshautstanding as at the end of the period, ginmgffect to
dilutive securities. Diluted book value per sharééfined as total shareholders’ equity availablertlinary
shareholders divided by the number of ordinaryehand ordinary share equivalents outstandingeagrid of
the period, calculated using the treasury stockoukfor all potentially dilutive securities. Whereteffect of
dilutive securities would be anti-dilutive, thessrities are excluded from the calculation of itlbook value
per share
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Staements

This annual report and the documents incorporage@ference contain statements that constitutevdiod-
looking statements” within the meaning of Sectidie 2f the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as aménalr the
Exchange Act, with respect to our financial corudifiresults of operations, business strategiesatipg
efficiencies, competitive positions, growth oppaities, plans and objectives of our managemeniedisas the
markets for our ordinary shares and the insurande@nsurance sectors in general. Statementénttiatie words
such as “estimate,” “project,” “plan,” “intend,” kpect,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “would,” “should,*could,” “seek,”
and similar statements of a future or forward-logknature identify forward-looking statements fargoses of the
federal securities laws or otherwise. All forwdodking statements are necessarily estimates aratations, and n
statements of historical fact, reflecting the hedgment of our management and involve a numbeisk$ and
uncertainties that could cause actual resultsfterdnaterially from those suggested by the forwimaking
statements. These forward-looking statements shthddefore, be considered in light of various imtaot factors,
including those set forth in and incorporated fgmence in this annual report.

” o ” o ”ou ” o« ” i,

Factors that could cause actual results to diffatemially from those suggested by the forward-lagki
statements include:

* risks associated with implementing our businesteggies and initiative:
* the adequacy of our loss reserves and the nealjustauch reserves as claims develop over |
« risks relating to the availability and collectatyilof our reinsurance

« risks that we may require additional capital in filmeire which may not be available or may be awééanly
on unfavorable term:

» changes and uncertainty in economic conditionsudieg interest rates, inflation, currency excharafes,
equity markets and credit conditions including eatrmarket conditions and the instability in thelgll
credit markets, which could affect our investmeumttfolio, our ability to finance future acquisitisrand our
profitability;

« losses due to foreign currency exchange rate fhicos;

* tax, regulatory or legal restrictions or limitat®applicable to us or the insurance and reinsurbusimess
generally;

* increased competitive pressures, including theaafegion and increased globalization of reinsueanc
providers;

« emerging claim and coverage isstL
« lengthy and unpredictable litigation affecting assaeent of losseand/orcoverage issue
* loss of key personne

« changes in our plans, strategies, objectives, ¢apeas or intentions, which may happen at any titne
managemer's discretion

 operational risks, including system or human fait)

* the risk that ongoing or future industry regulatdavelopments will disrupt our business, or mandhsnge
in industry practices in ways that increase outs;aiecrease our revenues or require us to apectsof the
way we do busines

« changes in Bermuda law or regulation or the palitatability of Bermuda

« changes in tax laws or regulations applicable torusur subsidiaries, or the risk that we or onewnf
non-U.S. subsidiaries become subject to significansignificantly increased, income taxes in thrétéd
States or elsewhere; a

« changes in accounting policies or practic
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The factors listed above should not be construeskasustive. Certain of these factors are descrihadore
detail in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” above. We undéwtano obligation to release publicly the resultany future
revisions we may make to forward-looking statemtnteflect events or circumstances after the dateof or to
reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations shoulddmedrin
conjunction with our consolidated financial statemseand the related notes included elsewhere srettmual report.
Some of the information contained in this discussiad analysis or included elsewhere in this anreprt,
including information with respect to our plans atichtegy for its business, includes forwérdking statements th
involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. @twad results and the timing of events could diffeaterially from
those anticipated by these forward-looking statdmas a result of many factors, including thosewdised under
“Risk Factors,” “Forward-Looking Statements” andeathere in this annual report.

Business Overview

We were formed in August 2001 under the laws ofdeta to acquire and manage insurance and reingiranc
companies in run-off and portfolios of insurancd aginsurance business in run-off, and to provid@agement,
consulting and other services to the insurancer@imdurance industry.

On January 31, 2007, we completed the merger eoktitrger, of CWMS Subsidiary Corp, a Georgia
corporation and our wholly-owned subsidiary, wittdanto The Enstar Group, Inc., a Georgia corporatis a
result of the Merger, The Enstar Group, Inc., reeduinstar USA, Inc., is now our wholly-owned sulzsig The
Enstar Group, Inc. owned an approximate 32% econamil a 50% voting interest in us prior to the Merg

Since our formation, we, through our subsidiares,e completed 24 acquisitions of insurance ansoeance
companies and seven acquisitions of portfoliosisfifance and reinsurance business and are nowiathriing
those businesses in run-off. In 2006, we complétegk acquisitions of companies having combineal to#t assets
of $222.9 million. In 2007, we completed five acgjtions of companies having combined total nettasse
$625.3 million. In 2008, we completed six acqusis of companies having combined total net assgets o
$1.02 billion. In addition we completed the follawgi during 2008: 1) on June 13, 2008 we completedtguisitior
of 44.4% of the outstanding capital stock of Stoakwcquisition Corporation, the parent of two Rleddland-
domiciled insurers, Stonewall and Seaton; and Xpctober 27, 2008 we acquired the 49.9% of theeshai Hillcot
Re Ltd. that we did not previously own. In 2008, al®o completed the acquisition of four portfolafsnsurance
and reinsurance business in run-off with grosstass®l insurance and reinsurance liabilities of@xdmately
$471.2 million. In 2009, we completed two acqudsis of companies having combined total net assets o
$32.4 million. In 2009, we also completed the asijiain of one portfolio of insurance and reinsugbasiness in
run-off with gross assets and insurance and reamser liabilities of approximately $67.0 million. 2010, we
completed the acquisition of one insurance compantlytwo portfolios of insurance and reinsurancertass in run-
off with gross assets and insurance and reinsutatbties relating to the two portfolios and msurance business
of approximately $167.0 million. We derive our eetrnings from the ownership and management of these
companies and portfolios of business in run-offrniily by settling insurance and reinsurance claiesw the
recorded loss reserves and from returns on théofiordf investments retained to pay future claitmsaddition, we
provide management and consultancy services, claispgction services and reinsurance collectioniaes to our
affiliates and third-party clients for both fixeddsuccess-based fees.

In the primary (or direct) insurance business,itiserer assumes risk of loss from persons or orgdions that
are directly subject to the given risks. Such risksy relate to property, casualty, life, accidéeialth, financial or
other perils that may arise from an insurable everthe reinsurance business, the reinsurer agoaademnify an
insurance or reinsurance company, referred toeasgtiing company, against all or a portion of trseiiance risks
arising under the policies the ceding company hiétsen or reinsured. When an insurer or reinsut@éps writing
new insurance business, either entirely or witpeesto a particular line of business, the insusnsurer, or the
line of discontinued business is in run-off.

In recent years, the insurance industry has expegik significant consolidation. As a result of thimsolidatiol
and other factors, the remaining participants @itidustry often have portfolios of business thiateither
inconsistent with their core competency or progaeessive exposure to a particular risk or segmofetite market
(i.e., property/casualty, asbestos, environmedisdctor and officer liability, etc.). These nonre@nd/or
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discontinued portfolios are often associated witeptially large exposures and lengthy time perioefore
resolution of the last remaining insured claimsilésg in significant uncertainty to the insurerreinsurer covering
those risks. These factors can distract managemiewe, up the cost of capital and surplus for tigurer or
reinsurer, and negatively impact the insurer’'saimsurer’s credit rating, which makes the dispo$ahe unwanted
company or portfolio an attractive option. Alterimaty, the insurer may wish to maintain the busies its balance
sheet, yet not divert significant management atiartb the run-off of the portfolio. The insurerminsurer, in
either case, is likely to engage a third partyhsag us, that specializes in run-off managemeptitohase the
company or portfolio of the company, or to mandgedompany or portfolio in run-off.

In the sale of a runff company, a purchaser, such as us, often pajscaunt to the book value of the comp
based on the risks assumed and the relative valtine tseller of no longer having to manage the @mpn run-off.
Such a transaction can be beneficial to the sedleause it receives an up-front payment for thepeamy, eliminates
the need for its management to devote any attemitime disposed company and removes the riskhkat
established reserves related to the run-off busimesy prove to be inadequate. The seller is alkotalvedeploy its
management and financial resources to its corebsses.

Alternatively, if the insurer or reinsurer hireshird party, such as us, to manage its run-offiess, the insurer
or reinsurer will, unlike in a sale of the businasseive little or no cash up front. Instead, tnagement
arrangement may provide that the insurer or rearsuill retain the profits, if any, derived fromehun-off with
certain incentive payments allocated to the rumudhager. By hiring a ruaff manager, the insurer or reinsurer
outsource the management of the run-off businesgperienced and capable individuals, while allapits own
management team to focus on the insurer’s or regnsucore businesses. Our desired approach togmaneun-off
business is to align our interests with the intisre$ the owners through both fixed managementdeescertain
incentive payments. Under certain management agraagts to which we are a party, however, we reaaiga
fixed management fee and do not receive any incepiyments.

Following the purchase of a run-off company oréhgagement to manage a run-off company or portédlio
business, it is incumbent on the new owner or manegconduct the run-off in a disciplined and pssional
manner in order to efficiently discharge liabilgiassociated with the business while preservingr@dmizing its
assets. Our approach to managing our acquired auegi run-off as well as run-off companies ortfuios of
businesses on behalf of third-party clients inctudegotiating with third-party insureds and reiesisrto commute
their insurance or reinsurance agreement (sometiadiEesd policy buy-backs) for an agreed upon uprfayment
by us, or the third-party client, and to more e#fitly manage payment of insurance and reinsurelagms. We
attempt to commute policies with direct insuredseinsureds in order to eliminate uncertainty dheramount of
future claims. We also attempt, where appropriat@egotiate favorable commutations with reinsubsrsecuring
the receipt of a lump-sum settlement from the rgi@sin complete satisfaction of the reinsure@bility in respect
of any future claims. We, or our third-party clicate then fully responsible for any claims in thieire. We
typically invest proceeds from reinsurance commomatwith the expectation that such investmentsprdduce
income, which, together with the principal, will befficient to satisfy future obligations with res to the acquired
company or portfolio.

With respect to our U.K., Bermuda and Australiasuiance and reinsurance subsidiaries, we are @plgrsue
strategies to achieve complete finality and coreltie run-off of a company by promoting solventesobs of
arrangement. During 2009, we completed a solvérgrse of arrangement of one of our insurance sub&di
Solvent schemes of arrangement have been a popakars of achieving financial certainty and finafiy
insurance and reinsurance companies incorporatetoaged in the U.K., Bermuda and Australia, byintak one-
time full and final settlement of an insurance agidsurance company’s liabilities to policyholdekssolvent
scheme of arrangement is an arrangement betweam@any and its creditors or any class of them.aFsmlvent
scheme of arrangement to become binding on thétereda meeting of each class of creditors mustabed, with
the permission of the local court, to consider aithought fit, approve the solvent scheme of mgement. The
requisite statutory majority of creditors of nagdethan 75% in value and 50% in number of thosditors actually
attending the meeting, either in person or by proxyst vote in favor of a solvent scheme of arramg@. Once a
solvent scheme of arrangement has been approvi Isyatutory majority of voting creditors of thengpany, it
requires the sanction of the local court. Whil®kant scheme of arrangement provides an altemabiit strategy
for run-off companies, it is not our strategy tokaauch acquisitions with this strategy solely iiman Our
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preferred approach is to generate earnings frondiogplined and professional management of acduine-off
companies and then consider exit strategies, imdua solvent scheme of arrangement, when the ihagdrthe
run-off is complete. To understand risks associatd this strategy, see “Risk Factors — Risks Retpto Our
Business— Exit and finality opportunities provideylsolvent schemes of arrangement may not contmbe
available, which may result in the diversion of cesources to settle policyholder claims for a suitally longer
run-off period and increase the associated costsmebdff of our insurance and reinsurance subgekdy

We manage our business through two operating sdgnreinsurance and consulting.

Our reinsurance segment comprises the operatiahBrancial results of our insurance and reinsueanc
subsidiaries. The financial results of this segnpeimharily consist of investment income less neueions in loss
and loss adjustment expense liabilities, direceesps (including certain premises costs and priofeslsfees) and
management fees paid to our consulting segment.

Our consulting segment comprises the operationginadcial results of those subsidiaries that paevi
management and consulting services, forensic claispections services and reinsurance collectioricss to
third-party clients. This segment also provides ag@ment services to the reinsurance segment imriu
management fees. The financial results of this segmrimarily consist of fee income less overhegukases
comprised of staff costs, information technologgtspcertain premises costs, travel costs andicgmafessional
fees.

For a further discussion of our segments, see Rdte our consolidated financial statements foryiar ended
December 31, 2009 included in Item 8 of this anmepbrt.

As of December 31, 2009 we had $4.17 billion odltessets and $801.9 million of shareholders’ gquit
attributable to Enstar Group Limited. We operatelmusiness internationally through our insuranag r@nsurance
subsidiaries and our consulting subsidiaries imBeta, the United Kingdom, the United States, Euwcume
Australia.

Financial Statement Overview
Consulting Fee Income

We generate consulting fees based on a combinattifixed and success-based fee arrangements. Gimgsul
income will vary from period to period dependingtbe timing of completion of success-based feengements.
Succesdrased fees are recorded when targets related tallbpeject completion or profitability goals aaehieved
Our consulting segment, in addition to providingviees to third parties, also provides managememnices to the
reinsurance segment based on agreed terms set maniagement agreements between the parties. @hetiarged
by the consulting segment to the reinsurance seganereliminated against the cost incurred by #iesurance
segment on consolidation.

Net Investment Income and Net Realized Gains/(kpsse

Our net investment income is principally deriveohirinterest earned primarily on cash and investmefiset
by investment management fees paid. Our investputfolio currently consists of the following: (bpnd
portfolios that are classified as both availabledale and held-to-maturity and carried at faiueadnd amortized
cost, respectively; (2) cash and cash equival€Btsther investments that are accounted for orethity basis; and
(4) fixed maturity securities that are classifisdtiding and are carried at fair value.

Our current investment strategy seeks to preseaimeipal and maintain liquidity while trying to mamize
investment return through a high-quality, diveesifiportfolio. The volatility of claims and the effehey have on
the amount of cash and investment balances, asawéfle level of interest rates and other marlatofa, affect the
return we are able to generate on our investmentfioio. Investments held as available-for-salermiily relate to
the restructuring of newly acquired investment folids whereby those acquired securities with eitnenaturity
date beyond the anticipated expiration of the rffroiowith credit quality concerns are designated
Trading securities relate to one of our reinsuramtéies which has retrocessional arrangementgding for full
reinsurance of all risks assumed. The investmerfgbio supporting such liabilities is required
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by the retrocessionaire to be a trading portfolfeveby any related gains or losses are creditéélmted to the
retrocessionaire. When we make a new acquisitiowilv@ften restructure the acquired investmenttfadio, which
may generate one-time realized gains or losses.

The majority of cash and investment balances dckeviighin our reinsurance segment.

Net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjustnexptense liabilities

Our insurance-related earnings are primarily cosggtiof reductions, or potential increases, of hghate loss
and loss adjustment expense liabilities. Thesditials are comprised of:

 outstanding loss or case reserves, or OLR, whiglesent management’s best estimate of the likely
settlement amount for known claims, less the porti@t can be recovered from reinsur

* reserves for losses incurred but not reportedBbIR reserves, which are reserves established fyrus
claims that are not yet reported but can reasortablyxpected to have occurred based on industry
information, management’s experience and actuavialuation, less the portion that can be recovired
reinsurers; an

« reserves for unallocated loss adjustment expengesh represents management’s best estimate dfithe
costs to be incurred by us in managing the rurebflaims liabilities not specific, or allocated, individual
claims or policies

Net ultimate loss and loss adjustment expensditiabiare reviewed by our management each quangty
independent actuaries annually as of year end.riReseeflect management’s best estimate of theirengaunpaid
portion of these liabilities. Prior period estimgmtd net ultimate loss and loss adjustment expkaisiéties may
change as our management considers the combinedtimpcommutations, policy buy-backs, settlemédrnbosses
on carried reserves and the trend of incurreddeselopment compared to prior forecasts.

Commutations provide an opportunity for us to exiposures to entire policies with insureds andsteieds at
discount to the previously estimated ultimate liahiOur internal and external actuaries eliminalleprior historica
loss development that relates to commuted exposunegpply their actuarial methodologies to theaiaing
aggregate exposures and revised historical losslal@went information to reassess estimates of atériabilities.

Policy buy-backs provide an opportunity for us éttle individual policies and losses usually atscount to
carried advised loss reserves. As part of our meutlaims settlement operations, claims will seitleither below or
above the carried advised loss reserve. The ingdgmilicy buy-backs and the routine settlementlafnes updates
historical loss development information to whichuacial methodologies are applied, often resulimgevised
estimates of ultimate liabilities. Our actuarialthwdologies include industry benchmarking whichjemcertain
methodologies (discussed further under “— Critisatounting Policies” below), compares the trendwof loss
development to that of the industry. To the exthat the trend of our loss development compardéddgdandustry
changes in any period, it is likely to have an iotgan the estimate of ultimate liabilities. Additially, consolidated
net reductions, or potential increases, in netaite loss and loss adjustment expense liabilitielside reductions,
or potential increases, in the provisions for fatlosses and loss adjustment expenses related twitrent period’s
run-off activity. Net reductions in net ultimateskand loss adjustment expense liabilities arerregh@s negative
expenses by us in our reinsurance segment. Thioocatdd loss adjustment expenses paid by the rm@inse
segment comprise management fees paid to the tioigsségment and are eliminated on consolidatidre T
consulting segment costs in providing run-off seegiare classified as salaries and general andhitiraiive
expenses. For more information on how the resaxesalculated, see “— Critical Accounting Policied_oss anc
Loss Adjustment Expenses” below.

As our reinsurance subsidiaries are in run-off, pmemium income is insignificant, consisting priihaof
adjustment premiums triggered by loss payments.
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Salaries and Benefits

We are a service-based company and, as such, epepdajaries and benefits are our largest expensdaiie
experienced significant increases in our salameskgenefits expenses as we have grown our opesatod we
expect that trend to continue if we are able tasasfully expand our operations.

The Enstar Group Limited 2006 Equity Incentive Rlanthe Equity Incentive Plan, and the Enstar @rou
Limited 2006-2010 Annual Incentive CompensatiomPt the Annual Incentive Plan, which are admerist by
the Compensation Committee of our board of diractorovide for the annual grant of bonus compeosat our
officers and employees, including our senior exgeutfficers. Bonus awards for each calendar yean 2006
through 2009 were determined, and for calendar 840 will be determined, based on our consolidatidfter-
tax profits. The Compensation Committee determithesamount of bonus awards in any calendar yeagdan a
percentage of our consolidated net after-tax ofihe percentage is 15% unless the Compensationm@tee
exercises its discretion to change the percentadater than 30 days after our year-end. For tla@syended
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 the percentageftasichanged by the Compensation Committee. The
Compensation Committee determines, in its solerélimn, the amount of bonus awards payable to padicipant.

Bonus awards are payable in cash, ordinary sha@sambination of both. Ordinary shares issued in
connection with a bonus award will be issued pumstmthe terms and subject to the conditions efEquity
Incentive Plan.

For information on the awards made under both theual and Equity Incentive plans for the years dnde
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, see Note 13 toomgolidated financial statements for the yealeen
December 31, 2009, included in Item 8 to this ahreort.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses include rahtamt-related costs, professional fees (legaksitment,
audit and actuarial) and travel expenses. We hpegations in multiple jurisdictions and our emplegéravel
frequently in connection with the search for acijois opportunities and in the general managemétitebusiness.
While certain general and administrative expensedh as rent and related costs and professiorgldes incurred
directly by the reinsurance segment, the remaigemngral and administrative expenses are incurradeby
consulting segment. To the extent that such caostgiied by the consulting segment relate to theagament of the
reinsurance segment, they are recovered by thaitimgssegment through the management fees chaogibe
reinsurance segment.

Foreign Exchange Gain/(Loss)

Our reporting currency is U.S. dollars. Our funotibcurrency is U.S. dollars for all of our subariés with the
exception of Gordian, whose functional currenciisstralian dollars. Through our subsidiaries whivsetional
currency is the U.S. dollar, we hold a varietyafefign (non-U.S.) currency assets and liabilitibe, principal
exposures being Euros and British pounds. At eatdnbe sheet date, recorded balances that are dextedhin a
currency other than U.S. dollars are adjustedfteatethe current exchange rate. Revenue and egpams are
translated into U.S. dollars at average rates ohamxge for the period. The resulting exchange gaitssses are
included in our net income.

For Gordian, whose functional currency is Australillars, at each reporting period the balancetsiued
income statement are translated at period endrdge rates of exchange, respectively, with amgiga exchang
gains or losses on translation recorded as a coemparfi our accumulated other comprehensive incontled
shareholders’ equity section of our balance sheet.

We seek to manage our exposure to foreign currerciyange, where possible, by broadly matching ongidr
currency assets against our foreign currency liadsl Subject to regulatory constraints, the msets of our
subsidiaries are maintained in U.S. dollars.
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Income Tax/(Recovery)

Under current Bermuda law, we and our Bermuda-basbdidiaries are not required to pay taxes in Bielamn
on either income or capital gains. These compdrags received an undertaking from the Bermuda guorent tha
in the event of income or capital gains taxes béamgpsed, they will be exempted from such taxed tire year
2016. Our non-Bermuda subsidiaries record incomesthased on their graduated statutory rates friax denefits
arising from tax loss carryforwards. On Januar2]7 we adopted the provisions of the Income Té&xgs of the
Financial Accounting Standards Board Accountingh8#ads Codification, or FASB ASC. As a result of th
implementation of this topic, we recognized a $4ilion increase to the January 1, 2007 balanaeisfined
earnings.

Noncontrolling Interest

The acquisitions of Hillcot Re Limited (formerly &dre Insurance Company (UK) Limited) in March 2008
of Brampton Insurance Company Limited (formerly Wimsurance Company of Europe Limited) in March 00
were effected through Hillcot Holdings Limited, ldillcot, a Bermuda-based company in which we h&0.4%
economic interest until October 27, 2008. The tesafl operations of Hillcot were included in ounsolidated
statements of operations with the remaining 49.8étemic interest in the results of Hillcot reflettas a minority
interest until October 27, 2008 when we acquired49.9% interest in Hillcot Re Limited that we poawsly did not
own. As a result, the noncontrolling interest ia #arnings of Hillcot Re Limited was recorded tpt8enber 30,
2008 only.

During 2008, we completed the following acquisiddraving a noncontrolling interest: 1) Guildhall)& .-
based insurance and reinsurance company in rurdo8prdian, AMP Limited’s Australian-based closed
reinsurance and insurance operations; 3) EPICram#a-based reinsurance company; 4) Goshawk, vevicis
Rosemont Reinsurance Limited, a Bermuda-basedurgins run-off; and 5) Unionamerica, a U.K.-bageslirance
and reinsurance company in raff: We have a 70% economic interest in all ofdbeve listed acquired subsidial
with the exception of Goshawk in which we have g &conomic interest. The results of the operatadribe
acquired subsidiaries are included in our constidiatatements of earnings with the remaining nomoting
interests’ share of the economic interest of tispeetive subsidiaries reflected as a noncontrolfiteyest.

We own approximately 56.8% of Shelbourne, whickurm owns 100% of Shelbourne Syndicate Services
Limited, the Managing Agency for Lloyd’s Syndic&@08, a syndicate approved by Lloyd’s of London on
December 16, 2007. We have committed to providecqupately 75% of the capital required by Lloyd'griflicate
2008, which is authorized to undertake Reinsuramé€&ose Transactions, or RITC transactions (thedferring of
the liabilities from one Lloyd’s Syndicate to aneth of Lloyd’s syndicates in run-off.

Negative Goodwill

Negative goodwill represents the excess of theviginte of businesses acquired by us over the d¢astah
businesses. In accordance with the Business Cotidnisaopic of FASB ASC, or ASC 805, this amount is
recognized upon the acquisition of the businessesmaxtraordinary gain. The fair values of theserance assets
and liabilities acquired are derived from probapilveighted ranges of the associated projected casls flbased o
actuarially prepared information and our managetaenh-off strategy. Any amendment to the fair veuesulting
from changes in such information or strategy wallrecognized when they occur. For more informatioow the
goodwill is determined, see “— Critical AccountiRglicies — Goodwill” below.

Critical Accounting Policies

Certain amounts in our consolidated financial stetets require the use of best estimates and asisuns pd
determine reported values. These amounts couldatiély be materially different than what has beevided for ir
our consolidated financial statements. We conglieassessment of loss reserves and reinsurarmesrable to be
the values requiring the most inherently subjectind complex estimates. In addition, the fair vaheasurement
our investments and the assessment of the pogsip&rment of goodwill involves certain estimatesia
assumptions. As such, the accounting policiesies¢ amounts are of critical importance to our cliested
financial statements.
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Loss and Loss Adjustment Expenses

The following table provides a breakdown of grasssland loss adjustment expense reserves by type of
exposure as of December 31, 2009 and 2008:

2009 2008
OLR IBNR Total OLR IBNR Total
(in thousands of U.S. dollars

Asbestos $ 191,23t $ 470,11! $ 661,35: $ 249,000 $ 582,78 $ 831,78:
Environmenta 46,25: 43,36¢ 89,62 52,02¢ 60,15¢ 112,18
All other 1,065,16! 530,44: 1,595,60- 1,051,92 663,73¢ 1,715,66!
Total $1,302,65( $1,043,921 $2,346,57' $1,352,95' $1,306,68 $2,659,63!
Unallocated loss adjustment

expense: 132,56( 138,65:.
Total $2,479,13 $2,798,28

The following table provides a breakdown of losd &ss adjustment expense reserves (net of reinsarra
balances recoverable) by type of exposure as oémber 31, 2009 and 2008:

2009 2008
Total % of Total Total % of Total
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)

Asbestos $ 588,41 27.€% $ 748,49¢ 31.1%
Environmenta 79,22 3.7 97,92t 41
All other 1,331,211 62.5 1,418,63! 59.C
Unallocated loss adjustment expen 132,56( 6.2 138,65: 5.8
Total $2,131,40:! 1=0C% $2,403,71. 1=0C%

Our “All other” exposure category consists of a mbgeneral casualty (approximately 43% of “All ethnet
reserves), professional liability (approximately 8% All other” net reserves), workers compensatp@rsonal
accident (approximately 12% of “All other” net reges) and other miscellaneous exposures, whicemrerally
long-tailed in nature.

As of December 31, 2009, the IBNR reserves (ne¢iosurance balances receivable) accounted for
$953.1 million, or 44.7%, of our total net lossee@s. The reserve for IBNR (net of reinsurancarz receivable)
accounted for $1,207.4 million, or 50.2%, of oumtmet loss reserves at December 31, 2008.

Annual Loss and Loss Adjustment Reviews

Because a significant amount of time can lapse d&tvthe assumption of risk, the occurrence of adesent,
the reporting of the event to an insurance or tearsce company and the ultimate payment of thenctai the loss
event, the liability for unpaid losses and lossiatipent expenses is based largely upon estimatesn@nagement
must use considerable judgment in the processwaldeing these estimates. The liability for unplaisses and loss
adjustment expenses for property and casualty bssimcludes amounts determined from loss reparisdividual
cases and amounts for IBNR reserves. Such resénetgling IBNR reserves, are estimated by manageimesed
upon loss reports received from ceding companigmlemented by our own estimates of losses for hvhic ceding
company loss reports have yet been received.

In establishing reserves, management also conditgpendent actuarial estimates of ultimate lo9es
independent actuaries employ generally accepteaal methodologies to estimate ultimate losseslass
adjustment expenses. A loss reserve study prepgrad independent actuary provides the basis ofemarves for
losses and loss adjustment expenses.
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As of December 31, 2009, 2007 was the most rectip which policies were underwritten by any of o
insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries. As a regudif our unpaid claims liabilities are consiéérto have a
longtail claims payout. Gross loss reserves rgidtearily to casualty exposures, including lateairos, of which
approximately 32.0% relate to asbestos and envieomah or A&E, exposures.

Within the annual loss reserve studies producedunyexternal actuaries, exposures for each sulbgidia
separated into homogeneous reserving categoriésdqrurpose of estimating IBNR. Each reservinggaity
contains either direct insurance or assumed reamsgrreserves and groups relatively similar typesks and
exposures (for example, asbestos, environmentlatty, property) and lines of business writtem égample,
marine, aviation, non-marine). Based on the exmosharacteristics and the nature of available fdataach
individual reserving category, a number of methodas are applied. Recorded reserves for eachagtage
selected from the indications produced by the varimethodologies after consideration of exposuagatteristics,
data limitations and strengths and weaknesseschf mathod applied. This approach to estimating IBMR been
consistently adopted in the annual loss resendiestfor each period presented.

The ranges of gross loss and loss adjustment egpessrves implied by the various methodologied bge
each of our insurance subsidiaries as of Decemhe2(®9 were:

Low Selectec High
(in thousands of U.S. dollars’
Asbestos $ 580,20 $ 661,35: $ 690,75¢
Environmenta 79,154 89,62 96,16¢
All other 1,380,65. 1,595,60- 1,715,74.
Unallocated loss adjustment expen 132,56( 132,56( 132,56(
Total $2,172,56¢ $2,479,131  $2,635,22

Latent Claims

Our loss reserves are related largely to casuafigsires including latent exposures relating priméo A&E.
In establishing the reserves for unpaid claims,agament considers facts currently known and theentistate of
the law and coverage litigation. Liabilities areagnized for known claims (including the cost dated litigation)
when sufficient information has been developedttidate the involvement of a specific insurancecyoland
management can reasonably estimate its liabilitaddition, reserves are established to coverdesslopment
related to both known and unasserted claims.

The estimation of unpaid claim liabilities is sutijéo a high degree of uncertainty for a numbereakons.
First, unpaid claim liabilities for property andscalty exposures in general are impacted by changhe legal
environment, jury awards, medical cost trends amteeal inflation. Moreover, for latent exposurepanticular,
developed case law and adequate claim history texigt. There is significant coverage litigati@tated to these
exposures, which creates further uncertainty iresitenation of the liabilities. As a result, foette types of
exposures, it is especially unclear whether pasincexperience will be representative of futureénalaxperience.
Ultimate values for such claims cannot be estimatgdg reserving techniques that extrapolate losas ultimate
basis using loss development factors, and the taioBes surrounding the estimation of unpaid claahilities are
not likely to be resolved in the near future. Theme be no assurance that the reserves estabbghedwill be
adequate or will not be adversely affected by teetbpment of other latent exposures.

Our asbestos claims are primarily products ligbitiaims submitted by a variety of insureds whoraped in
different parts of the asbestos distribution chéifhile most such claims arise from asbestos miaimdy primary
asbestos manufacturers, we have also been receieiings from tertiary defendants such as smallarufecturers,
and the industry has seen an emerging trend opnoducts claims arising from premises exposuresikein
products claims, primary policies generally do caritain aggregate policy limits for premises clagimbkich,
accordingly, remain at the primary layer and, thraggly impact excess insurance policies. As ths nejority of
our policies are excess policies, this trend haksdmdy a marginal effect on our asbestos expostuesfar.
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Asbestos reform efforts have been underway at thetfiederal and state level to address the cossemyuk of
asbestos claims to the American economy. While iagjpnal efforts to create a federal trust furad @ould
replace the tort system for asbestos claims faflederal states, including Texas and Florida, ipassed reforms
based on “medical criteria” requiring certain lessef medically documented injury before a lawsait de filed,
generally resulting in a drop of case filings ingk states adopting this reform measure.

Asbestos claims primarily fall into two generalegaries: impaired and unimpaired bodily injury oiai
Property damage claims represent only a smallifractf asbestos claims. Impaired claims primaurigiide
individuals suffering from mesothelioma or a cargéch as lung cancer. Unimpaired claims includestsisis and
those whose lung regions contain pleural plaques.

Unlike traditional property and casualty insurdvatteither have large numbers of individual claarising fromr
personal lines such as auto, or small numbersghf Yélue claims as in medical malpractice insurdiness, our
primary exposures arise from A&E claims that dofietibow a consistent pattern. For instance, we @agounter a
small insured with one large environmental claine tlu significant groundwater contamination, whilEatune
500 company may submit numerous claims for relbtismall values. Moreover, there is no set patterrihe life
of an environmental or asbestos claim. Some oktlksms may resolve within two years whereas sthawe
remained unresolved for nearly two decades. Thegefur open and closed claims data do not follow a
identifiable or discernible pattern.

Furthermore, because of the reinsurance natuireeaflaims we manage, we focus on the activiti¢lseat
reinsured level rather than at the individual ckievel. The counterparties with whom we typicatieract are
generally insurers or large industrial concerns ratdndividual claimants. Claims do not follow aognsistent
pattern. They arise from many insureds or locatamdin a broad range of circumstances. An insovayg present
one large claim or hundreds or thousands of sntaihs. Plaintiffs’ counsel frequently aggregateusands of
claims within one lawsuit. The deductibles to whathims are subject vary from policy to policy arehr to year.
Often claims data is only available to reinsurstgh as us, on an aggregated basis. Accordinglyawe not found
claim count information or average reserve amotmiee reliable indicators of exposure for our reserstimation
process or for management of our liabilities. Weehfound data accumulation and claims managemerg mo
effective and meaningful at the reinsured levdieathan at the underlying claim level. As a resuét have
designed our reserving methodologies to be indegr@naf claim count information. As the level of espres to a
reinsured can vary substantially, we focus on tigregate exposures and pursue commutations aray fooiy-
backs with the larger reinsureds.

We employ approximately 30 full time equivalent déoyees, including a U.S. attorney, actuaries, and
experienced claims-handlers to directly administerA&E liabilities. We have established a provisior future
expenses of $45.1 million, which reflects the tetaicipated costs to administer these claims pration.

Our future environmental loss development may Hadnced by other factors including:

» Existence of currently undiscovered polluted siigible for clean-up under the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liaity(CERCLA) and related legislatio

« Costs imposed due to joint and several liabilityat all potentially reliable parties (PRPs) arpatale of
paying their share

» Success of legal challenges to certain policy tesuth as th*absolut” pollution exclusion

« Potential future reforms and amendments to CERQlaticularly as the resources of Superfund — the

funding vehicle, established as part of CERCLApttavide financing for cleanup of polluted sites wéhao
PRP can be identifie— become exhauste

The influence of each of these factors is not gagihntifiable and, as with asbestos-related exessour
historical environmental loss development is ofitéd value in determining future environmental ldeselopment
using traditional actuarial reserving techniques.

There have been recent positive developments coingelead paint liability, an area previously viedes an
emerging trend in latent claim activity with thet@atial to adversely affect reserves. After a seofesuccessful
defense efforts by defendant lead pigment manufaitin lead paint litigation, in 2005, a Rhodeul trial court
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ruled in favor of the government in a nuisancenalagainst the defendant manufacturers. Since toed&tsland
decision, other government entities have emploiedsame theory for recovery against these manuéstun
2008, the Rhode Island Supreme Court reversedibdegjal liability loss experienced by lead pigmen
manufacturers in lead paint litigation. The coejected public nuisance as a viable theory of liigtfior use by the
government against the defendants and thus invatidae entire claim against the lead pigment maciufers.
Subsequent to the Rhode Island Supreme Court deasieast one other government entity, an Ohinicipality,
voluntarily dropped its lead paint suit. Thereaftae State of Ohio, voluntarily dismissed its pagdaction against
lead pigment manufacturers. Other state supremiscequally rejected the public nuisance theorlyadiility,
whereas no highest state court has ever adoptthttiry as an acceptable cause of action.

We believe that lead paint claims now pose a lave&rto adverse reserve adjustment than previahslyght,
as the only trial court decision against lead pighmeanufacturers to date was reversed on the teipublic
nuisance is an improper liability theory by whicplaintiff may seek recovery against the lead pigime
manufacturers. Even if adverse rulings under adtitra theories succeed or if other states ultilggiermit recover
under a public nuisance theory, it is questionalfiether insureds have coverage under their poligiegr which
they seek indemnity. Insureds have yet to meetpdirms and conditions to establish coverageefad Ipaint publi
nuisance claims, as opposed to traditional bodilyry and property damage claims. Still, therénhis potential for
significant impact to excess insurers should pignprevail in successive nuisance claims pendingther
jurisdictions and coverage is establist

Our independent, external actuaries use industnghbearking methodologies to estimate appropriat¢éRB
reserves for our A&E exposures. These methodsasedon comparisons of our loss experience on Agiesures
relative to industry loss experience on A&E expesuEstimates of IBNR are derived separately fohed our
relevant subsidiaries and, for some subsidiarigzamtely for distinct portfolios of exposure. Tdiscussion that
follows describes, in greater detail, the primasjuarial methodologies used by our independentaietsi to
estimate IBNR for A&E exposures.

In addition to the specific considerations for eawthod described below, many general factors @msidered
in the application of the methods and the integifen of results for each portfolio of exposurele3e factors
include the mix of product types (e.g., primaryurace versus reinsurance of primary versus reamser of
reinsurance), the average attachment point of egesr (e.g., first-dollar primary versus umbrell@roprimary
versus high-excess), payment and reporting lagsactko our international domicile subsidiariegymant and
reporting pattern acceleration due to large “whalkdssettlements (e.g., policy buy-backs and conatnrns)
pursued by us, lists of individual risks remainargd general trends within the legal and tort emuirents.

1. Paid Survival Ratio Method.In this method, our expected annual average palaraount is multiplied by
an expected future number of payment years torgatdicated reserve. Our historical calendar yegnents are
examined to determine an expected future annuahgegpayment amount. This amount is multiplied tyx@pecte
number of future payment years to estimate a res@mends in calendar year payment activity aresiciemed when
selecting an expected future annual average payaneotint. Accepted industry benchmarks are usedtirihining
an expected number of future payment years. Eaah ganual payments data is updated, trends in @atgnare re-
evaluated and changes to benchmark future payneans yare reviewed. This method has advantagesefoéa
application and simplicity of assumptions. A poiaiisadvantage of the method is that resultsacbel misleading
for portfolios of high excess exposures where §iicgnit payment activity has not yet begun.

2. Paid Market Share MethodIn this method, our estimated market share isiegpo the industry estimated
unpaid losses. The ratio of our historical calendsr payments to industry historical calendar yegments is
examined to estimate our market share. This ratibeén applied to the estimate of industry unpassés. Each ye:
calendar year payment data is updated (for boindsndustry), estimates of industry unpaid losseseviewed
and the selection of our estimated market shamevisited. This method has the advantage that srendalendar
year market share can be incorporated into thetsaheof company share of remaining market paymek
potential disadvantage of this method is that jtagicularly sensitive to assumptions regardirggttmelag betweel
industry payments and our payments.
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3. Reserve-to-Paid MethodIn this method, the ratio of estimated induségarves to industry
paid-to-date losses is multiplied by our paid-téedasses to estimate our reserves. Specific ceratidns in the
application of this method include the completeradssur paid-to-datéoss information, the potential acceleratiot
deceleration in our payments (relative to the imgdiglue to our claims handling practices, andithgact of large
individual settlements. Each year, paid-to-date lnformation is updated (for both us and the ingyygind updates
to industry estimated reserves are reviewed. Tleithatd has the advantage of relying purely on ped Hata and ¢
is not influenced by subjectivity of case resensslestimates. A potential disadvantage is thaapipdication to our
portfolios which do not have complete inceptiondtte paid loss history could produce misleadingltesTo
address this potential disadvantage, a variatidheemethod is also considered by multiplying tigorof estimated
industry reserves to industry losses paid duringcant period of time (e.g., 5 years) times oud passes during th
period.

4. IBNR:Case Ratio MethodlIn this method, the ratio of estimated indusBNR reserves to industry case
reserves is multiplied by our case reserves tonaséi our IBNR reserves. Specific consideratiorthénapplication
of this method include the presence of policieemesd at policy limits, changes in overall industase reserve
adequacy and recent loss reporting history foEash year, our case reserves are updated, indestges are
updated and the applicability of the industry IBN&se ratio is reviewed. This method has the adgartteat it
incorporates the most recent estimates of amowsdad to settle open cases included in currentreaseves. A
potential disadvantage is that results could béeming where our case reserve adequacy diffendfis@ntly from
overall industry case reserve adequacy.

5. Ultimate-to-Incurred Method.In this method, the ratio of estimated industtimate losses to industry
incurred-to-date losses is applied to our incutedate losses to estimate our IBNR reserves. Speci
considerations in the application of this methodude the completeness of our incurred-to-dateiltfesmation,
the potential acceleration or deceleration in aguired losses (relative to the industry) due tooteims handling
practices and the impact of large individual setdats. Each year incurred-to-date loss informasarpdated (for
both us and the industry) and updates to industiiynated ultimate losses are reviewed. This mettasdthe
advantage that it incorporates both paid and essrve information in projecting ultimate lossegdiential
disadvantage is that results could be misleadingresbumulative paid loss data is incomplete or wloer case
reserve adequacy differs significantly from ovenadlustry case reserve adequacy.

Under the Paid Survival Ratio Method, the Paid Ma&hare Method and the Reserve-to-Paid Methodirste
determine the estimated total reserve and thenati¢ltlel reported outstanding case reserves to atiga estimated
IBNR reserve. The IBNR:Case Ratio Method first deiees an estimated IBNR reserve which is then @do¢he
advised outstanding case reserves to arrive astanaged total loss reserve. The Ultimate-to-Inedrvethod first
determines an estimate of the ultimate losses faimband then deducts paid-to-date losses toeaatian estimated
total loss reserve and then deducts outstandirggreaerves to arrive at the estimated IBNR reserve.

Within the annual loss reserve studies producedunyexternal actuaries, exposures for each sulogidia
separated into homogeneous reserving categorigésdqrurpose of estimating IBNR. Each reservinggaity
contains either direct insurance or assumed reamsgrreserves and groups relatively similar typesks and
exposures (e.g., asbestos, environmental, casaradtyroperty) and lines of business written (emgrine, aviation
and non-marine). Based on the exposure charaatsréstd the nature of available data for each idda reserving
category, a number of methodologies are appliedoRed reserves for each category are selectedtfrem
indications produced by the various methodologfees @onsideration of exposure characteristicsa dlatitations,
and strengths and weaknesses of each method apfisdapproach to estimating IBNR has been cosrsilst
adopted in the annual loss reserve studies for pagbd presented.

As of December 31, 2009, we had 26 separate inseramd/or reinsurance subsidiaries whose reserges a
categorized into approximately 202 reserve categan total, including 28 distinct asbestos resgywategories ar
21 distinct environmental reserving categories.

The five methodologies described above are apfitiedach of the 28 asbestos reserving categorigeach of
the 21 environmental reserving categories. As isroon in actuarial practice, no one methodology@usively or
consistently relied upon when selecting a recorésdrve. Consistent reliance on a single
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methodology to select a recorded reserve wouldhdygpropriate in light of the dynamic nature of bttt A&E
liabilities in general, and our actual exposuretfotios in particular.

In selecting a recorded reserve, management cangtierange of results produced by the methodbthen
strengths and weaknesses of the methods in relatitre data available and the specific charadiesisf the
portfolio under consideration. Trends in both oatadand industry data are also considered in gerve selection
process. Recent trends or changes in the relevdratrtd legal environments are also considered vassassing
methodology results and selecting an appropriaerded reserve amount for each portfolio.

The following key assumptions were used to estim&E reserves at December 31, 2009:

1. $65 Billion Ultimate Industry Asbestos LossesThis level of industry-wide losses and its conmgaan
to industry-wide paid, incurred and outstandingea@serves is the base benchmarking assumptioiedpl
Paid Market Share, Reserve-to-Paid, IBNR:Case Raibthe Ultimate-to-Incurred asbestos reserving
methodologies.

2. $35 Billion Ultimate Industry Environmental Losses This level of industry-wide losses and its
comparison to industry-wide paid, incurred and @unding case reserves is the base benchmarkinmpsen
applied to Paid Market Share, Reserve-to-Paid, IENRe Ratio and the Ultimate-to-Incurred environtalen
reserving methodologies.

3. Loss Reporting Lag— Our subsidiaries assumed a mix of insurancere@indurance exposures
generally through the London market. As the avalaidustry benchmark loss information, as supptigaur
independent consulting actuaries, is compiled lgrfyem U.S. direct insurance company experience,loss
reporting is expected to lag relative to availabtiustry benchmark information. This time-lag usgdeach of
our insurance subsidiaries varies from 2 to 5 ydapending on the relative mix of domicile, peregess of
product mix of insurance, reinsurance and retragrabkreinsurance, primary insurance, excess imsg,a
reinsurance of direct, and reinsurance of reinstgavithin any given exposure category. Exposuréfqars
written from a non-U.S. domicile are assumed tcehagreater time-lag than portfolios written from a
U.S. domicile. Portfolios with a larger proportiofreinsurance exposures are assumed to have temgtiese-
lag than portfolios with a larger proportion of imance exposures.

The assumptions above as to Ultimate Industry Askeend Environmental losses have not changed thhem
immediately preceding period. For our company afale, the average selected lag for asbestos ltasated
slightly from 2.9 years to 2.8 years and the avesaected lag for environmental has decreaseltlglifjom
2.6 years to 2.5 years. The changes to the sellgedrose largely as a result of the acquisitfomew portfolios o
A&E exposures.

The following tables provide a summary of the intpafcchanges in industry ultimate losses, fromdéakected
$65 billion for asbestos and $35 billion for envingental, and changes in the time-lag, from thecsadeaverages of
2.8 years for asbestos and 2.5 years for envirotahdar us behind industry development that issumed relates
to our insurance and reinsurance companies. Phededhat the table below demonstrates sensitiithanges to
key assumptions using methodologies selected term@ing loss and allocated loss adjustment exgere
ALAE, at December 31, 2009 and differs from thdd¢ain page 71, which demonstrates the range obmds
produced by the various methodologies.

Asbestos
Sensitivity to Industry Asbestos Ultimate Loss Assuption Loss Reserves
Asbestos<— $70 billion $759,94.
Asbestos— $65 billion (selected 661,35:
Asbestos<— $60 billion 562,75¢

Environmental
Sensitivity to Industry Environmental Ultimate Loss Assumption Loss Reserve:
Environmenta— $40 billion $ 130,73:
Environmenta— $35 billion (selected 89,62:
Environmenta— $30 billion 48,51(
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Asbestos Environmental
Sensitivity to Time-Lag Assumption* Loss Reserve Loss Reserve:
Selected average of 2.8 years asbestos, 2.5 ymarsrenental $ 661,35. $ 89,62
Increase all portfolio lags by six mont 737,35¢ 92,84¢
Decrease all portfolio lags by six mon 583,00t 86,39¢

* using $65 billion/$35 billion Asbestos/Environmdritedustry Ultimate Loss assumptio

Industry publications have, since 2001, indicateat the range of ultimate industry losses is esgmh#o be
between approximately $55 billion and $65 billiam &sbestos losses. One commonly-referenced benchma
estimate has recently increased its estimate iohaté industry asbestos losses from $65 billio#7b billion. One
of the reasons cited for the increase in estimagastry ultimate asbestos losses is a shift afdesaway from
products liability claims to non-products claims.donsidering the impact of this issue, it is intpot to understand
how asbestos claims attach to policies issued dynurance industry in general and the policissad by the
companies owned by us in particular.

Historically, asbestos claims have been preserstédraducts liability” claims brought against maactfurers
and distributors of asbestos-containing produais.aFgiven manufacturer, distributor, or othergrtivolved in
asbestos litigation, multiple claims are filed hymerous individuals. There is typically an allooatbf the
settlement costs for asbestos claims over timedoaisexposure to asbestos by the injured claimbfdaay asbestos
claims will aggregate within each individual polipgriod to exhaust the annual aggregate policytdimhich exist
within policies sold to cover products liabilityagins.

Beginning in the mid-1990'’s, a trend began to emeavbereby certain policyholders began to assert e
asbestos claims should not fall within the “produd@bility” section of their policies and, thereép should not be
subject to the aggregate limits of products lis#ipitilaims. Instead, the policyholder would asdeat £ach individual
bodily injury claim should be treated as a sepavatairrence under the “premises/operations” sectidheir
policies. Under such presentation, individual claimoccurrence limits apply separately to eachtland there is r
aggregate limit for the amount of “premises” or fiRproducts” claims within a particular policy.

Our exposure to asbestos losses arises largelydi@tt excess policies and assumed reinsuranasqol
written through the London market.

With respect to direct excess policies, our comgmtypically participated on policies whereby lidpiwould
only attach in excess of primary and umbrella poliimits. As non-products asbestos losses are gagregiated and
are generally confined to the limits of the primand other lower layer insurance policies, we leliwe have very
little exposure to non-products asbestos lossesigiir direct insurance policies issued by our owswdbidiary
companies. To date, we have seen no material regart non-products asbestos claims on direct arste policies.
The trend of asbestos losses shifting from prodecten-products is not a new phenomenon. As @urance
entities have not received any material reportifigom-products claims to date and their direct ineae exposures
are generally in excess of the layers of insuramgacted by non-products asbestos losses, we dexpett any
material future liability in respect of non-prodsietsbestos claims.

Losses with respect to assumed reinsurance exposun®n-products asbestos claims are unlikelyeto b
aggregated and are generally confined to the liafitee primary and other lower layer insuranceqgies. There is
limited ability for such claims to exceed retairledels. Our assumed reinsurance portfolio with eespo asbestos
exposures is largely excess of loss in nature thedefore, not especially subject to non-produstseatos liabilities.
To date, we have seen no material reporting ofproglucts asbestos claims on assumed reinsurancepol

As stated above, the trend of asbestos lossefghifom products to non-products is not a new pineenon.
As our assumed reinsurance entities have not red@imy material reporting of ngeducts claims to date and tr
assumed reinsurance exposures generally coveslaf@rsurance not impacted by non-products asbéssses,
management does not expect any material futurdityaim respect of non-products asbestos claims.
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Other reasons cited for the increase in estimateédsitry ultimate asbestos losses include the oggoin
uncertainty surrounding insurance coverage of asb&taims and the ongoing reporting of significanmbers and
values of malignant mesothelioma claims. As we oloview these issues as new information any impastalread
been factored into our actuarial reserving methagiel with no need for any change in assumptions.

Furthermore, in recent years, the overall asbdsssdevelopment trend within our portfolio hasrbee
favorable. Our asbestos exposures are reviewegdapendent actuaries on an annual basis as the oferall
annual loss reserve review. Actual loss reportorgagbestos claims in recent years has been bekoaral
estimated expectations.

Having considered the recent increase in one cortymreferenced benchmark estimate of ultimate nbest®s
losses in the context of our portfolio of loss ex@s and actual asbestos loss reporting in rgeans for us in
particular, as well as for the insurance industrgeayally, we believe there is no need to increlas&65 billion
asbestos ultimate industry loss assumption.

Guidance from industry publications is more vaiiiedespect of estimates of ultimate industry enwinental
losses. Consistent with an industry published egtimwve believe the reasonable range for ultimmatestry
environmental losses is between $30 billion andl§iion. We have selected the midpoint of thisgaras the basis
for our environmental loss reserving based on adsipplied by our independent consulting actuafiasther
industry publication has recently reduced its eatéof ultimate industry environmental losses figB6 billion to
$42 billion. Based on our own loss experience udirlg successful settlement activity by us, thdidedn new
claims notified in recent years, improvements imiemmental clean-up technology and the reducedstrgt
estimate, we believe that $35 billion remains aoeable basis for inclusion in our methodologieséserving for
environmental losses.

Our current estimate of the time lag that relatesur insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries cadgarthe
industry is considered reasonable given the arspesiformed by our internal and external actudaatate.

Over time, additional information regarding suclp@sure characteristics may be developed for angngiv
portfolio. This additional information could causeshift in the lag assumed.

Non-Latent Claims

For non-latent loss exposure, a range of tradititmss development extrapolation techniques isiagpl
Incremental paid and incurred loss development atietlogies are the most commonly used methods. fioadl
cumulative paid and incurred loss development nusttave used where inception-to-date, cumulative pad
reported incurred loss development history is atdd.

These methods assume that cohorts, or groupsssdddrom similar exposures will increase over fima
predictable manner. Historical paid and incurress ldevelopment experience is examined for eadigidant years
to make inferences about how later accident ydasses will develop. Where company-specific logsrimation is
not available or not reliable, industry loss depehent information published by industry sourceshsag the
Reinsurance Association of America is considerdus€ methods calculate an estimate of ultimatesossd then
deduct paid-to-date losses to arrive at an estihtatal loss reserve. Outstanding losses are teduated from
estimated total loss reserves to calculate thenastid IBNR reserve. Management does not expecgelsan
underlying reserving assumptions to have a matenjphct on net loss and loss adjustment expenseviessas they
are primarily sensitive to changes due to loss ldgweent.

Quarterly Reserve Reviews

In addition to an in-depth annual review, we aledfigrm quarterly reserve reviews. This is done xsngining
quarterly paid and incurred loss development temteine whether it is consistent with reserves distadd during
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the preceding annual reserve review and with ergedévelopment. Loss development is reviewed segharfar
each major exposure type (e.g., ashestos, envimametc.), for each of our relevant subsidiaréeg] for large
“wholesale” commutation settlements versus “rodtjpeid and advised losses. This process is undemték
determine whether loss development experience glariquarter warrants any change to held reserves.

Loss development is examined separately by expdgpecbecause different exposures develop diffgrenver
time. For example, the expected reporting and pagblosses for a given amount of asbestos researbe
expected to take place over a different time frame in a different quarterly pattern from the sameunt of
environmental reserves.

In addition, loss development is examined separéideleach of our relevant subsidiaries. Compaogsdiffer
in their exposure profile due to the mix of inswrarversus reinsurance, the mix of primary versegsxinsurance,
the underwriting years of participation and othétecia. These differing profiles lead to differeapectations for
quarterly and annual loss development by company.

Our quarterly paid and incurred loss developmenftisn driven by large, “wholesale” settlements uetsas
commutations and policy buy-backs — which settleynadividual claims in a single transaction. Thikws for
monitoring of the potential profitability of largeettlements which, in turn, can provide informatatout the
adequacy of reserves on remaining exposures wiaicé hot yet been settled. For example, if it werentl that
large settlements were consistently leading toelavegative, or favorable, incurred losses upotesedit, it might
be an indication that reserves on remaining ex@ssare redundant. Conversely, if it were found lguate
settlements were consistently leading to largetpesior adverse, incurred losses upon settlenitemight be an
indication — particularly if the size of the lossgere increasing —that certain loss reserves on remaining expo
are deficient. Moreover, removing the loss develeptmesulting from large settlements allows foe@aew of loss
development related only to those contracts whichain exposed to losses. Were this not donepitissible that
savings on large wholesale settlements could mgskiisant underlying development on remaining esjes.

Once the data has been analyzed as described awmwedepth review is performed on classes of sy
with significant loss development. Discussionsleelel with appropriate personnel, including indivadlaompany
managers, claims handlers and attorneys, to hettlrstand the causes. If it were determined #natldpment
differs significantly from expectations, reservesuld be adjusted.

Quarterly loss development is expected to be faintatic for the types of exposure insured andstgied by us.
Several quarters of low incurred loss developmeanthee followed by spikes of relatively large in@gtiosses. This
is characteristic of latent claims and other ineaealosses which are reported and settled manyg wd@r the
inception of the policy. Given the high degree tatistical uncertainty, and potential volatility would be unusual
to adjust reserves on the basis of one, or evesrakquarters of loss development activity. Assutt, unless the
incurred loss activity in any one quarter is offssignificance that management is able to quattidyimpact on the
ultimate liability for loss and loss adjustment erpes, reductions or increases in loss and loastatnt expense
liabilities are carried out in the fourth quartaskd on the annual reserve review described above.

As described above, our management regularly revaawl updates reserve estimates using the mosnturr
information available and employing various actalamethods. Adjustments resulting from changeainestimate:
are recorded in the period when such adjustmeatdetermined. The ultimate liability for loss andd adjustment
expenses is likely to differ from the original eséite due to a number of factors, primarily consgstf the overall
claims activity occurring during any period, incing the completion of commutations of assumed liéds and
ceded reinsurance receivables, policy buy-backsgyandral incurred claims activity.

Reinsurance Balances Receivable

Our acquired reinsurance subsidiaries, prior tasitipn by us, used retrocessional agreementsdoae their
exposure to the risk of insurance and reinsurameg assumed. Loss reserves represent total gresesioand
reinsurance receivables represent anticipated eg@svof a portion of those unpaid losses as veedimounts
receivable from reinsurers with respect to claiha have already been paid. While reinsurance geragnts are
designed to limit losses and to permit recoverg pbrtion of direct unpaid losses, reinsurance dogselieve us of
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our liabilities to our insureds or reinsureds. Eiere, we evaluate and monitor concentration aditrésk among
our reinsurers, including companies that are irealyvin run-off or facing financial difficulties.révisions are made
for amounts considered potentially uncollectible.

Provisions for Unallocated Loss Adjustment Expdnabilities

Provisions for unallocated loss adjustment expéiabdities are estimated by management by detengithe
future annual costs to be incurred by us, commgistaff costs, consultancy and professional fedsoaprheads, in
managing the run-off of claims liabilities for eaghour insurance and reinsurance entities. Theigian is
reviewed quarterly and reduced in accordance wighrélated costs incurred each period.

Fair Value Measurements

On January 1, 2008, we adopted the provisionseoftir Value Measurement and Disclosure topic c6BA
ASC, or ASC 820, which defines fair value as thiegthat would be received to sell an asset or feaithnsfer a
liability (i.e. the “exit price”) in an orderly tresaction between market participants at the meammedate.

The following is a summary of valuation techniqoesnodels we use to measure fair value by asset and
liability classes, which have not changed signifibasince December 31, 2008.

Fixed Maturity Investments

Our fixed maturity portfolio is managed by our adésinvestment advisors. Through these third parike use
nationally recognized pricing services, includingcing vendors, index providers and broker-deatermsstimate fair
value measurements for all of our fixed maturityestments. These pricing services include Bardgysital
Aggregate Index (formerly Lehman Index), ReuteiisiRy Service, FT Interactive Data and others.

The pricing service uses market quotations for is&esl (e.g., public common and preferred secigjttaat hav
guoted prices in active markets. When quoted mamkeg¢s are unavailable, the pricing service prepastimates (
fair value measurements for these securities utsrgroprietary pricing applications which includeailable
relevant market information, benchmark curves, herarking of like securities, sector groupings, aratrix
pricing.

With the exception of one security held within ttading portfolio, the fair value estimates of dixed
maturity investments are based on observable mddtat We have therefore included these as Lewelestments
within the fair value hierarchy. The one secunityour trading portfolio that does not have obsee/aiputs has
been included as a Level 3 investment within tlevialue hierarchy.

To validate the techniques or models used by tloingrservices, we compare the fair value estimatesir
knowledge of the current market and will challeagg prices deemed not to be representative of/édire.

As of December 31, 2009 there were no materiatdifices between the prices obtained from the gricin
services and the fair value estimates developagsby

In evaluating credit losses, we consider a vaétiactors in the assessment of a fixed maturipegiment
including: (1) the time period during which therstbeen a significant decline below cost; (2) therd of the
decline below cost and par; (3) the potential far fixed maturity investment to recover in valu®; 4n analysis of
the financial condition of the issuer; (5) the mgtbf the issuer; and (6) failure of the issuethef fixed maturity
investment to make scheduled interest or pringipgiments.

Based on the factors described above, we deterntfiaédas at December 31, 2009, a credit lossezkistr two
of our fixed maturity investments. We did not calesian evaluation of future cash-flows necessaryhiese fixed
maturity investments. The impairment of $0.9 milliwas recognized in earnings.
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Equity Securities

Our equity securities are managed by two exteraikars. Through these third parties, we use natign
recognized pricing services, including pricing vers] index providers and broker-dealers to estifateralue
measurements for all of our equity securities. €h@#cing services include FT Interactive Data atiters.

We have categorized all but one of our equity sgéearas Level 1 investments as they are basedioted
prices in active markets for identical assetsatvilities. The one equity not categorized as Ldveds instead
categorized as Level 3 as, due to the nature dhtlestment, management had to make assumptioasdiag its
valuation.

Other Investments

For our investments in limited partnerships, lirditebility companies and equity funds, we meadaievalue
by obtaining the most recently published net agalete as advised by the external fund managerimi-garty
administrator. The financial statements of eaclu fganerally are audited annually, using fair vaheasurement fc
the underlying investments. For all public companidthin the funds we have valued the investmeased on the
latest share price. The value of Affirmative Invesht LLC (in which we own a non-voting 7% membegshi
interest) is based on the market value of the shafraffirmative Insurance Holdings, Inc.

All of our investments in limited partnerships dimited liability companies are subject to resioass on
redemptions and sales which are determined bydterging documents and limit our ability to liquidahose
investments in the short term. We have classifigdother investments as Level 3 investments asifisct our
own judgment about assumptions that market paaitgpmight use.

For the year ended December 31, 2009, we reali&d2amillion gain in fair value on our other inteents as
compared to a realized loss of $84.1 million infiie value on our other investments for the yeatesl
December 31, 2008. Any unrealized losses or gairmsuo other investments are included as part ohetir
investment income.

The following table summarizes all of our financalsets and liabilities recorded at fair value eténber 31,
2009, by ASC 820 hierarchy:

Quoted Prices in Significant Significant
Active Markets for Other Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs Total Fair
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Value
(in thousands of U.S. dollars

Assets
Fixed maturity investmen $ — $202,50° $ 641 $203,14¢
Equity securitie: 21,20: — 3,30( 24,50:
Other investment — — 81,80! 81,80!
Total $21,20: $202,50° $85,74: $309,45:
As a percentage of total ass 0.5% 4.% 2.1% 7.5%

Goodwill

We follow the provisions of the Intangibles — Goaliland Other topic of FASB ASC, which requiresttha
recorded goodwill be assessed for impairment desat an annual basis. In determining goodwill rmest
determine the fair value of the assets of an aeduipmpany. The determination of fair value neaégsavolves
many assumptions. Fair values of reinsurance aandtBabilities acquired are derived from probiypilveighted
ranges of the associated projected cash flowsdb@sactuarially prepared information and our managnt runeff
strategy. Fair value adjustments are based onstiraated timing of loss and loss adjustment exppagenents and
an assumed interest rate, and are amortized oe@stimated payout period, as adjusted for ac¢elasaon
commutation settlements, using the constant yiedthod option. Interest rates used to determinéaihealue of
gross loss reserves are based upon risk freeappdisable to the average duration of the lossrvese Interest rates
used to determine the fair value of reinsuranceivables are increased to reflect the credit ridoeiated with the
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reinsurers from which the receivables are, or bélkome, due. If the assumptions made in initiadljuing the asse
change significantly in the future, we may be reegito record impairment charges which could haneterial
impact on our financial condition and results oérgiions.

ASC 805 also requires that negative goodwill beréed in earnings. During 2006, 2007 and 2008,08& t
negative goodwill into earnings upon the completibtthe acquisition of certain companies and preskit as an
extraordinary gain.

ASC 805 requires an acquirer to recognize the sis®efuired, the liabilities assumed, and any namelting
interest in the acquiree at the acquisition datgsured at their fair values as of that date. AG&a8so requires the
acquirer to recognize acquisition-related costasaply from the acquisition, recognize assetsiasedand
liabilities assumed arising from contractual cogéincies at their acquisition-date fair values awbgnize goodwill
as the excess of the consideration transferredtpéufair value of any noncontrolling interestliretacquiree at the
acquisition date over the fair values of the id@attie net assets acquired. ASC 805 applies proispécto busines
combinations for which the acquisition date is omfber the beginning of the first annual reportpegiod beginning
on or after December 15, 2008 (January 1, 20084dtEndar year-end companies).

Adoption of New Accounting Standards

In June 2009, the Financial Accounting Standardsr&oor FASB, established the Accounting Standards
Codification, or the Codification, as the sourceaathoritative U.S. GAAP for nogevernmental entities, in additi
to guidance issued by the Securities and Exchaogen@ssion, or the SEC. The Codification supersatidhen-
existing, non-SEC accounting and reporting starslardi reorganizes existing U.S. GAAP into authtiviéga
accounting topics and sub-topics. We adopted thifiCation as of September 30, 2009, and it impdcter
disclosures by eliminating all references to prelification standards.

We adopted the revised guidance issued by FASB@adcounting for business combinations, effective
January 1, 2009. The revised guidance retainsuthdainental requirements from previous guidancetigat
acquisition method of accounting be used for adlibess combinations and for an acquirer to be ifikxhfor each
business combination. The revised guidance reqamexcquirer to recognize the assets acquirediathities
assumed, and any noncontrolling interest in theliaeg at the acquisition date, measured at theivédues as of
that date. The revised guidance also requires tectignize acquisitiorelated costs separately from the acquisit
recognize assets acquired and liabilities assumisitig from contractual contingencies at their asitjon-date fair
values and recognize goodwill as the excess ofdhsideration transferred plus the fair value of moncontrolling
interest in the acquiree at the acquisition datr dive fair values of the identifiable net assetu@ed. The adoptic
of the revised guidance did not have a materiabichpn the consolidated financial statements.

We adopted the new guidance issued by FASB ondt@uating for noncontrolling interests, effective
January 1, 2009. The new guidance clarifies thatrecontrolling interest in a subsidiary is an ovahgp interest the
should be reported as equity in the consolidateahitial statements. The new guidance requires tdated net
income to be reported at the amounts that inclhdemounts attributable to both the parent andidmeontrolling
interest. The new guidance also establishes a methaccounting for changes in a parent’s ownerstigrest in a
subsidiary that results in deconsolidation. Thesenéation and disclosure of the new guidance haee hpplied
retrospectively for all periods presented. The gidopof the new guidance resulted in reclassifaabf
noncontrolling interest in the amount of $256.0limnl to shareholders’ equity as at December 318200

We adopted new guidance issued by FASB on theadigots about derivative instruments and hedging
activities, effective January 1, 2009. The new goik expands the disclosure requirements and eschie
reporting entity to provide enhanced disclosuresuithe objectives and strategies for using dedkigahstruments,
guantitative disclosures about fair values and art®af gains and losses on derivative contracts caedit-risk
related contingent features in derivative agreemertie adoption of the new guidance did not havegerial
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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We adopted the new guidance issued by FASB onrdatig fair value when the volume and level of aityi
for an asset or liability have significantly decsed and identifying transactions that are not dydeffective
April 1, 2009. The new guidance provides additiam#iance on: (1) estimating fair value when thiire and
level of activity for an asset or liability havegsificantly decreased in relation to the normal keagactivity for the
asset or liability, and (2) identifying transactsthat are not orderly. The new guidance has bpglied
prospectively; retrospective application was notptted. The adoption of the new guidance did rentéha material
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

We adopted the new guidance issued by FASB foatieeunting for other-than-temporary impairments, or
OTTI, effective April 1, 2009. The new guidance yides guidance on the recognition and presentatiér Tl for
available-for-sale and held-to-maturity fixed métas (equities are excluded). An impaired secustgot
recognized as an impairment if management doemtautd to sell the impaired security and it is midtely than
not it will not be required to sell the securityfére the recovery of its amortized cost basis. déhsgement
concludes a security is other-than-temporarily imgzh the new guidance requires that the differdreteseen the
fair value and the amortized cost of the secur@yptesented as an OTTI charge in the consolidaagehnsents of
earnings, with an offset for any noncredit-reldtests component of the OTTI charge to be recognizedher
comprehensive income. Accordingly, only the créals component of the OTTI amount will have an intm our
earnings. The new guidance also requires extemgweinterim and annual disclosure for both fixedumities and
equities to provide further disaggregated inforomgtias well as information about how the credislosmponent of
the OTTI charge was determined, and requires danllard of such amount for each reporting peritite adoption
of the new guidance did not have a material impadhe consolidated financial statements.

We adopted the new guidance issued by FASB fointieeim disclosures about fair value of financial
instruments, effective April 1, 2009. The new guida extends the disclosure requirements abougdhie of
financial instruments to interim financial statertseand requires those disclosures in summarizedhdial
information at interim reporting periods. The adoptof the new guidance did not have a materialdabjpn the
consolidated financial statements. To facilitatequeto-period comparisons, certain amounts in20@8
consolidation financial statements have been rsified to conform to the 2009 presentation. Sudhassifications
had no effect on our consolidated net income.

We adopted the revised guidance issued by FASBefargnizing and measuring pre-acquisition contiggen
in a business combination, effective April 1, 200Be revised guidance amends the prior guidangedpyiring that
assets acquired or liabilities assumed in a busioesibination that arise from contingencies begeized at fair
value only if fair value can be reasonably estirdat¢herwise the asset or liability should gengrba# recognized at
reasonable estimate of the amount of loss. Theedwjuidance removes the requirement to disclogstimate of
the range of outcomes of recognized contingencidseaacquisition date. The adoption of the revigeidiance did
not have a material impact on the consolidatechfira statements.

We adopted the new guidance issued by FASB foatlceunting for subsequent events, effective June 30
2009. The new guidance, establishes general s@mdaaccounting for and disclosure of events tlcatr after the
balance sheet date but before the financial stattnaee issued or are available to be issued. &heguidance
provides guidance on the period after the balaheetsdate during which management of a reportitigyeshould
evaluate events or transactions that may occysdtential recognition or disclosure in the finahsi@tements, the
circumstances under which an entity should recageiznts or transactions occurring after the balaheet date in
its financial statements and the disclosures thatrdity should make about events or transactioatsdccurred after
the balance sheet date. The adoption of the neslagoé did not have a material impact on the codat@d financie
statements.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our selected cortaiftd statements of earnings data for each ofdhieds

indicated.
Years Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
INCOME
Consulting fee! $ 16,10« $ 25,151 $ 31,91¢
Net investment incom 81,37: 26,601 64,08
Net realized gains (losse 4,23 (1,655 24¢
101,71: 50,091 96,25¢
EXPENSES
Net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjustnesapiense liabilitie:
Reduction in estimates of net ultimate los (274,82H (161,437 (30,74%
(Reduction) increase in provisions for bad c (12,719 (36,13¢) 1,74¢
Reduction in provisions for unallocated loss argsladjustment expense
liabilities (50,417 (69,056 (22,019
Amortization of fair value adjustmer 77,32¢ 24,52t 26,53!
(259,627) (242,109 (24,48
Salaries and benefi 68,45« 56,27( 46,977
General and administrative expen 46,90: 53,35 31,41:
Interest expens 17,58 23,37( 4,87¢
Net foreign exchange loss (ga 23,781 14,98¢ (7,927

(102,90, (94,12)  50,86:
Earnings before income taxes and share of neblogartly owned compan 204,61: 144,21¢ 45,39!

Income taxe: (27,605) (46,859 7,441
Share of net loss of partly owned compi (207)
Earnings before extraordinary g 177,00¢ 97,16: 52,83:
Extraordinary gail— negative goodwil — 50,28( 15,68
NET EARNINGS 177,00¢ 147,44; 68,51¢
Less: Net earnings attributable to noncontrollimiggiest (including share of

extraordinary gain of $nil, $15,084 and $i (41,799 (65,8979 (6,730
NET EARNINGS ATTRIBUTABLE TO ENSTAR GROUP LIMITEL $13521( $ 81,551 $61,78¢

Comparison of Year Ended December 31, 2009 and 2008

We reported consolidated net earnings, before extiiaary item and net earnings attributable to eomwlling
interest, of approximately $177.0 million and $9mion for the years ended December 31, 20092048,
respectively. The increase in earnings of approtéige79.8 million was primarily attributable toetfiollowing:

() an increase in investment income (net of realigains/(losses)) of $60.7 million primarily aseault of
an increase, in 2009, in the fair value of our gtévequity portfolio classified as other investrseoft
$5.2 million as compared to a writedown in 200&84.1 million, partially offset by lower investmentome
reflecting the impact of lower global short-terndantermediate interest rates;

(i) a larger net reduction in ultimate loss angd@djustment expense liabilities of $17.5 million;
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(iii) reduced interest expense of $5.8 million gwignarily to an overall reduction in loan facilibalances
outstanding as at December 31, 2009 along withiamterest rates on outstanding term loan facility
agreements;

(iv) a reduction in general and administrative exges of $6.5 million due primarily to eliminatiohloan
structure fees that were paid in 2008, partialfgetfby increased professional fees; and

(v) a reduction in income taxes of $19.2 millioredo lower tax liabilities recorded on the resolt®ur
taxable subsidiaries; partially offset by

(vi) an increase in net foreign exchange losseg8d@ million primarily due to our holding of surglW.S.
dollars in one of our subsidiaries whose functianatency is Australian dollars at a time whenth8. dollar
has weakened against the Australian dollar; and

(vii) an increase in salary and benefits costs1#.$ million due primarily to increased salary sostlated
to our discretionary bonus plan as a result ofdased net earnings in the year.

We recorded noncontrolling interest in earning$4i£.8 million and $65.9 million for the years ended
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Inclwdéun the December 31, 2008 noncontrolling intékedance
of $65.9 million was $15.1 million of noncontrolginnterest relating to the extraordinary gain o® 8million. Net
earnings attributable to Enstar Group Limited iased from $81.6 million for the year ended Decen3ie2008 to
$135.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2009

Consulting Fees:

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2008 Variance

(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
Consulting $49,617 $54,15¢ $(4,54)
Reinsuranct (33,519 (29,007 (4,50¢6)
Total $16,10¢ $2515. $(9,047)

We earned consulting fees of approximately $16lianiand $25.2 million for the years ended Decenfg
2009 and 2008, respectively. The decrease in ciimgiiees relates primarily to decreased managearaht
incentive fees earned from third-party agreements.

Internal management fees of $33.5 million and $28ilon were paid for the years ended Decembei2809
and 2008, respectively, by our reinsurance comganieur consulting companies. The increase inmnate
management fees was due to increased managemenééedved from reinsurance companies we acquinadgl
2008.

Net Investment Income and Net Realized Gains/(kpsse

Year Ended December 31

Net Realized
Net Investment Income Gains/(Losses’
2009 2008 Variance 2009 2008 Variance
(in thousands of U.S. dollars
Consulting $ 1,89« $20,24) $22,14: $ — $ — $ —
Reinsuranci 79,47 46,84¢ 32,62¢ 4,23 (1,655 5,89z
Total $81,37. $26,60. $54,77( $4,237 $(1,655) $5,89:

Net investment income for the year ended DecembgP@09 increased by $54.8 million to $81.4 millias
compared to $26.6 million for the year ended Decam®i, 2008. The increase was primarily attribigabe
combination of the following items:

(i) an increase of $5.2 million, for the year endetember 31 2009, in the fair value of our privedeity
investments classified as other investments as amdgo a writedown of $84.1 million for the yeaded
December 31 2008; partially offset by
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(i) lower investment income from fixed maturitiaad cash and cash equivalents, reflecting the ingfac
lower global short-term and intermediate interagts — the average U.S. Federal Funds Rate dedrizase
2.09% for the year ended December 31, 2008 to 0f25%e year ended December 31, 2009.

The average return on the cash, equities and fixadrities investments (excluding any writedowns or
appreciation related to our other investmentsjtieryear ended December 31, 2009 was 2.13%, asarethfp the
average return of 4.62% for the year ended DeceBhe2008. The average Standard & Poor’s creditgaif
Enstar’s fixed income investments at December 8092vas AA.

Net realized gains (losses) for the year ended mbee 31, 2009 and 2008 were $4.2 million and $(tifjon,
respectively. The increase was due primarily tokatarmarket gains earned during 2009 on our ecuaotyfolios.

Fair Value Measurements

In accordance with the provisions of the Fair Vallimasurement and Disclosure topic of the Codiftrative
have categorized our investments recorded at #irevas of December 31, 2009 among levels as fellow

December 31, 200!

Quoted Prices in Significant Significant
Active Markets for Other Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs Total Fair
} (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Value
(in thousands of U.S. dollars’
U.S. government and agen $ — $ 76,22¢ $ —  $76,22¢
Non-U.S.governmen — 37,18¢ — 37,18¢
Corporate — 87,08: — 87,08:
Residential mortgar-backec — 2,01z — 2,01z
Commercial mortga¢-backec — — 641 641
Equities 21,20 — 3,30( 24,50:
Other investment — — 81,80: 81,80:
Total investment $21,20:8 $202,50° $85,74. $309,45.
December 31, 200:
Quoted Prices in Significant Significant
Active Markets for Other Unobservable
Identical Assets Observable Inputs Inputs Total Fair
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Value
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)

U.S. government and agen $ — $326,40: $ — $326,40:
Non-U.S.governmen — 25,47¢ — 25,47¢
Corporate — 259,29¢ — 259,29¢
Residential mortga-backed — 2,34¢ — 2,34¢
Commercial mortga¢-backec — 352 352
Asset backe: — 13,47 — 13,47:
Equities 3,741 — — 3,741
Other investment — — 60,23 60,23’
Total investment $3,74 $627,00: $60,58¢ $691,33¢
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Net Reduction in Ultimate Loss and Loss Adjustraepense Liabilities:

The following table shows the components of the emoent in the net reduction in ultimate loss and los
adjustment expense liabilities for the years eridedember 31, 2009 and 2008:

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008
(in thousands of U.S.
dollars)

Net losses pai $(257,419 $(174,01)
Net change in case and LAE reser 214,07¢ 147,57t
Net change in IBNF 318,16( 187,87
Reduction in estimates of net ultimate los 274,82! 161,43
Reduction in provisions for bad de 11,71¢ 36,13¢
Reduction in provisions for unallocated loss ars$ladjustment expense liabiliti 50,41: 69,05¢
Amortization of fair value adjustmen (77,328 (24,52%)
Net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjustnesapiense liabilitie: $259,62° $ 242,10«

Net reduction in case and LAE reserves comprisesithvement during the year in specific case reserve
liabilities as a result of claims settlements carffes advised to us by our policyholders and ati@ness changes
in case reserves recoverable advised by us toeemsurers as a result of the settlement or moveofeagsumed
claims. Net reduction in IBNR represents the changmur actuarial estimates of losses incurrednotitreported.

The net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjestnexpense liabilities for the year ended DecerBthe2009
of $259.6 million was attributable to a reductioreistimates of net ultimate losses of $274.8 mmi|lepreduction in
aggregate provisions for bad debts of $11.7 mildod a reduction in provisions for unallocated lasd loss
adjustment expense liabilities of $50.4 millionateg to 2009 run-off activity, partially offseytthe amortization,
over the estimated payout period, of fair valuaistipents relating to companies acquired amounting t
$77.3 million.

The reduction in estimates of net ultimate los$ek2@4.8 million comprised net incurred loss depehent of
$43.3 million and reductions in IBNR reserves 0182 million. The decrease in the estimate of IBNSS reserves
of $318.2 million was comprised of $158.4 millicglating to asbestos liabilities, $17.0 million teig to
environmental liabilities and $142.8 million relagito all other remaining liabilities. The reductim IBNR is a
result of the application, on a basis consistettt thie assumptions applied in the prior periodywfactuarial
methodologies to loss data to estimate loss reseeduiired to cover liabilities for unpaid losses ¢oss adjustment
expenses. The loss data pertained to the redustibal loss development of our exposures not cotachin 2009
The prior period estimate of net IBNR liabilitiessvreduced as a result of the combined impactssfdevelopment
activity during 2009, including commutations and favorable trend of loss development related to-cammmuted
policies compared to prior forecasts. The net iremifoss development of $43.3 million, wherebyamhtised case
and LAE reserves of $214.1 million were settledrfet paid losses of $257.4 million, related totk&lement of
non-commuted losses in the year and approximag&lpommutations of assumed and ceded exposures.
Commutations provide an opportunity for the entityexit exposures to entire policies with insuradd reinsureds
at a discount to the previous estimated ultimaieility. As a result of exiting all exposures tabipolicies, all
advised case reserves and IBNR liabilities relatintipat insured or reinsured are eliminated. ‘Bffien results in a
net gain irrespective of whether the settlemeneegls the advised case reserves. We adopt a digd@pproach to
the review and settlement of non-commuted claimsuidph claims adjusting and the inspection of urnydeg|
policyholder records such that settlements of assuaxposures may often be achieved below the tftae
originally advised loss, and settlements of cedegivables may often be achieved at levels abavieddalances.
Of the 79 commutations completed during 2009, talated to our top ten insured and/or reinsured ex@s. The
remaining 77 were of a smaller size, consistert witr approach of targeting significant numberseaafant and
reinsurer relationships as well as targeting sigaift individual cedant and reinsurer relationshiiggoroximately
76% of commutations completed in 2009 related torootations completed during the three months ended
December 31, 2009. Subsequent to the year enchfane insurance entities completed a
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commutation of another of one of our top ten reiediexposures. The combination of the claims seéig activity
in 2009, including commutations, and the actuaasimation of IBNR reserves required for the rermgmon-
commuted exposures (which took into account therfable trend of loss development in 2009 relateslitth
exposures compared to prior forecasts as wellesrtpact of the commutation that was completed ensnt to th
year end), resulted in our management concludiagttie loss development activity that occurred sgbent to th
prior reporting period provided sufficient new infeation to warrant a reduction in IBNR reserve$®18.2 million
in 2009.

The reduction in aggregate provisions for bad déftL1.7 million was as a result of the collectipnmarily
during the three months ended March 31, 2009, méicereinsurance receivables against which badl pielvisions
had been provided in earlier periods.

The table below provides a reconciliation of thgibaing and ending reserves for losses and losstudgnt
expenses for the year ended December 31, 200900&1 Posses incurred and paid are reflected neginurance
recoverables.

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2008

(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
Balance as of January $2,798,28  $1,591,44
Less: total reinsurance reserve recovers 394,57! 427,96«

2,403,71. 1,163,48!
Effect of exchange rate movems 73,51: (124,989
Net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjustnesapiense liabilitie: (259,62) (242,109
Net losses pai (257,419 (174,01)
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiari 114,59! 1,408,041
Retroactive reinsurance contracts assu 56,63( 373,28
Net balance as at December 2,131,40: 2,403,71.
Plus: total reinsurance reserve recovera 347,72¢ 394,57!
Balance as at December $2,479,131  $2,798,28

Salaries and Benefits:

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 Variance
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
Consulting $37,28. $33,19¢ $ (4,085
Reinsuranct 31,17 23,07 (8,099
Total $68,45:  $56,27(  $(12,189)

Salaries and benefits, which include expensesmgléah our discretionary bonus and employee shiarmsp
were $68.5 million and $56.3 million for the yearsled December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

The increase in salaries and benefits was primatiljbutable to:

(i) an increase in the discretionary bonus expénser reinsurance segment for the year ended
December 31, 2009 of $9.5 million. Expenses redatinour discretionary bonus plan will be variaalel are
dependent on our overall profitability;

(i) increased staff costs due to an increase @rage staff numbers from 248 for the year ended
December 31, 2008 to 287 for the year ended DeceBih&@009; partially offset by

(iii) lower U.S. dollar costs of our U.K.-basedf§fallowing a reduction in the average British Pl
exchange rate from approximately 1.8524 to 1.5@r@He years ended December 31, 2008 and 2009,
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respectively. Of our total headcount as at DecerBheR009 and December 31, 2008, approximately &iiélo
65%, respectively, were paid in British pounds.

General and Administrative Expenses:

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 Variance

(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
Consulting $19,87( $17,28¢  $(2,58])
Reinsuranct 27,03: 36,06¢ 9,03¢
Total $46,90: $53,357 $6,45¢

General and administrative expenses attributabileet@einsurance segment decreased by $9.0 milliong
the year ended December 31, 2009, as compared jetr ended December 31, 2008. For the year ended
December 31, 2008, we incurred approximately $tdlllon of bank loan structure fees in respect af@sitions
we completed during 2008. For the year ended DeeeBih 2009 we did not incur any such fees. Thaced
expenses in 2009 relating to lower bank loan stnectees were partially offset by increased coss®eiated with
new companies acquired during 2008 along with imsee professional fees due in part to legal femgtiad in
respect of issues around the lawsuit disclosedlégél Proceedings” on page 58 of this filing.

Interest Expense:

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2008 Variance

(in thousands of U.S. dollars’
Consulting $ — $ — $ —
Reinsuranct 17,58 23,37( 5,78i
Total $17,58: $23,37( $5,787

Interest expense of $17.6 million and $23.4 milleas recorded for the year ended December 31, 2009
2008, respectively. The decrease in interest expeas primarily attributable to the combination of;

(i) a reduction in the principal balance on thenléacilities of our subsidiary, Cumberland Holdings
Limited, relating to the Gordian acquisition, oet@umberland Loan Facilities. During 2009, we rdpai
approximately $148.3 million of the outstandingngipal on the Cumberland Loan Facilities reducimey t
outstanding principal balance from approximatel2Z&8 million as at December 31, 2008 to $74.3 onillas o
December 31, 2009;

(i) a reduction in the average Australian LIBOReirest rate on the Cumberland Loan Facilities betwe
the years ended December 31, 2008 and Decemb2639; and

(iii) a reduction in the average Australian dokchange rate from approximately 0.8521 to 0.7934
between the years ended December 31, 2008 and Dec&h, 2009; partially offset by

(iv) an increase in interest costs associated thigHoan facilities of our subsidiary, Roystonateig to the
Unionamerica acquisition, which we entered intd@tember 30, 2008.

Foreign Exchange (Loss)/Gain:

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 Variance

(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
Consulting $ 92C $ (1,167 $ 2,08i
Reinsuranct (24,707 (13,819 (10,889
Total $(23,78) $(14,980 $ (8,801
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We recorded a foreign exchange loss of $23.8 millgy the year ended December 31, 2009, as compauad
foreign exchange loss of $15.0 million for the yeaded December 31, 2008. For the year ended Degeditib
2009, $35.6 million (including noncontrolling ingsts’ share of $10.7 million) of the foreign exchaross arose
primarily due to Gordian’s (our Australian subsighigholdings of surplus U.S. dollar denominatecetsat a time
when the U.S. dollar had weakened significantlyirzgiahe Australian dollar. As at December 31, 2088rdian
continued to hold surplus U.S. dollar denominateskts, whereas the functional currency of Gordiakuistralian
dollars.

Excluding the foreign exchange loss in Gordian38.% million, exchange gains of $11.8 million were
generated during the year primarily as a resuttusfholding surplus British pounds relating to casHateral
required to support British pound denominated tettd credit required by U.K. regulators at a tiwigen the Britist
pound exchange rate to the U.S. dollar had inctefieen approximately £1 = $1.4593 as at JanuaB009 to £1 =
$1.6170 as at December 31, 2009. Since lettersedita@re in excess of the British pound liabiktigeld by our
subsidiaries, the subsidiary companies were urtabigatch the surplus assets against liabilitiegnduhe year,
resulting in the foreign exchange gain. As at Ddoen31, 2009, we continue to hold surplus Britishipds relating
to cash collateral required to support our Brifislund denominated letters of credit.

In addition to the foreign exchange losses recomd@dir consolidated statement of earnings foryéwr ended
December 31, 2009, we recorded in our consolidstetement of comprehensive income cumulative tadiosl
adjustment gains for the year ended December 31 80$48.9 million, as compared to losses of $Bdillon for
the year ended December 31, 2008. For the yeaddbeeember 31, 2009, these gains arose primargyrasult of
cumulative translation adjustments of $48.8 millinat of noncontrolling interest of $20.9 milliarlating to
Gordian. We have concluded that under the ForeigmeGicy Matters topic of FASB ASC, or ASC 830, the
functional currency of Gordian is Australian doflaAs a result, upon conversion of the net Austratiollar assets
of Gordian to U.S. dollars, we recorded $48.8 wrillinet of noncontrolling interest of $20.9 milljaf U.S. dollar
cumulative translation adjustment gains throughuaedated other comprehensive income. This gainduas
primarily to the appreciation in the AustralianUds. dollar foreign exchange rate from AU$1 = $@G@s at
December 31, 2008, to AU$1 = $0.8977 at DecembgeP@09.

As our functional currency is the U.S. dollar, veels to manage our exposure to foreign currencyamgd by
broadly matching foreign currency assets againsida currency liabilities, subject to regulatognstraints.

The net impact on shareholders’ equity of foreigohenge movements relating to Gordian in 2009 is
summarized in the table below:

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 200! December 31, 200:
(in thousands of U.S. dollars

Foreign exchange (losses) gains recorded througiings (related

primarily to the holding of surplus U.S. dollar @eninated short-term

investments) (net of noncontrolling interest of F1Million and

$11.0 million, respectively $(24,88¢) $ 25,59¢
Foreign exchange gains (losses) recorded througimadated other

comprehensive income (net of noncontrolling inteoé<$$20.9 million

and $18.4 million, respectivel 48,75: (42,799
Combined increase (decrease) in sharehc equity $ 23,86¢ $(17,19Y

Income Tax (Expense)/Recovery:

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 Variance

(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
Consulting $ (2402 $ 511 $(2,919
Reinsuranci (25,207) (47,365 22,16
Total $(27,609  $(46,859) $19,24¢

89




Table of Contents

We recorded income tax expense of $27.6 million$4619 million for the years ended December 31924
2008, respectively.

Income tax expense of $25.2 million and $47.4 onillwere recorded in the reinsurance segment foyehes
ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectivelyd@beease arose primarily due to a reduction iretgpense for
the Cumberland group, which owns our Australiarsadibry, Gordian, from $46.3 million in 2008 dowm t
$7.9 million in 2009, due primarily to a reductionincome earned in 2009 as compared to 2008. Redncome &
the local Gordian level for the year ended Decerdie2009 was primarily attributable to foreign kange losses
on surplus U.S. dollars. The reduction in tax exgeattributable to Gordian for the year ended Déezr@l, 2009
was partially offset by tax expense recorded byodamerica of approximately $20.4 million.

Negative Goodwill:

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2008 Variance
(in thousands of U.S. dollars
Consulting $— $ — 3 —
Reinsuranct — 50,28( (50,280
Total $— $50,28( $(50,28()

Negative goodwill of $nil and $50.3 million, wasoeded for the years ended December 31, 2009 0] 20
respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2688 egative goodwill of $50.3 million was earned
connection with our acquisition of Gordian and esgants the excess of the cumulative fair valuesbfinsets
acquired of $455.7 million over the cost of $40&ilion. This excess was, in accordance with ASG,8@cognize
as an extraordinary gain in 2008. The negative gibdrose primarily as a result of the income eatby Gordian
between the date of the balance sheet on whichgheed purchase price was based, September 30Q,&0the
date the acquisition closed, March 5, 2008.

Noncontrolling Interest:

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 Variance

(in thousands of U.S. dollars
Consulting $ — $ — $ —
Reinsuranci 41,79¢ 50,80¢ 9,01(
Reinsuranc— extraordinary gail — 15,08¢ 15,08
Total $41,79¢  $65,89:  $24,09:

We recorded a noncontrolling interest in earninfg4d..8 million and $65.9 million (including $15million of
an extraordinary gain related to negative goodvdlt)the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2088ectvely.
The decrease for the year ended December 31, 2R0@ding the noncontrolling interest in negativodwill of
$15.1 million relating to the Gordian acquisitioalated to the decrease in earnings for thoseenthat have
noncontrolling interests.

Comparison of Year Ended December 31, 2008 and 2007

We reported consolidated net earnings of approxaty&81.6 million for the year ended December IN&
compared to consolidated net earnings of approxin®61.8 million for 2007. The increase in earsing
approximately $19.8 million was primarily a resoitthe following:

() increased reduction in ultimate loss and ladjsstment expense liabilities of $217.6 millionmparily as
a result of favorable loss development and largermutations of assumed liabilities; and

(i) an increase in negative goodwill of $19.5 il (net of minority interest of $15.1 million in
2008) relating to the acquisition of Gordian in gla2008; partially offset by
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(iii) a decrease in investment income (net of eali(losses)/gains) of $39.4 million, primarily doe
writedowns of approximately $84.1 million in therfaalues of our private equity investments classifas
other investments, partially offset by additiomaléstment income earned in the year as a resirtfased
cash and investments balances relating to acquisitompleted in 2008;

(iv) movement in foreign exchange from a gain of#million for the year ended December 31, 200 to
loss of $15.0 million for the year ended 2008 —etaltreduction of $22.9 million — which arose a®sault of
holding surplus net foreign currency assets, piiijn&ritish pounds, at a time when the U.S. dolkaas
appreciating against the majority of currencies;

(v) an increase in income tax expense of $54.3anillelating primarily to the increased tax liatyilon the
results of our Australian subsidiary;

(vi) an increase in general and administrative agpe of $21.9 million due primarily to the additbn
directs costs incurred by the companies acquireahg2008;

(vii) an increase in noncontrolling interests’ shaf net earnings of $44.1 million as a resultighker
earnings in those subsidiaries with minority shateérs; and

(viii) increased interest expense of $18.5 millatributable to an increase in bank borrowings usebe
funding of the acquisitions completed in 2008.

Consulting Fees:

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 Variance

(in thousands of U.S. dollars
Consulting $54,15¢ $59,46 $(5,307)
Reinsuranct (29,007 (27,54%) (1,460
Total $2515. $31,91¢ $(6,76)

We earned consulting fees of approximately $25/8aniand $31.9 million for the years ended Decenifg
2008 and 2007, respectively. The decrease in cimgdiees was due primarily to a reduction in 2@®8centive-
based fees earned by our Bermuda management company

Internal management fees of $29.0 million and $27ilBon were paid in the year ended December 8D82
and 2007, respectively, by our reinsurance comganieur consulting companies. The increase inpeés by the
reinsurance segment was due primarily to the fa@bslpy reinsurance companies that were acquir@®@8.

Net Investment Income and Net Realized (LossessGai

Year Ended December 31,

Net Realized
Net Investment Income (Losses) Gains
2008 2007 Variance 2008 2007 Variance
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
Consulting $(20,249) $ 228 $(20,47¢ $ 0O $ 0 3 0
Reinsuranci 46,84¢ 63,85¢ (17,010 (1,655  24¢ (1,909
Total $26,60. $64,087 $(37,480 $(1,655) $24¢  $(1,909)

Net investment income for the year ended DecembgeP@08 decreased by $37.5 million to $26.6 millias
compared to $64.1 million for the year ended Decam®i, 2007. The decrease in net investment incease
primarily attributable to cumulative writedownsagproximately $84.1 million in the fair value ofrqurivate equity
investments held by us as other investments. Tiedwwns in our private equity investments werenarily relate
to mark-to-market adjustments in the fair valuehafir underlying assets, which were primarily irwesnts in
financial institutions, arising as a result of tilebal credit and liquidity crises. The writedowmsre partially offset
by the increased net investment income earnedégdmpanies we acquired during 2008.
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The average return on the cash and fixed maturitiestments (excluding writedowns related to dheo
investments) for the year ended December 31, 2@384162%, as compared to the average return o¥#éithe
year ended December 31, 2007. The slight increagielid was the result of increased returns ondfieome
investments from subsidiaries acquired in 2008stutiially offset by reduced yields on cash balarasea result of
decreasing U.S. interest rates — the U.S. Federad$-Rate decreased from an average of 5.05% int20®.09%
in 2008. The average Standard & Poor’s credit gapfhour fixed income investments at December 8D82vas
AAA,

Net realized (losses) gains for the year ended mbee 31, 2008 and 2007 were $(1.7) million and $ilRon,
respectively. The increase in net realized lossasegprimarily as a result of mark-to-market adpestts in our
equity portfolio securities held as trading.

Net Reduction in Ultimate Loss and Loss Adjustraepense Liabilities:

The following table shows the components of the emoent in net reduction in ultimate loss and loss
adjustment expense liabilities for the years eridedember 31, 2008 and 2007.

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007
(in thousands of U.S
dollars)

Net losses pai $(174,017) $(20,427)
Net change in case and LAE Reser 147,57t 19,40¢
Net change in IBNF 187,87 31,76
Reduction in estimates of net ultimate los 161,43 30,74t
Reduction (increase) in provisions for bad c 36,13¢ (1,746
Reduction in provisions for unallocated loss adjesit expense liabilitie 69,05¢ 22,01«
Amortization of fair value adjustmen (24,52%) (26,53)
Net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjustnesapiense liabilitie: $242,10: $ 24,48:

Net reduction in case and LAE reserves comprisesnthvement during the year in specific case reserve
liabilities as a result of claims settlements acarles advised to us by our policyholders and ati@ness changes
in case reserves recoverable advised by us toemsurers as a result of the settlement or movenfeagsumed
claims. Net reduction in IBNR represents the changmur actuarial estimates of losses incurrednogireported.

The net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjestriabilities for 2008 of $242.1 million was altntable to a
reduction in estimates of net ultimate losses &1$4 million, a reduction in aggregate provisioosbad debt of
$36.1 million (excluding $3.1 million relating tme of our entities that benefited from substargiap loss
reinsurance protection discussed below) and a tieduic estimates of loss adjustment expense Itaslof
$69.1 million, relating to 2008 run-off activityapially offset by the amortization, over the estted payout period,
of fair value adjustments relating to companiesuaeg amounting to $24.5 million.

The reduction in estimates of net ultimate los$e&l61.4 million comprised the following:

() A reduction in estimates of net ultimate lose€$21.7 million in one of our insurance entitthat
benefited from substantial stop loss reinsuranogeption. Net incurred loss development relatinthts entity
of $21.6 million was offset by reductions in IBNBserves of $94.8 million and reductions in prowvisiéor bac
debt of $3.1 million, resulting in a net reductiorestimates of ultimate losses of $76.3 millioheTentity in
guestion benefited, until December 18, 2008, froimsgantial stop loss reinsurance protection whereby
$54.6 million of the net reduction in ultimate lesof $76.3 million was ceded to a single AA- rateidsurer
such that we retained a reduction in estimategbfittimate losses relating to this entity of $2thiflion. On
December 18, 2008, we commuted the stop loss m@insea protection with the reinsurer for the receipt
$190.0 million payable by the reinsurer to us deeir years together with interest compounded
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at 3.5% per annum. The commutation resulted ingrufecant financial impact to us. The decreaséhia
estimate of IBNR loss reserves of $94.8 million wamprised of $77.7 million relating to asbestasilities,
$9.0 million relating to environmental liabilitiesxd $8.1 million relating to all other remainingHilities. The
reduction in IBNR is a result of the applicatiom, @ basis consistent with the assumptions appii¢lle prior
period, of our actuarial methodologies to loss datastimate loss reserves required to cover lisgslfor
unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses. Thdats pertained to the reduced historical lossldpment
of our exposures not commuted in 2008. The prioiodesstimate of net IBNR liabilities was reducedaaresu
of the combined impact of loss development actiglitlying 2008, which was comprised of the settlenoént
certain advised case reserves below their priagog@arried amounts, commutations completed andrémel o
loss development relating to neommuted policies compared to prior forecasts. dteavorable incurred lo
development relating to this entity of $21.6 milljavhereby advised net case reserves of $25.@milliere
settled for net paid losses of $46.6 million, priityarelated to six commutations of assumed andeded
liabilities completed during 2008. Commutationsypde an opportunity for the entity to exit exposite entire
policies with insureds and reinsureds at a disctauttte previous estimated ultimate liability. Asesult of
exiting all exposures to such policies, all advisade reserves and IBNR liabilities relating ta thaured or
reinsured are eliminated. This often results irBgain irrespective of whether the settlement eds¢he
advised case reserves. Of the six commutations ledeapfor this entity, of which the three largestrey
completed during the three months ended Decemh&(®B, one was among its top ten assumed exposures
The remaining five commutations were of a smaliee,sconsistent with our approach of targeting igicgnt
numbers of cedant and reinsurer relationships dsaw¢argeting significant individual cedant aredhsurer
relationships. The combination of the claims setdat activity in 2008, including commutations, witte
actuarial estimation of IBNR reserves requiredtf@ remaining non-commuted exposures (which totik in
account the favorable trend of loss developme20®8B related to such exposures compared to priec&sts),
resulted in our management concluding that thedesglopment activity that occurred subsequertiémtior
reporting period provided sufficient new informatito warrant a reduction in IBNR reserves of $3illion in
2008.

(i) A reduction in estimates of net ultimate lossd $139.7 million in our remaining insurance and
reinsurance entities comprised net favorable imclioss development of $24.1 million and reduction8NR
reserves of $115.6 million. The decrease in thienase of IBNR loss reserves of $115.6 million wasprised
of $23.8 million relating to asbestos liabilitié,.8 million relating to environmental liabilitiesd
$90.0 million relating to all other remaining litibes. The reduction in IBNR is a result of thepéipation, on a
basis consistent with the assumptions appliederptior period, of our actuarial methodologiesass| data to
estimate loss reserves required to cover lialgliie unpaid losses and loss adjustment expensedo$s data
pertained to the reduced historical loss develogprmEaur exposures not commuted in 2008. The grésiod
estimate of net IBNR liabilities was reduced assuit of the combined impact of favorable loss tlguaent
activity during 2008, which was comprised of théleeent of advised case reserves below their péoiod
carried amounts, commutations completed and tharddme trend of loss development related to nommutec
policies compared to prior forecasts. The net fabla incurred loss development in our remainingriasce
and reinsurance entities of $24.1 million, wherabyadvised case and LAE reserves of $123.5 milliere
settled for net paid losses of $99.4 million, priityarelated to the settlement of non-commuted déssis the
year below carried reserves and approximately B®ncotations of assumed and ceded exposures ahbass t
case and LAE reserves. We adopt a disciplined agprto the review and settlement of non-commuteiing
through claims adjusting and the inspection of ulyitey policyholder records such that settlemeritassumed
exposures may often be achieved below the leviileobriginally advised loss, and settlements otded
receivables may often be achieved at levels abaxéed balances. Of the 59 commutations completeihgl
2008 for our remaining reinsurance and insuranocepamies, two (both of which were completed durimg t
three months ended December 31, 2008) were amarigmten insured and/or reinsured exposures. The
remaining 57 were of a smaller size, consistert witr approach of targeting significant numbersesfant an
reinsurer relationships, as well as targeting $icgmt individual cedant and reinsurer relationship
Approximately 82% of commutations completed in 20&&ted to commutations completed during the three
months ended December 31, 2008. The combinatitimatlaims settlement activity in 2008, including
commutations, with the actuarial estimation of IBKRerves required for the
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remaining noncommuted exposures (which took intmant the favorable trend of loss development 6820
related to such exposures compared to prior fotgcassulted in our management concluding thatdbe
development activity that occurred subsequenteitior reporting period provided sufficient neviomation
to warrant a reduction in IBNR reserves of $115iflion in 2008.

Another of our reinsurance companies has retromealsarrangements providing for full reinsurancelbfisks
assumed. During the year, this entity commutethitgest assumed liability and related retrocessipratection
whereby the subsidiary paid net losses of $222llomiand reduced net IBNR by the same amount ltiegun no
gain or loss to us.

The reduction in aggregate provisions for bad d€$86.1 million (excluding $3.1 million relating bne of
our entities that benefited from substantial stigsIreinsurance protection discussed above) wapreed of:
(1) $13.7 million as a result of the collectioninparily during the three months ended Decembe2B808, of certain
reinsurance receivables against which bad debigoms had been provided in earlier periods, (2p $8illion as a
result of the revision of estimates of bad debt/sions following the receipt of new informationréhg the three
months ended December 31, 2008 and (3) $13.9 mifioa result of reduced exposures to reinsurénsbad debt
provisions following the commutation of assumedbilities.

The table below provides a reconciliation of thgibaing and ending reserves for losses and losstdgnt
expenses for the years ended December 31, 2008087d Losses incurred and paid are reflected nedin§urance
recoverables.

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007

(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
Balance as of January $1,591,44!  $1,214,41
Less: Reinsurance reserves recovere 427,96 342,16(

1,163,48! 872,25¢
Net reduction in ultimate losses and loss adjustragpense liabilitie: (242,109 (24,487
Net losses pai (174,019 (20,427
Effect of exchange rate moveme (124,989 18,62¢
Retroactive reinsurance contracts assu 373,28 —
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiari 1,408,044 317,50!
Net Balance as of December $2,403,71; $1,163,48!
Plus: Reinsurance reserves recover 394,57! 427,96«
Balance as of December $2,798,28  $1,591,44!

Salaries and Benefits:

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 Variance
(in thousands of U.S. dollars
Consulting $33,19¢ $36,22: $ 3,02¢
Reinsuranct 23,07« 10,75¢ (12,319
Total $56,27( $46,977 $ (9,299

Salaries and benefits, which include expensesmglab our incentive bonus and employee share plaese
$56.3 million and $47.0 million for the years end®ecember 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Theass of
$12.3 million relating to the reinsurance segmfmtthe year ended December 31, 2008, was primatifibutable
to an increase of $3.6 million in the accrual redato our incentive bonus plan as well as $8.5nilbf additional
salary costs of staff directly employed by reinswecompanies that were newly acquired in 2008&thd, we had
292 staff members as of December 31, 2008 as campar221 as of December 31, 2007.
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Bonus accrual expenses related to our discretidnamys plan are variable and dependent on our lbvera
profitability.

General and Administrative Expenses:

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 Variance
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
Consulting $17,28¢ $21,84¢ $ 4,55t
Reinsuranct 36,06¢ 9,56¢ (26,499
Total $53,357  $31,41:  $(21,949)

General and administrative expenses attributabllee@onsulting segment decreased by $4.6 milliging the
year ended December 31, 2008, as compared to #neepded December 31, 2007. The decrease was iduaripr
to the following: 1) decrease in professional fee$3.1 million relating to lower legal and accauagtcosts incurre
by the consulting segment; 2) decrease of $1.4amilh respect of reduced value added tax liabgitiand
3) reduction in cumulative net other general amuhiadtrative expenses of $0.1 million.

General and administrative expenses attributabilee@einsurance segment increased by $26.5 mdlioimg
the year ended December 31, 2008 as compared ye#nended December 31, 2007. The increased foostse
year primarily related to additional general anchadstrative expenses of $28.1 million incurredétation to
companies that we acquired during 2008 partialfgeifby reductions in general and administrativeemses of
$1.6 million for companies that were acquired pt@m2008 relating primarily to reduced third-pantanagement
fees and computer related costs.

Interest Expense:

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 Variance
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
Consulting $ — $ — 3 —
Reinsuranct 23,37( 4,87¢ (18,499
Total $23,37( $4,87¢  $(18,49/)

Interest expense of $23.4 million and $4.9 millwas recorded for the years ended December 31, 2008
2007, respectively. The increase in interest expearas attributable to an increase in bank borrosvirged in the
funding of the acquisitions in 2008, primarily ielation to the Gordian, EPIC, Goshawk and Guildheadjuisitions.

Foreign Exchange (Loss)/Gain:

Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 Variance
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
Consulting $ (1,167 $(192 $ (979
Reinsuranct (13,819 8,11: (21,937
Total $(14,980 $7,921  $(22,907)

We recorded a foreign exchange loss of $15.0 millgy the year ended December 31, 2008, as compauad
foreign exchange gain of $7.9 million for the sameeiod in 2007. For the year ended December 318,26
foreign exchange loss arose primarily as a resuhieofollowing: 1) approximately $36.6 million, foee
noncontrolling interest, of foreign exchange galne to Gordiars holding of surplus U.S. dollar denominated a:
at a time when the U.S. dollar has strengtheneatfsigntly against the Australian dollar in the jogrfrom the date
of acquisition, March 5, 2008, to December 31, 2@@8at December 31, 2008, Gordian continued 0 swiplus
U.S. dollar denominated assets, whereas the furadtaurrency of Gordian is Australian dollars) effby
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2) approximately $51.6 million of other foreign &emge losses within the company which were primanié result
of our holding surplus British pounds relating &sh collateral required to support British poundateinated lettel
of credit required by U.K. regulators at a time wiltlee British pound exchange rate to the U.S. dblal decreased
from approximately £1 = $1.993 as at January 1820E1 = $1.4593 as at December 31, 2008. Sirigzdeof
credit are in excess of the British pound lial@ktheld by our subsidiaries, the subsidiary congsawere unable to
match the surplus assets against liabilities duttiegyear, resulting in the foreign exchange loss.

In addition to the foreign exchange losses recomd@dir consolidated statement of earnings foryéwr ended
December 31, 2008, we recorded in our consolidstetement of comprehensive income cumulative tadiosl
adjustment losses for the year ended December08B, @& $51.0 million, as compared to gains of $tilion for
the year ended December 31, 2007.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, these lassss primarily as a result of cumulative tranetati
adjustments of $42.8 million, net of noncontrollingerest of $18.4 million, relating to Gordian. \Wencluded that
under the provisions of ASC 830 the functional enay of Gordian is Australian dollars. As a resuttpn
conversion of the net Australian dollar assets ofd&an to U.S. dollars, we recorded $42.8 millinat of
noncontrolling interest of $18.4 million, of U.Solthr cumulative translation adjustment lossesujfoaccumulated
other comprehensive income. This loss was due pitinta the decrease in the Australian to U.S. alofbreign
exchange rate from AU$1 = $0.9185 at the acquisitiate, March 5, 2008, to AU$1 = $0.7026 at Decerithe
2008.

As our functional currency is the U.S. dollar, veels to manage our exposure to foreign currencyamgs by
broadly matching foreign currency assets againsida currency liabilities, subject to regulatognstraints.

The net impact on shareholders’ equity of foreigah@nge losses relating to Gordian in 2008 is surizedin
the table below:

Year Ended December 31, 200
(in thousands of U.S. dollars

Foreign exchange gains recorded through earnietséd primarily to the holdir
of surplus U.S. dollar denominated short-term itwests) (net of

noncontrolling interest of $11.0 milliol $ 25,59¢
Foreign exchange losses recorded through accurdwéter comprehensive

income (net of noncontrolling interest of $18.4lri) (42,799
Combined decrease in sharehol’ equity $(17,19Y)

Income Tax (Expense)/Recovery:

Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 Variance
(in thousands of U.S. dollars’
Consulting $ 511 $(B97) $ 1,10¢
Reinsuranct (47,365 8,03¢ (55,409
Total $(46,85) $7,441  $(54,29

We recorded an income tax (expense)/recovery d.8{4million and $7.4 million for the years ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

The increase in income tax expense of $54.3 millvas related primarily to cumulative tax expenseumatax
earnings of $105.6 million recorded by Gordian &nudldhall, which we acquired in 2008.
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Noncontrolling Interest:

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 Variance
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
Consulting $ - $ — 3 —
Reinsuranct (50,809 (6,730 (44,079
Total $(50,809 $(6,730)  $(44,079

We recorded a noncontrolling interest in earninfg5®.8 million and $6.7 million for the years edde
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The fotdhe year ended December 31, 2008 relateseto th
noncontrolling economic interest held by third patin the earnings of: 1) Gordian, Guildhall, $lueirne,
Goshawk, Royston and EPIC — all 2008 acquisitiamst 2) Hillcot. For the same period in 2007, the
noncontrolling interest related was in respect iitbt and Shelbourne only.

Negative Goodwill:

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 Variance

(in thousands of U.S. dollars
Consulting $ — $ — $ —
Reinsuranct 35,19¢ 15,68 19,51
Total $35,19¢ $15,68: $19,51!

Negative goodwill of $35.2 million (net of noncouliing interest of $15.1 million) and $15.7 millipwas
recorded for the years ended December 31, 2002@0id, respectively. For the year ended Decembe2(®18, the
negative goodwill of $35.2 million was earned imoection with our acquisition of Gordian and représ the
excess of the cumulative fair value of net assedsiised of $455.7 million over the cost of $405.dlion. This
excess has, in accordance with ASC 805, been remmhas an extraordinary gain in 2008. The negatoadwill
arose primarily as a result of the income earne@brdian between the date of the balance sheethirhwhe
agreed purchase price was based, September 3Q,&00Dthe date the acquisition closed, March 58200

For the year ended December 31, 2007 the negativevgll of $15.7 million was earned in connectioithnout
acquisition of Inter-Ocean and represents the exakthe cumulative fair value of net assets aeglaf
$73.2 million over the cost of $57.5 million. Thegative goodwill arose primarily as a result of strategic desire
of the vendors to achieve an exit from such openatand therefore to dispose of the companiesiscaunt to fair
value.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As we are a holding company and have no substamqedations of our own, our assets consist primafil
investments in subsidiaries. The potential souofélse cash flows to the holding company consislividends,
advances and loans from our subsidiary companies.

Our future cash flows depend upon the availabdftdividends or other statutorily permissible payrsefrom
our subsidiaries. The ability to pay dividends amake other distributions is limited by the appliealaws and
regulations of the jurisdictions in which our ingnce and reinsurance subsidiaries operate, ingugnmuda, the
United Kingdom, United States, Australia and Europleich subject these subsidiaries to significagutatory
restrictions. These laws and regulations requireyrag other things, certain of our insurance anastgance
subsidiaries to maintain minimum solvency requiretaend limit the amount of dividends and othenpegts that
these subsidiaries can pay to us, which in turn lnaiy our ability to pay dividends and make otlparyments. As ¢
December 31, 2009 and 2008, our insurance anduraimse subsidiaries’ solvency and liquidity werexcess of
the minimum levels required. Retained earningsufimsurance and reinsurance subsidiaries areuncgrily
restricted as minimum capital solvency marginscangered by share capital and additional paid-intaap

Our capital management strategy is to preservécgiff capital to enable us to make future acgoiss while
maintaining a conservative investment strategy.béleeve that restrictions on liquidity resultin@ffn restrictions
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on the payments of dividends by our subsidiary cammgs will not have a material impact on our apiid meet our
cash obligations.

Our sources of funds primarily consist of the casti investment portfolios acquired on the comptetibthe
acquisition of an insurance or reinsurance compamyn-off. These acquired cash and investmentioaisare
classified as cash provided by investing activiti¥e expect to use these funds acquired, togethlercallections
from reinsurance debtors, consulting income, immesit income and proceeds from sales and redemgition
investments, to pay losses and loss expensesigsadad benefits and general and administrativeresgs, with the
remainder used for acquisitions, additional invesita and, in the past, for dividend payments toedtwders. We
expect that our reinsurance segment will have aisebf cash from operations as total net claittese¢nts and
operating expenses will generally be in excessw#stment income earned. We expect that our cangdegment
operating cash flows will generally be breakever &{pect our operating cash flows, together withexisting
capital base and cash and investments acquirdakacguisition of our insurance and reinsuranceidigries, to b
sufficient to meet cash requirements and to openatdusiness. We currently do not intend to pahadividends o
our ordinary shares.

We maintain a short duration conservative investmtategy whereby, as of December 31, 2009, 4bBétr
fixed income portfolio was held with a maturityle§s than one year and 84.6% had maturities otthessfive
years. Excluding the impact of commutations andsohemes of arrangement, should they be completedxpec
approximately 14.4% of the gross reserves to ledetithin one year and approximately 61.7% of ibserves to
be settled within five years. However, our stratejgommuting our liabilities has the potentiakitcelerate the
natural payout of losses to less than five yeansréfore, the relatively short-duration investmgmtfolio is
maintained in order to provide liquidity for comratibn opportunities and preclude us from havintigioidate
longer dated securities. As a result, we do natigatte having to sell longer dated investmentsrirer to meet
future policyholder liabilities. However, if we haal sell a portion of our held-to-maturity portimlio meet
policyholder liabilities we would, at that pointnand the classification of the held-to-maturitytfalio to an
available-for-sale portfolio. This reclassificatismould require the investment portfolio to be retmat at market
value as opposed to amortized cost. As of Dece®ibe2009, such a reclassification would resultrinrsignificant
increase in the value of our cash and investmesfigcting the unrealized gain position of the
held-to-maturity portfolio as of December 31, 2009.

At December 31, 2009, total cash and investmente %$&.3 billion, compared to $3.5 billion at DecemnB1,
2008.

Reinsurance Recoverables

Our acquired reinsurance subsidiaries use retrmcegsagreements to reduce their exposure to sheofi
reinsurance assumed. We remain liable to the eittahtetrocessionaires do not meet their obligationder these
agreements, and therefore, we evaluate and matarentration of credit risk. Provisions are maafeainounts
considered potentially uncollectible. The allowafmeuncollectible reinsurance recoverable was $3@7llion and
$397.5 million at December 31, 2009 and 2008, retbyy.

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, we had totasueance recoverables of $638.3 million and $672llfom
respectively, of which $395.4 million and $254.2lion, respectively, were associated with three &aval
Standard & Poor's AA- or higher rated reinsurerkjoll each represented 10% or more of total reimogrdalances
receivable. In the event that all or any of th@saring companies are unable to meet their obtigatunder existing
reinsurance agreements, we will be liable for siefaulted amounts.

During 2009 and 2008, we completed two and eightisitions, respectively, of insurance companiesimoff
and entered into one and four RITC transactionb Wlibyd’s syndicates over the same time frame. €hes
transactions included the acquisition of additioe&hsurance balances receivable together withelated
provisions for uncollectible reinsurance. The aggte provision for uncollectible reinsurance recabte at
December 31, 2009 amounted to approximately 38.##tedotal reinsurance recoverables balance, befor
provisions for uncollectible reinsurance, comparedpproximately 37.1% at December 31, 2008.
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Source of Funds

We primarily generate our cash from the acquisgtime® complete. These acquired cash and investment
balances are classified as cash provided by imgeatitivities.

We expect that for the reinsurance segment thdt®deva net use of cash from operations due td ¢tdam
settlements and operating expenses being in erf@sgestment income earned and that for the cdingusegment
operating cash flows will be breakeven. As a resiét net operating cash flows for us, to expirg, expected to be
negative as we pay out cash in claims settlememt®apenses in excess of cash generated via ineasintome
and consulting fees.

Operating
Net cash (used in) provided by our operating attisifor the year ended December 31, 2009 was

$(198.1) million compared to $157.2 million for thear ended December 31, 2008. This $355.3 milliorease in
cash flows used in operating activities was prifgatue to the following:

1) a reduction in the net sales of trading se@sitin behalf of policyholders of $179.1 millionween
2008 and 2009 due primarily to the funding of tB@& commutation settlement relating to one such
policyholder;

2) reduction in net losses from other investmeetsvben 2009 and 2008 of $90.3 million;

3) reduction in losses and loss adjustment experestageen 2009 and 2008 of $236.1 million partially
offset by associated changes in net reinsuraneambes payable and receivable of $91.7 million.

Net cash provided by our operating activities f@ year ended December 31, 2008 was $157.2 million
compared to $73.7 million for the year ended Decan®1, 2007. This increase in cash flows was aitaible to net
assets assumed on retro-active reinsurance can@madtsales of trading security investments heldsyartially
offset by higher general and administrative andrigdt expenses, for the year ended December 38 ,a20€ompare
to the year ended December 31, 2007. During 200806 our subsidiaries that has retrocessionahgements
providing for full reinsurance of all risks assumedmmuted its largest assumed liability and rela&drocessional
protection whereby it paid net losses of $222.0iomiland reduced net IBNR by the same amount riegLilh no net
gain or loss to us. In order to fund the commutatiettlement, sales of securities that were clasisifs trading
securities were sold, resulting in an increaseeincash provided by operating activities. In additiduring the first
quarter of 2008, we entered into four RITC transast with Lloyd’s syndicates. As a result of emerinto these
RITC agreements, we acquired net assets of $358i0mwhich were included as part of operatingiétes.

The cash provided by net movement in trading stéesniepresented 142% of net cash provided by tipgra
activities for the year ended December 31, 200@. ddsh provided by net movement in trading seesritias due i
the combination of:

1) The disposal of fixed maturity investments dgrihe first quarter of 2007 that we had classified
trading in relation to the completion of our resturing of the fixed maturity investments we acgdion the
completion of the acquisitions of Unione and Cawehich accounted for approximately 80% of the net
movement in trading securities within operating\aii¢s.

2) The acquisition of Inter-Ocean in February 2087 of the investments held by Inter-Ocean are
classified as trading securities and, in 2007, exiprately 20% of the net movement in trading se@sgishowtr
within operating activities was associated with tifagling activity by Inter-Ocean.

Investing

Investing cash flows consist primarily of cash apeplinet of acquisitions along with net proceedshensale
and purchase of investments. Net cash (used in)deo by investing activities was $(259.8) millidaring the year
ended December 31, 2009 compared to $245.1 milising the year ended December 31, 2008. The charthe
investing cash flows between 2009 and 2008 of $b04llion was primarily due to the following:

() a reduction in the number of acquisitions i02@&s compared to 2008, which resulted in a netatézh
of cash flows related to acquisitions of $186.8ioml, and
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(i) an increase in the net purchases of availédresale and held-to-maturity securities of $40&i8ion
between 2009 and 2008 due to the decision of m&siment committee to increase the allocation twtsh
duration securities from available cash balances.

Net cash provided by investing activities was $248illion during the year ended December 31, 2008
compared to $482.9 million during the year endedddaber 31, 2007. The decrease in the cash flowsdaw by
investing activities was due to the increase itricted cash and available-for-sale securities medun relation to
the acquisitions during the year ended Decembe?@®183, the decrease in cash from the sale and itedLof
investments and the increase in purchases of alaifarsale investments during the year ended Decemb&(0BE
as compared to the year ended December 31, 2007.

Financing

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activitiess $(199.7) million during the year ended Decenig
2009 compared to $624.6 million during the yeareehDecember 31, 2008. The increase in cash udethircting
activities of $824.3 million was primarily attritalile to the following:

1) reduction in cash received attributable to biaaks from $572.8 million in 2008 to $nil in 200Qedto
the significant reduction in the number and sizaafuisitions completed in 2009. All of the 2009 aisitions
that were completed were funded from available cashand;

2) reduction in cash contributions received fromemntrolling interests from $163.8 million in 208
$nil in 2009 due to none of the acquisitions cortgzlén 2009 having a third party participation; and

3) reduction in proceeds from issuance of ordirsfigres from 2008 to 2009 of $112.6 million.

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activitiess $624.6 million during the year ended Decen3iie200°
compared to $(4.5) million during the year endedédmeber 31, 2007. The increase in cash providedhbyéing
activities was primarily attributable to the incsean net proceeds from loan financing; the inaréasontributions
to surplus of subsidiaries by minority interestsdtation to the acquisitions; and proceeds froeni$isuance of
ordinary shares during the year ended Decembe&t(®B as compared to the year ended December 37, 200

Investments
At December 31, 2009, the maturity distributioroaf fixed income investment portfolio was as folklow

December 31, 200!

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized Holding Holding Fair
Cost Gain Losses Value
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)

Due in one year or le: $ 63501 $ 4,76¢ $ (58%) $ 639,19:
Due after one year through five ye 665,78¢ 15,72 (880) 680,63(
Due after five years through ten ye 98,33 3,91¢ (383) 101,86¢
Due after ten yeal 29,41: 48 (778 28,68:
1,428,54 24,44, (2,629 1,450,37.
Residential mortgar-backec 18,05: 20C (608) 17,64«
Commercial mortga¢-backec 31,65¢ 1,13( (2,380 30,40¢
Asset backei 34,07¢ A77 (5649) 33,99:
Total $1,512,33 $ 26,25« $ (6,17¢) $1,532,41

For more information, see “Business— InvestmentfBls” on page 26.

Long-Term Debt

Our long-term debt consists of loan facilities puplace at several subsidiaries to partially ficeertain of
our acquisitions. Our subsidiaries draw down oms¢Hfacilities at the time of the acquisition, altgh in some
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circumstances we have made additional draw-downafittance existing debt of the acquired comparogall
amounts of longerm debt outstanding as of December 31, 2009 608 ttaled $255.0 million and $391.5 millit
respectively, and were comprised as follows:

December 31 December 31
Facility Date of Facility 2009 2008
(in thousands of U.S. dollars’
Cumberlanc— Facility A March 4, 200¢ $ — $ 90,97«
Cumberlan— Facility B March 4, 200¢ 67,07: 66,29(
Goshawk— Facility A October 3, 200: — 36,76¢
Goshawk— Facility B August 14, 200! — 12,74:
Unionamerice— Facility A December 30, 20( 155,26¢ 152,73
Unionamerice— Facility B December 30, 20( 32,62: 32,02t
$254,96. $391,53:

Cumberland

In February 2008, our wholly-owned subsidiary, Centdnd Holdings Limited, or Cumberland, entered iat
term facility agreement jointly with a London-badmhk and a German bank, or the Cumberland Fadity
March 4, 2008, Cumberland drew down AU$215.0 milliapproximately $197.5 million) from the Facility
commitment, or Cumberland Facility A, and AU$86.Dlion (approximately $79.0 million) from the Faityl B
commitment, or Cumberland Facility B, to partidiynd the Gordian acquisition.

The interest rate on Cumberland Facility A was LBB@Ius 2.00% and was repayable in five years.
Cumberland had fully repaid Cumberland Facility Acd December 31, 2009. The outstanding Cumbeiffaility
A loan balance as of December 31, 2008 was AUSIriMlion (approximately $91.0 million).

The interest rate on Cumberland Facility B is LIBPIRs 2.75%. Cumberland Facility B is repayablsiin
years and is secured by a first charge over Cumte's shares in Gordian. Cumberland Facility B wagiply
repaid during 2009, and as of December 31, 20@xgimaining outstanding loan balance related tdatiéty was
AU$74.7 million (approximately $67.1 million), cormpmed to AU$94.3 million (approximately $66.3 mitipas of
December 31, 2008. Cumberland Facility B is sulie@efarious financial and business covenants, dioty
limitations on liens on the stock of restricted sidiaries, restrictions as to the disposition & $tock of restricted
subsidiaries and limitations on mergers and codatibns. As of December 31, 2009, all of the finahcovenants
relating to Cumberland Facility B were met.

Goshawk

On June 20, 2008, in connection with the proposediaition by EAL of Goshawk through the Offer, EAL
entered into a Term Facilities Agreement, or thel@avk Facilities Agreement, with a London-basedkb@he
Goshawk Facilities Agreement provided for a teramldacility of up to $60.0 million to partially fance the
acquisition of Goshawk and refinance certain défigations of one of Goshawk’s subsidiaries, orExésting
Debt.

On August 12, 2008, we and EAL entered into an ahmemt and restatement agreement under which the
Goshawk Facilities Agreement was amended, or tigt Rmendment and Restatement Agreement. Undé¥ithe
Amendment and Restatement Agreement, EAL was edtitl draw $47.5 million to fund the acquisition of
Goshawk, or Goshawk Facility A, and we were erditie draw $12.5 million to partially fund the refimcing of the
Existing Debt of $16.3 million, or Goshawk FacilBy On August 14, 2008, we drew down $12.5 millicom
Goshawk Facility B and on October 3, 2008, EAL daawn $36.1 million from Goshawk Facility A.

On December 22, 2009, we fully repaid the $49.lioniloutstanding principal and accrued interesboth
Goshawk Facility A and Goshawk Facility B. As ofd@enber 31, 2008, loan balances outstanding undsiask
Facility A and B were $36.8 million and $12.8 nalti, respectively.
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Unionamerica

On December 30, 2008, in connection with the Unio@aca Holdings Limited acquisition, Royston Rurfi-of
Limited, or Royston, borrowed the full amount o8&16 million available under a term facilities agmeent, or the
Unionamerica Facilities Agreement, with Nationalsalia Bank Limited, or NABL. Of that amount, Réys
borrowed $152.6 million under Facility A, or Unianarica Facility A, and $32.0 million under Facili®y or
Unionamerica Facility B. As of December 31, 200 temaining outstanding loan balances related to
Unionamerica Facilities A and B were $155.3 milleomd $32.6 million, respectively, compared to $T58illion
and $32.0 million, respectively, as of DecemberZI8.

The loans are secured by a lien covering all ofagsets of Royston. Unionamerica Facility A is yejtde
within three years from October 3, 2008, the datth® Unionamerica Facilities Agreement. Unionamcefracility
B is repayable within four years from October 30200n August 4, 2009, Royston entered into an @memnt and
restatement of the Unionamerica Facilities Agreerpensuant to which: (1) NABL'’s participation ingttoriginal
$184.6 million facility was reduced from 100% td%0with Barclays Bank PLC providing the remainir@/

(2) the guarantee provided by us of all of thegdtibns of Royston under the Unionamerica Facilifigreement
was terminated; and (3) the interest rate on thdifyaA portion was reduced from LIBOR plus 3.50%LIBOR
plus 2.75% and the interest rate on the FaciligoBion was reduced from LIBOR plus 4.00% to LIB@RSs
3.25%.

During the existence of a payment default, therggerates will be increased by 1.00%. During tkistence of
any event of default (as specified in the UnionacaeFacilities Agreement), the lenders may dedlaat all
amounts outstanding under the Unionamerica Faslidigreement are immediately due and payable, iettiat all
borrowed amounts be paid upon demand, or procesidsadhe security. Amounts outstanding under the
Unionamerica Facilities Agreement are also sulifeeicceleration by the lenders in the event ofamgk of control
of Royston, successful application by Royston otaie of its affiliates (other than us) for listirg a stock
exchange, or total amounts outstanding under tktiss decreasing below $10.0 million. The Uniamerica
Facilities Agreement contains various financial &odiness covenants for Unionamerica FacilitieséB. As of
December 31, 2009, all of the financial covenaelsting to the Unionamerica facilities were meteTHowers Fun
has a 30% non-voting equity interest in Roystondtms Ltd., the direct parent company of Royston.

Aggregate Contractual Obligations

The following table shows our aggregate contraatbdibations by time period remaining to due dat@aia
December 31, 2009. The table does not reflecticemtaguisition-related payments potentially du¢hia future.

Less Than More Than
Payments due by periocd Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years
(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Contractual Obligations

Investment commitmen $ 101.1 $ 30.7 $ 40.¢ $ 29.€ $ —
Operating lease obligatiol 11.4 3.2 5.2 25 0.t
Loan repayment— principal 251.2 — 184.€ 66.7 —
Loan repayment— interest 35.€ 13.€ 17.1 4.9 —

Gross reserves for losses and loss adjustment
expense: 2,479.. 356.¢ 727.¢ 440.: 954.(
$2,878.f  $404. $975.€ $544.( $954.F

The amounts included in gross reserves for lossg$oss adjustment expenses reflect the estimantsagt of
expected loss payments on known claims and antedfature claims. Both the amount and timing aftcllows
are uncertain and do not have contractual payouoiste-or a discussion of these uncertainties, se€titical
Accounting Policies — Loss and Loss Adjustment Egas” beginning on page 70.

We have an accrued liability of approximately $illion for unrecognized tax benefits as of Decentii
2009. We are not able to make reasonably reliadilmates of the period in which any cash settlesgrat may
arise with any of the respective tax authoritieslldde made. Therefore the liability for unrecogmizax benefits i
not included in the table above.
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Commitments and Contingencice

In 2006, we committed to invest up to $100.0 millia the Flowers Fund. As of December 31, 2009 ctystal
contributed to the Flowers Fund was $96.9 millieith the remaining commitment being approximately
$3.1 million.

As at December 31, 2009, we guaranteed the oldigmtf two of our subsidiaries in respect of lattef credit
issued on their behalf by London-based banks iratheunt of £19.5 million (approximately $31.5 naitt) in
respect of capital commitments to Lloyd’s Syndic2®®8 and insurance contract requirements of otleeof
subsidiaries. The guarantees will be triggered khlmgses incurred by the subsidiaries exceed abailcash on
hand resulting in the letters of credit being drave at December 31, 2009, we had not recordedialpijities
associated with the guarantees.

On September 10, 2008, we made a commitment tetimreaggregate of $100.0 million in J.C. Flowers
Fund 11l L.P., or Fund Ill. Our commitment may beaein down by Fund Ill over approximately the nextyears.
As of December 31, 2009, $5.0 million of the commant had been drawn down. Fund lll is a privategtment
fund advised by J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC. J. ChristepFlowers, a member of our board of directors@mslof our
largest shareholders, is the founder and Managiagbér of J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC. John J. Oros, Bxecutive
Chairman and a member of our board of directora,Ns&anaging Director of J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC. MDros
splits his time between J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC asd

We have made a capital commitment of up to $10IBomiin the GSC European Mezzanine Fund Il, LP, or
GSC. GSC invests in mezzanine securities of middtelarge market companies throughout Western Eurap of
December 31, 2009, the capital contributed to G&€ $7.0 million, with the remaining commitment lgein
$3.0 million.

On November 2, 2009, we, through our wholly-owneldsidiary, Nordic Run-Off Limited, entered into a
definitive agreement for the purchase of Forsalgé@hgiebolaget Assuransinvest MF for a purchase miSEK
78.8 million (approximately $11.1 million). The minase price is expected to be funded from availedosd on han
Completion of the transaction is conditioned onpagother things, regulatory approval and satigfaaf various
customary closing conditions. The transaction {geexed to close in the first quarter of 2010.

On January 29, 2010, we, through our wholly-ownduk&liary, PWAC Holdings, Inc, entered into a ditifine
agreement for the purchase of PW Acquisition CoripanPWAC, for a purchase price of $25.0 milli@WAC
owns the entire share capital of Providence Wasbmipsurance Company. The purchase price is eggdotbe
funded from available cash on hand. Completiorhefttansaction is conditioned on, among other #inegulatory
approval and satisfaction of various customaryistpsonditions. The transaction is expected toeloghe second
quarter of 2010.

Off-Balance Sheet and Special Purpose Entity Arrargents

At December 31, 2009, we have not entered intocdfagalance sheet arrangements, as defined by 3@3(a)
(4) of Regulation S-K.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE INFORMATION ABOUT MARK ET RISK
Interest Rate Risk

Our balance sheets include a substantial amowagsdts and, to a lesser extent, liabilities whases/&lues are
subject to market risks. Market risk representspibtential for an economic loss due to adverse gbésm the fair
value of a financial instrument. Our most signifitenarket risks are primarily associated with cremnigp interest
rates and foreign currency exchange rates. Thewolg provides an analysis of the potential effélts these
market risk exposures could have on the futureilegsn

We have calculated the effect that an immediatelighshift in the U.S. interest rate yield curvewd have on
our cash and investments at December 31, 2009miblokeling of this effect was performed on our inuestts
classified as trading and available-for-sale. Atshithe yield curve would not have an impact am fixed income
investments classified as held-to-maturity as taeycarried at purchase cost adjusted for amaddizaf premiums
and discounts. The results of this analysis arensarized in the table below.

Interest Rate Movement Analysis on Market Value
of Investments Classified as Trading and Availablder-Sale

Interest Rate Shift in Basis Points

-50 —-25 0 +25 +50
(in thousands of U.S. dollars
Total Market Value $205,83: $204,43° $203,14¢ $201,87: $200,60¢
Market Value Change from Ba 1.3% 0.6% 0% (0.6)% (1.2)%
Change in Unrealized Valt $ 268: $ 1,28 $ 0 $ 127t $ 2,53¢

As a holder of fixed income securities and mutualds, we also have exposure to credit risk. Infemmtéo
minimize this risk, our investment guidelines h&een defined to ensure that the fixed income reelahdturity
portfolio is invested in high-quality securitiest Becember 31, 2009, approximately 65.5% of ouediincome
investment portfolio was rated AA or higher by Qtard & Poor’s.

At December 31, 2009, reinsurance receivables 85 3million were associated with three reinsuesrs
represented 62.0% of reinsurance balances receivEfse reinsurers are rated AA- or higher by &tath&
Poor’s. In the event that all or any of the reimsgicompanies are unable to meet their obligatiorder existing
reinsurance agreements, we will be liable for siefaulted amounts.

Effects of Inflation

We do not believe that inflation has had a matefiEct on our consolidated results of operatituoss reserve
are established to recognize likely loss settlemanthe date payment is made. Those reserveseitherecognize
the anticipated effects of inflation. The actudéefs of inflation on our results cannot be acalyaknown,
however, until claims are ultimately resolved.

Foreign Currency Risk

Through our subsidiaries located in various foraigantries, we conduct our insurance and reinseranc
operations in a variety of non-U.S. currenciestifesfunctional currency for the majority of our sidiaries is the
U.S. dollar, fluctuations in foreign currency exnba rates related to these subsidiaries will hadieegt impact on
the valuation of our assets and liabilities denated in local currencies. All changes in foreigoleange rates, wi
the exception of non-U.S. dollar denominated investts classified as available-for-saeg recognized currently
foreign exchange gains (losses) in our consolidstaments of earnings.

Certain of our subsidiaries have the Australiadadals their functional currency. Fluctuationsaneign
currency exchange rates related to these subsigliaave a direct impact on the valuation of thesets and
liabilities denominated in local currencies. Allactges in foreign exchange rates, with the excejptiaur
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U.S. dollar denominated investments classifiedvaslable-for-sale held by our Australian subsidariare
recognized currently in foreign exchange gainss@g in our consolidated statements of earnings.

We currently do not use foreign currency hedgendoage our foreign currency exchange risk. Quidare
currency policy is to broadly manage, where possitlir foreign currency risk by seeking to matchl@bilities
under insurance and reinsurance policies thatayalpe in foreign currencies with assets that aredinated in
such currencies, subject to regulatory constrairigs matching process is carried out quarterlgriears and
therefore any mismatches occurring in the periog gige rise to foreign exchange gains and lossagwcould
adversely affect our operating results. We are,dvar, required to maintain assets in non-U.S. dotlameet
certain local country branch and regulatory requeats, which restricts our ability to manage theggosures
through the matching of our assets and liabiliti#s. currently have not matched our surplus Brigishnds relating
to cash collateral required to support British pbdenominated letters of credit required by U.lgulators.

Regarding our investments, we are currently exptsedrrency fluctuations through our investmentseispec
of: 1) non-U.S. dollar fixed maturities held by aubsidiaries whose functional currency is U.Slads] and 2) non-
Australian dollar fixed maturities held by our sidigries whose functional currency is Australiadlas. The
unrealized foreign exchange gains (losses) arfsorg non-Australian fixed maturities classified as
available-for-sale are recorded in accumulatedratbmprehensive income in our shareholders’ equity.

The table below summarizes our gross and net expesuof December 31, 2009 to foreign currenciestio
subsidiaries whose functional currency is U.S.atsll

GBP Euro AUD CDN Other Total
(in millions of U.S. dollars)
Total Assets $572.C $225.: $57.4 $64.z $23.1 $942.(
Total Liabilities 536.1 181.¢ 40.€ 41.4 20.¢ 821.(
Net Foreign Currency Exposu $ 356 $43EF $16.F $22.6 $2.3 $121(

Excluding any tax effects, as of December 31, 2@080% change in the U.S. dollar relative to theept
currencies held by us would have resulted in alflllion change in shareholders’ equity. Excludamy tax
effects, as of December 31, 2008, a 10% chand®it/tS. dollar relative to the other currenciesi sl us would
have resulted in a $20.2 million change in shaidgrs! equity.

The table below summarizes our gross and net expasuof December 31, 2009 to foreign currenciestio
subsidiaries whose functional currency is Austratiallars:

GBP Euro USD CDN Other Total
(in millions of U.S. dollars)
Total Assets $16.C $ 523 $204.t $0.1) $2.3 $228.(
Total Liabilities 11.2 12.4 115.c 0.2 0.3 139.2
Net Foreign Currency Exposu $48 $(7.1)) $89.z $0.3 $2.C ¢ 88.

Excluding any tax effects, as of December 31, 2@0B)% change in the Australian dollar relativéhi® other
currencies held by us would have resulted in a 88lign change in shareholdersquity. Excluding any tax effec
as of December 31, 2008, a 10% change in the Aiastrdollar relative to the other currencies heyduls would
have resulted in a $15.0 million change in shamdrsl equity.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, we ncelohgd any subsidiaries whose functional currenay w
British pounds. As of December 31, 2008, a 10% ghan the British pound relative to the other cncies held by
us would have resulted in a $6.3 million changshiareholders’ equity.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Enstar Group Limited

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Enstar Group Limited and subsidigties
“Company”) as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, aaddlated consolidated statements of earnings, hepsive
income, changes in shareholders’ equity and casVsffor the years ended December 31, 2009, 20026@d. Our
audits also included the financial statement scleeliited in the Index at Item 15. These consoéiddinancial
statements and financial statement schedule aresipensibility of the Company’s management. Ospoasibility
is to express an opinion on these consolidateadiahstatements and financial statement schedcaidedon our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting Oversighago
(United States). Those standards require that ame ghd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether the financial statements are free of materisstatement. An audit includes examining, ¢esa basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosuréigifinancial statements. An audit also includegssing the
accounting principles used and significant estimatade by management, as well as evaluating thralbfieancial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial stateta@resent fairly, in all material respects, tinaricial
position of Enstar Group Limited and subsidiaris®BDecember 31, 2009 and 2008, and the resuttseof
operations and their cash flows for the years emtszbmber 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 in conformit wit
accounting principles generally accepted in thetdééhStates of America. Also, in our opinion, suickamcial
statement schedule, when considered in relatidinegdasic consolidated financial statements takemwahole,
presents fairly, in all material respects, the iinfation set forth therein.

As described in Note 2 to the consolidated findrat@ements, effective January 1, 2009, the Compdopter
the new guidance issued by the United States Fiamlafccounting Standard Board on the accounting for
noncontrolling interests.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boar
(United States), the Company'’s internal controlrdireancial reporting as of December 31, 2009, HaseInternal
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Cor@mibf Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission and our report dated March 3, 2010 esgeick an unqualified opinion on the Comparigternal contrc
over financial reporting.

/sl Deloitte & Touche

Hamilton, Bermuda
March 3, 2010
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ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of December 31, 2009 and 2008

ASSETS
Short-term investments, available for sale, atvalue (amortized
cost: 200— $45,046; 200{— $406,712)

Short-term investments, held to maturity, at amzedicost (fair value

2009— $159,333; 200(— $nil)

Fixed maturities, available for sale, at fair va{aenortized cost:
2009— $69,976; 200{— $103,452)

Fixed maturities, held to maturity, at amortizedtodair value:
2009— $1,169,934; 200— $598,686)

Fixed maturities, trading, at fair value (amortizedst: 2009 —
$85,775; 200¢— $110,453)

Equities, trading, at fair value (cost: 26— $21,257; 200{— $5,087)

Other investments, at fair value (cost: 2009 — $883; 2008 —
$147,652)
Total investment
Cash and cash equivalel
Restricted cash and cash equivale
Accrued interest receivab
Accounts receivable, n
Income taxes recoverak
Reinsurance balances receive
Investment in partly owned compa
Goodwill
Other asset

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Losses and loss adjustment expel
Reinsurance balances paya
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit
Income taxes payab

Loans payabl

Other liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
SHAREHOLDER¢ EQUITY
Share capite
Authorized issued and fully paid, par value $1 e@ehhorized
2009:156,000,000; 200
156,000,000

Ordinary shares (issued and outstanding 2009: 0398; 2008:

13,334,353

Non-voting convertible ordinary shares (issued 2@)972,892;
2008: 2,972,892

Treasury shares at cost (non-voting convertiblénarg shares
2009: 2,972,892; 200:

2,972,892

Additional paic-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive income (It

Retained earning

Total Enstar Group Limited Shareholc’ Equity

Noncontrolling interes

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERY EQUITY
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

2009 2008

(expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars, except
share data)

$  45,20¢ $ 406,71
159,21 —
69,89: 104,79°
1,152,331 586,71(
88,05( 115,84
24,50: 3,747
81,80 60,23
1,620,99; 1,278,05!
1,266,44! 1,866,541
433,66 343,32°
16,10¢ 21,27
17,65' 15,99:
3,271 —
638,26 672,69
20,85( 20,85(
21,22: 21,22:
132,36 118,18t
$4,170,84 $4,358,15.
$2,479,13 $2,798,28
162,57 179,91°
60,87¢ 39,34(
51,85¢ 19,03
254,96 391,53
85,28t 58,80¢
3,094,69! 3,486,92
13,58: 13,33«
2,97¢ 2,97:
(421,55 (421,55¢)
721,12( 709,48
8,70¢ (30,877)
477,05 341,84
801,88: 615,20
274,27 256,02:
1,076,15: 871,23
$4,170,84; $4,358,15.

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements
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ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and Z00

INCOME
Consulting fee:
Net investment incom
Net realized gains (losse

EXPENSES
Net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjustnesmpiense liabilities
Reduction in estimates of net ultimate los
(Reduction) increase in provisions for bad c
Reduction in provisions for unallocated loss arg$ladjustment expen
liabilities
Amortization of fair value adjustmen

Salaries and benefi

General and administrative expen
Interest expens

Net foreign exchange loss (ga

EARNINGS BEFORE INCOME TAXES AND SHARE OF NET LOSH-
PARTLY OWNED COMPANY

INCOME TAXES

SHARE OF NET LOSS OF PARTLY OWNED COMPAN

EARNINGS BEFORE EXTRAORDINARY GAIN

Extraordinary gai— Negative goodwil

NET EARNINGS

Less: Net earnings attributable to noncontrollimigiests (including share
extraordinary gain of $nil, $15,084, and $nil, resjvely)

NET EARNINGS ATTRIBUTABLE TO ENSTAR GROUP LIMITEL

EARNINGS PER SHARE— BASIC:

Earnings before extraordinary gain attributabl&mstar Group Limited ordinai

shareholder
Extraordinary gain attributable to Enstar Group itéd ordinary shareholde

Net earnings attributable to Enstar Group Limitedireary shareholdel
EARNINGS PER SHARE— DILUTED:

Earnings before extraordinary gain attributabl&mstar Group Limited ordinary

shareholder
Extraordinary gain attributable to Enstar Group itéd ordinary shareholde

Net earnings attributable to Enstar Group Limitedirary shareholdel

Weighted average ordinary shares outstan— basic

Weighted average ordinary shares outstan— diluted

AMOUNTS ATTRIBUTABLE TO ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED ORDINRY
SHAREHOLDERS:

Earnings before extraordinary g¢

Extraordinary gair— Negative goodwil

Net earnings

2009

2008

2007

(expressed in thousands of U.S.
dollars, except share and per share dat:

16,10 $ 2515. $  31,91¢
81,37: 26,60: 64,08:
4,231 (1,655) 24¢
101,71 50,09: 96,25¢
(274,82  (161,43) (30,749
(11,719 (36,139 1,74€
(50,419 (69,05¢) (22,019
77,32t 24,52t 26,53:
(259,62) (242,109 (24,48)
68,45: 56,27( 46,97
46,90: 53,35’ 31,41¢
17,58 23,37( 4,87¢
23,78: 14,98 (7,929
(102,90) (94,12)) 50,86:
204,61 144,21 45,39:
(27,609 (46,859 7,441
— (201)
177,00 97,16: 52,83:
— 50,28( 15,68
177,00 147,44 68,51¢
(41,799 (65,897 (6,730)
13521( $  81,55. $ 61,78
10.01 $ 367 $ 3.9:
— 2.7¢ 1.34
10.01 $ 645 $ 5.27
9.8, $ 35¢ $ 3.84
— 2.72 1.31
9.8/ $ 6.31 $ 5.1F
1351420 12,638,33  11,731,90
13,744,66  12,921,47  12,009,68
$ 13521 $ 46,358 $ 46,10
— 35,19¢ 15,68
$ 13521( $ 8155 $ 61,78

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements
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ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the Years Ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and Z00

2009 2008 2007
(expressed in thousands ¢
U.S. dollars)

NET EARNINGS $177,00¢ $147,44: $68,51f
Other comprehensive incorr

Unrealized holding (losses) gains on investmernissngy during the perio (3,339 8,52¢ 24¢

Reclassification adjustment for net realized (griosses included in net

earnings (4,237 1,65¢ (249)

Currency translation adjustme 69,83 (66,41)) 1,47(C
Total other comprehensive income (lo 62,26¢ (56,23) 1,47(C
Comprehensive incon 239,27: 91,21 69,98¢

Less comprehensive income attributable to noncbimganterests (64,487 (46,567 (6,730
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO ENSTAR GROUP

LIMITED $174,78¢ $ 44,64t $63,25¢

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements
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ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
For the Years Ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 ap@d07

Share Capital— Ordinary Shares
Balance, beginning of ye
Conversion of share
Issue of share
Shares repurchas
Share awards granted/ves

Balance, end of ye:

Share Capital— Non-Voting Convertible Ordinary Shares
Balance, beginning of ye
Conversion of share
Balance, end of ye:

Treasury Shares
Balance, beginning of ye
Shares acquired, at cc
Balance, end of yei

Additional Paid-in Capital
Balance, beginning of ye
Equity attributable to Enstar Group Limited on asgion of
noncontrolling sharehold€’ interest in subsidiar
Share awards granted/ves
Shares repurchas
Issue of share
Amortization of share awar(

Balance, end of ye:

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) Atthutable to Enstar
Group Limited
Balance, beginning of ye
Cumulative translation adjustmet
Net movement in unrealized holding gains on invesits

Balance, end of ye:i

Retained Earnings
Balance, beginning of ye
Adjustment to initially apply ASC 74
Adjusted balance, beginning of peri
Conversion of share
Net earnings attributable to Enstar Group Lim

Balance, end of yei

Noncontrolling Interest
Balance, beginning of ye
(Return) contribution of capiti
Equity attributable to noncontrolling interest argaisition of

noncontrolling shareholde’ interest in subsidiar

Dividends paic
Net earnings attributable to noncontrolling inte|
Cumulative translation adjustmet

Net movement on unrealized holding gains on invests
Balance, end of ye:i

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements
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2009

2008

2007

(expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars)

$ 13,33¢

17C

77

$ 11,92(

1,37¢

39

$ 19
6,02¢
5,77¢

U
104

$ 13,58

$ 13,33¢

$ 11,92

$ 297

$ 2,97¢

$ —
2,97¢

$ 297

$ 2978

$ 297

$(421,559)

$(421,559)

$ —
(421,55

$(421,559)

$(421,55¢)

$(421,559)

$ 709,48!

2,71¢
3,567

5,352

$ 590,93«

2,551

115,39:
60¢

$ 111,37:

3,66¢
(16,755
490,26
2,38¢

$ 721,12

$ 709,48!

$ 590,93:

$ (30,872)
48,93¢
(9,359

$ 6,03t
(47,086
10,18(

$ 4,56¢
1,47C

$ 8,70¢

$ (30,87Y)

$ 6,03t

$ 341,84

$ 260,29t

$ 202,65!
4,85¢

341,84

135,21(

260,29t

81,55

207,51
(9,007)
61,78t

$ 477,05

$ 341,84

$ 260,29t

$ 256,02;
(38,010

(7,242

(980)
41,79¢
20,89t

1,791

$ 63,437
161,40¢

(15,397
65,89:
(19,329

$ 55,52
1,18

6,73(

$ 274,27:

$ 256,02!

$ 63,43
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ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and Z00

2009 2008 2007
(expressed in thousands of
U.S. dollars)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net earnings $ 177,006 $ 147,44 $ 68,51°
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to cash flpwsided by operating activitie
Negative goodwil — (50,280 (15,687)
Share of undistributed net loss (earnings) of pat¥ned compan — 201 —
Share of net (gain) loss from other investm (5,157 85,157 —
Shar-based compensation expel — 60€ 2,38¢
Net realized and unrealized investment (gain) (4,237 1,65t (249
Other items 6,76¢ 7,65¢€ 5,37¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,13¢ 80¢ 951
Amortization of bond premiums and discou 5,92¢ (1,27¢) 17¢
Net movement of trading securities held on behigffaticyholders 28,05¢ 207,13. 104,36:
Sales of trading securitit 13,28¢ — —
Purchases of trading securit (17,599 — —
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Reinsurance balances receiva 70,16¢ 24.27( 118,85(
Other asset (877) 45,30: (7,580
Losses and loss adjustment expel (504,379  (268,33) (105,11)
Reinsurance balances paya (28,26%) (74,047 (74,477
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit 11,42¢ (11,349 (5,926
Other liabilities 48,68¢ 42,23t (17,919
Net cash flows (used in) provided by operatingwititis (198,05%) 157,18° 73,67¢
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Acquisitions, net of cash acquir $ 67,80 $ 254,61 $ 5,652
Purchase cavailablefor-salesecurities (222,89)  (212,34) (74,82)
Sales and maturities availabl«-for-salesecurities 688,18( 263,29¢ 411,57
Purchase chelc-to-maturity securities (873,679 — (29,519
Maturity of helc-to-maturity securities 186,09: 136,30! 229,81¢
Movement in restricted cash and cash equiva (85,005  (141,47YH (53,35¢)
Funding of other investmen (17,869 (33,48¢) (11,829
Purchase of investments in partly owned comg — (21,38)) —
Other investing activitie (2,452 (4693 (2,396
Net cash flows (used in) provided by investing\atiés (259,81 245,06: 475,12°
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shi $ 2,79¢ $ 11539 $ —
Distribution of capital and dividend to noncontihog interest (38,990 (27,14¢) —
Contribution to surplus of subsidiary by noncoring interest — 163,84¢ 1,183
Receipt of loan: — 572,79: 42,12¢
Repayment of loar (163,49() (200,30 (31,039
Repurchase of shar — — (16,767)
Net cash flows (used in) provided by financing\dtigs (199,68 624,58:¢ (4,482
TRANSLATION ADJUSTMENT 57,45: (155,529) 101
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT (600,10) 871,30¢ 544,42(
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAF 1,866,541 995,23" 450,81
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAF $1,266,44' $1,866,54! $ 995,23
Supplement Cash Flow Information
Net income taxes (paid) recovel $ (20,149 $ (6,195 $ 5,241
Interest paic $ 11,84¢ $ 1485: $ 4,59

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements
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ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007
(Tabular information expressed in thousands of U.Sdollars except share and per share data)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Enstar Group Limited (“Enstar” or the “Company”) sviormed in August 2001 under the laws of Bermuda t
acquire and manage insurance and reinsurance c@spamun-off, and to provide management, consglénd
other services to the insurance and reinsuranassind On January 31, 2007, Enstar completed thgenéthe
“Merger”) of CWMS Subsidiary Corp., a Georgia corgiion and wholly-owned subsidiary of Enstar, vatid into
The Enstar Group Inc. (“EGI”), a Georgia corporatids a result of the Merger, EGI, renamed EnstBAlnc., is
now a wholly-owned subsidiary of Enstar. Priorlie Merger, EGI owned an approximately 32% econa@nit
50% voting interest in Enstar.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation— The consolidated financial statements have Ipeepared in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in thetdéhStates of America (“U.S. GAAP”). The preparataf
financial statements in conformity with generalécapted accounting principles requires managemengake
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartemint of assets and liabilities and disclosureootingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial stagets and the reported amounts of revenues and segeiaring the
reporting period. Actual results could differ frahose estimates. The major estimates reflecteaeiCompany’s
financial statements include, but are not limitedthe reserves for losses and loss adjustmenhegpeand
reinsurance balances receivable.

To facilitate period-to-period comparisons in N6t the consolidated financial statements, the @omy’'s
short-term investments as at December 31, 2008 lbeee reclassified to conform to the 2009 presiamaSuch
reclassifications had no effect on the Companyfsotidated net earnings.

Basis of consolidation— The consolidated financial statements inclugeassets, liabilities and results of
operations of the Company as of December 31, 2662808 and for the years ended December 31, 2008, anc
2007. Results of operations for subsidiaries aeguare included from the dates of their acquisitiprihe Compan
Intercompany transactions are eliminated on codatitin.

Cash and cash equivalents- The Company considers all highly liquid debtinments purchased with an
initial maturity of three months or less to be casld cash equivalents.

Investments—

a) Short-Term InvestmentsShort-term investments comprise securities withadurity greater than three
months but less than one year from the date offase Short-term investments classified as aveilrtsale are
carried at fair value, with unrealized gains arsb&s excluded from net earnings and reported @gaaiate
component of accumulated other comprehensive incAmertization expenses derive from the differehetveen
the nominal value and purchase cost and they aeadver the time to maturity of the debt seaesiti

b) Fixed Maturities: Debt securities classified as held-to-maturity stweents are carried at purchase cost
adjusted for amortization of premiums and discoubebt investments classified as trading securérescarried at
fair value, with realized and unrealized holdingngaand losses recognized in realized gains arsg$oDebt
securities classified as available-for-sale arei@duat fair value, with unrealized gains and Iessecluded from net
earnings and reported as a separate componentwhatated other comprehensive income. Amortizagigenses
derive from the difference between the nominal @alnd purchase cost and they are spread oventaddimaturit
of the debt securities.

c¢) Equity Securities: Equity investments are classified as trading sges and are carried at fair value with
realized and unrealized holding gains and lossesgrézed in realized gains and losses.
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ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (C ontinued)

d) Other Investments:Other investments include investments in limpadtnerships and limited liability
companies which value their investments at faingalThe Company has no significant influence aresdwmt
participate in the management of these investm@iker investments are accounted for at estimatieddlues,
determined by the Company’s proportionate shatbehet asset value of the investee reduced bynapgirment
charges. The Company records movement in the dlite other investments through earnings. Sigaific
estimates are involved in the valuation of oth@estments. Because of the inherent uncertaintyalfation, the
estimates of fair value may differ significantlyfn the values that would have been used had a reatket for the
other investments existed. The differences coulsidpaificant.

Investments classified as held-to maturity andlaleée-forsale are reviewed quarterly to determine if theyel
sustained an impairment of value that is considevdxk other than temporary. The process inclugswing each
fixed maturity investment that is impaired and deteing: (1) if the Company has the intent to sedl fixed
maturity investment; (2) if it is more likely thamot that the Company will be required to sell tixed maturity
investment before its anticipated recovery; andaé®essing whether a credit loss exists, thatierevthe Company
expects that the present value of the cash flowsard to be collected from the fixed maturity istweent are less
than the amortized cost basis of the investmergviiuating credit losses, the Company consideesiaty of
factors in the assessment of a fixed maturity itmest including: (1) the time period during whidtete has been a
significant decline below cost; (2) the extentlo# tecline below cost and par; (3) the potentiattie fixed maturit
investment to recover in value; (4) an analysitheffinancial condition of the issuer; (5) the mgtiof the issuer; and
(6) failure of the issuer of the fixed maturity @stment to make scheduled interest or principairgeys. If
management concludes a security is other-than-tearpoimpaired (“OTTI") then the difference betweéhe fair
value and the amortized cost of the security isgmied as an OTTI charge in the consolidated seattnof
earnings, with an offset for any noncredit-reldtests component of the OTTI charge to be recognizedher
comprehensive income. Accordingly, only the créais component of the OTTI amount will have an iotm the
Company'’s earnings. Realized gains and loss os séli@avestments classified as available-for-salg taading
securities are recognized in the consolidatedrseé of earnings. Investment purchases and saageorded on a
trade-date basis.

Investment in partly owned compary An investment in a partly owned company, in vbhilke Company has
significant influence, is carried on the equityibaghereby the investment is initially recorde¢as$t and adjusted
reflect the Company’s share of after-tax earningesses and unrealized investment gains and |@sskseduced
by dividends.

Loss and loss adjustment expensesThe liability for loss and loss adjustment exgesnincludes an amount
determined from loss reports and individual casesaan amount, based on historical loss experiendéralustry
statistics, for losses incurred but not reportetese estimates are continually reviewed and aressadly subject t
the impact of future changes in such factors ascéaverity and frequency. While management betigkiat the
amount is adequate, the ultimate liability may io@igicantly in excess of, or less than, the ameyrbvided.
Adjustments will be reflected as part of net inseear reduction in loss and loss adjustment expéatsiéties in the
periods in which they become known. Premium andro@sion adjustments may be triggered by incurredds
and any amounts are reflected in net loss andaldisstment expense liabilities at the same timedtaged incurred
loss is recognized.

The Companys insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries estgilistisions for loss adjustment expenses rel
to run-off costs for the estimated duration of thie-off. These provisions are assessed at eachtirgpdate and
provisions relating to future periods are adjusteckflect any changes in estimates of the peringieoff costs or
the duration of the run-off. Provisions relatinghe current period together with any adjustmemfsiture run-off
provisions are included in loss and loss adjustregpénses in the consolidated statements of earning

Reinsurance balances receivable Amounts receivable from reinsurers are estimatedmanner consistent
with the loss reserve associated with the undeglpiolicy.
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ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (C ontinued)

Retroactive reinsurance contracts- Premiums on ceded retroactive contracts areedaspon inception of the
contract with corresponding reinsurance recoverasiablished for the amount of reserves cededinitied gain, if
applicable, is deferred and amortized into incower @n actuarially determined expected payout derio

Consulting fee income— Fixed fee income is recognized in accordanch tiié term of the agreements. Fees
based on hourly charge rates are recognized asagare provided. Performance fees are recogmibed all of
the contractual requirements specified in the agesd are met.

Foreign currencies— At each balance sheet date, recorded balanatarth denominated in a currency other
than the functional currency of the Company areistdd to reflect the current exchange rate. Revandeexpense
items are translated into U.S. dollars at averatgsrof exchange for the years. The resulting exgihgains or
losses are included in net earnings.

Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries are tramslahto U.S. dollars at the year-end rates of exghaRevenues
and expenses of subsidiaries are translated irgoddllars at the average rates of exchange foyehe

The resultant translation adjustment for sltaining subsidiaries is classified as a sepaatgonent of oth:
comprehensive income and for integrated operatomeluded in net earnings.

Earnings per share— Basic earnings per share is defined as netrggsravailable to ordinary shareholders
divided by the weighted average number of ordirsdugres outstanding for the period, giving no effedtilutive
securities. Diluted earnings per share is defireeded earnings available to ordinary shareholdierdet by the
weighted average number of ordinary and ordinagyeskequivalents outstanding calculated using geestiry stock
method for all potentially dilutive securities. Whthe effect of dilutive securities would be antistive, these
securities are excluded from the calculation aitéidl earnings per share.

Acquisitions — Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase pver the fair value of the net assets
received related to the acquisition of Enstar Léaaifformerly “Castlewood Limited”) by Enstar in 200rhe
Company performed an initial valuation of its godtlassets and updates this analysis on an anraséd bf, as a
result of the assessment, the Company determiregthe of its goodwill asset is impaired, goodvsillvritten
down in the period in which the determination isd@aAn annual impairment valuation has concluded there is
no impairment to the value of the Company’s gooldagket. Negative goodwill arises where the falu@af net
assets acquired exceeds the purchase price ofdlbgs@red assets and has been recognized as anorektiary gain

Stock Based Compensatier Compensation costs related to share-based payraesactions are recognized
in the financial statements based on the grantfdategalue of the award. On May 23, 2006, Enstdered into an
agreement and plan of merger and a recapitalizatipeement. As a result of the execution of thgseeaments, the
accounting treatment for share-based awards issugel Enstar’'s employee share plan changed frork baloe to
fair value.

Adoption of New Accounting Standards

In June 2009, the United States Financial AccognBtandards Board (“FASB”) established the Accaunti
Standards Codification (“the Codification”) as $murce of authoritative U.S. GAAP for non-governtaéentities,
in addition to guidance issued by the SecuritiesExchange Commission (“SEC”). The Codificationetgedes all
then-existing, non-SEC accounting and reportingddeds and reorganizes existing U.S. GAAP into @uittktive
accounting topics and sub-topics. The Company adogiie Codification as of September 30, 2009, timdpacted
the Company’s disclosures by eliminating all refiees to pre-Codification standards.

The Company adopted the revised guidance, issu€d\BB on the accounting for business combinations,
effective January 1, 2009. The revised guidan@mnethe fundamental requirements from previoudange that
the acquisition method of accounting be used fidnediness combinations and for an acquirer tabatified for
each business combination. The revised guidanagéresgan acquirer to recognize the assets acquired,
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liabilities assumed, and any noncontrolling intefeshe acquiree at the acquisition date, measatéueir fair
values as of that date. The revised guidance atpgines the Company to recognize acquisition-rdlatsts
separately from the acquisition, recognize asstgieed and liabilities assumed arising from cocttral
contingencies at their acquisition-date fair valaed recognize goodwill as the excess of the cenaiin
transferred plus the fair value of any noncontngjlinterest in the acquiree at the acquisition dagr the fair value
of the identifiable net assets acquired. The adoptf the revised guidance did not have a matemiphct on the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company adopted the new guidance issued by FSBe accounting for noncontrolling interests,
effective January 1, 2009. The new guidance ckwifhat a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiargri ownership
interest that should be reported as equity in tmsaclidated financial statements. The new guidaegaires
consolidated net income to be reported at the atsdbat include the amounts attributable to bothgarent and tk
noncontrolling interest. The new guidance alsoldisfaes a method of accounting for changes in arjiar
ownership interest in a subsidiary that resultddnonsolidation. The presentation and disclosutbehew
guidance have been applied retrospectively fopeliods presented. The adoption of the new guidessdted in
reclassification of noncontrolling interest in tamount of $256.0 million to shareholders’ equityga®ecember 31,
2008.

The Company adopted new guidance issued by FASBendisclosures about derivative instruments and
hedging activities, effective January 1, 2009. he guidance expands the disclosure requiremedtseguires th
reporting entity to provide enhanced disclosuresuaithe objectives and strategies for using derigahstruments,
guantitative disclosures about fair values and artsoaf gains and losses on derivative contracts caedit-risk
related contingent features in derivative agreeméltie adoption of the new guidance did not havmterial
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

The Company adopted the new guidance issued by F&SEtermining fair value when the volume and lleve
of activity for an asset or liability have signiictly decreased and identifying transactions thenat orderly,
effective April 1, 2009. The new guidance provideslitional guidance on: (1) estimating fair valusen the
volume and level of activity for an asset or lighihave significantly decreased in relation to tleemal market
activity for the asset or liability, and (2) ideythg transactions that are not orderly. The nevwdagnce has been
applied prospectively; retrospective applicatiorswat permitted. The adoption of the new guidandendt have a
material impact on the consolidated financial stegats.

The Company adopted the new guidance issued by F&iSBe accounting for
other-than-temporary impairments (“OTTI"), effectivpril 1, 2009. The new guidance provides guidamtéhe
recognition and presentation of OTTI for availafde-sale and held-to-maturity fixed maturities (étps are
excluded). An impaired security is not recognizeda impairment if management does not intend|tdhse
impaired security and it is more likely than nowitl not be required to sell the security befdne tecovery of its
amortized cost basis. If management concludeswaisets other-than-temporarily impaired, the newdance
requires that the difference between the fair valug the amortized cost of the security be predesdean OTTI
charge in the consolidated statements of earninigfs,an offset for any noncredit-related loss comgat of the
OTTI charge to be recognized in other compreherisis@me. Accordingly, only the credit loss companeinthe
OTTI amount will have an impact on the Compangarnings. The new guidance also requires exengw interir
and annual disclosure for both fixed maturities aqdities to provide further disaggregated infoiorgtas well as
information about how the credit loss componerthefOTTI charge was determined, and requires danllard of
such amount for each reporting period. The adopifche new guidance did not have a material impadhe
consolidated financial statements.

The Company adopted the new guidance issued by F&SBe interim disclosures about fair value ofdincia
instruments, effective April 1, 2009. The new guida extends the disclosure requirements aboutdaie of
financial instruments to interim financial statertseand requires those disclosures in summarizedhdial
information at interim reporting periods. The adoptof the new guidance did not have a materialdiohjpn the
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consolidated financial statements. To facilitatéqueto-period comparisons, certain amounts in20@8
consolidated financial statements have been réfibasto conform to the 2009 presentation. Suchassifications
had no effect on the Company’s consolidated netnre

The Company adopted the revised guidance issu€d\B for recognizing and measuring pre-acquisition
contingencies in a business combination, effecdipal 1, 2009. The revised guidance amends ther grisdance by
requiring that assets acquired or liabilities assdinm a business combination that arise from cgstigies be
recognized at fair value only if fair value canrbasonably estimated; otherwise the asset oritiakhould
generally be recognized at reasonable estimateeainount of loss. The revised guidance removesetigrement
to disclose an estimate of the range of outcomesanignized contingencies at the acquisition dette.adoption of
the revised guidance did not have a material impac¢he consolidated financial statements.

The Company adopted the new guidance issued by Fé&iStBe accounting for subsequent events, effectiv
June 30, 2009. The new guidance, establishes destenalards of accounting for and disclosure oh&véhat occur
after the balance sheet date but before the finhst@tements are issued or are available to beds§he new
guidance provides guidance on the period afteb#i@nce sheet date during which management ofcatiieg entity
should evaluate events or transactions that mayrdoc potential recognition or disclosure in tlhiahcial
statements, the circumstances under which an esfitéiyld recognize events or transactions occuafteg the
balance sheet date in its financial statementgtandisclosures that an entity should make aboentsvor
transactions that occurred after the balance steget The adoption of the new guidance did not laameaterial
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards Not Yet Addpte

In June 2009, the FASB issued the revised guidfordbe consolidation of variable interest entiti€he
revised guidance requires an entity to performraiyais to determine whether the entity’s varidbterest or
interests give it a controlling financial inter@sta variable interest entity. It determines whetheeporting entity is
required to consolidate another entity based omnanother things, the other entity’s purpose argigieand the
reporting entity’s ability to direct the activitied the other entity that most significantly imp#ue other entity’s
economic performance. The revised guidance is t@ffeas of the beginning of each reporting entifyr'st annual
reporting period that begins after November 15,922060r interim periods within that first annual mefing period,
and for interim and annual reporting periods thiteeaThe Company is currently evaluating the impEcadopting
this revised guidance on the consolidated finarstatements.

In December 2009, the FASB issued revised guidéordie accounting for transfers of financial ass&he
revised guidance eliminates the concept of a “fiatj special-purpose entity”; changes the requeets for
derecognizing financial assets; and enhances iomreported to financial statement users byeiasing the
transparency of disclosures about transfers offiizd assets and an enti#ycontinuing involvement with transferr
financial assets. The revised guidance is effec@ssef the beginning of each reporting entity’stfainnual reporting
period that begins after November 15, 2009, fagrimt periods within that first annual reporting ipel; and for
interim and annual reporting periods thereaftee Tompany is currently evaluating the impact offdihy this
revised guidance on the consolidated financiaéstants.

In January 2010, the FASB issued the revised gailéar the disclosures about fair value measuresn@ihe
revised guidance requires additional disclosuresiafsansfers into and out of Levels 1 and 2 apdussde
disclosures about purchases, sales, issuancesetitaments relating to Level 3 measurements. &hised
guidance also clarifies existing fair value disdles about the level of disaggregation and abquitnand valuatic
techniques used to measure fair value. The reygjaethnce is effective for the first reporting perigncluding
interim periods) beginning after December 15, 2@3@gept for the requirement to provide the Levat8vity of
purchases, sales, issuances, and settlementsroasabgsis, which will be effective for fiscal yedieginning after
December 15, 2010, and for interim periods withiose fiscal years. The Company is currently evalgahe
impact of adopting this revised guidance on thesobidated financial statements.
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The Company has determined that all other recésglyed accounting pronouncements will not have temah
impact on its consolidated financial statementglmnot apply to its operations.

3. ACQUISITIONS

The Company accounts for acquisitions using thelpge method of accounting, which requires that the
acquirer record the assets and liabilities acquatatieir estimated fair value. The fair valueseshsurance assets
and liabilities acquired are derived from probapilveighted ranges of the associated projected ftasis, based on
actuarially prepared information and managementsaff strategy. Any amendment to the fair valuesutting
from changes in such information or strategy walrecognized when they occur.

2007
EGI and BH

On January 31, 2007, the Company completed the é@fgCWMS Subsidiary Corp., a Georgia corporation
and its wholly-owned subsidiary, with and into E&& a result of the Merger, EGI, renamed Enstar U84, is
now a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Following completion of the Merger, trading in EEEommon stock ceased and certificates for shdfe&bs
common stock now represent the same number of Emstmary shares. Commencing February 1, 2007, the
ordinary shares of Enstar traded on the NASDAQ &ll&elect Market under the ticker symbol ‘ESGRDtilun
March 1, 2007 and, thereafter, under the tickertey)fESGR.’

In addition, immediately prior to the closing oktMerger, Enstar completed a recapitalization pamsto
which it: (1) exchanged all of its previous outstauny shares for new ordinary shares of Enstari¢@jgnated its
initial board of directors immediately followingdtMerger; (3) repurchased certain of its shares ye[Trident I,
L.P. and its affiliates; (4) made payments totatisgl million to certain of its executive officeand employees, as
an incentive to remain with Enstar following the fger; and (5) purchased, through its wholly-ownelsidiary,
Enstar Limited, the shares of B.H. Acquisition L@ Bermuda company, held by an affiliate of TridknL.P.

On February 23, 2007, Enstar repurchased 7,18@Eostinary shares from T. Whit Armstrong for total
consideration of $0.7 million. This repurchase wdase in accordance with the letter agreement ddtgd23, 2006
between T. Whit Armstong, T. Wayne Davis and Engtasuant to which Enstar agreed to repurchase from
Messrs. Armstrong and Davis, upon their requesingwa 30-day period commencing January 15, 200hea
prevailing market prices, such number of Enstamamy shares as provided an amount sufficient for
Messrs. Armstrong and Davis to pay taxes on congiEmsincome resulting from the exercise of optibgghem
on May 23, 2006 for 50,000 shares of EGl commoaoksio the aggregate. Mr. Davis did not elect td Sehres
under the agreement. Mr. Armstrong is a directdhefCompany and Mr. Davis was a director of thenBany unti
he resigned in March 2009.

On January 31, 2007, the Company acquired the 53#@shares of B.H. Acquisition Ltd. (“BH") thét i
previously did not own. The Company acquired 229Bldffrom an affiliate of Trident Il, L.P. for totaash
consideration of approximately $10.2 million andjaiced EGI's 33% interest in BH as part of the Mardg3H
wholly owns two insurance companies in run-off tBny Insurance Company Ltd., incorporated in Bateywand
Compagnie Européenne d’Assurances Industrielles Si¢orporated in Belgium. After completion of the
acquisition and the Merger, the Company owns altanding shares in BH.
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The purchase price and fair value of the assetsimtijfor EGl and BH acquisitions were as follows:

Purchase pric $506,18¢
Direct costs of acquisitio 3,14¢
Total purchase pric $509,33¢
Net assets acquired at fair va $514,98t¢
Excess of net assets over purchase | $ (5,649

The following summarizes the estimated fair valokethe assets acquired and the liabilities assush#ue date
of the acquisition:

Allocation of

Net Assets Excess of Ne Adjusted Net

Acquired at Assets Over Assets Acquired

Fair Value Purchase Price at Fair Value
Cash $ 83,11 $ — $ 83,11
Other investment 18,13¢ (229) 17,91¢
Investment in Enste 426,79 (5,23¢) 421 ,55¢
Investment in BF 15,24¢ (187) 15,05¢
Accounts receivabl 4,931 — 4,931
Reinsurance balances payable (i (50¢ — (50¢
Losses and loss adjustment expel (12,909 — (12,909
Accounts payabl (20,82¢) — (20,82¢)
Net assets acquired at fair va $514,98t¢ $(5,64¢) $509,33¢

Inter-Ocean

On February 23, 2007, the Company, through a whmliped subsidiary, completed the acquisition ofint
Ocean Holdings Ltd. (“Inter-Ocean”) for a total pbase price of approximately $57.5 million. Intezean owns
two reinsurance companies, one based in Bermud#harather based in Ireland.

The purchase price and fair value of the assetsiazhiin the Inter-Ocean acquisition were as foow

Purchase pric $ 57,20
Direct costs of acquisitio 303
Total purchase pric $ 57,50/
Net assets acquired at fair va $ 73,18]
Excess of net assets over purchase price (neggindwill) $(15,687)

The negative goodwill of approximately $15.7 mitlicelating to the acquisition of Inter-Ocean arpgmarily
as a result of the strategic desire of the ventinashieve an exit from such operations and thezafndispose of
Inter-Ocean at a discount to fair value.

119




Table of Contents

ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (C ontinued)

The following summarizes the estimated fair valokethe assets acquired and the liabilities assush#ue date
of the acquisition:

Cash $ 21,04¢
Restricted cas 24,22¢
Investments

Shor-term investmentsavailable-for-sale 34,46¢

Fixed maturities, tradin 359,50t
Total investment 393,97
Accounts receivable and accrued inte 5,62(
Reinsurance balances receivs 149,04:
Other asset 40,51
Losses and loss adjustment exper (415,55))
Insurance and reinsurance balances pay (145,31)
Accounts payabl (36¢)
Net assets acquired at fair va $ 73,181

Tate & Lyle

On June 12, 2007, the Company completed the atiquisif Tate & Lyle Reinsurance Ltd. (“Tate & Lylgfor
a total purchase price of approximately $5.9 millidate & Lyle is a Bermuda-based reinsurance comparun-
off.

The purchase price and fair value of the assetsithjin the Tate & Lyle acquisition were as follaw

Purchase pric $5,78¢
Direct costs of acquisitio 85
Total purchase pric $5,87:
Net assets acquired at fair va $5,87:

The following summarizes the estimated fair valofthe assets acquired and the liabilities assushétte date
of the acquisition:

Cash $12,62¢

Restricted cas 4,16¢

Reinsurance balances receive 2232

Losses and loss adjustment exper (11,149

Net assets acquired at fair va $ 5,87¢
Marlon

On August 28, 2007, the Company completed the aitogui of Marlon Insurance Company Limited, a
reinsurance company in run-off, and Marlon ManaganServices Limited (together, “Marlon”) for a tbfaurchase
price of approximately $31.2 million. Marlon arekUJ-based companies.
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The purchase price and fair value of the assetsi@thin the Marlon acquisition were as follows:

Purchase pric $30,84¢
Direct costs of acquisitio 39C
Total purchase pric $31,23¢
Net assets acquired at fair va $31,23¢

The following summarizes the estimated fair valofthe assets acquired and the liabilities assushétte date
of the acquisition:

Cash $ 7,23%
Restricted cas 5,611
Investments
Shor-term investmentsavailable-for-sale 13,72¢
Fixed maturitiesavailable-for-sale 31,37(
Total investment 45,09¢
Accounts receivable and accrued inte 65€
Reinsurance balances receive 24,91
Losses and loss adjustment expel (45,01)
Insurance and reinsurance balances pay (5,62))
Accounts payabl (1,64¢
Net assets acquired at fair va $31,23¢
2008
Guildhall

On February 29, 2008, the Company completed theisitign of Guildhall Insurance Company Limited
(“Guildhall), a reinsurance company based in th&.Ufor total purchase price of £33.4 million (apgpimately
$65.9 million). The purchase price was financedhgydrawdown of approximately £16.5 million (approately
$32.5 million) from a facility loan agreement wah_ondon-based bank; approximately £5.0 milliorptagimately
$10.0 million) from the Flowers Fund, by way of reating equity participation; and the balance gbregximately
£11.9 million (approximately $23.5 million) from aiable cash on hand. In September 2008, the tiatilan was
repaid in full.

The purchase price and fair value of the assetsiahjin the Guildhall acquisition were as follows:

Purchase pric $65,57:
Direct costs of acquisitio 303
Total purchase pric $65,87+
Net assets acquired at fair va $65,87¢
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The following summarizes the estimated fair valokethe assets acquired and the liabilities assush#ue date
of acquisition:

Cash $104,88t¢
Restricted cas 4,10¢
Accounts receivable and accrued inte 4,631
Reinsurance balances receive 33,29¢
Losses and loss adjustment expel (79,107
Accounts payabl (1,949
Net assets acquired at fair va $ 65,87
Gordian

On March 5, 2008, the Company completed the adgpridirom AMP Limited (“AMP”) of AMP’s Australian-
based closed reinsurance and insurance operati®osd{an”). The total purchase price was approxihat
AU$436.9 million (approximately $405.4 million) améas financed by AU$301.0 million (approximately
$276.5 million), including an arrangement fee of $4.6 million (approximately $4.2 million), from blfinancing
provided jointly by a Londoirased bank and a German bank (in which the Florgms is a significant shareholc
of the German bank); approximately AU$41.6 mill@pproximately $39.5 million) from the Flowers Fuig way
of nonwvoting equity participation; and approximately AWB$® million (approximately $93.6 million) from avable
cash on hand. In August 2009, the facility A portaf the loan was repaid in full.

The purchase price and fair value of the assetsi@hiin the Gordian acquisition were as follows:

Purchase pric $401,08¢
Direct costs of acquisitio 4,32¢
Total purchase pric $405,41.
Net assets acquired at fair va $455,69:.
Excess of net assets over purchase price (neggindwill) $ 50,28(
Less noncontrolling interests share of negativedgadld (15,089
Negative goodwill attributable to the Compe $ 35,19¢

The negative goodwill arose primarily as a restilhoome earned by Gordian between the date ob#tence
sheet on which the agreed purchase price was baseel 30, 2007, and the date the acquisition cJddadch 5,
2008, and the desire of the vendors to achievéstautial reduction in regulatory capital requirenseand therefor
to dispose of Gordian at a discount to fair value.
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The following summarizes the estimated fair valokethe assets acquired and the liabilities assush#ue date
of the acquisition:

Cash $ 341,87¢
Restricted cas 28,23
Investments

Shor-term investmentsavailable-for-sale 50,93(

Fixed maturitiesavailable-for-sale 416,35!

Other investment 35,35¢
Total investment 502,63
Accounts receivable and accrued inte 31,25:¢
Reinsurance balances receiva 99,64*
Losses and loss adjustment exper (509,63f)
Insurance and reinsurance balances pay (22,660)
Accounts payabl (15,669
Net assets acquired at fair va $ 455,69:

Seaton and Stonewall

On June 13, 2008, the Company’s indirect subsidMinginia Holdings Ltd., completed the acquisitioh
44.4% of the outstanding capital stock of Stonewatjuisition Corporation (“Stonewall”) from Dukeddee
Holdings, L.P., a portfolio company of GSC Europé&éerzanine Fund Il, L.P. Stonewall Acquisition Caorgtion i<
the parent of two Rhode Island-domiciled insur8tsnewall Insurance Company and Seaton Insuranceg&uy,
both of which are in run-off. The total purchase@rof $21.4 million was funded from available cashhand.

The purchase price of the Company’s 44.4% sha8tafewall and the fair value of the assets acquiree as

follows:

Purchase pric $20,44¢
Direct costs of acquisitio 987
Total purchase pric $21,43:
Net assets acquired at fair va $21,43:

123




Table of Contents

ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (C ontinued)

The following summarizes the Company’s 44.4% sloftbe estimated fair values of the assets acquained
the liabilities assumed as of the date of acqoisiti

Cash $ 17,87
Investments
Shor-term investments, availal-for-sale 1,30z
Fixed maturitiesavailable-for-sale 37,917
Equities 42F
Other investment 604
Total investment 40,24¢
Reinsurance balances receive 187,96«
Losses and loss adjustment expel (217,049
Insurance and reinsurance balances pay (3,049
Accounts payabl (4,56
Net assets acquired at fair va $ 21,43

On December 3, 2009, Stonewall Acquisition Corporeéntered into a definitive agreement for the sdlits
shares in Stonewall Insurance Company to Columisarance Company, an affiliate of National Indesnnit
Company (an indirect subsidiary of Berkshire Hatag\for a purchase price of $56.0 million. Compmlatof the
sale transaction is conditioned on, among othegtiregulatory approval and the satisfaction oifovs customary
closing conditions. The Company expects the traiwato close in the first quarter of 2010. Stonkwaquisition
Corporation will continue as the parent of Seattsutance Company.

Goshawk

On June 20, 2008, the Company, through its wholyed subsidiary, Enstar Acquisitions Limited (“EAL”
announced a cash offer to all of the shareholde@oshawk Insurance Holdings Plc (“Goshawk”), & pence
(approximately $0.103) for each share (the “Offecnditioned, among other things, on receivingeatance from
shareholders owning 90% of the shares of Goshawkh&vk owns Rosemont Reinsurance Limited, a Bermuda
based reinsurer that wrote primarily property aratine business, which was placed into run-off inaber 2005.
The Offer valued Goshawk at approximately £45.7iomilin the aggregate.

On July 17, 2008, after acquiring more than 30%hefshares of Goshawk through market purchases,vizas.
obligated to remove all of the conditions of thdeDexcept for receipt of acceptances from shadshielowning
50% of the shares of Goshawk. On July 25, 2008atiteptance condition was met and the Offer became
unconditional. On August 19, 2008, the Offer clogstth shareholders representing approximately 8%.44
Goshawk accepting the Offer for total consideratbf40.9 million (approximately $80.9 million).

The total purchase price of approximately $82.0iomlwas financed by a drawdown of $36.1 millioorfr a
credit facility provided by a London-based bankpatribution of $11.7 million of the acquisitionige from the
Flowers Fund, by way of non-voting equity parti¢gipa, and the remainder from available cash on hand

In connection with the acquisition, Goshawk’s erigtbank loan of $16.3 million was refinanced bg th
drawdown of $12.2 million (net of fees) from a dtddcility provided by a London-based bank andi$illion
from the Flowers Fund. On December 22, 2009, thistanding principal and interest on the Goshawkifaevas
fully repaid.
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The purchase price of the Compas$9.44% share of Goshawk and the fair value oa#isets acquired were

follows:

Purchase pric $80,86:
Direct costs of acquisitio 1,10¢
Total purchase pric $81,96"
Net assets acquired at fair va $81,96°

The following summarizes the estimated fair valokethe assets acquired and the liabilities assush#ue date
of the acquisition:

Cash $159,30:
Reinsurance balances receive 32,53
Other asset 15,70:¢
Losses and loss adjustment expet (80,05)
Insurance and reinsurance balances pay (20,639
Accounts payabl (24,889
Net assets acquired at fair va $ 81,96:

On November 26, 2009, the Company acquired aniaddlt10.01% of the outstanding shares of Gosh&ak t
it did not previously own, for a purchase priceapproximately $4.7 million. The Company has accedrior
acquisition of shares in accordance with the prorisof the Consolidation topic of the Codificatidrhe Company
now owns 99.45% of Goshawk’s outstanding shares.

EPIC

On August 14, 2008, the Company completed the @sehbf all of the outstanding capital stock of Eleity
Producers Insurance Company (Bermuda) Limited ((BpPlor a total purchase price of approximately
£36.8 million (approximately $69.0 million). Thenghase price was financed by approximately $321Bomifrom
a credit facility provided by a London-based bapproximately $10.2 million from the Flowers Fubg,way of
non-voting equity participation, and the remainfiilem available cash on hand. On October 6, 20@8Ctbmpany
fully repaid the outstanding principal and accrirgdrest on the facility.

The purchase price and fair value of the assetsiahiin the EPIC acquisition were as follows:

Purchase pric $68,79:
Direct costs of acquisitio 17z
Total purchase pric $68,96¢
Net assets acquired at fair va $68,96¢
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The following summarizes the estimated fair valokethe assets acquired and the liabilities assush#ue date
of the acquisition:

Cash $ 169,40:
Restricted cas 15,92¢
Fixed maturity investmentavailable-for-sale 771
Other asset 733
Losses and loss adjustment expel (108,61¢)
Insurance and reinsurance balances pay (312
Accounts payabl (8,940
Net assets acquired at fair va $ 68,96t

Capital Assurance

On August 18, 2008, the Company completed the aitipui of all of the outstanding capital stock aipital
Assurance Company Inc. and Capital Assurance Servioc. for a total purchase price of approxinyatel
$5.6 million. Capital Assurance Company, Inc. Blerida-domiciled insurer that is in run-off. Thegaisition was
funded from available cash on hand.

The purchase price and fair value of the assetsii@thjin the Capital Assurance acquisition weréolisws:

Purchase pric $5,33¢
Direct costs of acquisitio 282
Total purchase pric $5,62(
Net assets acquired at fair va $5,62(

The following summarizes the estimated fair valokethe assets acquired and the liabilities assush#ue date
of the acquisition:

Cash $ 1,162
Investments

Shor-term investmentsavailable-for-sale 28,22(

Fixed maturitiesavailable-for-sale 1,68¢
Total investment 29,90¢
Reinsurance balances receive 332
Other asset 1,24¢
Losses and loss adjustment exper (26,26¢
Insurance and reinsurance balances pay (30
Accounts payabl (729
Net assets acquired at fair va $ 5,62(

Hillcot Re

On October 27, 2008, Kenmare Holdings Ltd., a wholned subsidiary of the Company, completed the
purchase of the entire share capital of HillcottRe (“Hillcot Re”) for a total purchase price 054.7 million. Prior
to this transaction, the Company owned 50.1% obtltstanding share capital of Hillcot Holdings LftHillcot”)
with Shinsei Bank, Ltd. (“Shinsei”) owning the reimag 49.9%. Upon completion of the transaction]ddt paid
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a distribution to Shinsei of approximately $27.1liom representing its 49.9% share of the consiidlemaeceived b
Hillcot. J. Christopher Flowers, a member of ther(pany’s board of directors and one of its largharsholders, is
a director and the largest shareholder of Shifi$e.total purchase price of $54.7 million was fuhfflem available
cash on hand.

The purchase price and the fair value of the ass®psired of Hillcot Re was as follows:

Purchase pric $54,40(
Direct costs of acquisitio 272
Total purchase pric $54,67:
Net assets acquired at fair va $54,67:

The following summarizes the estimated fair valokethe assets acquired and the liabilities assush#ue date
of the acquisition:

Cash $ 77,61
Restricted cas 63C
Reinsurance balances receive 7,11¢
Other asset 1,33¢
Losses and loss adjustment expel (28,53)
Insurance and reinsurance balances pay (630)
Accounts payabl (2,859
Net assets acquired at fair va $ 54,67:

Unionamerica

On December 30, 2008, the Company completed thehpse of all of the outstanding capital stock of
Unionamerica Holdings Limited (“Unionamerica”) ftotal purchase price of approximately $343.4 millio
Unionamerica is comprised of the discontinued djmra of St. Paul Fire and Marine Insurance ComizabyK.
based London Market business, which were placedrumt-off between 1992 and 2003. The purchase price
financed by approximately $184.6 million from aditdacility provided by a London-based bank (tfoYyston
Facility”); approximately $49.8 million from the &lvers Fund, by way of non-voting equity participatiand the
remainder from available cash on hand. Under tbiéittas agreement for the bank loan, which was radeel and
restated on August 4, 2009, the Company borrow&@ $1million under Facility A and $32.0 million uexd

Facility B.

The purchase price and fair value of the assetsighiin the Unionamerica acquisition were as fofo
Purchase pric $341,26¢
Direct costs of acquisitio 2,16(
Total purchase pric $343,42!
Net assets acquired at fair va $343,42!
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The following summarizes the estimated fair valokethe assets acquired and the liabilities assush#ue date
of the acquisition:

Cash $404,41.
Restricted cas 7,29¢
Investments
Fixed maturitiesavailable-for-sale 388,00¢
Fixed maturitieshelc-to-maturity 229,92!
Other investment 2,007
Total investment 619,94(
Reinsurance balances receive 128,61!
Other asset 35,73¢
Losses and loss adjustment exper (828,339
Insurance and reinsurance balances pay (22,687
Accounts payabl (1,559
Net assets acquired at fair va $ 343,42¢
2009

Constellation Reinsurance

On January 31, 2009, the Company, through itséctisubsidiary, Sun Gulf Holdings Inc., completee t
acquisition of all of the outstanding capital staflConstellation Reinsurance Company Limited (“Steflation”)
for a total purchase price of approximately $2.8iom. Constellation is a New York domiciled reimeuthat is in
run-off. The acquisition was funded from availabésh on hand.

The purchase price and fair value of the assetsi@hin the Constellation acquisition were asdat:

Total purchase pric $2,50(
Net assets acquired at fair va $2,50(

The following summarizes the estimated fair valofethe assets acquired and the liabilities assushétte date
of the acquisition:

Cash $ 11,00«
Fixed maturity investmentavailable-for-sale 25C
Reinsurance balances receive 3,374
Losses and loss adjustment exper (12,129
Net assets acquired at fair va $ 2,50C

From January 31, 2009, the date of acquisitiomdoember 31, 2009, the Company has recorded in its
consolidated statement of earnings, revenues angbsees) related to Constellation of $0.1 millemd
$(0.5) million, respectively.

Copenhagen Re

On October 15, 2009, the Company, through its wholned subsidiary, Marlon Insurance Company Lidhite
completed the acquisition of Copenhagen Reinsur@ocepany Ltd. (“Copenhagen Re”) from Alm.
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Brand Forsikring A/S for a total purchase pricdd#fK149.2 million (approximately $29.9 million). Cephagen R
is a Norwegian domiciled reinsurer that is in rdh-6he acquisition was funded from available casrhand.

The purchase price and fair value of the assetsithin the Copenhagen Re acquisition were asvisi

Total purchase pric $29,88¢
Net assets acquired at fair va $29,88¢

The following summarizes the estimated fair valofethe assets acquired and the liabilities assushétte date
of the acquisition:

Cash $ 93,71(
Restricted cas 5,321
Fixed maturity investmentavailable-for-sale 39,84¢
Accounts receivable and accrued inte 747
Reinsurance balances receive 23,90¢
Other asset 5,36¢
Losses and loss adjustment expel (115,28¢)
Insurance and reinsurance balances pay (8,089
Accounts payabl (15,649
Net assets acquired at fair va $ 29,88

From October 15, 2009, the date of acquisitio@ésember 31, 2009, the Company has recorded in its
consolidated statement of earnings, revenues anbsees) related to Copenhagen Re of $0.4 mibioth
$(1.6) million, respectively.

British Engine

On March 2, 2010, the Company, through its indisedisidiary, Knapton Holdings Limited, completed th
acquisition of British Engine Insurance Limited ¢fish Engine”) from RSA Insurance Group plc fotodal
purchase price of £28.0 million (approximately $4aillion). British Engine is a U.K. domiciled resarer that is in
run-off. The acquisition was funded from availabdesh on hand. As the initial accounting for theifess
combination has not been completed at the timesofance of these financial statements, the diseasquired for
business combinations will be made in a subsedilemt

Assuransinvest

On November 2, 2009, the Company, through its wholined subsidiary, Nordic Run-Off Limited, entered
into a definitive agreement for the purchase osBkringsaktiebolaget Assuransinvest MF (“Assuraresty) for a
purchase price of SEK 78.8 million (approximatehd$l million). Assuransinvest is a Swedish dometileinsurer
that is in run-off. The purchase price is expedtede funded from available cash on hand. Compiaiiche
transaction is conditioned on, among other thinggulatory approval and satisfaction of various@onsry closing
conditions. The transaction is expected to clogberfirst quarter of 2010.

Providence Washington

On January 29, 2010, the Company, through its whmlNned subsidiary, PWAC Holdings, Inc, entered iat
definitive agreement for the purchase of PW AcdgioisiCompany (“PWAC”) for a purchase price of $2&lion.
PWAC owns the entire share capital of ProvidenceMfeton Insurance Company. Providence Washington
Insurance Company and its two subsidiaries are Rlsldnd domiciled insurers that are in run-offeTgurchase
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price is expected to be funded from available @ashand. Completion of the transaction is condéwon, among
other things, regulatory approval and satisfactibmarious customary closing conditions. The tratisa is
expected to close in the second quarter of 2010.

4. SIGNIFICANT NEW BUSINESS

In December 2007, Enstar, in conjunction with J&KH L.P. (“*JCF FPK”), and a newly-hired executive
management team, formed U.K.-based Shelbourne Griouiped (“Shelbourne”), to invest in ReinsuranoeGlose
or “RITC” transactions (the transferring of lialiéis from one Lloyd’s syndicate to another) witloydi’s of London
insurance and reinsurance syndicates in run-off. BEK is a joint investment program between Foxk-Rilton,
Cochran, Caronia & Waller (USA) LLC (“FPK”) and J.Elowers Il, L.P. (the “Flowers Fund”). The Flowefund
is a private investment fund advised by J.C. Flew&Co. LLC. J. Christopher Flowers is the founded
Managing Member of J.C. Flowers & Co LLC. John do$) Enstar's Executive Chairman and a member ofdfis
board of directors, is a Managing Director of Fowers & Co. LLC. Mr. Oros splits his time between
J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC and Enstar. In addition adfiliate of the Flowers Fund controlled approxielgt41% of
FPKCCW until its sale of FPK in December 2009.

Shelbourne is a holding company of a Lloyd's Mangghgency, Shelbourne Syndicate Services Limited.
Enstar owns approximately 56.8% of Shelbourne, Wwhidurn owns 100% of Shelbourne Syndicate Sesvice
Limited, the Managing Agency for Lloyd’s Syndic&t®08, a syndicate approved by Lloyd’s of London on
December 16, 2007 to undertake RITC transactiotts oyd’s syndicates in run-off. In February 2008yyd’s
Syndicate 2008 entered into RITC agreements with ffdtoyd’s syndicates with total gross insurancgerees of
approximately $471.2 million. In February 2009, ydiss Syndicate 2008 entered into a RITC agreemétht av
Lloyd’s syndicate with total gross insurance ressraf approximately $67.0 million. At February 26,10 the
capital commitment to Lloyd’s Syndicate 2008 widspect to these five RITC agreements, amounted to
£41.6 million (approximately $62.4 million), whiatas financed by £12.0 million (approximately $18illion)
from a letter of credit issued by a London-basetklihat has been secured by a parental guaramt@eEnstar;
approximately £6.3 million (approximately $9.5 rimh) from the Flowers Fund (acting in its own capaand not
through JCF FPK) by way of a non-voting equity jggpation; and approximately £12.7 million (appnmxtely
$19.0 million) from available cash on hand. JCF FRtapital commitment to Lloyd’s Syndicate 2008thwiespect
to these five RITC agreements, is approximately.&@billion (approximately $15.9 million). JCF FPKvas 25%
of Shelbourne Group Limited.

In February 2010, Lloyd’s Syndicate 2008 entered RITC agreements with two Lloyd’s syndicates wiital
gross insurance reserves of approximately $167l®miThe capital commitment to Lloyd’s Syndic&@08 with
respect to these two RITC agreements amounteds® £illion (approximately $37.5 million), which wdully
financed by Enstar from available cash on hand.

5. RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Restricted cash and cash equivalents were $433idmand $343.3 million as of December 31, 200€ an
2008, respectively. The restricted cash and casivalents are used as collateral against lettecseaafit and as
guarantee under trust agreements. Letters of aeglissued to ceding insurers as security fooltigations of
insurance subsidiaries under reinsurance agreemihtthose ceding insurers.
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6. INVESTMENTS
Available-for-sale

The amortized cost and estimated fair value ofdbmpany’s fixed maturity securities classified as
available-for-sale were as follows:

Gross
Gross Unrealized
Unrealized Holding
Amortized Holding Losses Fair
Cost Gain Non-OTTI Value
As at December 31, 2009
U.S. government and agen $1407¢ $ 227 % —  $ 14,30¢
Non-U.S.governmen 37,16¢ 33 (13 37,18¢
Corporate 62,09: 82t (867) 62,05(
Residential mortga¢-backed 1,68¢ 31 (160 1,55¢

$11502 $ 111€ $ (1,040 $11509

Gross
Gross Unrealized
Unrealized Holding
Amortized Holding Losses Fair
Cost Gain Non-OTTI Value
As at December 31, 200
U.S. government and agen $239,85¢ $ 2,197 $ —  $242,05:
Non-U.S.governmen 25,44 32 — 25,47¢
Corporate 229,13! 737 (1,217  228,65!
Residential mortga¢-backed 2,217 — (367) 1,85(
Asset backei 13,50¢ 21¢ (255) 13,47:

$510,16¢ $ 3,18/ $ (1,839 $511,50¢

The following tables summarize the Company’s fixeaturity securities classified as available-foresalan
unrealized loss position as well as the aggregaterdlue and gross unrealized loss by lengthmétihe security h
continuously been in an unrealized loss position:

12 Months or Greater Less Than 12 Months Total
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
As at December 31, 20( Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
Nor-U.S.governmen $ — 3 — $ 782 $ (@3 $ 78z $ (13
Corporate 10,89« (78€)  5,34¢ (81) 16,24: (867)
Residential mortga¢-backed 36¢ (160) — — 36¢ (160

$11,26: $  (946) $6,13C $ (94 $17,39: $ (1,040
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12 Months or Greater Less Than 12 Months Total

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
As at December 31, 20( Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
Corporate $— 8 —  $18,13( $ (1,217 $18,13( $ (1,21))
Residential mortgar-backec 21¢€ (367) — — 21€ (367)
Asset backei — — 3,313 (25E) 3,313 (255)

$21€  $  (367) $2144: $ (1,477 $2165¢ $ (1,839

As at December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008 yumdoer of securities classified as available-fde-gaan
unrealized loss position was 20 and 30, respegtivéth a fair value of $17.3 million and $21.7 taih,
respectively. Of these securities, the number cfisées that had been in an unrealized loss mosftr twelve
months or longer was 11 and one, respectively.tAeaember 31, 2009, one of these securities wasidered to
be other-than-temporarily impaired.

The contractual maturities of the Company’s fixeatumnities, classified as available-for-sale, arevanbelow.
Actual maturities may differ from contractual matigs because borrowers may have the right toargirepay
obligations with or without call or prepayment.

Amortized Fair % of Total

As at December 31, 20( Cost Value Fair Value
Due in one year or le: $ 64,20: $ 64,60¢ 56.1%
Due after one year through five ye 39,95 40,30¢ 35.(%
Due after five years through ten ye 5,811 5,78: 5.C%
Due after ten yeal 3,37: 2,84¢ 2.5%
113,33° 113,54: 98.%
Residential mortga-backed 1,68¢ 1,55¢ 1.4%
$115,02: $115,09¢ 100.(%

Amortized Fair % of Total

As at December 31, 20( Cost Value Fair Value
Due in one year or le: $393,357 $393,67: 77.%
Due after one year through five ye 74,54 73,55¢ 14.4%
Due after five years through ten ye 11,117 12,01¢ 2.3%
Due after ten yeal 15,417 16,94 3.2%
494,43t 496,18 97.1%
Residential mortgar-backec 2,217 1,85(C 0.2%
Asset backe: 13,50¢ 13,47 2.6%
$510,16: $511,50¢ 100.(%
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The following tables set forth certain informatiggarding the credit ratings (provided by majoimngt
agencies) of the Company’s fixed maturity secwsitiassified as available-for-sale:

As at December 31, 20(

AAA

AA

A

BBB or lower
Not Ratec

As at December 31, 20(

AAA

AA

A

BBB or lower
Not Ratec

Held-to-maturity

Amortized Fair % of Total
Cost Value Fair Value
$ 54,157 $ 54,22¢ 47.1%
— — —%
32,76¢ 32,88¢ 28.€%
13,84¢ 13,59¢ 11.&€%
14,25: 14,38’ 12.5%
$115,02: $115,09¢ 100.(%
Amortized Fair % of Total
Cost Value Fair Value
$370,42: $372,79° 72.%%
72,03¢ 71,95 14.1%
52,62¢ 52,62 10.2%
13,92¢ 13,63¢ 2. 1%
1,15(C 49¢€ 0.1%
$510,16¢ $511,50¢ 100.(%

The amortized cost and estimated fair value of@bmpany’s fixed maturity securities classified as

held-to-maturity were as follows:

As at December 31, 20(

U.S. government and agen
Non-U.S.governmen
Corporate

Municipal

Residential mortga¢-backed
Commercial mortga¢-backec
Asset backe:
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Gross
Gross Unrealized
Unrealized Holding
Amortized Holding Losses Fair
Cost Gain Non-OTTI Value
$ 164,70t $ 1,65¢ $ (196 $ 166,16
276,50t 3,06¢ (131) 279,44
780,09¢ 15,79« (1,289 794,60¢
9,64¢ 6 (1) 9,65¢
15,89« 16t (427) 15,63:
30,60¢ 1,13( (1,970 29,76¢
34,07¢ 477 (564) 33,99:
$1,31154 $22,30C $ (4,579 $1,329,26
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As at December 31, 20(

U.S. government and agen
Non-U.S.governmen
Corporate

Residential mortgar-backec

Commercial mortga¢-backec

Asset backe!

ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized

Amortized Holding Holding Fair

Cost Gain LossesNon-OTTI Value
$ 9558: §$ 2,15 $ — $ 97,73¢
156,62( 9,46¢ — 166,08t
277,07 2,452 (2,107 277,41¢
11,30¢ — (61€) 10,69(
17,07« 1,04¢ (117) 18,00
29,057 297 (602) 28,75
$586,71t  $15,41¢ $(3,445) $598,68t

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Coyparvestments classified as held-to-maturity @ased
from $586.7 million as at December 31, 2008 to $1,8 million as at December 31, 2009. The incredse
$724.8 million was due to a combination of: (1) @@mpany reducing its cash position through thelpase of
short-term investments and fixed maturity investtaetassified as held-to-maturity; and (2) fixedtungy
investments that were classified on acquisitioawaslable-for-sale maturing or being sold and regthby fixed
maturity investments and short term investmentssifi@d as held-to-maturity. On acquisition, fixeaturity
investments are generally classified as availabieséle if they do not meet the Companiyivestment parameters

regards to either duration or ratings.

The following tables summarize the Company’s fixeakurity securities classified as held-to-matuiityan
unrealized loss position and the aggregate fairevahd gross unrealized loss by length of timeséwairity has
continuously been in an unrealized loss position:

As at December 31, 20(

U.S. government and agen
Non-U.S.governmen
Corporate

Municipal

Residential mortgar-backed
Commercial mortga¢-backec
Asset backei

12 Months or Greater Less Than 12 Months Total
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
$ — $ — $5367¢ $ (196 $ 5367« $ (19¢
— — 44,47 (131) 44,47 (131)
3,89: (249 153,22 (1,039  157,11: (1,289
— — 8,641 (1) 8,641 (1)
2,10¢  (277) 6,49¢ (151) 8,607 (42€)
— — 11,93: (1,970 11,93: (1,970
88¢ (86) 21,81 (47€) 22,70¢ (564)
$6,89C $(612) $300.25¢ $(3,961) $307,14«  $(4,579)
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12 Months or Greater Less Than 12 Months Total
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
As at December 31, 20( Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
Corporate $201« $ (46) $21,39. $ (2,061 $23,40: $ (2,10
Residential mortgar-backec 3,71C (619) — — 3,71( (619)
Commercial mortga¢-backec 58 (1179 — — 58 (117)
Asset backe! 26,64 (602) — — 26,64: (602)

$32,42¢ $ (1,384 $21,39: $ (2,06]) $53,81¢ $ (3,44%)

As at December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008yuimdber of fixed maturity securities classified as
held-to-maturity in an unrealized loss position &8 and 38, respectively, with a fair value of $30million and
$53.8 million, respectively. Of these securitié® humber of securities that had been in an uzeghloss position
for 12 months or longer was 19 and 24, respectividyof December 31, 2009, one of these securitees
considered to be other-than-temporarily impairdte Tompany has no intent to sell and it is not ntikedy than
not that the Company will be required to sell theseurities before their anticipated recovery. Theealized losses
from these securities were not a result of credifateral or structural issues.
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The contractual maturities of our fixed maturitiessified as held-to-maturity, are shown belowtual
maturities may differ from contractual maturitieschuse borrowers may have the right to call orgyrebligations
with or without call or prepayment penalties.

Amortized Fair % of Total

As at December 31, 20( Cost Value Fair Value
Due in one year or le: $ 569,13 $ 572,88: 43.1%
Due after one year through five ye 607,49¢ 621,34« 46.7%
Due after five years through ten ye 51,66( 53,22¢ 4.C%
Due after ten yeal 2,66¢ 2,42 0.2%
1,230,96! 1,249,87 94.(%
Residential mortga-backed 15,89« 15,63: 1.2%
Commercial mortga¢-backec 30,60¢ 29,76¢ 2.2%
Asset backei 34,07¢ 33,99: 2.€%
$1,311,54(  $1,329,26 100.(%

Amortized Fair % of Total

As at December 31, 20( Cost Value Fair Value
Due in one year or le: $ 80,000 $ 80,49: 13.4%
Due after one year through five ye 387,55(  395,22: 66.1%
Due after five years through ten ye 61,724 65,52¢ 10.%

Due after ten yeal — — —
529,27¢  541,24. 90.4%
Residential mortga-backed 11,30¢ 10,69( 1.8%
Commercial mortga¢-backec 17,07 18,00: 3.C%
Asset backei 29,057 28,75 4.8%
$586,71t $598,68¢ 100.(%
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The following tables set forth certain informatiggarding the credit ratings (provided by majoimngt
agencies) of the Company’s fixed maturity secwsitiassified as held-to-maturity:

Amortized Fair % of Total
As at December 31, 20( Cost Value Fair Value
AAA $ 598,94¢ $ 603,01 45.4%
AA 271,95¢ 276,50° 20.8%
A 367,75( 375,41¢ 28.2%
BBB or lower 68,43¢ 69,87¢ 5.2%
Not Ratec 4,451 4,451 0.2%

$1,311,54 $1,329,26' 100.(%

Amortized Fair % of Total
As at December 31, 20( Cost Value Fair Value
U.S. government and agen $119,98: $122,98¢ 20.5%
AAA 274,88: 284,22¢ 47.5%
AA 106,07 106,86! 17.8%
A 78,77 77,47 12.%
BBB or lower 6,79< 6,921 1.2%
Not Ratec 20E 20E 0.1%

$586,71t $598,68t 100.(%

Trading

The estimated fair value of investments in fixeduméy securities and equities classified as trgdiacurities
were as follows:

December 31 December 31
2009 2008

U.S. government and agen $ 61,92( $ 84,35:
Corporate 25,03t 30,64«
Residential mortgaged back 45€ 49¢
Commerical mortgaged back 641 352
Equities 24,50: 3,74

$112,55: $119,59:

Other Investments

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company Bad$nillion and $60.2 million, respectively, ohet
investments recorded in limited partnerships, kailiability companies and equity funds. These otireestments
represented 2.5% and 1.7% of total investmentscashd and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2202098,
respectively. All of the Company’s investmentsiiited partnerships and limited liability companare subject to
restrictions on redemptions and sales that arerdated by the governing documents and limit the Gany’s
ability to liquidate these investments in the shiertn. Due to a lag in the valuations reportedh®yrhanagers, the
Company records changes in the investment valuewptto a three-month lag. These investments axeuated for
at estimated fair value, determined by the Compmapyodportionate share of the net asset value dhtrestee
reduced by any impairment charges. As of DecembeP@09 and 2008, the Company had unfunded capital
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commitments relating to its other investments dif1 million and $108.0 million, respectively. A o
December 31, 2009 and 2008, 93.1% and 90.6%, résplgcof the other investments were with a redaparty.

Other-Than-Temporary Impairment Process

Upon the adoption of the new guidance on investmiendebt securities, effective April 1, 2009, tbempany
changed its quarterly process for assessing whd#wtines in the fair value of its fixed maturitwestments, both
available-for-sale and held-to-maturity, represdntepairments that are other-than-temporary. Tloegss now
includes reviewing each fixed maturity investmdnatttis impaired and determining: (1) if the Comphayg the
intent to sell the fixed maturity investment or {fi} is more likely than not that the Company Mié required to se
the fixed maturity investment before its anticightecovery; and (3) assessing whether a creditdrisss, that is,
where the Company expects that the present valtieafash flows expected to be collected from itkeddf maturity
investment are less than the amortized cost ba#ie anvestment.

The Company had no planned sales of its fixed ritptunvestments classified as available-for-sale or
held-to-maturity as at December 31, 2009. In agsgsghether it is more likely than not that the Guany will be
required to sell a fixed maturity investment befitseanticipated recovery, the Company consider®ua factors
including its future cash flow requirements, legatl regulatory requirements, the level of its caabh equivalents,
short term investments and fixed maturity investte@vailable for sale in an unrealized gain posjtand other
relevant factors. For the year ended December@®19,2he Company did not recognize any
other-than-temporary impairments due to requiréessa

In evaluating credit losses, the Company considesariety of factors in the assessment of a fixatunity
investment including: (1) the time period duringigrhthere has been a significant decline below; ¢@%the extent
of the decline below cost and par; (3) the potéfdiathe fixed maturity investment to recover ialwe; (4) an
analysis of the financial condition of the issu@;the rating of the issuer; and (6) failure of thsuer of the fixed
maturity investment to make scheduled interestrioicjpal payments.

Based on the factors described above, the Compateyndined that, as at December 31, 2009, a cusiit |
existed for two fixed maturity investments. The arment of $0.9 million was recognized in earnings.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments

In accordance with the provisions of the Fair Vallasurement and Disclosure topic of the Codiftrative
have categorized our investments that are recatifadr value among levels as follows:

December 31, 200!

Quoted Prices in

Active Markets Significant Other Significant
for Identical Assets Observable Inputs Unobservable Inputs Total Fair
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Value

U.S. government and agen $ — $ 76,22¢ $ — $ 76,22¢
Non-U.S.governmen — 37,18¢ — 37,18¢
Corporate — 87,08: — 87,08:
Residential mortga-backed — 2,01z — 2,01z
Commercial mortga¢-backec — — 641 641
Equities 21,20: — 3,30( 24,50:
Other investment — — 81,80 81,80:
Total investment $21,20: $202,50° $85,74: $309,45.
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December 31, 2008

Quoted Prices in

Active Markets Significant Other Significant
for Identical Assets Observable Inputs Unobservable Inputs Total Fair
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Value

U.S. government and agen $ — $326,40: $ — $326,40:
Non-U.S.governmen — 25,47¢ — 25,47¢
Corporate — 259,29¢ — 259,29¢
Residential mortgar-backec — 2,34¢ — 2,34¢
Commercial mortga¢-backec — — 352 352
Asset backe: — 13,47: — 13,47:
Equities 3,741 — — 3,74
Other investment — — 60,23’ 60,237
Total investment $3,74 $627,00: $60,58¢ $691,33¢

The following table presents a reconciliation af tieginning and ending balances for all investmergasured
at fair value on a recurring basis using Levelfuis during the year ended December 31, 2009:

Fixed
Maturity Other Equity
Investments Investments Securities Total
Level 3 investments as of January 1, 2 $352 $60,23’ $ —  $60,58¢
Net purchases (sales and distributic — 15,96 2,00¢ 17,97:
Total realized and unrealized los: 28¢ 5,591 1,29¢ 7,18(
Net transfers in and/or (out) of Leve = — — —
Level 3 investments as of December 31, 2 $641 $81,80: $3,30C  $85,74:

The amount of net gains/ (losses) for the yeautadl in earnings attributable to the fair valuetldnges in
assets still held at December 31, 2009 was $6 liomilOf this amount $1.6 million was included iatmealized
gains/(losses) and $4.9 million was included inineéstment income.

The following table presents a reconciliation af tieginning and ending balances for all investmergasured
at fair value on a recurring basis using Levelfuis during the year ended December 31, 2008:

Fixed
Maturity Other Equity
Investments Investments Securities Total
Level 3 investments as of January 1, 2 $1,051 $ 75,30( $— $76,35]
Net purchases (sales and distributic — 77,68: — 77,681
Total realized and unrealized los: — — —
Net transfers in and/or (out) of Leve 69¢) (92,749 — 93,449)
Level 3 investments as of December 31, 2 $ 352 $ 60,23: $— $60,58¢

The amount of net gains/ (losses) for the yeautedl in earnings attributable to the fair valuetldinges in
assets still held at December 31, 2008 was $(84il6pn. Of this amount, $(0.7) million was includén net
realized gains/(losses) and $(83.9) million iningestment income.

During the years ended December 31, 2009, 2002@0d, proceeds from sales and maturities of aVeilfudr-
sale securities were $688.2 million, $263.3 millaord $411.6 million, respectively. Gross realizathg on
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sale of available-for-sale securities were $0.8ioni] $0.3 million and $0.1 million, respectivelnd gross realized
losses on sale of available-for-sale securitieewdr6 million, $0.1 million and $0.1 million, resgively.

Major categories of net investment income are surize@ as follows:

2009 2008 2007

Interest from cash and cash equivalents and-term investment $27,93¢  $71,34. $49,54¢
Interest from fixed maturitie 42,84: 26,54¢ 15,79¢
Other 12,93t 13,217 17)
Amortization of bond premiums and discou 1,27¢ (767)
Other investment (84,117 (331
Investment expenst (1,66¢) (174)

$ 26,60. $64,08:

Restricted Investments

The Company is required to maintain investmentdeposit with various regulatory authorities to supjits
insurance and reinsurance operations. The invessno@ndeposit are available to settle insurancer@imndurance
liabilities. The Company also utilizes trust acctsuio collateralize business with its insurance ramasurance
counterparties. These trust accounts generallyttekplace of letter of credit requirements. TheeBtments in trust
as collateral are primarily highly rated fixed mdtusecurities. The carrying value of our resktinvestments as

of December 31, 2009 and 2008 was as follows:

2009 2008
Assets used for collateral in trust for tt-party agreement $214,14¢ $297,49:
Deposits with U.S. regulatory authoriti 12,99¢ 11,75:
$227,14°  $309,24.
7. REINSURANCE BALANCES RECEIVABLE
2009 2008
Recoverable from reinsurers ¢
Outstanding losse $263,54!  $346,09¢
Losses incurred but not report 102,22( 110,19«
Fair value adjustmen (18,037 (61,717
Total reinsurance reserves recover: 347,72¢ 394,57!
Paid losse 290,53 278,12:
$638,26: $672,69¢

The fair value adjustment, determined on acquisitibreinsurance subsidiaries, was based on timaasd
timing of loss and loss adjustment expense recesamd an assumed interest rate equivalent t& &eis rate for
securities with similar duration to the reinsuraneeeivables acquired plus a spread to reflecitorie#f, and is
amortized over the estimated recovery period, asstetl for accelerations on commutation settlemersisg the

constant yield method.

The Company’s acquired reinsurance subsidiariesaisgcessional agreements to reduce their exposuhe
risk of reinsurance assumed. The Company remaihkelio the extent that retrocessionaires do net their

140




Table of Contents

ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (C ontinued)

obligations under these agreements, and ther@f@eompany evaluates and monitors concentratianeafit risk.
Provisions are made for amounts considered potlntiacollectible. The allowance for uncollectibieinsurance
recoverable was $397.6 million and $397.5 millio®acember 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

As at December 31, 2009 and 2008, reinsuranceviddes with a carrying value of $395.4 million and
$254.2 million, respectively, were associated whitlee and two reinsurers, respectively, which eaphesented
10% or more of total reinsurance balances receivablthe event that all or any of the reinsuringpanies are
unable to meet their obligations under existingserance agreements, the Company will be liablsdch defaulte
amounts. As at December 31, 2009, all of the theeesurers had Standard & Poor’s ratings of AAhigher.

8. INVESTMENT IN PARTLY OWNED COMPANIES

During the year ended December 31, 2008 the Comaeauired 44.4% of the outstanding capital stock of
Stonewall. Stonewall is the parent of two Rhodarididomiciled insurers, Stonewall Insurance Companty
Seaton Insurance Company, both of which are inoffiniFhe investment is carried on the equity bagiereby the
investment is initially recorded at cost and adjdsb reflect the Company’s share of after-tax isgshor losses and
unrealized investment gains and losses and redwcdividends. During the years ended December 329 2nd
2008 the Company recorded a loss of $nil and $0IBm respectively, representing the Company’arshof after-
tax losses.

On January 1, 2007 the Company held 45% of thenardishares of BH. On January 31, 2007, the Company
acquired the 55% of the shares of BH it did novjmasly own. The Company has consolidated the tesdl
operations of BH from the acquisition date.

The balance of the investment in partly owned camgpeas $20.9 million at December 31, 2009 and 2008.

9. LOSSES AND LOSS ADJUSTMENT EXPENSES

2009 2008
Outstanding $1,555,11; $1,605,44!
Incurred but not reporte 1,221,46. 1,542,49:
Fair value adjustmel (297,439 (349,656

$2,479,131  $2,798,28

The fair value adjustment, or FVA, represents tiffer@nce between the carrying value of reservescglired
companies at the date of acquisition and the finesof the reserves. The fair value of reservéssed on the
estimated timing of reserve settlements discouatedrisk free rate and a risk margin determinechbpagement.
The FVA is amortized over the estimated payoutqukras adjusted for accelerations on commutatititeseents,
using the constant yield method.

In establishing the liability for losses and logjuatment expenses related to asbestos and enwergahtlaims
management considers facts currently known anduhent state of the law and coverage litigatioabilities are
recognized for known claims (including the costedted litigation) when sufficient information hiasen develope
to indicate the involvement of a specific insurapoéicy, and management can reasonably estimaliabifity. In
addition, liabilities have been established to cadditional exposures on both known and unassetééahs.
Estimates of the liabilities are reviewed and updatontinually. Developed case law and adequate ¢lestory do
not exist for ashbestos and environmental claimgedally because significant uncertainty existsialbloe outcome
of coverage litigation and whether past claim eiqrere will be representative of future claim expede.
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In view of the changes in the legal and tort enwinent that affect the development of such claifmes, t
uncertainties inherent in valuing asbestos andrenmiental claims are not likely to be resolvedhia hear future.
Ultimate values for such claims cannot be estimatgdg traditional reserving techniques and theeesagnificant
uncertainties in estimating the amount of the Camyfsapotential losses for these claims.

There can be no assurance that the reserves sktbly the Company will be adequate or will not be
adversely affected by the development of othentat&posures. The Company'’s liability for unpaiddes and loss
adjustment expenses as of December 31, 2009 a@di2€l0ded $667.6 million and $846.4 million, restreely,
that represented an estimate of its net ultimatality for asbestos and environmental claims. ghass liability for
such claims as at December 31, 2009 and 2008 wiisGrhillion and $944.0 million, respectively.

Activity in the liability for unpaid losses and padjustment expenses is summarized as follows:

2009 2008 2007
Balance as at Januar $2,798,28  $1,591,44' $1,214,41!
Less: total reinsurance reserves recover 394,57 427,96 342,16(
2,403,71. 1,163,48! 872,25¢
Effect of exchange rate movems 73,51: (124,989 18,62¢
Net reduction in ultimate losses and loss adjustragpense liabilitie: (259,62 (242,104 (24,485
Net losses pai (257,41 (174,019 (20,427
Acquired on purchase of subsidiar 114,59! 1,408,041 317,50!
Retroactive reinsurance contracts assu 56,63( 373,28’ —
Net balance as at December 2,131,40: 2,403,71. 1,163,48!
Plus: total reinsurance reserves recover 347,72¢ 394,57" 427,96
Balance as at December $2,479,13( $2,798,28  $1,591,44!

The net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjestnexpense liabilities for the years ended Decer@be
2009, 2008 and 2007 was due to the following:

2009 2008 2007

Net losses pai $(257,419 $(174,01) $(20,42)
Net change in case and LAE reser 214,07¢ 147,57t 19,40¢
Net change in IBNF 318,16( 187,87: 31,76:
Reduction in estimates of net ultimate los 274,82! 161,43 30,74:
Reduction (increase) in provisions for bad c 11,71¢ 36,13¢ (1,74¢)
Reduction in provisions for unallocated loss arsgtladjustment expense

liabilities 50,41: 69,05¢ 22,01«
Amortization of fair value adjustmen (77,329 (24,52%) (26,53))
Net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjustnespiense liabilitie: $ 259,627 $242,10: §$24,48.

The reduction in estimates of net ultimate losee0i09, 2008 and 2007 arose from commutations aliclyp
buy-backs, the settlement of losses in the yeavbehrried reserves, lower than expected incurde@se loss
development and the resulting reductions in acaliastimates of losses incurred but not reportedeB on reviews
undertaken, during 2009 and 2008, of reinsurantanbas receivables and, as a result of the calledi certain
reinsurance receivables, against which bad delvigioms had been provided in earlier periods, tbenfany
reduced its aggregate provisions for bad debt 092(hd 2008.
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10. LOANS PAYABLE

The Company’s long-term debt consists of loan ifées used to partially finance certain of the Camg's
acquisitions. The Company draws down on theseitiasilat the time of the acquisition, although ame
circumstances the Company has made additional doaws to refinance existing debt of the acquiremigany.
The Company incurred interest expense on its laaffitfes of $17.6 million and $23.4 million forehyears ended
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Total amounts of long-term debt outstanding as etddnber 31, 2009 and 2008 totaled $255.0 milliah an
$391.5 million, respectively, and were comprisedofisws:

December 31, December 31,
Facility Date of Facility 2009 2008
Cumberlanc— Facility A March 4, 200 $ — $ 90,97
Cumberlan— Facility B March 4, 200 67,07 66,29(
Goshawk— Facility A October 3, 20C — 36,76¢
Goshawk— Facility B August 14, 200 — 12,74:
Unionamerice— Facility A December 30, 20( 155,26¢ 152,73
Unionamerice— Facility B December 30, 20( 32,62: 32,02t

$254,96: $391,53:

Cumberland

In February 2008, the Company’s wholly-owned subsyd Cumberland Holdings Limited (“Cumberland”)
entered into a term facility agreement jointly wétbondon-based bank and a German bank (the “Cuamiaer
Facility”). On March 4, 2008, Cumberland drew domd$215.0 million (approximately $197.5 million) frothe
Facility A commitment (“Cumberland Facility A”) andlU$86.0 million (approximately $79.0 million) frothe
Facility B commitment (“Cumberland Facility B”) martially fund the Gordian acquisition.

The interest rate on Cumberland Facility A was LBB@Ius 2.00% and was repayable in five years.
Cumberland had fully repaid Cumberland Facility Acd December 31, 2009. The outstanding Cumbeiffaility
A loan balance as of December 31, 2008 was appeiginAU$129.5 million (approximately $91.0 millipn

The interest rate on Cumberland Facility B is LIBPIRs 2.75%. Cumberland Facility B is repayablsiin
years and is secured by a first charge over Cumte’s shares in Gordian. Cumberland Facility B wagipby
repaid during 2009, and as of December 31, 20@xegmaining outstanding loan balance related tdatiéty was
AU$74.7 million (approximately $67.1 million), coramed to AU$94.3 million (approximately $66.3 mitipas of
December 31, 2008. Cumberland Facility B is subiesfarious financial and business covenants, dioty
limitations on liens on the stock of restricted sidiaries, restrictions as to the disposition @ $tock of restricted
subsidiaries and limitations on mergers and codatibns. As of December 31, 2009, all of the finahcovenants
relating to Cumberland Facility B were met.

Goshawk

On June 20, 2008, in connection with the proposediaition by EAL of Goshawk through the Offer, EAL
entered into a Term Facilities Agreement (the “Guogh Facilities Agreement”) with a London-based hafie
Goshawk Facilities Agreement provided for a teramldacility of up to $60.0 million to partially fance the
acquisition of Goshawk and refinance certain déligations of one of Goshawk’s subsidiaries (th&isSEng
Debt”).
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On August 12, 2008, the Company and EAL entereglantamendment and restatement agreement under
the Goshawk Facilities Agreement was amended @irst‘Amendment and Restatement Agreement”). Uttdeer
First Amendment and Restatement Agreement, EALeméiled to draw $47.5 million to fund the acqusit of
Goshawk (“Goshawk Facility A”) and the Company weasitled to draw $12.5 million to partially fundeth
refinancing of the Existing Debt of $16.3 milliofGoshawk Facility B”). On August 14, 2008, the Caang drew
down $12.5 million from Goshawk Facility B and oit@ber 3, 2008, EAL drew down $36.1 million from shawk
Facility A.

On December 22, 2009, the Company fully repaidbd@ 1 million outstanding principal and accrueeiast
on both Goshawk Facility A and Goshawk Facility®. of December 31, 2008, loan balances outstandidgr
Goshawk Facility A and B were $36.8 million and $Lillion, respectively.

Unionamerica

On December 30, 2008, in connection with the Unio@aca Holdings Limited acquisition, Royston Rurfi-of
Limited (“Royston”) borrowed the full amount of $4.8& million available under a term facilities agremt (the
“Unionamerica Facilities Agreement”) with Nation@listralia Bank Limited (“NABL”). Of that amount, B:ston
borrowed $152.6 million under Facility A (“Unionanea Facility A”) and $32.0 million under Facili§
(“Unionamerica Facility B"). As of December 31, Z0@he remaining outstanding loan balances, inodusf
accrued interest, related to Unionamerica Faaliieand B were $155.3 million and $32.6 millionspectively,
compared to $152.7 million and $32.0 million, restpesly, as of December 31, 2008.

The loans are secured by a lien covering all ofagsets of Royston. Unionamerica Facility A is yejtde
within three years from October 3, 2008, the datth® Unionamerica Facilities Agreement. Unionamcefracility
B is repayable within four years from October 30200n August 4, 2009, Royston entered into an @memnt and
restatement of the Unionamerica Facilities Agreerpensuant to which: (1) NABL'’s participation ingttoriginal
$184.6 million facility was reduced from 100% to%s0with Barclays Bank PLC providing the remainir@/&

(2) the guarantee provided by the Company of ahefobligations of Royston under the Unionamefiaailities
Agreement was terminated; and (3) the interestoathe Facility A portion was reduced from LIBORi$3.50%
to LIBOR plus 2.75% and the interest rate on thal®aB portion was reduced from LIBOR plus 4.068LIBOR
plus 3.25%.

During the existence of a payment default, ther@sterates will be increased by 1.00%. During tkistence of
any event of default (as specified in the UnionacaeFacilities Agreement), the lenders may dedlaat all
amounts outstanding under the Unionamerica Faslidigreement are immediately due and payable, iettiat all
borrowed amounts be paid upon demand, or procesidsadhe security. Amounts outstanding under the
Unionamerica Facilities Agreement are also sulifeecceleration by the lenders in the event ofangk of control
of Royston, successful application by Royston otaie of its affiliates (other than us) for listirg a stock
exchange, or total amounts outstanding under tktiss decreasing below $10.0 million. The Uniamerica
Facilities Agreement contains various financial &odiness covenants for Unionamerica Facilitiead B. As of
December 31, 2009, all of the financial covenaelsting to the Unionamerica facilities were meteTHowers Fun
has a 30% non-voting equity interest in Roystondtms Ltd., the direct parent company of Royston.

The fair values of the Company’s floating rate lapproximate their book value.

11. SHARE CAPITAL

As at December 31, 2009 and 2008, the authorizack stapital was 156,000,000 ordinary shares, gaeva
$1.00 per share. The following table is a summéighanges in ordinary shares issued and outstanding

Issued and fully paid ordinary shares of par v8lu€®0 each —
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2009 2008
Balance, beginning of ye. $13,33¢ $11,92(
Issue of share 17¢ 1,37¢
Share awards vesti 77 39
Balance, end of ye: $13,58: $13,33¢

In July 2008, the Company completed the sale tgthmic of 1,372,028 newlissued ordinary shares, inclus
of the underwriters’ over-allotment. The sharesengiced at $87.50 per share and the Company exteist
proceeds of approximately $116.8 million, after emdriting fees and other expenses of approximaial million.

Issued and fully paid non-voting convertible oraiinahares of par value $1.00 each —

Balance, beginning and end of y

12. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2009

$2,97¢

2008
$2,97:

Accumulated other comprehensive income as of Deee3ib, 2009 and 2008 is comprised of cumulative

translation adjustments and unrealized holdingggaminvestments arising during the year.

2009 2008
Cumulative translation adjustmel $4,112  $(44,82))
Unrealized holding gains on investme 4,597 13,95¢
$8,70¢  $(30,87)
13. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
a) Summary
Components of salaries and benefits are summaaizéallows:

2009 2008 2007
Salaries and benefi $41,53: $38,67¢ $31,63¢
Defined contribution pension plan expel 3,06( 2,59¢ 2,05(
2004-2005 employeshare plar — 60¢ 2,38t
Annual incentive pla 23,86( 14,39 10,90:
Total salaries and benef $68,45¢ $56,27(  $46,97:

b) Defined contribution pension plan

The Company provides pension benefits to eligibigleyees through various plans sponsored by the
Company. All pension plans are structured as ddfeumtribution plans. Pension expense for the yeaded
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was $3.1 mil§aré million and $2.1 million, respectively.
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¢) Employee share plans

Employee stock awards for 2009 are summarizedasvia

Weighted
Average Fair

Number of Value of

Shares the Award
Nonvestec— January ! 13,74¢  $ 813
Granted 69,96¢ 3,59¢
Vested (82,075) (4,309
Nonvestec— December 3: 1,63¢ $ 10z

On May 23, 2006, the Company entered into an ageaeand plan of merger with EGI (the “Merger
Agreement”) and a recapitalization agreement. Thgseements provided for the cancellation of tlea tturrent
annual incentive compensation plan and replaceithita new annual incentive compensation plan.

i) 2004-2005 employee share plan

As a result of the execution of these agreeméemtsatcounting treatment for share-based awardg timele
Company’'s employee share plan changed from boaleval fair value. The determination of the sharewaw
expenses was based on the fair-market value pex sh&GIl common stock as of the grant date ameldsgnized
over the vesting period.

Compensation costs of $nil, $0.6 million and $2iom relating to the issuance of share-awardsrtployees
of the Company in 2004 and 2005 have been recodjitizéne Company’s statement of earnings for yeaoed
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

As of December 31, 2009, all compensation costdedlto the non-vested share awards have beemiredg
i) 2006-2010 Annual Incentive Plan and 2006 Equityentive Plan

For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and] 8a(B78, 27,140 and 38,357 shares, respectiwelre
awarded to a director, officers and employees utite2R006 Equity Incentive Plan. The total valukthe awards
for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and ®66e $3.3 million, $2.6 million and $3.8 million,
respectively, and were charged against the 2006-2dibual Incentive Plan accrual established foryiars ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006.

The accrued liability relating to the 2006-2010 Aahincentive Plan for the years ended Decembe?2@19
and 2008 was $23.9 million and $14.4 million, respely.

iif) Enstar Group Limited Employee Share Purchas&nP

On February 26, 2008, the Company'’s board of dirscipproved the Amended and Restated Enstar Group
Limited Employee Share Purchase Plan (“the Plaai)l subsequently, on June 11, 2008, the Company’s
shareholders approved the Plan at the Annual GeMeting.

Compensation costs of less than $0.1 million netpto the shares issued have been recognized in the
Company’s statement of earnings for each of thesyeaded December 31, 2009 and 2008. As at Decediber
2009 and 2008, 5,588 and 2,695 shares, respegthalg been issued to employees under the Plan.

(d) Options

Prior to the Merger, the Company had no optionstaatling to purchase any of its share capitalctomlance
with the Merger Agreement, on January 31, 2007y frésted options were granted by the Companyitace
options previously issued by EGI with the same Value as the EGI options.
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Weighted
Average Intrinsic
Number of Exercise Value of
Shares Price Shares
Outstandinc— January 1, 200 490,37 $ 25.4(C $16,54¢
Granted — —
Exercisec (162,785 17.1¢ (2,796
Forfeited — — —
Outstandinc— December 31, 20C 327,58t $ 29.4¢ $14,26!

Stock options outstanding and exercisable as oé®éer 31, 2009 were as follows:

Weighted Average

Number of Weighted Average Remaining
Ranges of Exercise Price Options Exercise Price Contractual Life
$10— $20 160,86( % 17.22 1.1 year
$40— $60 166,72t 41.32 3.7 year

(c) Deferred Compensation and Stock Plan for Nomplégee Directors

For the years ended December 31 2009 and 20087 @ridi4,631 restricted share units, respectivetyew
credited to the accounts of Non-Employee Directmder the Enstar Group Limited Deferred Compensaditd
Ordinary Share Plan for Non-Employee Directors (fbeferred Compensation Plan”).

Following T. Wayne Davis’ resignation from the bobaf directors, 1,576 restricted share units pnesip
credited to his account under the Deferred ComiemsRlan were converted into the same numberef th
Company’s ordinary shares on April 1, 2009, witicfional shares paid in cash. Also on April 1, 2008146
restricted stock units previously credited to Maui3’ account under EGI's Deferred CompensationSiotk Plan
for Non-Employee Directors were converted intoshene number of the Company’s ordinary shares.

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the comparison afiband diluted earnings per share for the yeatsan
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007:

2009 2008 2007

Basic earnings per shal
Net earnings attributable to Enstar Group Limi $ 13521 $ 8155 $ 61,78
Weighted average shares outstan— basic 13,514,20 12,638,33 11,731,90
Earnings per share attributable to Enstar Groupteoh— basic  $ 10.01 $ 6.4t % 5.27
Diluted earnings per shar
Net earnings attributable to Enstar Group Lim| $ 13521 % 8155 % 61,78t
Weighted average shares outstan— basic 13,514,20 12,638,33 11,731,90
Share equivalent:

Unvested share 4,82 16,95¢ 43,33¢

Restricted share uni 8,98¢ 3,88¢ 37¢

Options 216,64« 262,29: 234,06:
Weighted average shares outstan— diluted 13,744,66 12,921,47 12,009,68
Earnings per share attributable to Enstar Grougteni—

diluted $ 9.8 % 6.31 $ 5.1¢F
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The weighted average ordinary shares outstandiogrsfor the year ended December 31, 2007 reflbets t
conversion of Class A, B, C and D shares to orgishares on January 31, 2007, as part of the atiaption
completed in connection with the Merger, as if tbaversion occurred on January 1, 2007. For thegmeded
December 31, 2007, the ordinary shares issuedqjinir@cEGI are reflected in the calculation of theigiited averag
ordinary shares outstanding from January 31, 20@/date of issue.

15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into certain transactidhsoompanies and partnerships that are affiliatgd J.
Christopher Flowers and John J. Oros. Messrs. Fioamred Oros are members of the Company’s boardextdrs
and Mr. Flowers is one of the largest shareholdEEnstar.

The Company received management fees for advisswces provided to the Flowers Fund, a private
investment fund, for the years ended December @19,22008, and 2007 of $0.7 million, $0.9 milli@md
$1.2 million, respectively. Of this amount $0.7 lioih, $0.9 million, and $0.8 million was earned the
years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 200&atésgy.

The Company has, as of December 31, 2009, 200& @04 investments in entities affiliated with Mexss
Flowers and Oros with a total value of $76.1 milli$54.5 million, and $71.6 million, respectivedynd
outstanding commitments to entities managed by Btes&lowers and Oros, for the same periods, of
$98.1 million, $104.0 million, and $76.3 milliorespectively. The Comparg/butstanding commitments
be drawn down over approximately the next five ge&ss at December 31, 2009, the related party
investments associated with Messrs. Flowers and @coounted for 97.0% of the total unfunded capital
commitments of the Company and 93.0% of the totadunt of investments classified as other investment
by the Company

On November 12, 2009, the Company invested appabeiy $4.0 million in Flowers Sego-Carrus Holdings,
LLC (“FSC"), a joint venture between the Company,umaffiliated third party and Flowers National Ban

an entity owned by Mr. Flowers. FSC purchased tvootgage loans from the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation.

On January 28, 2009, the Company invested appraeiyn®8.7 million in JCF 11l Co-invest | L.P., in
connection with its investment in certain of theemiions, assets and liabilities of OneWest BanR FS
(formerly known as IndyMac Bank, F.S.B

In July 2008, FPK acted as lead managing undemiritthhe Company’s sale to the public of 1,372,028
ordinary shares, inclusive of the underwriters’reakbotment, at a public offering price of $87.5€rshare
(the “Offering”). The underwriters purchased thargs at a 2% discount to the public offering pridee
Company received net proceeds of approximately 8ub@lion in the Offering. An affiliate of the Fleers
Fund controlled approximately 41% of FPK untilstde of FPK in December 2009. In addition, the v
Fund and certain of its affiliated investment parships purchased 285,714 ordinary shares withue vd
approximately $25.0 million in the Offering at theblic offering price

In March 2006, Enstar and Shinsei Bank Limited {fSki”), completed the acquisition of Aioi. The
acquisition was effected through Hillcot, in whiEhstar held at that date a 50.1% economic interesbt
Shinsei held at that date the remaining 49.9%.drmstd Shinsei made capital contributions to Hilteofund
the acquisition in proportion to their economiceirgsts. Mr. Flowers is a director and the largleateholder
of Shinsei. On October 27, 2008, the company isteid to Shinsei $27.1 million representing it<948.
share of the consideration received on the saltillzbt Re.

During 2008, the Flowers Fund funded approxima$dl#5.0 million for its share of the economic intna
the acquisitions of Gordian, Guildhall and Shelb@jiGoshawk, EPIC and Unionameri
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* In February 2008, the Company entered into an A0%%Bmillion (approximately $285.0 million) joinbén
facility with an Australian and German bank. Thew#érs Fund is a significant shareholder of the Germ
bank.

During each of the years ended December 31, 2@@8,2nd 2007, Enstar paid $0.1 million to Saratéds
for corporate marketing and entertainment. Dom8ileester, Chief Executive Officer of Enstar, idieector of
Saracens Ltd.

In November 2008, Enstar (US) Inc. entered inteasé agreement for use of office space with orits of
directors running to 2011. For the years ended Déee 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, Enstar (US) Inc.riecurent
expense of $0.2 million, $0.1 million and $0.2 ioifl, respectively.

In 2007 the Company granted loans to certain afritployees in relation to tax incurred on sharesrded as
part of the incentive plans. On December 31, 22098 and 2007, the total amount due from emplof@dsans
granted, including accrued interest charges at 5v@8$ $nil, $0.1 million and $1.3 million, respeetly.

16. LITIGATION

The Company, in common with the insurance and veamse industry in general, is subject to litigatand
arbitration in the normal course of its businessrapjons. While the outcome of the litigation canipe predicted
with certainty, the Company is disputing and wilhtinue to dispute all allegations that managerbehiéves are
without merit. As of December 31, 2009, the Companag not a party to any material litigation or #dtion
outside its normal course of business operations.

17. TAXATION

Under current Bermuda law, the Company and its Belarbased subsidiaries are not required to payaxes
in Bermuda on their income or capital gains. ThenPany has received an undertaking from the Ministéfinanct
in Bermuda that, in the event of any taxes beingosed, the Company and its Bermuda-based subsiliaiil be
exempt from taxation in Bermuda until March 2016.

The Company has operating subsidiaries and brapetrations in the United Kingdom, Australia, Unitethtes
and Europe and is subject to the relevant taxésoise jurisdictions. The weighted average expetsbegrovision
for the foreign operations has been calculatedgusia-tax accounting income in each jurisdictiontiplied by that
jurisdictior’s applicable statutory tax rate.

The actual income tax rate for the years ended mbee 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, differed from thewarho
computed by applying the effective rate of 0% urttlerBermuda law to earnings before income taxesrasult of

the following:
2009 2008 2007

Earnings before income ti $162,81! $128,40! $54,34:
Expected tax rat 0% 0% 0%
Foreign taxes at local expected re 52.1% 44.8% (0.3%
Benefit of loss carryovel — (1.00% —
Change in uncertain tax positio (0.89% (2.0% (14.1)%
Valuation allowanct (28.9% (4.7% —
Other (5.9% — 0.7%
Effective tax rate 17.(% 36.5% (13.9%
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Deferred income taxes arise from the recognitioteofporary differences between income determined fo
financial reporting purposes and income tax purposke tax effects of temporary differences tha¢ gise to
significant portions of the deferred tax assets@aferred tax liabilities are presented in theddidlow:

As of December 31,

2009 2008
Deferred tax asse
Net operating loss carryforwar $71,40° $ 82,46¢
Claims reserves, principally due to discountingtéor 11,11 11,51(
Allowance for doubtful accounts receival 7,00¢ 6,35¢
Investments 1,95¢ —
Other — 1,44(

91,48 101,77¢

Deferred tax liabilities

Investments — (29,939
Other (2,672) —
(2,677) (19,937

Net deferred tax asset before valuation allows 88,81: 81,84«
Valuation allowanct (57,57¢) (70,687
Net deferred tax ass $31,23° $ 11,157

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, U.K. insurantsidiaries and branch operations had tax loss
carryforwards, which do not expire, and deductiavailable for tax purposes of approximately $2Ifilfion and
$260.2 million, respectively. Certain of the ComyparlJ.K. insurance and reinsurance subsidiarieghax loss
carryforwards that arose prior to acquisition. UndeK. tax law, these tax loss carryforwards arailable to offset
future taxable income generated by the acquiredoeom without time limit. In 2007, the U.K. taxingthorities
partially repealed for the 2007 tax year, and fulgealed for all tax years including and after@&nance Act
2000 Section 107. Section 107 allowed the CompadyKs insurance and reinsurance entities to distlaart or all
of their loss reserves in any given tax year. Tiseldimed reserves would then refresh as curremt lpsses in the
following year.

As of December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, dulSsidiaries had deductible losses for tax purgpose
approximately $21.0 million and $25.1 million, resfively. Under U.S. tax law these tax losses @oarried
forward and could be available to offset futureatalg income of the companies that experiencedogsesk.

The Company has made estimates of future taxabtaria of foreign subsidiaries and has provided aatain
allowance in respect of those loss carryforwarderelit does not expect to realize a benefit.

The Company adopted the authoritative guidanceeett® the financial statement recognition, meanerd
and disclosure of uncertain tax positions in a canyfs financial statements on January 1, 2007. Watoption of
this guidance the Company recognized a $4.9 milliarease to the January 1, 2007 retained earnings.

As a result of the Company’s merger with EGI onudamp 31, 2007, the Company assumed approximately
$15.3 million of liabilities for unrecognized taeiefits related to various U.S., state and loaadnme tax matters,
and $2.4 million of accrued interest related toartain tax positions as a result of EGI's adoptibthe accounting
guidance related to income tax uncertainities ondey 1, 2007.
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During the years ended December 31, 2009, DeceBihe@008 and December 31, 2007, there were certain
reductions to the unrecognized tax benefit dubéceixpiration of statutes of limitations of $3.9lion, $3.5 million
and $8.5 million, respectively, which are includedet earnings.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amoofntinrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

2009 2008 2007
Balance, beginning of ye. $8,05¢ $13,11¢ $ 4,39¢
Balance assumed as a result of merger with EGhaonaty 31, 200 — 17,69¢
Gross increase— tax positions related to the current y 83t 2,20¢ 117
Gross increase— tax positions related to prior yez 41z 644 72¢
Gross decreas+— tax positions related to the current 'y — (557) —
Gross decreas+— tax positions related to prior yee — (3,297) —
Lapse of statute of limitatior (3,5779) (4,059 (9,82%)
Balance, end of ye: $5,727 $ 8,05¢ $13,11f

Included in the balances at December 31, 2009, idbee 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007 were $5.1omjlli
$4.2 million and $3.2 million, respectively, of tprsitions for which the ultimate deductibilityhighly certain but
for which there is uncertainty about the timingsath deductibility. Because of the impact of defdrax
accounting, other than interest and penaltiesdigedlowance of the shorter deductibility perioduibnot affect the
annual effective tax rate but would acceleratepdagment of cash to the taxing authority to an eageriod.

Within specific countries, the subsidiaries mayshbject to audit by various tax authorities and tapubject
to different statutes of limitations expiration e@stWith limited exceptions, the Company’s majdrsidiaries that
operate in the United States, United Kingdom andt/alia are no longer subject to audits for yeafete 2005,
2007, and 2003, respectively.

It is reasonably possible that the amount of thecwgnized tax benefit with respect to certairhef t
unrecognized tax positions could decrease by @ppooximately $0.6 million within the next 12 mostifithe
statute of limitations expires on certain tax pésio

The Company recognizes accrued interest and pesadtiated to unrecognized tax benefits as a partome
tax expense. During the years ended December 898, 2008, and 2007 the Company recognized a bdoetie
reversal of interest and penalties related to wyeized tax benefits due to the expiration of tia¢use of limitation:
in the amount of $0.5 million, $0.8 million and $Imillion, respectively. The Company had approxiehat
$0.9 million, $1.2 million and $1.8 million accruéat the payment of interest and penalties rel&daghrecognized
tax benefits at December 31, 2009, December 318 266 December 31, 2007, respectively.
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18. STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS (Unaudited)

The Company’s insurance and reinsurance operadignsubject to insurance laws and regulationsan th
jurisdictions in which they operate, including Beuula, Australia, the United States, Europe and thieed
Kingdom. Statutory capital and surplus as repotoeithe relevant regulatory authorities for the nagsice and
reinsurance subsidiaries of the Company as of DbeeBil, 2009 and 2008 was as follows (in the thblew, the
United States and Europe are among the jurisdigfiociuded in “Other”):

Bermuda U.K. Australia Other
December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
Required statutory capital a
surplus $ 54,02:$% 14465(3$ 54,77°$ 40,42($ 186,10°$ 223,79: $ 56,72t $ 6,50¢
Actual statutory capital and
surplus $ 428,62: $ 336,04. $ 604,39( $ 352,12: $ 337,96: $ 459,28t $ 147,19' $ 13,85:
Bermuda UK Australia Other
December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
Statutory incom $ 4353:$ 20,31¢$ 4598t $ (76,669% 30,61¢$ 112,32t $ 140,12t $ (1,199
Maximum available for
dividends $ 272,68t $ 120,28: $ 80,65:$% 51,03¢ $ 151,79 $ 235,49t $ 6,052 $ 15,34

19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company leases office space under operatisgdezxpiring in various years through 2015. Thedsare
renewable at the option of the lessee under certainmstances. The following is a schedule of feitminimum
rental payments on non-cancellable leases as afrbleer 31, 2009:

2010 $ 3,24¢
2011 2,91:
2012 2,24:
2013 1,40¢
2014 1,06¢
2015 through 201 513

$11,39(

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2008, and 2007 was $2.7 million, $2.5 million, and
$2.2 million, respectively.

In 2006 the Company committed to invest up to $a®aillion in the Flowers Fund. As of December 3202,
the capital contributed to the Flowers Fund was$8fillion, with the remaining unfunded commitmdeing
approximately $3.1 million.

As at December 31, 2009, the Company has guarattteabligations of two of its subsidiaries in respof
letters of credit issued on their behalf by Lond@sed banks in the aggregate amount of £19.5 millio
(approximately $31.5 million) in respect of capitammitments to Lloyd’s Syndicate 2008 and insueacantract
requirements of one of the subsidiaries. The guaeswill be triggered should losses incurred leyshbsidiaries
exceed available cash on hand resulting in therketif credit being drawn. As at December 31, 2689 Company
had not recorded any liabilities associated withgharantees.

On September 10, 2008, the Company made a comntitmervest in aggregate $100.0 million in J.C.vifws
Fund 11l L.P. (“Fund 1lI"). The Company’s commitmemay be drawn down by Fund Ill over
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approximately the next six years. As of December2BD9, the capital contributed to the fund wa®$billion with
the remaining outstanding commitment being $95l0ani Fund Il is a private investment fund advidey J.C.
Flowers & Co. LLC. J. Christopher Flowers, a memiiethe Company’s board of directors and one ofitgest
shareholders, is the founder and Managing DireaftdrC. Flowers & Co. LLC. John J. Oros, the Compan
Executive Chairman and a member of its board @fotiin's, is a Managing Director of J.C. Flowers & CioC.

Mr. Oros splits his time between J.C. Flowers & CloC and the Company.

The Company has made a capital commitment of §1€00 million on the GSC European Mezzanine Fund |l
LP (“GSC"). GSC invests in mezzanine securitiesafdle and large market companies throughout Wiester
Europe. As of December 31, 2009, the capital counted to GSC was $7.0 million, with the remainiegnenitment
being $3.0 million.

20. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The determination of reportable segments is basdtbw senior management monitors the Company’s
operations. The Company measures the results opérations under two major business categoriesuttng and
reinsurance.

The Company’s consulting segment comprises theatipes and financial results of those subsidiathias
provide management and consulting services, fareriaims inspections services and reinsuranceatmleservice
to third-party clients, as well as to the Companginsurance segment, in return for managemest Téee Compar
provides consulting and management services thriasiglubsidiaries located in the United Statespieta and
Europe to large multinational company clients viitturance and reinsurance companies and portfioliagh-off
relating to risks spanning the globe. As a resxitracting and quantifying revenues attributableedain
geographic locations would be impracticable givendlobal nature of the business.

All of the consulting fees for the reinsurance segtrelate to intercompany fees paid to the coimgult
segment.

153




Table of Contents

ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (C ontinued)

Consulting Reinsurance Total
2009
Consulting fee! $ 49,617 $ (33,51) $ 16,10¢
Net investment incom 1,892 79,47 81,371
Net realized gain — 4,23 4,23
51,51! 50,20! 101,71:
Net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjustnesapiense liabilities
Reduction in estimates of net ultimate los — (274,825 (274,82)
Reduction in provisions for bad de — (11,719 (11,719
Reduction in provisions for unallocated loss arssladjustment expense
liabilities — (50,417 (50,417
Amortization of fair value adjustmer — 77,32¢ 77,32¢
— (259,627 (259,62
Salaries and benefi 37,28 31,17: 68,45¢
General and administrative expen 19,87( 27,03: 46,90:
Interest expens — 17,58: 17,58:
Net foreign exchange (gain) lo (920 24,705 23,78
56,23 (159,13) (102,90)
(Loss) earnings before income ta: (4,720 209,33: 204,61:
Income taxe: (2,402 (25,207) (27,605
Net (loss) earning (7,122 184,13( 177,00¢
Less: Net earnings attributable to noncontrollinigiest — (41,79¢) (41,799
Net (loss) earnings attributable to Enstar Groupited $ (7,127 $ 142,33. $135,21(
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Consulting Reinsurance Total
2008
Consulting fee! $ 54,15¢ $ (29,00) $ 25,15
Net investment (loss) incon (20,249 46,84¢ 26,601
Net realized losse — (1,655 (1,655
33,91( 16,185 50,09
Net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjustnesmpiense liabilities
Reduction in estimates of net ultimate los — (161,43) (161,43)
Reduction in provisions for bad de — (36,13¢) (36,13¢)
Reduction in provisions for unallocated loss argsladjustment expense
liabilities — (69,05¢) (69,05¢)
Amortization of fair value adjustmer — 24,52t 24,52t
— (242,109 (242,109
Salaries and benefi 33,19¢ 23,07 56,27(
General and administrative expen 17,28¢ 36,06¢ 53,357
Interest expens — 23,37( 23,37(
Net foreign exchange lo: 1,16 13,81¢ 14,98¢

51,65. (14577) _ (94,12

(Loss) earnings before income taxes and sharetddse of partly owned

company (17,747 161,96( 144,21¢
Income taxe: 511 (47,365 (46,859
Share of net loss of partly owned compi — (207) (207)
(Loss) earnings before extraordinary g (17,23) 114,39 97,16:
Extraordinary gait— Negative goodwil — 50,28( 50,28(
Net (loss) earning (17,23) 164,67- 147,44:
Less: Net earnings attributable to noncontrollinigiest — (65,897) (65,897)

Net (loss) earnings attributable to Enstar Groupited $(17,23) $ 98,78. $ 81,55!
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Consulting Reinsurance Total
2007
Consulting fee! $ 59,46 $ (27,547 $31,91¢
Net investment incom 22¢ 63,85¢ 64,087
Net realized gain 24¢ 24¢
59,69 36,56 96,25¢
Net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjustnesmpiense liabilities
Reduction in estimates of net ultimate los — (30,74%)  (30,74%
Increase in provisions for bad d¢ — 1,74¢ 1,74¢
Reduction in provisions for unallocated loss argsladjustment expense
liabilities — (22,019 (22,019
Amortization of fair value adjustmer — 26,53: 26,53!
— (24,48) (24,48
Salaries and benefi 36,22: 10,75¢ 46,977
General and administrative expen 21,84+ 9,56¢ 31,41:
Interest expens — 4,87¢ 4,87¢
Net foreign exchange loss (ga 192 (8,119) (7,92))
58,25¢ (7,395 50,86
Earnings before income tax 1,43t 43,95¢ 45,391
Income taxe: (597) 8,03¢ 7,441
Earnings before extraordinary gi 83¢ 51,99/ 52,83:
Extraordinary gait— Negative goodwil — 15,68: 15,68:
Net earning: 83¢ 67,67 68,51¢
Less: Net earnings attributable to noncontrollinigiest — (6,730 (6,730
Net earnings attributable to Enstar Group Limi $ 83 $ 6094 $61,78¢

Revenue from one client of the Company’s consulsegment was $12.4 million.
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21. CONDENSED UNAUDITED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA

2009 Quarters Ended

December 31  September 3C June 30 March 31
Consulting fee: $ 4,471 % 4,112 % 4,17¢ % 3,33¢€
Net investment incom 20,92¢ 24,64( 18,49: 17,30¢
Net realized gains (losse 2,25¢ 2,917 5,08( (6,010
27,66 31,66¢ 27,75: 14,63¢
Net reduction in ultimate loss and loss adjustn
expense liabilities
Reduction in estimates of net ultimate los (182,52) (44,736 (17,747 (29,829
Reduction in provisions for bad de (2,009 — — (9,719
Reduction in provisions for unallocated loss arsg$lo
adjustment expense liabiliti (21,049 (9,830 (9,427 (10,119
Amortization of fair value adjustmer 32,57: 12,00¢ 9,771 22,975
(172,99 (42,55¢) (17,399 (26,679
Salaries and benefi 27,12¢ 16,99 11,91« 12,417
General and administrative expen 11,41¢ 12,19t 10,91( 12,38:
Interest expens 3,681 4,262 4,67¢ 4,96~
Net foreign exchange loss (ga 30,96¢ (7,164 (1,617 1,59¢
(99,81)) (16,26%) 8,49t 4,68:
EARINGS BEFORE INCOME TAXES AND SHARE
OF NET (LOSS) EARNINGS OF PARTLY
OWNED COMPANY 127,47 47,93 19,257 9,952
Income taxe: (25,58¢) (2,660 23 61€
Share of net (loss) earnings of partly owned comj (46%) 19€ — 26¢
NET EARNINGS 101,42: 45,46¢ 19,28( 10,83¢
Less: Net (earnings) loss attributable to noncdiimigp
interests (21,480) (10,487 (10,529 692
NET EARNINGS ATTRIBUTABLE TO ENSTAR
GROUP LIMITED $ 79941 $ 3498 9 8,751 $ 11,531
EARNINGS PER SHARE— BASIC
Net earnings attributable to Enstar Group Limi
ordinary shareholdel $ 5.8¢ % 258 % 0.6 $ 0.8€
EARNINGS PER SHARE— DILUTED
Net earnings attributable to Enstar Group Limi
ordinary shareholde $ 57¢ $ 25 0.6 $ 0.84
Weighted average shares outstan— Basic 13,579,97 13,578,55 13,532,60  13,363,50
Weighted average shares outstan— Diluted 13,811,170 13,814,65 13,787,55 13,699,41
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2008 Quarters Ended

December 3: September 3 June 30 March 31
Consulting fee: $ 8,10¢ $ 7,41C  $ 3,57¢ % 6,05¢
Net investment incom (2,057 6,84¢ 21,21¢ 59C
Net realized (losses) gai (1,399 (192) 1,01¢ (1,089
4,65¢ 14,067 25,81; 5,561
Net (reduction) increase in ultimate loss and bdjsistmen
expense liabilities
(Reduction) increase in estimates of net ultimassé: (134,46 (4,169 (24,09) 1,28t
(Reduction) increase in provisions for bad ¢ (35,279 218 (1,075 —
Reduction in provisions for unallocated loss arg$lo
adjustment expense liabilitit (36,137 (13,672 (12,16%) (7,087
Amortization of fair value adjustmer (7,969 14,15¢ 11,84¢ 6,487
(213,83) (3,469 (25,48)) 68t
Salaries and benefi 24,95 6,01 13,947 11,357
General and administrative expen 17,35:¢ 10,12 13,97: 11,91:
Interest expens 4,49 7,91¢ 7,64: 3,31¢
Net foreign exchange (gain) lo (3,800 25,05¢ (4,935 (1,335
(170,839 45,64( 5,144 25,93
EARINGS (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES AND SHAF
OF NET LOSS OF PARTLY OWNED COMPAN 175,49¢ (31,579 20,667 (20,379
Income taxe: (33,46¢) (10,439 (3,199 23¢
Share of net loss of partly owned comp: (201) — — —
EARNINGS (LOSS) BEFORE EXTRAORDINARY GAI! 141,82¢ (42,00) 17,47¢ (20,139
Extraordinary gail— Negative goodwil — — — 50,28(
NET EARNINGS (LOSS 141,82¢ (42,00) 17,47¢ 30,147
Less: Net (earnings) loss attributable to noncdlirigpinterest:
(including share of extraordinary gain of $nil, i$8nil, and
15,084, respectively (46,709 5,572 (6,307) (18,46()
NET EARNINGS (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO ENSTAF
GROUP LIMITED $ 9512« $ (3643H) $ 11,177 $ 11,68
EARNINGS PER SHARE— BASIC
Earnings (loss) before extraordinary gain attriblédo Ensta
Group Limited ordinary shareholde $ 7.1 $ 2749 $ 09: $ (2.97)
Extraordinary gain attributable to Enstar Group itéd
ordinary shareholdel — — — 2.9t
Net earnings (loss) attributable to Enstar Groupitad
ordinary shareholdel $ 7.1 $ 2749 $ 0.9 $ 0.9¢
EARNINGS PER SHARE— DILUTED
Earnings (loss) before extraordinary gain attriblegdo Enstar
Group Limited ordinary shareholde $ 7.1 $ 2749 $ 091 $ (2.97)
Extraordinary gain attributable to Enstar Group itéd
ordinary shareholdel — — — 2.9t
Net earnings (loss) attributable to Enstar Groupitad
ordinary shareholdel $ 712 % 2749 $ 091 % 0.9¢
Weighted average shares outstan— basic 13,333,64 13,317,91 11,959,12 11,927,54
Weighted average shares outstan— diluted 13,334,94 13,317,91 12,238,35 11,927,54
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2007 Quarters Ended

December 3: September 3 June 30 March 31
Consulting fee: $ 17,19 % 6,23¢ $ 3,82¢ % 4,661
Net investment incom 13,46! 15,87( 16,97¢ 17,78(
Net realized (losses) gai (221) 31 (132 571
30,43: 22,13¢ 20,67( 23,01:
Net (reduction) increase in ultimate loss and bdjsistmen
expense liabilities
(Reduction) increase in estimates of net ultimassé: (25,77 (5,427 (1,669 2,12:
(Reduction) increase in provisions for bad ¢ (4,047 4,97z 821 —
Reduction in provisions for unallocated loss arg$lo
adjustment expense liabilitit (4,959 (5,939 (5,860 (5,267
Amortization of fair value adjustmer 8,90 6,07( 5,90: 5,65¢
(25,87 (319 (805) 2,51(
Salaries and benefi 15,14« 8,671 10,36( 12,80:
General and administrative expen 6,93¢ 10,89( 7,91¢ 5,67
Interest expens 1,10¢ 1,44: 1,307% 1,01¢
Net foreign exchange (gain) lo (255) (4,65)) (3,069 54
(2,94)) 16,03¢ 15,70¢ 22,057
EARINGS BEFORE INCOME TAXES 33,374 6,10( 4,962 95¢&
Income taxe: 1,281 (939 8,10¢ (1,016
EARNINGS (LOSS) BEFORE EXTRAORDINARY GAIl 34,65t 5,167 13,07 (61)
Extraordinary gair— Negative goodwil — — 15,68:
NET EARNINGS 34,65¢ 5,167 13,07 15,62:
Less: Net loss (earnings) attributable to noncdlirigpinterest: 284 (2,599 (2,167) (2,24%)
NET EARNINGS ATTRIBUTABLE TO ENSTAR GROUI
LIMITED $ 3493 $ 2566 $ 1090« $ 13,37«
EARNINGS PER SHARE— BASIC
Earnings (loss) before extraordinary gain attribledao Enstar
Group Limited ordinary shareholde $ 29: % 02z $ 09z $ (0.21)
Extraordinary gain attributable to Enstar Group itéd
ordinary shareholdel — — — 1.41
Net earnings attributable to Enstar Group Limitedircary
shareholder $ 29T 8 02z $ 09z $ 1.2C
EARNINGS PER SHARE— DILUTED
Earnings (loss) before extraordinary gain attriblgédao Enstar
Group Limited ordinary shareholde $ 28 % 021 % 08¢ % (0.20)
Extraordinary gain attributable to Enstar Group itéd
ordinary shareholdel — — — 1.37
Net earnings attributable to Enstar Group Limitedirary
shareholder $ 28t $ 021 % 0.8 $ 1.17
Weighted average shares outstan— basic 11,920,39 11,920,39 11,916,01 11,160,44
Weighted average shares outstan— diluted 12,197,07 12,200,51 12,204,56 11,425,71
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ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED
CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS
As of December 31, 2009 and 2008
2009 2008

(in thousands of U.S. dollars
except share data)

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalel $ 1291 $ 2,48¢
Balances due from subsidiari 159,68t 142,27"
Investments in subsidiari 1,196,68 1,030,96i
Goodwill 21,22: 21,22:
Accounts receivable and other as: 8,64¢ 10,53¢
TOTAL ASSETS $1,399,15. $1,207,48
LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued liabilit $ 4,51( 2,582
Loans payabli — 12,741
Balances due to subsidiari 318,49( 320,93
TOTAL LIABILITIES 323,00( 336,25¢

SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
Share capite
Authorized issued and fully paid, par value $1 eglthorized 2009: 156,000,000;
2008: 156,000,00(

Ordinary shares (Issued 2009: 13,580,793; 2008343353) 13,58: 13,33¢
Non-voting convertible ordinary shares (Issued 200972,892; 2008: 2,972,89 2,97¢ 2,97¢
Treasury stock at cost (non-voting convertible wady shares 2009: 2,972,892; 20(

2,972,892, (421,559 (421,559
Additional paic-in capital 721,12( 709,48!
Accumulated other comprehensive income (I 8,70¢ (30,879
Retained earning 477,05 341,84

Total Enstar Group Limited Shareholc’ Equity 801,88: 615,20¢
Noncontrolling interes 274,27: 256,02:

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY 1,076,15: 871,23:
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY $1,399,15. $1,207,48

See accompanying notes to the condensed finanatehsents.
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ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and Z00

2009 2008 2007
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
INCOME
Net investment incom $ 1122 $ 1,42: $ 557
Dividend income from subsidiari 1,01¢ 22,45¢ —
2,141 23,87 557
EXPENSES
Salaries and benefi 50 642 4,414
General and administrative expen 6,78( 3,70¢ 4,514
Interest expens 15,977 16,022 7,11¢
Foreign exchange (gains) los: (407) 1,06: 162

22,40¢ 21,43¢ 16,20¢

(LOSS) EARNINGS BEFORE EQUITY IN UNDISTRIBUTED EARNGS

OF SUBSIDIARIES (20,26%) 2,44z (15,65
EQUITY IN UNDISTRIBUTED EARNINGS OF SUBSIDIARIE! 197,27 129,91 84,167
NONCONTROLLING INTEREST (41,799 (50,809 (6,730
NET EARNINGS ATTRIBUTABLE TO ENSTAR GROUP LIMITEL $13521( $ 81,55! $61,78¢

See accompanying notes to the condensed finanatahsents.
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ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and Z00

2009 2008 2007
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net cash flows (used in) provided by operatingwititis $(35,61(0 $ 118,15¢ $ 56,59(
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Return (contribution) of capiti 55,72, (245,900 (42,067
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Repayment of loan (12,487 — —
Receipt of loan: — 12,48:
Repurchase of shar — — (16,76
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shi 2,79¢ 115,39. —
Net cash flows (used in) provided by financingétigs (9,686 127,87 (16,762
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT 10,42¢ 132 (2,239
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAF 2,48¢ 2,354 4,59:
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAF $1291 $ 248t $ 2,35¢

See accompanying notes to the condensed finanatehsents.
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ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Enstar Group Limited (“Enstar”) was incorporateader the laws of Bermuda on August 16, 2001 anH itst
subsidiaries (collectively the “Company”) acquieegl manages insurance and reinsurance companigs-aff, anc
provides management, consultancy and other seriadbe insurance and reinsurance industry.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation— The condensed financial statements have be@amme in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United StafeSmerica. The preparation of financial stateméntsonformity
with generally accepted accounting principles reggimanagement to make estimates and assumptatresfect
the reported amount of assets and liabilities asdabsure of contingent assets and liabilitieshatdate of the
financial statements and the reported amountsveimges and expenses during the reporting perioalahcesults
could differ from those estimates.

The accompanying condensed financial statements l@en prepared using the equity method to acdount
the investments in subsidiaries. Under the equityhiod, the investments in consolidated subsidianestated at
cost plus the equity in undistributed earningsafaolidated subsidiaries since the date of aciprisiThese
condensed financial statements should be readnijjuiection with the Company’s consolidated finanaitdtements.

163




Table of Contents

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURE!
Disclosure Controls and Procedur

Our management has performed an evaluation, wétlpéhnticipation of our Chief Executive Officer a@tief
Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our diisure controls and procedures (as defined in RiBas15(e) and
15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act as of December 3@92Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Execufiffecer
and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our thsare controls and procedures are effective tarenthat
information required to be disclosed by us in réptnat we file or submit under the Exchange Aceizorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the pieniads specified in the rules and forms of the SBQ is
accumulated and communicated to management, imgjutdi principal executive and principal finanaidficers, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regardinguiegd disclosure.

Managemer's Annual Report on Internal Control Over FinancRéporting

Our management was responsible for establishingraidtaining adequate internal control over finahci
reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15¢)1& the Exchange Act). Our management has peréoran
assessment, with the participation of our Chiefdtxi@e Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, @dir internal
control over financial reporting as of December &109. In making this assessment, our managemedtthe
criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoringdhizations of the Treadway Commission in Inte@aihtrol-
Integrated Framework. As allowed by SEC guidanamagement excluded from its assessment the 200@séim
of Copenhagen Re, whose total assets, net asstieis;dvenues and net income constitute approxisndt@1%,
(0.19)%, 0.39% and (1.16)% respectively, of thesodidated financial statement amounts as of anthioyear
ended December 31, 2009.

Based upon that assessment, our management belieteas of December 31, 2009, our internal cooiwer
financial reporting is effective.

The effectiveness of our internal control over ficial reporting as of December 31, 2009 has beditealiby
our independent registered public accounting fisnstated in its report. This report appears on 83e

All internal control systems, no matter how welkidmed, have inherent limitations. As a result,netimse
internal control systems determined to be effeateae provide only reasonable assurance with respéictancial
reporting and the preparation of financial statetsien

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Repogtin

Our management has performed an evaluation, wétlpdhnticipation of our Chief Executive Officer aoidr
Chief Financial Officer, of changes in our internahtrol over financial reporting that occurredidgrthe year
ended December 31, 2009. Based upon that evaluagoa were no changes in our internal control dwancial
reporting that occurred during the quarter endeceb#er 31, 2009 that have materially affectedrereasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal controber financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Enstar Group Limited

We have audited the internal control over financéglorting of Enstar Group Limited and subsidiaftes
“Company”) as of December 31, 2009, based on @itstablished in Internal Control — Integratednreavork
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission. As described in Mansayd's
Report on Internal Controls over Financial Repagitimanagement excluded from its assessment thaahieontrol
over financial reporting at Copenhagen Reinsur&mapany Ltd. (“Copenhagen Re”") which was acquined o
October 15, 2009. The financial statements of Cbpgan Re constitute approximately 3.91%, (0.19)29% and
(1.16)% of total assets, net assets, total revean@set income, respectively, of the Company’sobtidated
financial statement amounts as of and for the gaded December 31, 2009. Accordingly, our auditdidinclude
the internal control over financial reporting atg@ahagen Re. The Company’s management is respeifisibl
maintaining effective internal control over finaalcieporting and for its assessment of the effecidss of internal
control over financial reporting, included in thecampanying Management’s Report on Internal Cositoakr
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to exgg@n opinion on the Company’s internal controlr dvencial
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8oa
(United States). Those standards require that ame ghd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether effective internal control over financiaporting was maintained in all material respects. &udit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control digancial reporting, assessing the risk that aemaltweakness
exists, testing and evaluating the design and ¢ipgraffectiveness of internal control based onabsessed risk,
and performing such other procedures as we comgldercessary in the circumstances. We believethaudit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed by, or under the supenvisi the
company’s principal executive and principal finahafficers, or persons performing similar funcgpand effected
by the company board of directors, management, and other peetomprovide reasonable assurance regardin
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacat of financial statements for external purposeadcordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A compsaimgernal control over financial reporting incleglthose
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to thenteaiance of records that, in reasonable detailirately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of treetesof the company; (2) provide reasonable asseriduat
transactions are recorded as necessary to perepargation of financial statements in accordanch generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipdsexpenditures of the company are being madeiordgcordanc
with authorizations of management and directoithefcompany; and (3) provide reasonable assurageeding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized asigjon, use, or disposition of the company’s assleat could
have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltcohover financial reporting, including the possip of
collusion or improper management override of cdatnmaterial misstatements due to error or fraugl na be
prevented or detected on a timely basis. Alsogotans of any evaluation of the effectivenesdefihternal contr
over financial reporting to future periods are gabjfo the risk that the controls may become inadegjbecause of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of caampé with the policies or procedures may detemorat

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all maleaespects, effective internal control over fical
reporting as of December 31, 2009, based on therieriestablished in Internal Control — Integrafedmework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boar
(United States), the consolidated financial statemand financial statement schedule as of anthéoyear ended
December 31, 2009 of the Company and our repoeddetarch 3, 2010 expressed an unqualified opiniothose
consolidated financial statements and financidgestant schedule.

/sl Deloitte & Touche

Hamilton, Bermuda
March 3, 2010
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PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANI

The information required by this item is incorp@aby reference from our definitive proxy statenfenthe
2010 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders urftehtadings “Proposal No. 1 — Election of Directors
“Executive Officers,” and “Section 16(a) Benefic@vnership Reporting Compliance.” That proxy stagatwill
be filed with the SEC not later than 120 days afterclose of the fiscal year ended December 319 pQirsuant to
Regulation 14A.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorp@cby reference from our definitive proxy statenfenthe
2010 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders urfieheadings “Executive Compensation,” “Director
Compensation” and “Proposal No. 1 — Election ofebtors — Meetings of the Board of Directors and its
Committees — Compensation Committee Interlockslaailer Participation.” That proxy statement wid filed
with the SEC not later than 120 days after theectifghe fiscal year ended December 31, 2009 pattoa
Regulation 14A.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS ANDMANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item is incorp@aby reference from our definitive proxy statenfenthe
2010 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders urtteheadings “Principal Shareholders and Management
Ownership” and “Equity Compensation Plan Informafiorhat proxy statement will be filed with the SEGt later
than 120 days after the close of the fiscal yededrDecember 31, 2009 pursuant to Regulation 14A.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this item is incorp@cby reference from our definitive proxy statenfenthe
2010 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders urftehtadings “Certain Relationships and Relatedshetions
and “Proposal No. 1 — Election of Directors — Indegence of Directors.” That proxy statement wilffitesd with
the SEC not later than 120 days after the clogkeofiscal year ended December 31, 2009 pursuant to
Regulation 14A.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorp@aby reference from our definitive proxy statenfenthe
2010 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders urttehtading “Proposal No. 2 — Appointment of Indejmam
Auditors.” That proxy statement will be filed withe SEC not later than 120 days after the closbeofiscal year
ended December 31, 2009 pursuant to Regulation 14A.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(&) Financial Statements, Financial Statement Schedulesd Exhibits.
1. Financial Statements
Included in Part Il — See Item 8 of this report.
2. Financial Statement Schedules
Included in Part Il — See Item 8 of this report.
3. Exhibits
The Exhibits listed below are filed as part ofjraorporated by reference into, this report.

Exhibit
No. Description

2.1 ® Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 8862as amended on November 21, 2006, by and
among Castlewood Holdings Limited, CWMS Subsidi@orp. and The Enstar Group, Inc. (incorpor:
by reference to Exhibit 2.1 (and Annex A) to thexpr statement/prospectus that forms a part of the
Company'’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 led ¥iith the Securities and Exchange Commission
and declared effective December 15, 20

2.2 * Recapitalization Agreement, dated as of May 2362@@ong Castlewood Holdings Limited, The Enstar
Group, Inc. and the other parties signatory thefietmrporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 (and
Annex C) to the proxy statement/prospectus thah$oa part of the ComparsyRegistration Statement
Form S-4, as filed with the Securities and Excha@gmmission and declared effective December 15,
2006).

2.3 ¢ Agreement relating to the Sale and Purchase dEtitiee Issued Share Capital of Inter-Ocean Holdings
Ltd. dated December 29, 2006, as amended on Jag8aRp07 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1
of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8ak filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissit
March 1, 2007)

2.4 *® Share Sale Agreement, dated December 10, 200 hdpetween Enstar Group Limited, Enstar Aust
Holdings Pty Limited, AMP Insurance Investment Ho@gs Pty Limited, AMP Holdings Limited, AMP
Group Services Limited, AMP Group Holdings Limitedd AMP Services Limited (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 2.4 of the Company’s Annuap&® on Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on February 29, 20

2.5 ¢ Agreement for the Sale and Purchase of the Ertingeld Share Capital of Unionamerica Holdings
Limited, dated October 7, 2008, by and betwee®&utl Fire and Marine Insurance Company, Royston
Run-off Limited and Kenmare Holdings Limited (inporated by reference to Exhibit 2.5 of the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, as filed viltb Securities and Exchange Commission on
March 5, 2009)

3.1 Memorandum of Association of Castlewood Holdingshitéd (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1
to the proxy statement/prospectus that forms agiahte Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-4, as filed with the Securities and ExchaBgmmission and declared effective December 15,
2006).

3.2 Second Amended and Restated Bye-Laws of EnstarpQrimited (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K12B, as fileith the Securities and Exchange Commission on
January 31, 2007

10.1 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of JanB&y2007, by and among Castlewood Holdings
Limited, Trident I, L.P., Marsh & McLennan Capitatofessionals Fund, L.P., Marsh & McLennan
Employees’ Securities Company, L.P., J. Christofthewers, Dominic F. Silvester and other parties
thereto set forth on the Schedule of Shareholdéasted thereto (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K12B, as fileih the Securities and Exchange Commission on
January 31, 2007
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Exhibit
No.

1C.2+

10.3

104

10.5+

1C.6+

10.7+

1C.8+

10.9+

1C.10+

10.11+

1C.12+

1C.13

10.14+

Description

Form of Director Indemnification Agreement (incorpted by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (188-851461) initially filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on June 5, 20

Tax Indemnification Agreement, dated as of MayZlK)6, among Castlewood Holdings Limited, The
Enstar Group, Inc. and J. Christopher Flowers (ipomated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the proxy
statement/prospectus that forms a part of the Cagip&Registration Statement on Form S-4, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission antadest effective December 15, 200

Letter Agreement, dated as of May 23, 2006, betwgesilewood Holdings Limited, T. Whit Armstrong
and T. Wayne Dauvis (incorporated by reference toiltic10.5 to the proxy statement/prospectus that
forms a part of the Company’s Registration StatdroarForm S-4, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission and declared effective Decerithe2006)

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, effedlizy 1, 2007 and amended and restated Ju
2007, by and among Enstar Group Limited and DonfniSilvester (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Quarterly Report anrf 10-Q,as filed with the Securities and Exchal
Commission on August 9, 200°

Employment Agreement, effective May 1, 2007, by antbng Enstar Group Limited, Castlewood (US)
Inc., and John J. Oros (incorporated by refereadexhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Current Report on
Form &K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissio May 3, 2007)

Employment Agreement, effective May 1, 2007, by antbng the Company and Paul J. O’'Shea
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of thmpany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on May @7R2

Employment Agreement, effective May 1, 2007, by antbng Enstar Group Limited and Nicholas A.
Packer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.the Company’s Current Report on Form 8ds,filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on B]&007).

Employment Agreement, effective May 1, 2007, by antbng Enstar Group Limited and Richard J.
Harris (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10f5h@ Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, agifile
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on B]&007).

Castlewood Holdings Limited 2006 Equity IncentidarP(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to
the proxy statement/prospectus that forms a patteoCompany’s Registration Statement on

Form S-4, as filed with the Securities and Excha@gmmission and declared effective December 15,
2006), as amended by the First Amendment to Castldwioldings Limited 2006 Equity Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of th@any’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on Ap208,7).

Castlewood Holdings Limited 2006-2010 Annual IndemiCompensation Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the proxy statemenspectus that forms a part of the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-4, as filed with$ecurities and Exchange Commission and declared
effective December 15, 2006), as amended by tts A&inendment to Castlewood Holdings Limited
2006-2010 Annual Incentive Compensation Plan (ipormated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with Securities and Exchange Commission on
April 6, 2007).

Form of Award Agreement under the Castlewood Hgsdihimited 2006 Equity Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of thenany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on Ap208,7).

Letter Agreement, dated as of May 23, 2006, amdmgHnstar Group, Inc. and its Directors
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to thexy statement/prospectus that forms a part of the
Registration Statement on Form S-4 of the Compasyiled with the Securities and Exchange
Commission and declared effective December 15, I

Enstar Group Limited Amended and Restated Empl&jeee Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference
to Appendix A to the Company’s Definitive Proxy &timent, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on April 29, 2008
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Exhibit
No.

1C.15+

1C.16+

1C.17+

1C.18

1C.19

10.20

1C0.21+

21.1*
23.1*
31.1*
31.2*
32.1**

32.2*

Description

Enstar Group Limited Deferred Compensation and 2ngi Share Plan for Non-Employee Directors,
effective as of June 5, 2007 (incorporated by exfee to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Repor
onForm &K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissio June 11, 2007

The Enstar Group, Inc. 1997 Amended Omnibus IngerRilan (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to The Enstar Group, Inc.’s QuartdRigport on Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securitied a
Exchange Commission on August 14, 2001), as amenygléte Amendment to the 1997 Omnibus
Inventive Plan (incorporated by reference to AnAew the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of
Shareholders of The Enstar Group, Inc., as filat thie Securities and Exchange Commission on
April 22, 2003).

The Enstar Group, Inc. 2001 Outside Direct@ck Option Plan (incorporated by reference toexnB
to the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting o&rgholders of The Enstar Group, Inc., as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on May @12

License Agreement, dated October 27, 2005, betWastiewood (US) Inc. and J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 tophexy statement/prospectus that forms a part of the
Registration Statement on Form S-4 of the Compasyiled with the Securities and Exchange
Commission and declared effective December 15, QI

Term Facilities Agreement, dated October 3, 209&rd between Royston Run-off Limited and
National Australia Bank Limited (incorporated byeaence to Exhibit 10.19 of the Compi’'s Annual
Report on Form 1-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Comsinison March 5, 2009
Amended and Restated Term Facilities Agreemengddas of October 3, 2008, as amended and restated
August 4, 2009, by and among Royston Run-off Lichifdational Australia Bank Limited and Barclays
Bank PLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1@.the Company’s Quarterly Report on From
10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissio November 6, 2009

The Enstar Group, Inc. Deferred Compensation andk3®lan for Non-Employee Directors, as amended
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tlmmpany’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 8]&009).

List of Subsidiaries

Consent of Deloitte & Touch:

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securitie
and Exchange Act of 1934 as adopted under SecigroBthe Sarban-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securitie
and Exchange Act of 1934 as adopted under SecfiaroBthe Sarban-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002

* filed herewith
** furnished herewitl

+ denote
& certain

S management contract or compensatory armesmy
of the schedules and similar attachmemtsar filed but Enstar Group Limited undertake&utmish a

copy of the schedules or similar attachments t&eeurities and Exchange Commission upon rec
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas
duly caused this report to be signed on its behathe undersigned, thereunto duly authorized onck&, 2010.

ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED

By: /s/ DowmiNic F. SILVESTER

Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xg Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe
following persons on behalf of the registrant amthie capacities indicated on March 3, 2010.
Signature Title

/s/ DomiNic F. SLVESTER Chief Executive Officer and Director
Dominic F. Silveste

/sl RcHARD J. HARRIS Chief Financial Officer (signing in his capacitylasth principal
Richard J. Harri: financial officer and principal accounting officer)

/sl RwL J. O’'SHEA Executive Vice President and Director

Paul J. C Shee

/sl HHNJ. QROS Executive Chairman and Director

John J. Oro

/sl J. GIRISTOPHERFLOWERS Director

J. Christopher Flowel

/sl T.\WHIT ARMSTRONG Director
T. Whit Armstrong

/sl HARLES T. AKRE, R. Director
Charles T. Akre, Ji

/sl RwL J. GOLLINS Director
Paul J. Collins
/s @REGORYL. CurL Director

Gregory L. Curl

/s ROoBERTJ. CAMPBELL Director
Robert J. Campbe
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Exhibit
No.

2.1¢

22¢

23¢

24 ¢

25¢

31

3.2

101

10.2+

10.3

104

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May @862as amended on November 21, 2006, by and
among Castlewood Holdings Limited, CWMS Subsidi@nyp. and The Enstar Group, Inc. (incorporz
by reference to Exhibit 2.1 (and Annex A) to thexy statement/prospectus that forms a part of the
Company'’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 led ¥iith the Securities and Exchange Commission
and declared effective December 15, 20

Recapitalization Agreement, dated as of May 2362@@hong Castlewood Holdings Limited, The Enstar
Group, Inc. and the other parties signatory thefietmrporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 (and

Annex C) to the proxy statement/prospectus thah$oa part of the ComparsyRegistration Statement
Form S-4, as filed with the Securities and ExchaBgmmission and declared effective December 15,
2006).

Agreement relating to the Sale and Purchase dEttiee Issued Share Capital of Inter-Ocean Holdings
Ltd. dated December 29, 2006, as amended on JaB8a007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1
of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8aK filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissit
March 1, 2007)

Share Sale Agreement, dated December 10, 200 hicbpetween Enstar Group Limited, Enstar Aust
Holdings Pty Limited, AMP Insurance Investment Ho@is Pty Limited, AMP Holdings Limited, AMP
Group Services Limited, AMP Group Holdings Limiteadd AMP Services Limited (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 2.4 of the Company’s Annuap&® on Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on February 29, 20

Agreement for the Sale and Purchase of the Ergtingeld Share Capital of Unionamerica Holdings
Limited, dated October 7, 2008, by and betwee® &l Fire and Marine Insurance Company, Royston
Run-off Limited and Kenmare Holdings Limited (inporated by reference to Exhibit 2.5 of the
Compan’s Annual Report on Form -K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange ondids, 2009)
Memorandum of Association of Castlewood Holdingsiteéd (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1
to the proxy statement/prospectus that forms agidahte Company’s Registration Statement on

Form S-4, as filed with the Securities and Excha@gmmission and declared effective December 15,
2006).

Second Amended and Restated Bye-Laws of EnstampQrinnited (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K12B, as fileith the Securities and Exchange Commission on
January 31, 2007

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Jan8&y2007, by and among Castlewood Holdings
Limited, Trident I, L.P., Marsh & McLennan Capitatofessionals Fund, L.P., Marsh & McLennan
Employees’ Securities Company, L.P., J. Christopth@wers, Dominic F. Silvester and other parties
thereto set forth on the Schedule of Shareholdéasted thereto (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K12B, as fileih the Securities and Exchange Commission on
January 31, 2007

Form of Director Indemnification Agreement (incorpted by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the
Company'’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (188-851461) initially filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on June 5, 20!

Tax Indemnification Agreement, dated as of May ZB)6, among Castlewood Holdings Limited, The
Enstar Group, Inc. and J. Christopher Flowers (ipoated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the proxy
statement/prospectus that forms a part of the Cagip&Registration Statement on Form S-4, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission anthdet effective December 15, 200

Letter Agreement, dated as of May 23, 2006, betvgastlewood Holdings Limited, T. Whit Armstrong
and T. Wayne Davis (incorporated by reference toiliik10.5 to the proxy statement/prospectus that
forms a part of the Company’s Registration Statdroar-orm S-4, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission and declared effective Decefithe2006)
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1C.11+

1C.12+

1C.13

1C.14+

10.15+

1C.16+

1C.17+

Description

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, efiedlizy 1, 2007 and amended and restated Ju
2007, by and among Enstar Group Limited and DonfiniSilvester (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Quarterly Report arrf 10-Q,as filed with the Securities and Exchal
Commission on August 9, 200°

Employment Agreement, effective May 1, 2007, by antbng Enstar Group Limited, Castlewood (US)
Inc., and John J. Oros (incorporated by refereadexhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Current Report on
Form &K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissio May 3, 2007)

Employment Agreement, effective May 1, 2007, by antbng the Company and Paul J. O’Shea
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of thenany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on May @72

Employment Agreement, effective May 1, 2007, by antbng Enstar Group Limited and Nicholas A.
Packer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16.the Company’s Current Report on Form 8as,filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on B]&007).

Employment Agreement, effective May 1, 2007, by antbng Enstar Group Limited and Richard J.
Harris (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10f3h@ Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, agifile
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on B]&007).

Castlewood Holdings Limited 2006 Equity IncentidarP(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to
the proxy statement/prospectus that forms a patteoCompany’s Registration Statement on

Form S-4, as filed with the Securities and Excha@gmmission and declared effective December 15,
2006), as amended by the First Amendment to Castldwdoldings Limited 2006 Equity Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of thenany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on Ap208,7).

Castlewood Holdings Limited 2006-2010 Annual IndemiCompensation Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the proxy statemenspectus that forms a part of the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-4, as filed with$ecurities and Exchange Commission and declared
effective December 15, 2006), as amended by tls¢ Amendment to Castlewood Holdings Limited
2006-2010 Annual Incentive Compensation Plan (ipocated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with Securities and Exchange Commission on
April 6, 2007).

Form of Award Agreement under the Castlewood Hgsdibhimited 2006 Equity Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of thenany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on Ap208,7).

Letter Agreement, dated as of May 23, 2006, amdmgHnstar Group, Inc. and its Directors
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to thexy statement/prospectus that forms a part of the
Registration Statement on Form S-4 of the Compasyiled with the Securities and Exchange
Commission and declared effective December 15, QI

Enstar Group Limited Amended and Restated Empl&jeee Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference
to Appendix A to the Company’s Definitive Proxy &tment, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on April 29, 2008

Enstar Group Limited Deferred Compensation and 2ngi Share Plan for Non-Employee Directors,
effective as of June 5, 2007 (incorporated by eafee to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Repor
onForm &K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissio June 11, 2007

The Enstar Group, Inc. 1997 Amended Omnibus IngeriRian (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to The Enstar Group, Inc.’s QuartdRligport on Form 10-Q, as filed with the Securitied a
Exchange Commission on August 14, 2001), as amelyldte Amendment to the 1997 Omnibus
Inventive Plan (incorporated by reference to AnAew the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of
Shareholders of The Enstar Group, Inc., as filat te Securities and Exchange Commission on
April 22, 2003).

The Enstar Group, Inc. 2001 Outside Direct@ck Option Plan (incorporated by reference toexnB
to the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting o&igholders of The Enstar Group, Inc., as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on May @12
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21.1*
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31.1*
31.2*
32.1%*

32.2**

Description

License Agreement, dated October 27, 2005, betwWastiewood (US) Inc. and J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 tophexy statement/prospectus that forms a part of the
Registration Statement on Form S-4 of the Compasyiled with the Securities and Exchange
Commission and declared effective December 15, I

Term Facilities Agreement, dated October 3, 2098 between Royston Run-off Limited and
National Australia Bank Limited (incorporated byeaence to Exhibit 10.19 of the Compi's Annual
Report on Form 1-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Comsiaison March 5, 2009

Amended and Restated Term Facilities Agreemengddas of October 3, 2008, as amended and restated
August 4, 2009, by and among Royston Run-off Lichifdational Australia Bank Limited and Barclays
Bank PLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1@.the Company’s Quarterly Report on From

10-Q, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissio November 6, 2009

The Enstar Group, Inc. Deferred Compensation aadk3®lan for Non-Employee Directors, as amended
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tlmmpany’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 8]8009).

List of Subsidiaries

Consent of Deloitte & Touch:

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securitie
and Exchange Act of 1934 as adopted under SecfiaroBthe Sarban-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securitie
and Exchange Act of 1934 as adopted under SecfidroBthe Sarban-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002

* filed herewith
** furnished herewitl
+ denotes management contract or compensatory armemg

& certain

of the schedules and similar attachmemtsat filed but Enstar Group Limited undertakefutmish a

copy of the schedules or similar attachments t&eheurities and Exchange Commission upon rec
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ENSTAR GROUP LIMITED
LISTING OF SUBSIDIARIES
DECEMBER 31, 2009

Name
Enstar Group Limitet

A. Cumberland Holdings Limite
1) Enstar Australia Holdings Pty Limite
a) Enstar Australia Ltc
i) Cranmore Adjusters (Australia) Pty Li
b) AG Australia Holdings Lt
i) Gordian Ruroff Limited
c¢) Shelly Bay Holdings Ltc
i) Church Bay Limitec
i) Harrington Sound Limite:
A) TGI Australia Limited

B. Enstar Limitec
1) Enstar (EU) Holdings Ltc
a) Enstar (EU) Ltd
b) Cranmore Adjusters Limite
i) Cranmore (Bermuda) Limite
A) Cranmore (Asia) Lt
2) Enstar Brokers Limite
3) Castlewood (Bermuda) Lt
4) Bantry Holdings Ltd
a) Blackrock Holdings Ltd
i) Kinsale Brokers Limitet

C. Kenmare Holdings Limite
1) Fitzwilliam Insurance Limite:
2) Revir Limited
a) River Thames Insurance Comp:
b) Overseas Reinsurance Corporation Lim
c) Regis Agencies Limite
3) Hudson Reinsurance Company Limi
a) Denman Holdings Limite
4) Harper Holding Sal
a) Harper Insurance Limite
b) Harper Financing Limite
c¢) Enstar Holdings (US) Ini
i) Enstar (US) Inc
if) Cranmore (US) Inc
iii) Enstar Investments, In
A) Sun Gulf Holdings, Inc
1) Capital Assurance Compal
1) Capital Assurance Services, Ir
1ll) Constellation Reinsuranc
B) PWAC Holdings, Inc
5) Mercantile Indemnity Company Lt
6) Longmynd Insurance Company L
7) Fieldmill Insurance Company Lt
8) Virginia Holdings Ltd.
a) Unione ltaliana (UK) Reinsurance Compi
b) Stonewall Acquisition Corporatic
i) Stonewall Insurance Compa
ii) Seaton Insurance Compa
c¢) Cavell Holdings Limited (U.K.
i) Cavell Insurance Company Limite
A) Cirrus Re Company A/
9) Tate & Lyle Reinsurance Lt
10) Courtenay Holdings Lt
a) Enstar Acquisitions Limite
i) Goshawk Insurance Holdings

% of Voting
Securities
N/A

10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%

10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%

50%

30%
10C%

10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
44.4%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
10C%
89.4%%

Exhibit 21.1

Jurisdiction
Bermuda

Bermuda
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia

Bermuda
England
England
England
Bermuda
Bermuda
Bermuda
Bermuda
Bermuda
Bermuda
England

Bermuda
Bermuda
Bermuda
England
Bermuda
England
Bermuda
Barbados
Luxembourg
Switzerland
England
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Florida
Florida
New York
Delaware
England
England
England
Bermuda
England
Delaware
Rhode Islanc
Rhode Islanc
England
England
Norway
Bermuda
Bermuda
England
England




% of Voting

Name Securities
A) Goshawk Holdings (Bermuda) Limite 10C%
1) Rosemont Reinsurance Limit: 100%
B) Goshawk Dedicated Limite 10C%
C) GK Consortium Management Limit: 10C%
b) Simcoe Holdings Limite 10C%
i) Electricity Producers Insurance Company (Bermudd. 10C%
¢) Royston Holdings Limite 100%
i) Royston Ru-off Ltd 10C%
A) Unionamerica Holdings Limite 10C%
B) Unionamerica Acquisition Company Limits 10C%
1) Unionamerica Insurance Company Limil 10C%
1I) SPRE Limited 10C%
11) Comox Holdings Lt 100%
12) Sundown Holdings Limite 10C%
13) Oceania Holdings Lt 10C%
1) Inte-Ocean Holdings Limite: 100%
a) Inte-Ocean Reinsurance Company L 10C%
i) Inter-Ocean Reinsurance (Ireland) L 95.(% @
14) Flatts Limitec 10C%
a) Marlon Insurance Company Limit 10C%
i) Marlon Management Services Limit: 10C%
b) The Copenhagen Reinsurance Limi 100%
i) The Copenhagen Reinsurance Company (UK) Lim 10C%
ii) Copenhagen Reinsurance Services Lim 10C%
15) Rombalds Limiter 10C%
a) Guildhall Insurance company L 100%
16) Shelbourne Group Limite 50.1(%
a) SGL No 1 Ltd 10C%
b) Shelbourne Syndicate Services 100%
17) Hillcot Re Limited 10C%
a) Hillcot Underwriting Manageme! 10(%
18) Northshore Holdings Limite 100%
19) Hove Holdings Limitet 10C%
20) Nordic Rur-off Limited 100%
21) Knapton Holdings Limite 100%
D. Hillcot Holdings Limited 50.1(%
1) Brampton Insurance Company Limit 10(%
2) Bosworth Ru-Off Limited 10C%
E. Enstar USA, Inc 10C%
1) Enstar Financial Services, Ir 10C%
2) Enstar Group Operations, It 10C%
F. B.H. Acquisition Ltd® 10C%
1) Brittany Insurance Company L1 10(%
2) Paget Holdings GmbH Lt 10C%
a) Compagnie Europeenn’ Assurances Industrielles £ 99.€% ()

1) The remaining 0.1% of the comp# s voting securities is owned directly by Brittamglirance Company Lt
) The remaining 5.0% of the comp#'s voting securities is owned directly by Ir-Ocean Holdings Limite:
?3) B.H. Acquisition Ltd. is 22% owned by Enstar Grdiimited, 33% owned by Enstar USA, Inc. and 45% owvhg Enstar Limitec

Jurisdiction
Bermuda
Bermuda

UK
UK
Bermuda
Bermuda
Bermuda
England
England
England
England
England
Bermuda
Bermuda
Bermuda
Bermuda
Bermuda
Ireland
England
England
England
Denmark
England
England
England
England
England
England
England
England
England
Bermuda
Bermuda
England
England

Bermuda
England
England

Georgia
Florida
Georgia

Bermuda
Bermuda
Austria
Belgium



EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRegjion Statements No. 333-149551, 333-148863;138862 and 333-141793 on Form
S-8 of our report dated March 3, 2010, relatinthtoconsolidated financial statements and finarst&kement schedule of Enstar Group
Limited and subsidiaries (the “Company”), and tffeaiveness of the Company’s internal control ofieancial reporting, appearing in the
Annual Report on Form 10-K of Enstar Group Limitatt subsidiaries for the year ended December 318.20

/sl Deloitte & Touche

Hamilton, Bermuda
March 3, 2010



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a),
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Dominic F. Silvester, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Enstar Group Limitec

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatio any untrue statement of a material fact ot torstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and ha

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and pugesdor caused such disclosure controls and puoesdo be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidh®ubsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particulatlying the period in which this report is beingmared

Designed such internal control over finah@gaorting, or caused such internal control oweairficial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoece with generally accepted accounting princij

Evaluated the effectiveness of the regissalisclosure controls and procedures and predentthis report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period couryéhis report based on su
evaluation; ant

Disclosed in this report any change in #gastrant’s internal control over financial repogithat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regidts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaftf, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrant’s other certifying officer anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evaluafiinternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a.

All significant deficiencies and materialakk@esses in the design or operation of internarobaver financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information;
and

Any fraud, whether or not material, thatalwes management or other employees who have disag role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Dated: March 3, 2010

/s/ DoMINIC F. SLVESTER

Dominic F. Silvester
Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a),
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Richard J. Harris, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Enstar Group Limitec

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatio any untrue statement of a material fact ot torstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and ha

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and pugesdor caused such disclosure controls and puoesdo be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidh®ubsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particulatlying the period in which this report is beingmared

Designed such internal control over finah@gaorting, or caused such internal control oweairficial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoece with generally accepted accounting princij

Evaluated the effectiveness of the regissalisclosure controls and procedures and predentthis report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period couryéhis report based on su
evaluation; ant

Disclosed in this report any change in #gastrant’s internal control over financial repogithat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regidts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaftf, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrant’s other certifying officer anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evaluafiinternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a.

All significant deficiencies and materialakk@esses in the design or operation of internarobaver financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information;
and

Any fraud, whether or not material, thatalwes management or other employees who have disag role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Dated: March 3, 2010
/s/ RICHARD J. HARRIS

Richard J. Harris
Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report ofsEar Group Limited (the “Company”) on Form 10-K fbe fiscal year ended December 31,
2009, as filed with the Securities and Exchange @@sion on the date hereof (the “Report”), |, DoimiR. Silvester, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted pursuant to se@@i6rof the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that toliest of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Reportljapresents, in all material respects, the finahcondition and results of operations of the
Company

Dated: March 3, 2010

/s/ DomiNIC F. SLVESTER
Dominic F. Silvester
Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report ofsEar Group Limited (the “Company”) on Form 10-K fbe fiscal year ended December 31,
2009, as filed with the Securities and Exchange @@sion on the date hereof (the “Report”), |, Richd Harris, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted pursuant to se@@i6rof the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that toliest of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Reportljapresents, in all material respects, the finahcondition and results of operations of the
Company

Dated: March 3, 2010

/s/ RICHARD J. HARRIS
Richard J. Harris
Chief Financial Officel




